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We create outstanding

places which make «
positive difference to
people’s everyday lives

Our portfolio of high
gquality commercial
property 1s focused
on retail locations
around the UK and
London offices

Our purpose 1s to

deliver long term and
sustainable total returns
to all our stakeholders
We do this by focusing on
Places People Prefer

Sustarnabtlity

We believe that operating sustainably

and behaving responsibly are fundamental
ta creating long term vatue Information
relating to social environmental and ethical
Issues 15 integrated throughout this Report
showing more direcily how we create value
not just for our Investors but for our other
key stakeholders and the society in which
we operate

To read more go to www britishland com/
sustainability




I n this year ,S Onir portfoho

Read more about our £13 & tullion property

Annm l Report. . {)::yf:;:a and how it has performed over

To read mere please go to poges 2tad

Annual highhghts
Rewview our performance and
key achievements of the year

Toread moie please go fo
pages) é1o9and 26 to 25

Our business moxiel
Learn about what we do and
what sets us apart

To read more please go lo
pages 14 to 21




Kev marhet trends
ldentitying macro trends in our markets and
how we are responding

Yo read more please go 1o pages 1010 13

How we create

Pliaces People Prefer

Understand how our properties enhance the
lives of ihose who work shop and live 1h them

To read more please go 1o pages 14 to 23
and 27 10 3%

For maore information

EE You Il lind inks throughout tus Report 1o
guide you to further reading or relevant
wnformation

Find more intor mation on aur website
www br iishtand com

Feedback
We value your feedback Please contactusal

Our corporate website
www brilishland com

' Follow us on Twatter @B: ibishl andPLC




Forward-looking statements

This Report contains certan forward-locking slalements Such siaternents
rellect cuirent views on amang olher llungs our markets actvihies
projections objectives and prospects Such torward-looking statemenis
can sometimes bul not always be sdentifred by their reference to adate or
potnt in the fuiure a1 the use of forward-looking lerminotogy ncluding
terms such as helieves estimates anticipates expecis lorecasls
mtends due plans prejects goal outlook schedule target awn
may likelyto will would could should or similar expressions or in
eaclhcase Iheir negative 07 other vamalions o1 comparabla terminolagy By
then nature forward-tooking statements involve inherent risks assumplions
and unceriainties because they relate to futuse events and depend on
arcumslances which may ar may not occur and may be beyond our abidity

Lo controt or predict Forwar d-looking statements should be regarded with
caution as actual results may differ materally Irom those expressed inor
imphed by such stalements

Impoi lant faclors that could cause actual results performance or
achievemenis ol British Land to ditter materially irom any oulcomes or
1esulls expressed o1 implied by such lorward-looking statements mclude
among othier things [a) general business and political social and econaric
conditions globally {b) mdusiry and markel trends hincluding dernand in the
proparly invesiment rarket and praperiy price votatiilyl el comipetition

|d] the behaviour of olher markel pait:cipants [el changes in government and
other regutahion including in retation to the enwironment health and safety
and taxation [ par Licular tnrespect of Briish Land s stalus as a Real Eslate
trwesiment Trustl ilntlation and consumer conlidance [gllabour relations
and work stoppoges [hl natu 2t disaster s and adves se weather conditions

1 1erronsm and acls of war )} 8ritish Land s over all busmess sirategy nsk
appetite and mvestiment choices in s portiolio management [kl legal or
olher proceedings against or alleclny Britsh Land Il reliable and secure

1T mfrastructui e Imd changes inoccupter demand and tenant delault

in) changes in lmanaial and equity markets including imterest and exchange
rate [luctuations [o) changes in arcounling practices and 1he interpretation
of accounting standards and Ipl the avaitablity and cosi of inance The
Company s principal 1isks a1 e deseribed i greater detal in the sechion of 1his
Report headed Managing risk in galivering our siralegy Forward-looking
slalements inthis Repor! orthe British Land website or made subsequently
which ara attitbutabte 10 Briush Land or per son< acting onits behall should
tharelore be construed in light of all such faciors

Intorination contaned in this Repor relaling ta British Land or ws shate price
o1 the yiedd on s shares are nol guaraniees of and should not be retied upon
as ansndicalor of lulure pertormance Any forward-lookmng slatements
made by or on hehalf of Br nish Land speak only as of the date they are made
Such lorward-locking statements are expressly quabiied in theet entirely by
the tactors relerred to ahove and no representalion assurance guaraniee

o1 warranty 1s givei in relaton to them lwheiher by Briish Land or any of its
associales direclors oilicars employees or advisers) including as lo their
completenass accuracy ar the ba<ys on which they were prepared

Other thanin accor dance with our tegal and regulalory abligations bncluding
under ihe UK Financial Conduct Authorily s Lishig Rules and Qwsclosue
Rutes and lransparency Rulesl Briish Land does not inlend or undei lake

1o updale of revise forward-looking stalements to reflect any changes in
Brish Land s expeclations with eqard Lther £to o1 any changes o infor rmation
events conditions or aircumstances on which any such statemenl is based
Thes document shall not under any circiinsiances creale any tmplicatron
that there has been no change 1y the business or aflars al Brish Land since
the dale of this document or that the inlortnation contamed herem s correct
as at any ume subsegquent Lo s dale
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

EPRA net asset value per share

829,

Up 205%

Total accounting return

24.5%

Reflecting Lhe increase in aur net asset
value per share and inceme yield from
the dividend

Underiying profit before tax

¢313m

Up 5 4% reflecling successtul leting
of completed developments Lke-lor-hike
growth and hatulily management

Carbon emissions

39 o since
Yo 2009
We have reduced our Scope 12nd 2 carben

emissions across our like-for-like portfotio
by 35% since 2009

~ Valuation uplift reflecting strong markets and our actions

Dividend per share

24.68p

Up 2 5% in line wath prev ous
announcements

Portfolio valuation

£13.6bn

UK property portiobo up i2 1%

Undertying EPS

30.6p

Up4 1%

Customer satisfaction

1.8/10

In ourindependent custocmer
satisfaclion survey our occupiers

scored us 7 8 out of 10 forsatisiaction

with landlord

- Exceptional leasing activity, portfolio close to full occupancy

- Continued repositioning of the portfolio with £2 4 biluon of gross

Investment activity

- Progressing the development pipeline focusing on London and our

strongest retall assets

- Replenishing tong term pipeline with a major regeneration

opportunity at Canada Water

- Financing costs significantly reduced
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[EPRA] Performance measures
As at 31 March [£m) 2015 2014 2013
EPRA earnings 313 295 248
EPRA NAV 9,035 7027 5947
EPRA NNNAY 8,369 4,700 5.522
As at 31 March (%} 2015 2074 2012
EPRA net initial yield 43 4B 55
EPRA Topped-up
net inibial yeld 48 53 57
EPRAvacancy rate 29 52 34
IFRS performance measures
As at 31 March (Em] 2015 2014 2012
IFRS profit before tax 1,789 1110 240
IFRS net assels 8,565 7117 5687
8rush Land | Annual Repor t and Aucounts 2015 1




Strategic Report

GROUP AT A GLANCE

We create places people want to work,
shop and live. Places People Prefer.

Group

Across our poertfolio, we create attractive
environments in the right places focused
arcund the people who work, shop and Live
inthem

1896,

Assets under management

£611m

Contracted rent

£13.6n 98.3%

Retail & Leisure

We are the UK s largest listed ownerand
manager of retail space Our portfolicis
closely atigned to the way people shop today
We provide high quality retail alengside a
growing leisure offer in attractive and
accesstble places

£10.3bn

Assels urder management

14

Shoppng centres

¢'d.Sbn 60

Office & Residential

Our Offices and Residential portfolio s
focused on London reftecting its position
as a leading global city We have an
attractive mix of high quality buildings
nwell-managed environments

£8.6bn

Assels under management

3

Glce-ted mixed use
campuses aver54 acres
with 33 buitdings

£6.1bn 58

Briush Land owned Occupancy rate British Land owned Reta parks Brish Land owned Stand-alone olfice
buildings
o gy ~
2974 m sq ft 9. 5vns 22.0m sq ft 57 4. 4dm sqft 8
Diflcorspace Weighted average Ot floor space Food superstores Ot floar space Oifice and reswdential
lease length developments
Highlights Highhghts 1hghhghts
- Total accouniing return of 24 5% for the - Over 1m sq fi of leitings and renewals - Nearly ¥m sq ft of lettings and renewals
year bringing two-year return to 48% mainamneing occupancy at 98 5% bringing occupancy to 98 1%

- £2 4bn of gross investment actwity with
acquisitions and development spend
broadly balancing disposals

- €135m acquisiion of Surrey Quays Leisure
Park completmg our 46 acre site in Zone 2

= Over £2 billion linancing actmiy reducing
average interest rate costs by 30bps

- The Leadenhall Bulding completed and
84% let/under oiter

~ £15bn capital recycling, including £733m
property exchange with Tesco

= £100m wrwvested m improving and extending
Retai assets

- Rental growth of 2 5% the highest
In seven years

Retail and Leisure perlormance review
see pages 40 10 43

2 British Land | Annual Repor i and Accounts 2015

- £210m acquisition of 1 Sheldon Square
Paddington Central after the year end

- Started on site at & Kingdom Sireet
Paddington Central

- Planning permission received for
517 000 sq it at 100 Lwerpoo! Straet and
an application submutted for 347,000 sq ft
at Blossom Street Shoreditch

folce and Residential performance review

see pages4d to 47




Our portfolio is focused on retail locations
around the UK and London offices.

Our properties are home to over 1,200
ditterent organisations ranging irom
mnternationat brands to local start ups
60,000 people work across our Office
portfelio, and our Retail sites receive
350 million visits per year

United Kingdom

M ake Circus

570,000 sq ft

Ratail and leisure space

96

Dccupancy rate

Located in the cenire of Plyrmouth
Drake Circus Shopping Centre has
over 70 shops and restaurants and
attracts 18 mullion visitlors a year
www drakecircus com

London

Map key

Broadgate

4.'d million sq ft

Offwe and Retal space

100%

Occupancy rate
A 30 acre ully managed bustmess
campus buwdt around Liverpool Sti eet

Station in London s square anle
www broadgate rouk

Clarges Maviar

192,000 4t

Ot floar space

S36%

Resdenual pre-seld

® Oifice & Resudential A rmixed use develepment in the

@ Retatl & Leisure

headt of Maytair compnising 34
high end residential apartmems
as well as over 60 000 sq {1 o
prune office and retail space
www clargesmayfair com

Brish Land | Annual Repar t and Accounts 2015 3




Strategic Report

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

We've had another active

and productive year

Key lughlights ot the vem

Total accounting return

24.5%

Reflething (e increase in OUr Net asset
value per share and incorne yield from
the dradend

EPRA net value per share

829,

Up205%

Dividend per share

27.68p

Up 2 9% inling with prewous
announcements

4 British Land | Annual Repo: t and Accounts 2015

We have continued to ensure our portfolio comprises attractive well
located assets tocused around the way people work shop and live
Qur decision to increase our exposure toL.ondon and invest in the
continued reshaping of our retail porticlio has enabled us to benefit
from sirong markets and our business has continued to do well

Over the year, we undertook £2 4 billon of gross investment activity
increasing our weighting in London and the South East from 50%

five years ago o 64% today Actmity included the recent acquisition

of One Sheldon Sguare, a strategic piece of Paddington Central
which brings our total invesiment at the campus 10 800 000 sq ft

We continued to reshape our retail portfolio reducing our Investment
\n superstores to under 7% of the portiolioc and increasing our
investmnent in asseis we Like such as multi-let shopping parks

in the South

We had an exceptional period for leasing with 2 4 milbiansq {t
of tettings and renewals across the business taking our gverall
occupancyto 98%

We also progressed our development programme Al the
Leadanhall Building we completed one of London s most iconic
buildings The letting up of the biilding was one of the highlights

of the year We decided early on to focus on the lower floors, holding
back the tugher lloors until the building was completed This strategy
has paid of{ the Leadenhatl Building 1s now 84% let at record rents
We completed a8 new restaurant re-development at Broadgate
Circle delivered extensions on almost 200 D00 sq ft of retail assets,
and pre-sold over half of the apartments at Clarges Mayfair our
super-prime residential development At Paddington we are now
on site at 4 Kingdom Street constructing a further 147 000 sq 1t

of office space

Successful properily companies today need to be more than just good
nvestors they need to really understand the needs ot occuprers and
their end users Our strategic focus 1a create Places People Prefer
kept us busy and 1s the reason our properties are in demand and are
virtually fully let

The marketl s constantly changing angd we need {0 ensure we
keep pace and respond to some of the key macro trends inctuding
urbanisation and the transformational impact of technology This
ts having a profound effect on the way pecple live and the way they
use real estate We have made significant efforis in recent years
to understand the people who visit our properties and have
repositioned our portiolio to serve their needs and to reflect

the way the market is changing

Creating envirenments i1s what British Land does best and where
we have a reat competitive advantage This continued focus s
delivering attractive long term returns for our shareholders
Underlytng pre-tax profit was up 5 4% to £313 mullion The value




66

Creating environments is
what British Land does best
and where we have real
competitive advantage.”

of our portfolio now stands at £13 6 billron and NAV was up 20 5% to
829 pence per share The Board has recommended a fourth quarter
dwdend of 6 92 pence per share making a total of 27 68 pence for the
year The total accounting returnwas 24 5%

Our social and environmental inttiatives make a real and postive
dilference, adding value to our assets Our activities are valued

by our occupiers and the communities in which we operate and
are integral to our approach te doing business Qur focus on
sustanability 1s not new but this year we have further refined our
priorities to ensure that we are responding to developing trends
and opportunities We locus on wellbeing community operational
etficiency and developing skills and opportunities for growth Qur
approach Is one that has been recogrised agan this year in global
indices and 1s 3 great endorsement of our activities

In Juty 2014, (hdo Harding stood down as a Non-Execulive Director
following her appointment as a non-executive director at the Court
of the Bank of England | would ke to thank Dido lor the very
valuable conlinbution she has made to British Land Following Oido s
departure Lord Turnbull agreed to stay on our board for a further
twoyears as Senor tndependent Oirector

We appointed Lynn Glaaden, pro-vice-chancellor for research
and Shell Professor of Chermical Engineering at the Uriversity of
Cambridge as a Non-Executive Director 1n March 2615 Lynn has
strong business experience and throughout her career has forged
partnerships with major industnal partners

In May 2015, we also appointed Laura Wade-Gery executive director
Multy Channel Marks and Spencer plc as a Non-Executive Director
Laura brings huge retail expenience particularly of e-commerce
and multr channel markets Both appointments further broaden

the experience of our Board

We have done much to reposition the portfolio and we are well
placed to benefit from the wider macro trends tnfluencing real
esiate today While the recent General Election has removed one
element of uncertainty othersrermain but | am confident that we
are well placed to deliver continued outperiormance, and look

John Gildersleeve
Non-Execulive Chairman

6

Owr strategic focus to create
Places People Prefer has kept
us busy and is the reason our
properties are in demand
and virtually fully let.”

@ Full year results 2015 video www britishtand com/results

Chlei Executive s review see pages & 109
Chairman s governance review see pages 68 to 69

British Land | Annua! Repor tand Accounts 2015




Strategwe Report

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

The decisions and actions we have taken
both this year and in previous years continue

to be a key driver of our performance

Kev highlights ot the vear
Strong results

24.5%

Total accounting returns
Continued outperiomance against market benchmarks

Exceptional leasing actimty

24m sq ft

Lettings and renewals completed or under of fer
Lettings overall 10% ahead of ERV

Investing in Une with our strategy

£2.4bn

Gross investment actvily

Assel sales broadly balanced with acquisitions
and development spend

Replenistung our development pipeline

6.9m sq ft

Medium term pipelne
Completed assembly of 46 acre Canada Water site

6 8ritish Land | Annual Repor | and Accounts 2015

It has been a good year for British Land We delivered high

returns underpinned by a positive market and a strong operational
performance We completed £2 4 billton of investiment activity
improving the quality of the portloho and increasing our weighting
towards London and the South East Across our assets we focused
on creating Places People Prefer and at Canada Water our 44-acre
regeneration project in South London we have created a unique
opportunity o deliver this on a large scale

Over the last two years our business has achieved a total accounting
return of nearly 50% with returns of 24 5%n 2015 This has been
underpinned by growth in our net assel value, up 20 5% n the year
to 829 pence per share This strong performance reflects sirategic
decisions taken over the lasi five years to reposition the business
towards the strongest markets, together with our day to day asset
management activities Qur portfolio value increased by 12 1%
generating total property returns of 18 4% for the year ahead of
property benchmarks on both a total and a capital return basis

Underlying profits were 5% ahead al £313 million withunderlying
EPS up 4 1% at 20 4 pence In Line with previous announcements
the Tinal quarterly dividend will be 492 pence per share bringing the
tull year dividend to 27 68 pence anincrease of 2 5% Our LTV has
reduced to-35% and we expect to maintain a lower level of leverage
going forward As aresult of our relinancing activities including the
re-coupening element of the Tesco property exchange transaction
our average financing cost 1s down 30 bps compared with last year
at 3 8% [2014 4 1%} Reflecting our conlidence in the eeming year
the Board 1s proposing a quarterly divrdend of 7 09 pence per share
or 28 34 pence per share for the full year antncrease of 2 5%

This was an exceptional period for leasing In Ofhices we Let,
renewed or placed under otter nearly ¥ milion sq 1l of space with
the Leadenhall Bulding the stand oul perlormer it 1s now B4% let

or under offer up from 53% at the start of the year, with 199000 sq it
let or placed under offer over the year and leitings on the tughest
floors breaking records for City rents Across the Othice portiolio, we
are now 78% let withinvestment tettings and renewals on average
10 8% ahead of ERV We are atsoattracting a new type of occupier
with technology and creative sectors accounting for a growing
propertion of lettings We let space at Broadgate and Crown Place
respectively to collaborative workspace providers WeWork and
Central Working At Regent s Place Facebook willincrease ther
presence to over 150 000 sq ft with 4 newletting at 338 Euslon Road
in addition to the space they currently occupy a1 10 Brock Street

@Fullyear results presentation www britishland comdresults




This actiwity i1s a positive reflection of the work we are doing across
the portfolio ta create environments which are well suited to the way
people work today At Broadgale we completed Lhe refurtishment of
Broadgate Circle, creating a vibrant new high-end dining destination
for this part of the City At Regent s Place, we increased the retail and
teisure oifering with a number of independent operators added over
the year At Paddington Central we are underway with the first
phase of public realm improvements and subrmitted planring

for a second phase

In Retait we let or renewed terms on over 1 million sq ft of space
nearly 9% ahead of ERV The portfolio I1s virtually full and we saw the
highast rental growth in sevenyears Footfallis up 19% outperforming
market benchmarks by 220 bps Our focus In Retal 1s on ownuing
assets that capture a broad range of consumer yjourneys and on using
our skills, knowledge insights and retationships to drive value Across
the portfolio we are improving environrents, adding leisure space
trialling new concepts in food and entertainment, and where we see
vatue leveraging technotogy OQur streng eperational performance
shows this approach 1s delivering resutts

This tocus is also reflected in our investment activity Gur £733 million
property exchange with Tesco replaced 21 standalone focdstores
where our ability to improve the otfering i1s imited, with attractive
multi-let assets in areas of population growth and all on financially
attractive terms Together with £123 mullion of further superstore
sales our overall weighting to standalone loodstores 1s reduced to
just under 7% of the portfolio Inaddimon we sold a further £245
million of mature retal assets or assets which are notin line with
our strategy

Gross mnvesiment activity since the start of the year was £2 & billion
Including the acquisition of One Sheldon Square in Aprit 2015 with
acquisitions and developrment spend broadly balancing disposals
Qur investrent strategy tocused on increasing our ownership in and
around existing assets through direct investment by adding to our
equily interest or the acquisition of adjacent properties and over the
year our portiolio was sigmificantly re-oniented by a number of these
incrementaf investments

The acquisition of Surrey Quays Leisure Park announced in March
2015 for £135 milbon completed our site assembly at Canada Water
Spanning 46 acres, and assembled in four transactions over five
years this will be one of the most important regeneration projects in
Lendon with the potential for up to 7 million sq [t {gress floor areat of
ottice, retail residential teisure and community space It s a major
long term project which will be delivered in a number of phases and
presents a uruque opportunity to create an aitractive mixed use
town centre which fully reflects the needs of local communities

66

We have benefited from
strengthening occupational
and investment markets.”

Places People Prefer is at the
HEART os WHAT WE DO

Anumber of important macro trends are driving our activity
and approach

- How technology 1s transforming the way people work

shop and Live

A growing population and more urban living

The increasing importance of high quality infrastructure
Sustainability in its broadest context

And globalisation not just capital but also people

These trends are having a big impact on the UK reat estate
sector We are posihoning the business to be a long term
benehciary of these irends - playing to our sirengths and
focusing on our areas of competitive advantage

Places People Prefer lies at the heart of what we do It shapes
our strategy and is how we focus our efforts on creating value

By creating Places People Prefer we drive enduring demand
for our properties from eccupiers and investors This generates
long term growth inrental income and capital Together with an
optimal capital structure this delivers long term sustainable
value for our shareholders

Our strategic focus
There are four key focus areasfor our business which are how
we deliver our strategy and create value They are

Right
Places

Customer
Orientation

Capital
Efficiency

Expert
People

For me e tnformation about our business model see pages 14to 21

For more information about our strategy see pages 22 to 26

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2015
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Strategsc Report
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW CONTINUED

(14

We have positioned our
business behind key themes
and invested accordingly.”

The purchase of One Shetdon Square tor £210 million after the

year end increased our ownership interest al Paddington Central

to 80D 000 sq ft 1t1s sirategically located at the entrance to the
campus giving us grealer control over a key point of access We also
took full ownership of two of our join! ventures with Tesco providing
greater [lexibility to improve the assets and we increased our
nterest in the HUT portfolic of shopping parks to 69 2%

We continued to take advantage ol buoyant investment markets to
exit mature assels with disposals ol £903 million over the year We
made further sales of £370 milion residential units with the majonity
at Clarges Maytair in the first hall 1akmg advantage of stronger
demand particularly at the super-prime end

Our development pipeline 1s moving forward We are on site at

4 Kingdom Street, and submitted planming for two major London
developmenis Blossom Sireel Shoreditch and 100 Liverpool Street
with pereission recently granted at 100 Liverpool Street These
three developments are in line with our investment themes, which
are locused on areas of London which will benetit from growth and
regeneration which have excellent transpory infrastruciure or are
adjacent fo our existing assets We also committed to around

£200 mullion of investrment and development inte our existing

Retall portiolio over the next few years including a substantial
refurbishment of Meadowhall, on s 25th anniversary

We made great progress aver the year against our long-term

social and environmental targets 18,800 people benefited from

our community programmes including apprentices Jobseekers
and school children and 88% of our major assets achieved best
practice or sirong performance on all the social commitrment
targets set within our Commumity Charter We have reduced carbon
emissions and energy usage by 39% and 40% respectively against
2009 perlorming strongly on our elliciency targets and 95% of waste
was diverted from Llandfil at our properties and developments We
are atso pleased lo have launched our 2020 Sustainability Strategy
which focuses on the wellbeing of the people who use our assets
detivering the right support to local commurmbies and businesses
aswell as the long term sustainabiity of eur builldings

8 British Land | Annual Repor | and Accounts 2015

Outluohk

Our consistent outperformance m recent years underlines the
success of our actions repostioning the business Today Briush
Land 15 more concentrated on London and the South East more
of our Otfices business 1s in the West End ang in large mixed-use
campuses our Retall is well positioned for emni-channel growih
and more focused on larger multi-let assets we have rebuilt a
substantial development pipeline at aitractive prices, and we
have lower leverage

These actions pul us in a strong posihion 1n the context of
tong-term trends which will have & sigruficant impact on our
markets globalisation population growth and urbanisation
and the transforming impact of technology on the way we work
shop and Live This ali gives us confidence that we are well
posihioned lor the future and for continued outperformance

Chns Grigg

Chief Execulive




Our 2016 Objectives

Looking to the new year, our strategy will remain consistent with
creating Places People Prefer - positioning our business to benefit
from long-term trends and piaying to our strengths while ensuring
we manage our capital effectively through the cycle Our main
areas of focus during the year are

Customer Onentation

Better understand the needs of our occuprers and end users
Deliver {uture prooling initiatives across the portfolio
Leverage Broadgate Estates further

- Continue to improve systems and processes

Right Places

- Progress our strategy for London

- Progress committed and near-term developments

- Refresh medium-term strategies for Broadgate
Meadowhalt and Canada Water

- Progress sustainabibity strategy

Capital Efficiency

- Opumise size and financial structure across the property cycle

- Optimise trade-offs between a cost efhicient and higher
capability erganisation

= Contmue to build relationships with direct and indirect capital
and public bodies

Expert People
- Continue lo improve organisational design and effectveness
- Build management capabiliies for new as well as traditional

skills sets
- Develop people

Far more information about our priorihes see pages 22 1o 74

lﬁ) wwrw theleadenhalibulding com
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Strategre Report

MARKET OVERVIEW

Major trends impacting our
commercial property markets

GlObﬂliSﬂ.tiOﬂ Sources of mvestirent in UK real estate 20141

Capital 15 increasingly giobat with internatienal investors
accounting for some of the most significant capital flows
Into the UK property market The gtobal labour force s
alsomobile Ctives which offer the best opporiunities
can atiract the most talented workforce

Representmg

£32bn 50%

Overseas nvestment mto of totalinvestment activity
UK real estalen 2014

Positive but moderate
economic growth

The UK economuc outtook 1s posiive with moderate
economic growth and rnising employment forecast
This is supported by low interesi rates and subdued
inflation which are expected to remain low

Population growth 0.6 14,500

and urbanisation

% UK populationgrowth pa’ people per sq krmn parts of
The UK population s projecied 1o increase to 73m t::':::;oﬂ:::::m I53pecpie
by 20377 an additional ? mullien people The UKis
forecast to be the most populous couniry in Eurcpe
by 2050 Much of the increase will be concentrated
In urban centres around the UK including London Relall and Leisure marker overview see page 40

Ofiices and Residential market overview see page 44

' CBRE
1 QECD
1 ONS October 2011

10 Briish tand | Annual Repor t and Accounts 2015




Transforming
impact of technology

Technology 1s transtormmg the way we work and live
Flexible and co-operative working practices enable
small businesses {0 compete more elfectively with
thg businesses [nretail shoppers expect 10 make
transactions across multiple platferms Construction
1s also mowing forward becoming more efficient with
smarter buildings

Importance of infrastructure

Good transport infrastructure 1s a key factor influencing
peoples decisions onwhere to work shop and live This
1s parucularly true in London where investmentin
transport is regenerating large parts of the City

Focus on sustainable and
ethical behaviour

The financial and environmental costs of raw materials
are increasing and there Is growing pressure on
governments to use policy te pramote sustainabiity
and ethical practices

' Conlumno Research

i Mayor of London oifice

¥ WWF Living Planet Report 2014
* Ferum of Privale Business 2015

(94

Structural change
at a global level has
implications for

real estate and
our business.”

18«%

anline penetrauon by 2089
versus 13% n 2015!

£14.8bn

Total Crossrail funding

50%

more global consumption tiran
the world s natural resources
canrenewevary yaar?

24%

per annum growth in mohile/
tablet spend over the next
fiveyears

S50%

Increase tn public transpor
capacly required by 20502

18%

of the UK public beleve big
businesses prorihse profits
over hugh ethical slandards -

British Land | Annual Repor { and Accounts 2015 11




Strategic Report

MARKET OVERVIEW CONTINUED

What this means
for British Land

London is outperforming Merging of physical

- Investment market of choice for glabal capitat and cm]ine ShOPpiﬂg

- Londen population forecast to hit 10m by rud-2030s

~ Importance of converience io hme-poor shoppers
= In¢creased demand for office retail and residential space

- Growth of Click and Collect
- Shopping as a leisure actmty

40 4'd% 71%

cf theworid s targest 250 of highly shalied workers in growth inonline spend by 201%?
companies wath European the top frve European Cities
headquartersare in Landon* areinl.ondant

829

growthin Click and Collect by 20197

Blurring of work and personal life = Competition for investment

- Growth in flexible and community-based working - International mvestors wath a low ¢ost of capitat acquiring UK assets
- Increased worklorce mobility - Assel management and development a more important drver
- Focus on productmly rather than efficrency of returns

Shorter commute times

Focus on responsibility

- Increased importance of enmronmental and sotial factors
- Increased vatue of trusted brand

! Delotle
? Cacuverdici 2014

12 British Land | Annual Repai t and Accounts 2015




How we are
responding

Getting closer to
our consumers

tmproving data to understand changing consumer prelerences
In¢reasing in-house management of cur properiies

Ilnvesting in customer services

Improwving our markeling and branding capabilitres

i

Growing in
London and the
South East

- Investing 10 our existing assets
- Ildentfying emerging areas that will see growth and regeneration

- Targeting locations that wall benehit from and local transport and
mirastructure investments

Profitable
development

~ Combining offices retail and restdential in mixed use projects
- Keeping our portfolio modem
- Replenishing the development pipeline

66
We identify key macro trends
and invest behind them.”

Creating attractive
environments

- Leveraging our placemaking skitlls to create
exciting and engaging real estate

- Ermvironments which integrate places towork shop and live
= Places which interact wath local communities

Focusing on
interncet resilient
retail

- Easily accessible and omni-channel frendly
- Affordable and fiexible space for retailers

- Engaging environments wath mnovative concepls
and a broad food beverage and leisure offering

Focusing on
sustainability

- Adaptable and efficient builldings

Promaoting wellbeing and productanly

Supporting local communities

- Developing communities skills and opportunities

To read rnor e about Strategy see pages 22 Lo 26

British Land | Annual Repoi | and Accounts 2015 13




Strategse Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

Places People Prefer is a: the
HEART o« WHAT WE DO

Customer Orientation

Putting our customers at the heart of everylhng
we do and investing in resources which help us
get closer to the pecople who work shop and Live
around our spaces

Capital Efficiency

Making the most efficient use of our
capital by baving the right mix of debt
and equity, using strateqgic partnerships
o access property deals and manage
nisk and selling matuyre assels

Right Places

Making the right choices about

the sectors and acsets we nvest in
Focusing on assets which will endure
and keeping our portfolio modern
through profitable development

Expert People

Nurturing and developing our
talent and ensuring we have the
right mix of capatibitres Supperting
the communtttes who live around
our assels

All our activities are underpinned by our values

Do what s ngh, Wotk efficiently Make commercal Make things
not what 1s easv 1§ one tean decisions thar ¢create happen
loug term value

14 8ritishLand | Aniuat Repat t and Accounts 2015




CUR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

WHAT sets us
— APART —

Customer insight Placemaking skills Attractive retail
Guiding how and where Creating environments which environments
we do business support today s work and leisure Lifestyles
Well positioned for future
omnt-channel expansion
High quality Mixed use Ability to source and
London office space  development experience execute complex deals
Fotused on transport infrastructure Combining offices retad, Focused on opportuniies
and growth areas residential and leisure where we can add value

Strong network
of relationships

Spanmng occuplers planners communily
teaders sirategic partners and investors

Sustainability
credentials

Award winning energy efficiency
and community programmes

British Land | Ansual Report and Accounts 2015




Strategic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL EXPLAINED

We focus on four key
areas to create long term
sustainable value

Customer Orientation

We focus not just on the peoplie who lease resources to help us get closer to the people
our properties but also our end customers who visit and live around our spaces In

- the people who work shop and live in our Retail our regular surveys now cover aver
buildings and the local commumities who 98% of muiti-tenanted assets with over

lLive areund them Expectations are rising 55,000 shoppers interviewed 1n the last

and the overtap between work 3nd hame lwes 12 months prowding valuable msights
1sin¢reasing driving demand for working into their expeciations which we share
enviranments with shops and restaurants with our retailers

and shopping environments which span
multiple delivery platforms and olfer a broad  We undertake exiensive customer salisfaction

5 5 000 rux of leisure and enlertainment options surveys across the business enabling us
9 to work with occupiers to identify areas for

shappers have been interviewed We recognrise the tmportance of balancing improvement Across the portfolic we are
overthe last 12 manths as part the expectations of the people who use our increasingly warking with industry experts to
of sur consumer research assets with the needs of local communities develop measures lo evaluate the wellbemg

Properties which are closely integrated with  of bath werkers and shoppers
the people whe live around them - which

create jobs and epportunities to develop Technology ptays an important role in
skills provide amentlies and places to mest our strategy Notonly st used to capture
and are In keepaing wath local surroundings consumer prelerence data butincreasingly
ullimately provide the most wetcoming it shapes our response In retail, a single
places lo work or shop cansumer journegy can span multiple
platiorms - items can be viewed compared,
We are positioning our assets around all tried on and purchased edther from the store
these demands and we are investing in or onkine and we are positioning our portfclio

(19

64% of our Click
and Collect visitors
purchase further
items on site.”

16 Briish Land | Annual Repor i and Accounts 2015




to complement these trends and be the
locatten of choice for retanlers and shoppers
alike Our porifolio ts 1atlored to the way
people shop The majonity of assets offer
free wi-fi and Click and Collect facilities

and free car parking 1s widely available

We aim to drive preference for our assets
by prowiding a broad range of high

quality services

We undertake the day-to-day management
of our office properties through our
whelly-owned subsidiary Broadgate Eslates
Broadgate Estates is one of the UK s teading
property management compames andis
active across retall, offices and residential
Its client portiobio iIncludes some of the
most prestigious properties inthe UK

We leverage Broadgate Estates scale

and expertise across the wider market to
provide best in class service Having proved
highly successiul at managing our office
properties we have recently awarded
Broadgate Estates coniracts tomanage a
number of our Retall assets Over time we
expect ta transition the managernent of
additional assets

We create Places People Preler by
orientating our business around the end
custemer Their preference means we are
able to attract some of the highest quahity
occupiers to our properties The quality and
diversity of our occupiers, high occupancy
tevels and long leases provide security of
income which enhances the quality of our
portfolio No single occuprer accounts for
more than 7% of our revenues

For major occupiet s see table on page 185

InResidential we work closely with
prospective purchasers to deliver the
product they want Apartments are
extensively marketed prior to completion,
enabling us to de-risk developments
sigmficantly through pre-sales

For fuithes detail on our 1eswdential

developments see tohle on page 188

KRegent's Place

99,000

Peoplework or live
N our properhes

At Regenl s Place, we have let all avaitable space, sold all the residentiat units and refreshed
the retait and food offering wath an exciting ine up of new brands

@ www regentsplace com

British Land | Annual Repor ! and Actounts 2015
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Strategic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL EXPLAINED CONTINUED

£3bn

ol pur assets are lacated
close to Cressrail stahons

(14

Our development
programme is
SJocused on mixed
use opportunities
in London.”

Right Places

Right Places i1s about making the right
mvestment choices in terms of the sectors
and assets we invest In

We focus on twe principal areas of the

UK property market - retail around the

UK and offices in London We also invest

. complementary sectors So within our
Retail portiolio we are investing in food
beverage and tewsure and in London our office
envtronments are increas:ngly mixed use with
residential assets alongside retal andleisure

Our focus across the portiolio 15 to create
atlractive ermironments - this means assets
which are tully integrated, which reflect the
Lifestyles of the people who use them and
develop a vibrancy of their own We call

this placemaking

In Offices London s our key area of focus

1t continues to be the oty of choice to work
live and visit underpinning long term
demand for properly assets Londons
workforce 1s educated entrepreneunal and
Increasingly diverse inits skill set making

1t a hughtly altractive place to de business lts
emergence as a leading tech hub s a good
example of this and 1s driving dermand for
oflice space Pressure on residential housing
is also increasing with 10 mithion people
expected to bive in London by mid-2030s

and n recogration of thus local authorities
have become more supportive of higher
densiy schemes

In Retail we are focused on assets that

are compatbible with the internet which

are resiient reflecting the strength of their
location and catchment We are investing in
these assels to provide customers with the
best possible overall experience This means

18 British Laad | Annual Repor t and Accounts 2015

investing in public realm improvements
prowviding food beverage and teisure options
and infrastructure faciliies that are in lne
with today s omni-channel marketplace

Akey priority for our end customers across
both our Retail and Office assels 15 ease

of access The expanston of transport
infrastructure wn particular Crossrail, the
high speed rail link for London and the South
East s improwing connectivity and helping

to re-generale areas of London outside the
City and West End Around £3 billion of our
assets are located near Crossrail stations

In London our focus on developments which
are mixed use, which combne retail office
residential and Leisure 1s in Line wath our
comrratment to ¢reate Places People Prefer
It gtvas us greater control over ihe wider
environment enabling us to prowde retarl,
feisure and entertainment opticns as well as
attractive, landscaped surroundings places
o meet and convenient access routes

Development 1s an important part of our
business and a key driver of returns [Lis
nherently risky due to the time delay between
commitment to a project and its completion
so we have a self-imposed lmat of 15% of

our standing investment portlolio and we
have created optionality throughout our
development programme enabling us 1o
progress the pipeline at an appropriate pace

For detail on our development pipeline
see tables on pages 187 to 188

Development performance see pages
WBol?




Actively managing our assels plays a central
role in creating preference for our properties
Our asset management specialisis work with
a broader team of experts on a wide range

of activiies {rom taking strategic decisions
on the occupier mix 1o altering planning
consent and delivering reconfigurations
refurbishments and extensions These
activities and the strength of our service
provision help to drive rental income and
valuation growth

Local stakeholders make an important
contribution to creating the nght place

and engaging with them is a key part of how
we do business We build trust by supporting
mntegrated local commumities and work with
them to strengthen our understanding

of local challenges and aspirations By
making it easier for local people to influence
decisions relating to our assets we can
deliver places which they are pleased

to live and work around

3msqft

Under construction or i the nearterm pipeline

over L1 m sq fit

Planning applrcalions subeminied in the year

66

Owr focus is to create

vthrant, attractive

environments. We call

this placemaking.”

Canada Water

We are working with Southwark Council on the regeneration of 46 acres of land i Canada
Water The site 1s well located in Zone 2, wath excellent transport inks to Canary Wharf, the

City Shoreditch and the Wesl End via the Overground and Jubilee Line Our plans include up

to 7m sq ft of gross floor space with retail office residentral, {eisure and community uses

=— Brnitish Land Canada Water site

€ CANARY WHARF [2 MINS)
© BANK (10 MINS)

© BOND STREET [12 MINS}
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Stratcgic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL EXPLAINED CONTINUED

66

We use strategic partnerships to leverage
owr investients, achicve benefits of scale

and spread risk.”

Capital Efficiency

s4.2bn

nvesied into our assels
cverthe las! {ive years

£2.4bn

of maiure assets sold
gvertha las! fve years

We are focused on allocaling capital
efticiently both in terms ol the sectors
and assets we inves! in and how we fund
that investment between equily and
debt hinancing

We allocate capital to sectors and assets
which we believe will generate good

returns and where we have a competitive
advantage Over the tast live years we have
sold £2 4 bitlon of assets which are mature
or are not tn line wath our strategy We have
reinvested the proceeds in high quabity
mcome generaling assels and developments

For hurther details on our acquisiions and
disposals please see the table on page 186

We manage our mix of equity and debt
financing to achieve the right balance
between enhancing returns for shareholders
and the risk of higher leverage Our primary
measure of leverage 1s toan to value {LTVI

on a proportionally consolidated basis [which
includes the Group s share of joint ventures
and funds and excludes non-controliing
interests in the Group s subsidiaries) We aim
tomanage our LTV through the property
cycle such that cur financial position would
remain robust in the event of a signmifrcant falk
in property values This means we will not
increase our leverage solely on the basis of
an improvement in market yields At this
poinlin the cycle and at today s yields our
LTV will not be taken above 38% on 2
proportionally consolidated basis

We have access 1o a broad range of debt
finance on attractive terms reflecting the
scale of our business combined with the
quality and stab:lity of our rental income
stream We raise debt from a variety of
SOUrces across a spread of maturites

20 British Land | Annual Repor 1 and Accounts 2015

to ensure the Group and its jaint ventures
are appropriately inanced We also mainmain
sigmficant undrawn loan facilities to provide
{lexability and support current and future
requirements of the business

We use strategic partnerships to leverage
our investments achieve benefits of scale and
spread nsk Around ane third of our owned
assels by value are in joint ventures including
our two largest single assets Broadgate and
Meadowhall This approach has enabled us

to undertake more ambihious development
projects including the Leadenhali Bullding
where we worked with Oxford Properties
Within these structures we typically

prowde asset management development,
corporate and hnance services for which

we earn management and performance

fees enhancing our overall returns and
strengtherung our relationships with
partners, key customers and suppliers

We are also proactively managing our assels
to promote their long term suslainability Our
resource efticienty programme 1s improving
operational efficiency and reducing occupier
costs 1115 innovalive tn ws use of materials

to lower costs and secure supply We are
evaluating plans 10 Increase on site energy
generation which can enhance revenues and
continue aur efforts 1o minwmise flood risk

Financal policies and principles
see pages 33 10 55

For detaill on owr carbon 1eduction
programme see page 48




489%

of employees across Briish Land
and Broadgate Estates are female

40%

of our senorexecuives
were internal appoiniees

(94

Meetings allowed me to see the thought
processes and amasing minds behind British
Land’s developments and site visits allowed
me to see how it all came and comes together.”

Jumana British Land work experience student

Expert People

We are a small team of 488 individuals split
broadiy evenly between the core team at
British Land and our subsidiary property
management company Broadgate Estates
We operate through small flexible teams
focused on areas where we can create
most value

Our knowledge of the markel enables us to
identify and invest in the best opportunities
and we are able 1o react quickly o execute
complex deals Our scale across the
market means we have a broad network

of relationships across occupters, property
specialists, locat communities government
domestic and international investors and
capital prowiders Thus gives us access to

a wide range of investimeni opportunities
including development and partnering

and lunding oppertunities

Our peopte strategy is focused on developing
a talent base which s aligned to our corporate
purpose of creating Places People Preter We
operate a range of online resources 1o help
employees develop Iheir skills and work with
Cambridge Umiversity to run a Leadershuipin
Real Estate programme We seek to promote
internatly and are pleased that the two maost
receni appointees to our Executive Commiitee
were internal candidates Our recrunment
processes include a commitment to diversity
and gender equality The policy throughout
British Land 1s to employ the best candidates
avallable inevery position regardless of sex,
race lethric ongin, nationality colour), age,
religion or prulosophical belief, sexual
orentation, marnage or cvil partnership
pregnancy, malernily gender reassignment
or disability We currently have three female
Direciors on the Board Lucinda Belt Chief
Financiat Officer and Lynn Gladden and Laura
Wade-Gery both Non-Executive Direciors

As at 31 March 2015 48% of employees
across British Land and Broadgate Estates
were female

To secure the workforce of tomorrow we
support a range of intiatives which make
younq people of all backgrounds aware of
career opportunities within reat estate and
help them develop the skills they need to
progress Qurs s a long term plan starting
with schoot children and centinuing beyond
university inittatives include Pathways to
Property Budding Brunels and Design
Engineer Construct! as well as mternships
through the Sociabte Surveyors scheme

We are also developing local skills and
opportunities around our properiies and
developments, supporting local communities
and securing the skills our business needs to
maintan quabity and grow Inutratives include
greater focus on apprenticeships, increasing
the proportion of local suppliers and workers
at our assets and parinering with cccupiers
and suppliers on lair working prachices

Report ol the Nomination Comnuttee
see pages 82 to 85

Board of Direclors see pages 64 to 67
Employees see pages 32 to 33 and page 76

@www broadgateestates co uk
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Strategic Report

OUR STRATEGY

OUR
— STRATEGY —

Our strategy provides focus for our annual priorities

For more on ol 2016 ohjecives see pates 9 and 76

Customer Orientation Right Places
- Leverage our ¢onsumer insight services - Create and operate exciting and
expernence and technology to be recogrused engaging Ufestyle onented real estate

for our brand Places People Preler - Irwest in London - in existing assets

- Use consistent and scalable ways of working and emerging locations beneliting from
regeneration, growth and infrastructure

- Focus on accessible, flexible
aflordable places which support
retallers omni-channel strategies

Capital Efficiency Expert People
~ Allocate capital to maximase returns from - Orgarise, recruit and train to enhance
our competitive advantages operational as well as Investment skill sets
- Manage exposure over the cycle while - Ensure management encourage new as
mamtarung the benelits of scale well as existing capability skill sets

- Be the partner of choice for international
capual and public bodies

Creating Places People Prefer drives enduring
demand for our properties.

This generates long term growth in rents
and capital value.

Together with an optimal capital structure,
this delivers sustainable long term value.

™~
n
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Our objective is to deliver

sustainable long term value

for all our stakeholders

Investors

- Access to hrgh quality liquid real estate investment
- Stable, secure cash flows

= Superior total returns

Occupiers and their customers

- High quality environments which promote productity
and wellbeing
- Affordable and efficient bulldings

= QOutstanding customer semaces and facilities

Partners

- Access to high quality real estate
- Asset management and development skalls
- Strong relationships

Local communities

Attractive local environments

Facilities and seraces which enhance the overalt area

Places which support local jobs and skills

Stronger commumity networks and facilities

Emplovees

- Ernhanced wellzeing and productivity
~ Potential to develop skills and opporturities

- Opporiunities to make a positwe difference

British Land ] Annual Repor t and Acuounts 2015
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Strotegic Report

OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

How we

performed over

the past year

Our priorities in the year were

Customer Orientation

- Maintarung strong occupier satisfaction

- Continuing to reposition the Retail portiolio

Right Places

Progressing comrmitted developments
Accelerating the development pipeline
Accessing new opportunities

- Connecting with our communities

Capital Efficiency

- Continuing to recycte capital

- Appropnate leverage

- Competitively pniced debt refinancing
= Ensuning our assets are sustainable

Expert People

- Continuing to rwvestin capabilities

= Marntaiing our rating tn The Sunday Times

Best Companies to Work For survey

What we have athieved

2 4m sq ft of leasing actmty across retail
and offices

Successiully attracting a broader range
of occupters 175 000 sq ft otfice space
let to technology and creative sectors
Phased programme of public realm
improvernents at Paddington Central
£20m redevelopment ol Broadgate Circle

Completion of the Leadenhsll Bullding
now 84% let/under offer

Started on site at 4 Kingdom Street
Paddington Central

Planning permission received on

517 000 sq ft at 100 Liverpool Street and
an application submutted for 347 000 sq it
at Blossom Street, Shoreditch

£135m acquisition of Surrey Quays Leisure
Park completing 44 acre development
project al Canada Water

£13bn asset disposals

£959m re-invested in acquisitions and
£209m commuitted development capex
Leverage lower at 35% LTV [proportionally
consolidated|

Strengthened capabilities in
marketing technology and HR
with strategic appointments
Leadership prograrnme launched
to develop talent nternally

British Land | Annual Repor t and Accounts 2015

Our leng term abjective

Delivering sustainable
total returns

@ Influances Executive Dhrectors Anncal
Incentive payment

@ Influences Execuirve Drrectors Long-Term
Incenuve Plan [LTIP]

£720m retail assets sold

£733m asset swap with Tesco reducing
superstore weighting to under 7%
€1469m irwested in HUT increasing our
share to 69 2%

Circa £100m invested in improvements
and extensions to retail assets

Qff-peak retail spend up 11% dwell time
up 4% and frequency of visit up 4%

£210m acquisttion of 1 Sheldon Square
Paddington Central Ipost penod end)
Residential sales and pre-sales of £370m
including £259m at Clarges Mayfair
Contnbuted £11 sm to communities
creating affordable homes and improving
public spaces

Over £2 billion financing achwity reducing
average financing costs by 30bps to 3 8%
Majority of European assets now sold
40% energy elficiency savings

One Star rating in Best Compantes to

Work For Survey

Launch of Supply Chain Charter to increase
focus on social issues such as {air working
practices and skilts




How we measure up

We extensively survey people who use our assels
to assess our performance and identily
oppoertunities {or improvemenl

We aim to outperform the IP[) UK benchmark on
tofal p1opet ly 181U ns

We manage o leverage such that LTV should
nol exceed a maximum threshold it market
yields were to nse to previous peak lavels

The Sunday Times annual survey 1S one of the most

extensive benchmarks of employer engagement

-~ Total accounting return is our overall

measure of performance It is the dwdend
paid munus the growth in EPRA NAV

= Duning the year we generated 2 TAR of
24 5% Qur dwdend was increased by 2 5%
10 27 48 pence per share and our NAV
increased by 20 5% to B29 pence per share

The DJSi15 a global reterenre point lor
sustamability helping us (6 1rack our social
environmenial and economic impact

Uevelopment supports value and income growth
but also adds 11sk We atm to keep our cammitied
developrment exposure al less than 15% of our
Investment pot tloho

Ourlow cost of finance supports pertormance
and 15 one of the lowest of histed UK REITs

Risk Indicators and incentive measures

Risk indicators we moniter

~ forecast GDP growth

- the margmn between property yrelds
and berrowing costs

Management compensation linked to
- lotal accounting retums

Resk indicators we monitor

- consumer confidence,

- employment forecasts for relevant sectors

- market letting nsk [vacancies expiries,
admimstrations),

- weighted average lease length

Management compensation linked to
- gross income growth
- Company reputation wath stakeholders

Rk indicators we monitor

- property capital and ERV growth forecasts,
- 1otal and speculaiive development exposure
- progress ol developments against plan

Management compensation linkad to

- lotal property returns

- Successes on purchase and sales,

- successiul progress of developments

Risk indicators we manilor
— likelthood of covenant breach
- when refinancing is requireg

Managemenl compensation lLinked ta

- successiul execution of financings,

- progressn strengthening the dmadend
- acquisiions and disposals

Rrsk indicators we monitor
- unplanned executrve departures

Management compensation linked to
- gualdty of people and management renewal,
- company reputation

Managtng nsk in delivering our stralegy
see payes 56 lo &1

Remunemhun report see pages 86to 112

For definiions see glossary on pages 193
to 195
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Strategie Report

OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our priorities for 2016 build on our vision
of creating Places People Prefer

2016 Objectives

Customer Onentation
Better understand the needs of our occupiers and end users

Delwer future proofing imtiatves across the portiolio

i

Leverage Broadgate Estates further

Continue to improve systems and processes

Righit Pliices

- Progress strategy tor London

- Progress committed and near-term developments

~ Refresh mediurn-term strategies {or Broadgate Meadowhall and Canada Water
- Progress sustainabibty strategy

Capital Efficicney

- Optimise size and financial structure across the property cycle

- Optimuse trade-offs between a cost efficient and higher capability organisation
- Contmue to build relationships wath direct and indirect capdal and public bodies

Eapert People
- Continue to improve orgamsational design and effectiveness
- Buid management capatbilives for new as well as traditional skills sets

~ Develap people

26 British Land | Annua! Repor t ang Accounts 2015




How we
create

Places

People
Prefer




Strategie Report

CREATING PLACES PEOPLE PREFER

Innovating to keep
our retail offer up

to date

Introducing new ideas
across our Retail offer.

1

Tralbug new formats n tood

We taunched Eats from the Street a mobile
street lood concept which visited our parks
in Edinburgh, Glasgaw, Chester and Teeside
showcasing the best in British street food
We also experiment with pop ups Pizza 1889
opened 115 debut pop up store at Nugent
Shopping Park the first of its kind at an
out-af-town location

+ 1 1% +4(%)

ncrease inaverage INCreass in average
oll peak' retalspend off-peak’ dwall time

2

Inttoducing new leisure concepts
New start up Rock Up opened the UK s

first indoor climbing experience at our
retail location at Whiteley Shopping We
supported the company wiith a flexible tease
and profit share arrangement Rock Up has
outperformed and its impaci on foottall and
retail sales, particularly at adjacent units,

has been very postiive

SRR . )’ X (1) [} J%Y

tradng off peak survey take place Food and beverage letings across the

between March and October retail porticho




3

Improving our com emience offer

At Ealing Broadway Shopping Centre we trialled
Doddle, a Chick and Collect store opening early and
closing late, allowing customers to Click and Cotlect
at a ime that suits them

92m

extra nsitors toour assels this year

Retall and lessin e per formance

review sce pages 40to 43

4

Piloting new technology

We usediBeacon technelogy at our Ladies Night
event at Meadowhall to create a unique shopping
experience enabling those who downloaded the
app to recerve real ime special offers to therr
smartphones at hotspots across the Centre

8ritish Land | Annual Repos | and Accounts 2015
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Strategic Report

CREATING PLACES PEOPLE PREFER CONTINUED

Moving with the
times tn London

Engaging work
spaces which
reflect today’s
lifestyles.

1

Creaang vibrant places

Thes year, Broadgate welcomed Olympic
and Commonwealih medalliststo the
finale of the Street Velodrome Sertes
and thousands watched live screenings

of Wimbledon, the Tour de France and 2

the FIFA World Cup Nearly 300 people

walched Shakespeare inthe City _—

and 35 companies participated n a Providing flexible and
Broomball tournament on our ice rink co-operative workspaces

We partnered with co-working
providers WeWork and Central
Working to offer fiexible work
spaces wathin an entrepreneurial
community, supportng businesses
at each stage of their gevelopment

Otfices and Residental performance 1eview
see pages 44 0 47
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1 76,000 sq ft

Retal 2n¢t lersure at Broadgate

86,000 sqit

Retail ang Lessure ai Regeant s Place




3

Providing design-led buildings
At Blossom Street Shoreditch we have
submitted planning for a 347000 sq ft
mixed use development This design-led
scheme will provide character offices,
within the historic fabric of the area This
enwvironment will not only appeal to the
growing tech sector but also reacis te

a broader trend towards less corporate,
more creative work environments The
relatively small floor piaies atso make

it sutable for smaller businesses

4

Focusing on sustamahity

At 5 Broadgate we have created a
BREEAM Excellent sustamable
oltice for UBS The butllding has 520
cycle parking spaces 512 lockers 50
showers and uses 50% less energy than
required by regulation 150 local jobs
have been created during construction
including almosl 20 apprenticeships,
and 65 unemployed local residents
were provided with training through
our partnershipwith Blackstone

Mace and The Corparation of London

The Leadenhall Bumlding

We welcomed over 7 500 people to the
Leadenhali Buillding when it headlined Cpen
House London on 20-21 September 2014
www theleadenhallburlding com

601,000 sqft

Of modern Hexihle otlice space




Strategic Report

CREATING PLACES PEOPLE PREFER CONTINUED

Making an exceptional

environment at
British Land

Creating a great
place to work for
our colleagues.

1

Delnermng a new
worlang emvironment
Our new office space reflects
our corporate identity and
culture helping us to promote
general wellbeing and positive
changes in the way we work
We have added new breakout
areas, aswell as lormal and
informal meeting places o
create a modernworkspace
which enhances collaboration

2

Worlang with out conununities

At our annual company-wide community

day we supported jobseekers in London
inspired students about careers in property,
volunteered at a hospice a alyfarm anarts
centre and more Our volunieer programme
includes maths and reading suppor! student
mentoring and skills-based volunteering

83«

of aur staff 100k part n communiy
actmilies in 2015
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3

Upholding our values

We believe our culture and our values set us
apart a small entrepreneuriat team doing
what 15 right not what 1s easy working
eftectively as one team making commeraial
decisions that create long term value and
making things happen

4

Commuitting to diversaty

and gender equality

To succeed over ime we need toreflect the
diversiy of the people who work shop and
live In our busldings To improve the future
diversity of our sector we support Reading
Real Eslate Foundation s Pathways to
Property summer school encouraging a
breader range of young people to consider
real estate careers

Top REIT on Business in
the Community s Workwell
Index 2014 for reporting
wellness and engagement
ol employees

BritrshLand | Annuai Repor L and Accounts 2015




Strategic Repart

CREATING PLACES PEOPLE PREFER CONTINUED

Promoting a

sustainable future

Delivering social

and environmental
tnitiatives which make
a positive difference.

2

32,300

jobs created through our developmeni
proyects over the lasi five years

Suppo ting communities

We build trust by supporting successful integrated tocal
communiies Whiteley Shopping in Hampshire was created
with local people in mind, from the public spaces and
accessroutes 10 the wildhfe sculptures reflecting nearby
nalure More than 17000 schoolchildren are participating
in literacy events at our properties through our five year
partnership with the National Literacy Trust

1

Promoting wellbeg

We drive preference by desigring and
managing spaces that promote wellbeing
ang productivity We provide safe
environments and are partnering with
occupiers on wellness and productivity
We have certified 3 5 mullion sq ft of
BREEAM Excellent space, reflecting our
tocus on wellbeing efficiency ecology
and other sustamability measures
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Toread more go to
www britishland com/sustainability




Global 100

British Land ranked in the
Global 100 most sustainable
corporations in the world by
Corparate Knights 2015

4

Deseloping skills and opportumties
We provide opportuntties for local people

to develop skills and for local businesses

to grow We are working towards 3% of
employees in our supply chain being
apprentices and supperting local training
programmes where we can More than halt
of expenditure at our properties benelits
lecal firms

3

Focusing on smart, efficient buildings
Ensuring our buildings are it for the future
means nvesting to ensure they are as
efhicient as possibte generating cost

savings for our occupiers and benefiting

the environment It means keeping them

up to date ensuringwe can atiract the

next generalion of occupier We generate
cost savings and income assets that

are operationatly efficient and protect

againsl flood risks This is positive forthe
enwironment reduces costs lor our occupiers
and protects asset value tor investors

British Land | Annuat Repot 1 and Accounts 2015
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

A strong set of results with the Group
continuing to outperform on a range
of measures

£13.6bn

UK partiolio valuahon

13.4%

Capilal return

4.6%

ERvgrowih

98.3%

Occupancy rate

£2.4bn

Gruss wwestmeant actvty

£959m

Acquisiiens

+12.1%

Valuaticauplift

18.4%

Total property return

10.0%

Lethings/renewals versus ERV

9.5 years

Lease |angth to lirst break

£1.3bn

Disposals

£209m

Commut.ed developments capex
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Orverviewn

2014/15 was an exceptionally sirong period {or UK property
markels Asupportive macroenvironmery and low funding cosis
meant the UK remarned the real estate mvestment market of choice
for overseas capiial msearchof yield London continued to be the
principal beneliciary, with demand driving yields downn both the
Ciyand West End occupationally, markets remamed strong in
retait yields continued to compress butwith yield shift weighted
towards the lirst hatl Real wage growth elusive at the start of the
recovery gained pace Consumers are spending, and this is reftectled
inretailers improving results and their more positive outiook

Qur portfolio performed well overall, benefiting from ocur decisions
In previous years to tocus our Investment on the strongest markets,
or where we can add value Dver the year we bought or sotd 16% of
the portiolio by value Today London and the South East account for
464% of our portfolio on a pro-forma basis up from 50% live years
ago Our pipeline of near and medium term developments 1s also
focused on London targeting areas whuch we believe will most
benefit from growth and regeneraticn

UK Portfolio Perfor mance

Yal uplift
Investment Total
Vatuation pertiolic Developments pertigho
Year ended 31 March 2013 m % % %
Retail and leisure 7557 74 208 75
Ofhice and Ressdential 6 080 173 262 18 8
Total 13,637 171 259 121




Our portiobie generated a tatal property returnof 18 4%
comprising a capital return of 13 4% and an income return of
4 &% We outperformed IPD benchmarks by 120 bps on a totat
returns and 190 bps on a capital returns basis or 180 bps per
annum and 240 bps per annum on a 5 year view, continuing a
consisient trend of cutperformance

Totat portfolio valuation was up 12 1% to £13 é billion As in previous
years, developments performed well up over 25% in the year, but
as our major 2010 developrnent programme draws foa close its
contribution to overall performance was reduced The standing
porliolo which was up 11 1% on the year accounted for 85% of

total uplift Offices and Restdential had an excellent year with
valuations up over 18% reflecting the strength of the London
market and our actions The Retail and Leisure portfolio grew by
75% also benefiling frem improving market conditions but with
our actions making a significant contribution to the uphft

Rental vatues grew by 4 6% across the business outperforming
the maarket by 130bps Yield compression across the portfolio was
48 bps shightly higher in Offices {51 bps] than Retait [47 bps)

hinestiment Activity

The gross value of our investment activity since 1 April 2014 was

£2 4 billion including our share of acquisitions and disposals and
our capital investment in developments of £209 mattion Thus includes
post balance sheet activity up to and including the acquisition of One
Sheldon Square

Acqunsttions and Disposals

Bnush
Prce Land Annual
igroas]l  share passing
From 1 Apnl 2014 £m £€m rent€m
Acguisitions
Relail 783 749 35
Ofiices 210 210 10
Residential - - -
Total acquisitions 993 959 48
Cisposals
Retail 883 720 40)
Oifices 144 137 [
Residential 415 370 -
Europe 70 44 4
Total disposals 1,512 1,273 50

66

We have a modern portfolio
focused on the right locations.”

Qur tvestment prionity has been on increasing our ownership

in and around our existing assets through direct invesiment

by adding to our equity interests or the acquisition of adjacent
properties Inling with our strategy we continue to focus onour
wider investment themes of London and the South East targeting
areas which will benefit {rom growih and regeneration and
INcreasing cur exposure to major transport interchanges

The acquisiion of Surrey Quays Leisure Park for £135 milion

15a good example of this strategy in action It completes our

site assembly at Canada Water a regeneration project spanrung

44 acres in South London which already benefits from excellen
transport infrastructure The acquisation of One Sheldon Square for
£210 multron post year end increases our control over the Paddington
Central campus InRetail too we took full ownership of two of our
joint ventures with Tesco (ncreasing our exposure to mulli-let assets
n areas of significant popuiation growth in the South including
Serpentine Green, Pelerborough and the Kingston Centre, Milton
Keynes We acquired an addmonal £169 mitlion interest in the HUT
porttolio of shopping parks bringing our stake to 69 2% and through
HUT acquired a further 37 5% I£59 mullion our share) in New Mersey
Shopping Park Speke

Taking advantage of buoyant markets to reshape the poriiglio

sales made during the year have focused largely on Retail, with total
superslore sales fincluding the Tesco Aqua portfolio} of £475 million
We made turther non-core disposals of £245 mutlion in Retasl and
£137 mullron in Dffices, including the sale of a property in Mardenhead
tor £90 million Overatl disposals completed or exchanged were

sold on anaverage NIY of 5 4% and 5 6% ahead of book value Total
residentiat sales were £370 million with Clarges Maylatr accounting
for £25% mitlion
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

We have significantly grown our medium
and longer term development pipeline,
positioning the portfolio for the future

Development

The major development programme we commutted 1o 1 2010 will
draw to a close with the completion of 5 Broadgate shortly The
programme covered 2 7 milhion sq it of space, princpally in London
and delivered into strengthening markets 94% 1s now let or under
offer with 199 Bishopsgate 10-30 Brock Street and 39 Victoria Street
achieving full occupancy during the year and all but ene of the
residential units are sold Including other developments completed
since 2010, we have delwered 3 2 million sq fi of space generating
profits of €11 bilbon an|RR of over 30%

Inthe period we completed over 500 000 sq ft of Retail
developments including 205 000 sq it at Old Market Hereford
In Ofhices the Leadenhall Budding completed in July covering
400,000 sq ft Aninvestigation of the fractured bolts at the
Leadenhatl Bulding was completed v January 2015 and a
proegramme of replacement 1s underway The building has

let upwell and we are continuing lo see very good interest

Our projects under construction cover 1 5 milbon sq it lof which

5 Broadgate accounts lor 710 000 sq f1j and now includes 4 Kingdom
Street, where we started on site in February 2015 At Clarges Mayfair
we made good progress on pre-sales totalling over 56% of the gross
development value of the residential element of the scheme and at
Aldgate we have pre-sold apartments totalling £23 mullion Qur total
residential exposure has reduced from £430 rilbion at the start of the
year lo £140 mitlion [measured by cur original commitrent adjusted
for satesl Based on current valuahians our total residential exposure
1s £246 mullion Qur Marks and Spencer anchored retail extension at
Glasgow Fort achieved practical completion in March 2015 and wll
open this month

Conslruction costs increased across the markel most notably in
London rellecting rising mpul ¢osts and contrackors Increasing
margins alter & prelonged period of margin pressure We expect
cost inflation of around 6% per annum The impact of cost intlation
has been largely ofIset by improving values For projecis under
consiruction 87% of costs are fixed

We made good progress moving the near-term pipeline forward We
submitted planning on Blossom Sireet Shoreditch for 347 000 sq 11
ol mixed use space and a decision 15 expected i the cormung months

Comnutted Deselopments & Pipeline

We also submitted ptanning on 100 Liverpool Street and permussion
was recently granted our proposal covers over 515 000 sg ft of office
and retail space, adding three further floors to the existing building
and improving (ts connections to the wider Broadgate campus This
1s a major relurbishment project which forms the next chapter in our
viston for Broadgaie

On the Retail side we have consent for a further 42 000 sq 1t of retail
and restaurant space at Glasgow Fort andfora 100,000 sq {t leisure
extension at Drakes Circus shopping centre in Plymouth We have
also subrmitted planning tor 46 000 sq ft of leisure space al New
Mersey Shopping Park, Speke

Our mediwm-term pipeline1s dorminated by the Canada Water
Masterplan We have assembled one of the most significant
regeneratton projects for London, covening 44 acres of land in Zone
2 Todate we have invested £258 million in four transactions over
five years, including our recent freehold purchase of Surrey Quays
Leisure Park for £135 miltion Together with the London Borough of
Southwark we now own all of the keyfreehold and long leasehold
nterests needed to deliver up to 7 mullten sq it Igross floor area)

of muixed use space The site benehts from excellent transport
nfrastructure with direct connections to Canary Wharl and the
West End from the Jubilee Line and to the emerging tech hubs at
Shoreditch and Whitechapel from the London Qverground It isa
unique opporiunity to regenerate a central part of London that has
been overlooked and plays well {o our skill set of developing and
managing mixed use environments which are wibrant and successiul
places to shop, work live and visit, and are integrated into thew local
communities Qur cost per acre of around £5 5 million compares
favourably wath the market value of consented land 1n London which
we anticipate wilt prowide attractive future profit potentiat Qur
current intention 1s to submit plannmg 1in 2014

More details on the portlolio property performance indadusl
developments and assets acquired dunng the year can be found
in the Retan & Leisure and Dhees & Residenhial reviews on pages 40
o 47 and in the detailed supplementary tabiles on pages 180 o 188

Brtish Land share

Current Costto Pre-lot Residential Pre-sold
Sqft value complete ERY ERV end value residential
AL 31 March 201% 000 £m £m £m £m Cm £Em
Completed in Perwpd 1,145 534 20 278 240 - -
Under Construclion 1,534 909 358 377 20 4 676 NS
Near-Term Pipeline 1,47 781
Medium-Term Pipeline 6915
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Our development pipeline

Recenth completed

The Leadenhall Bulding

60 1,000 sq ft

84% letunder offer
224 metre office development m the heart
of the City

On site and comnutted

5 Broadgate

7 10,000 sq ft

Completing. 2015

Twelve storey oftice building at Broadgate,

fully let to UBS

Neir term

Blossom Sireet, Shoreditch

347,000 sq ft

On site 2016

Character offices in a regeneration area
ideally suited to the needs of small and
medium sized businesses

Broadgate Circle

42,000 sq ft

77% let

Food drink and leisure destination at
Broadgate re-launched in Aprit 2015
with 11 new brands

Clarges Mayfair

192,000 sq ft

Coupleung 2017

Mixed use development in Maylfar,
comprising 34 ugh end apartments
together with retail and office space

Plymouth Leisure

100,000 sq ft

On site 2016
Leisure scheme adjacent to Drake Circus
Shopping Centre

Old Market, Hereford

308,000 sq fc

97% lct
Open air shopping centre in Herelord
City centre

4 Kingdom Street

147,000 sq ft

Completing 2017

Ofhice development at Paddington Central
an 11 acre mixed use campus in Londons
West End

100 Liverpool Street

5 17,000 sq ft

On site 2017

Ofhce refurbishment at Broadgate
INcreasing capacity and improving
local connections and public spaces
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Strategc Report

RETAIL AND LEISURE REVIEW

Repositioning the portfolio has underpinned
valuation gains, stronger rental growth and
a good operational performance

Charles Maudsley
Head of Retail and Leisure

£'4.5bn

Pertfalivvaluation [Bntsh Land share)

8.5%

Capual returmn

2.5%

ERVgrowth

98.5%

Occupancy rale

+'d.8%

Valuatnon uphft

14.4%

Tetal property return

8.7%

Lettings/ renewals versus ERV

10.4 years

Lease lengih to first treak
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Ohrervien

The retaill market strengthened with retallers conhdence
underpinned by continued econoruc growth and improved
consumer sentiment Retailers sirategies are successiully betng
refined to cover multiple channels, wath the phystcal store remaimning
a core part ol the offering The focus tedayis on connecting with
customers through the look and feel of the store and the range of
services offered The best quality retall schemes are cormnplementary
to these strategies and in a more seleclive market are enjoying
strang demand for space Thisis reflected in low vacancy rates

and at the strongest assets, improving rental growth

In a lowyield envirenmenl, with improving retailer results and
emerging rental growth assets with a strong income profile
present an attractive propesition Investment demand across the
sector has remained buoyant from a range of buyers including UK
and international institulions private equity and Sovereign wealth
funds Appetite for shopping centres both prime and secondary, has
been particularly strong drwing inward yield movernent However
INVeSIOrs are increasingly discerning as to the underlying property
fundarnentals and are pricing accordingty

Reflecting wader macre trends our strategy 1S to focus on assets
which are inlernet resilient and which are in tune with modern
Lifestyles This means owning assets (hat capture a broad range

of consumer journeys and where we canuse our skiils knowledge
nsights and relationshups to drive value We are divesting assets
where we feel our ability to wnftuence the offer and experience 1s
lirmuted or has been maximised and we continued to take advantage
of buoyant market conditions to make disposals of £720 mdllion lour
share) of mature assets We spent almost £100 million enhancing the
Retall portfoho v the period including £54 milhion on development
We have commutted to a further €200 million investrent over the
next fewyears ranging from large scale extensions adding focd and
lersure space Lo relatively simple improvemnents such as landscaping
and wi-fi coverage

As part of our commitment to provide the best posstbte experience
for our customers we are increasing the number of people on site

at our assets and over time are transiioning the management of our
Retail portfolio o Broadgate Estates our wholly owned subsidiary
Broadgate Estates, one of the UK s leading property management
companies, already manages our Ofiice portfolio 1l was recenlly
awarded contracls to manage Orake Circus, SouthGate Bath,
Broughton Shopping Park, Chester and Forster Square Shopping
Park Bradford, withmore Retail assets Likely to transition over

the next 12 months




Park Lane, Meadowhall Shopping Centre

£3 mullion refurtishment of Park Lane Meadowhall

Portfolio Performance

Our Retail and Leisure porifolio valuaiion was up 7 5% over the year
to £7 Sbithon The portfolio outperformed the market by 70bps on

a caprtal returns basis Despite significant market yield shift gver

the year our active asset management contributed to more than a
quarter of the uplifl with this contribution increasing in the second
half Shopping parks and shopping centres performed well overall
although performance was more muted in the second half rellecting
a lack of transachional evidence particularly for prime shopping
parks Superstores were up 1 9% over the year bul were also softer
n the second hall, with negative sentiment pulting upwards pressure
on yields despite continued activity in the investment market

+3.4%

Retader same store sales

+1.99%

Fooifall outperfersmung marker
by 290bps

Our sirategyss delivering results and this s reflected in the strength
of our occupational metrics Rental growih o! 2 5% was the tughest
n seven years boosted by a strong performance from food and
beverage units The portiolto 1s virtuatly fully let with occupancy of
98 5% Unitsin administration remam low at 0 2% of total rent and

of the 144 expintes this year almaost 90% were renewed or re-let soon
after expiry Footfall was up 190 bps over the year outperforming the
market by 290 bps and like-for-like rental mcome grew by 1 5%
Retaier sales were ahead by 3 7%

Our most recent exit surveys show like-for-like average off-peak
retail spend up 11% since last year, dwell time up 4 5% and frequency
of visils up 4% At peak' retail spend Is up 13% over the last two
years and catering spend 15 up 8% desmte a drop in dwell ime We
are also attracting more affluent shoppers than expected based on
our catchments The exit surveys now cover $8% of our multi-let
portfolto and inform our decision making from where and how we
invest tnour assets to the balance between retad and leisure space
and the optimal aCcuper mix

! Peak surveys nclude Chnstimas iracing off-peak surveys take place beiween
March and October
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Strategic Report
RETAIL AND LEISURE REVIEW CONTINUED

14

Our strategy 1s to focus on assets
which are internet resilient and
in tune with modern lifestyles.”

Assct Management

Despite hugh occupancy levels, we signed 11 million sq it of lettings/
renewals on atiractive terms with investment lettings and renewals
on average % ahead of ERV and rent rewiews 3% ahead of previous
passing rent We continue to improve the occupler mix adding
premium brands and broadening our tetsure offering to keep pace
with consumer demands We added around 90,000 sq ft of food
beverage, and leisure space to our retaill operations through lettings
and extensions

We continue to enjoy strong relationships with our major occupiers,
and work closely with them to deliver the space they want Over the
course of the year we refurbished and upsized four ancher stores
with Next prowiding an additional 75 000 sq ft [including mezzaninel
We signed five deals with Arcadia including Outin stores at Chester
(13 00O sq ft) and Cheltenharn (15 000 sq it} We delivered new format
stores tor Primark and TK Maxx at Fort Kinnaird Edinburgh where
Fat Face and Simply Be also taok space following thesr positive
experiences at Whiteley and Stockton respectively The investment
we are makmg 1o i/mprove our assets 1s attracting hew brands and

Eabing Broadway Shopping Centre

Acguired in 2013 for £143 million Phase 1 of a refurbishment
programme completed in the year
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popular restaurant concepts We are pleased that Lavazza The
White Company Wildwood Deli and Five Guys have all taken space
with us over the year At Whiteley we opened Rock Up an exciting
leisure concept introducing cimbing to all ages, we have seenvery
pleasing sales ligures both for Rock Up and at adjacent outlets and
our catchment has extended as a result We contrnue to partner with
occupiers on community nitiatives We worked with WH Smith to
host Iteracy events and with a range of retallers to improve the
skills of young people in the retail and hospitality industry

Inorder to atiract such strong occuplers to our assets we are
investing across the portiolio to deliver the highest quality retail
environments The positive impact that this has had s reflected both
in our valuation and tn our cperational metrics At Ealing Breoadway
Shoppmg Centre, we acquired the adjacent Crystal House block

and Next store and are already part way through a €14 5 million
refurbishment comprehenswvelyimproving the food and beverage
offermg, wath the imreduction of occuprers such as Turtte Bay, and
Limeyard ERV growth since acquisiionisup 19% At Meadowhall
we spent £3 million upgrading a premsum part of the scheme where
occupiers saw thetr six month hike-for-like sales up 6% compared

to 3 &% across the centre We are now on site with a programme

of public realem improvements at the Tellgate Centre in Colchesler
and the Wheatley Shopping Park in Doncaster and will start work

at our shopping parks in Nothingharmn and Dtdham in the coming
months We recently oblained planming permission for a £30 million
comprehensive refurbishment of Teesside Shopping Park in Stockton

Our parifelio 1s well posttioned for the omni-channel strategies of
our occupiers and their custorners Click and Coltect 1s particularly
well suited to our out of town shopping parks and 1s an efficient driver
of focifall and spend with 64% of our Click and Collect customers
making further purchases on site and 23% spending on calering
Our Click and Collect rates are more than double the industry
average at peak times and two-thirds greater during off-peak

wath out of town shopping parks driving these rates Across the
portfolio we are tnalling new concepls which leverage technology

Al Meadowhall we have rialled iBeacon technology which atlows
shoppers 1o receive offers direct to their smart phones and Doddle
opened one of their first outiets at a non-transport location at Ealing
Broadway Shopping Centre &llowing shoppers to click and collect at
a location that suits them

In ine with our commiiment to tmprove the energy efficiency of our
buildings and in preparation far the Government s Mirumurn Energy
Efficiency Standards in 2018, we have completed a full Energy
Performance Certificate review across our portfolio This confirmed
that the majority of our buildings significantly outpericrm the required
standards Less than 5% of our Retad portfolio would not meet 2018
requirements, and we have plans in place to improve their ratings




Otd Market Shopping Centre Hereford

305 000 sq ft shoppang centre opened n May 2014

Imestment Acowvity
Gross investment activity over the year was £1 S bitlion with total
sales ol £720 mutlion [BL share) and total acquistiions of £74% million

The most significant deal was the £ 733 million property exchange
with Tesco in March 2015 which exchanged our interest in a joint
venture superstore portfolio on a NIY yield of 4 8%, lor Tesco s interest
in two joint ventures predorninately comprising shopping centres and
shopping parks at a topped up NiY of 52% This transaction will be
accretive to earmings n 2016, reflecting a £2 milbon increase in net
rent and an £8 million reduction in netinterest It greatly samplified
the ownership structure of around 3 2 million sq ft of retail assets
and together with a further £123 rillion of superstore disposals
including seven standalone stores) during the year, reduced our total
exposure to standalone loodstores to just under 7% of the portfolic
from 11% at the start of the year and 16% five years ago Nearly 60%
of our standalone foodstores are in the South or South East

Further disposals since the hatf year include House ol Fraser
Birmungham for £71 mitllion Kingswood Shopoing Park Hull for
£58 million and Green Lanes Shopping Centre Barnstaple for
£36 million Asset recycling will continue to be a key part of our
sirategy to evelve the portiolio and we currently have over
£200 mithion of assets for salein the market

We acquired an additional £169 mullion interest in the HUT portiolio

of shopping parks, increasing our ownershep from 58 6% at 31 March
2014 to 49 2% at 31 March 2015 On average, these unils were acquired
al NAV representing an effective nel sitial yield of 5 6% Ibased on
actual acquisiion costs) In February, Hercules Uni! Trust acquired

a further 37 5% [£59 mdlion our share] in the New Mersey Shapping
Park Speke, bringing its ownershipto 87 5%

£1.5bn

Gross Invesiment activiy

500,000 sq ft

Developments complated

Dey clopment

We completed over 500 000 sq ft of developmenis over the year
including the 305 000 sq ft OLd Market shopping centre in Hereford
which opened in May 2014 Since then our development activity has
focused on extensions 10 our existing assets covering around
197,000 sq #t 2s well as some substantial refurbishments The
exlensions at Chester Edinburgh and Preston all opened in the
pertod and are trading ahead of expectations Our 112 000sq #t
Marks and Spencer anchored extension at Glasgow Fort achieved
practical completion in March 2015 and is due to open this month
and we have planning consent for a further 42 000 sq ft of retad and
restaurant space The 58 000 sq ft leisure extension at Whiteley
Fareham will cornplete in the autumn and 1s atmost fully Let to
occupiers including Cineworld, Five Guys and Dim T

In March 2015, on the 25th anniversary of Meadowhall Shopping
Centre we announced plans for a £50 million internal refurbishment
creating a more conternporary enviranment to appeal to premium
and lifestyle retailers as well as a broader range of customers

The recent refurbishment of Park Lane one of the key shopping
malls has met with a positive response with new retallers including
The White Company higsaw and White Stuff all taking space We
expect to starl wark on the refurbishment in the autumn with
completion by the end of 2017 Meadowhall s also one of cur strong
environmental performers achieving 42% energy reductions in six
years and zero waslte to landfill as well as makung substantial
community contributions

Locking further ahead we achreved planning fora 100,000 sq it leisure
scheme at Drake Circus in Plymouth whuch will include & 12 screen
cinerna and 13 restaurant units and expect to be on site in summer
2016 We have submutied planring for 44 000 sq ft of leisure space

at the New Mersey Shopping Park Speke and for a comprehensive
refurbishment of Ealing Broadway Shopping Centre mcluding Crystal
House which fronts the shopping centre The current proposal
includes conversion of 34 000 sq 1t of vacant office space to private
rented residential Our longer term plans include a €250 million lour
share €125 milion) mixed use redevelopment of Eden Walk Kingston
upon Thames toinclude public space leisure relad and residential
and our intention 1s to put in a planning application this year
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OFFICE AND RESIDENTIAL REVIEW

Valuations were strongly ahead, leasing
activity was exceptional and we are
attracting new and growing occupiers

Tim Roberts

Head of Offices and Residential

£6.1bn

Portfolio valuation IBntish Land share)

20.5%

Capitat return

8.0%

ERY growth

98.1%

{Jceupancy rate

+18.8%

Valuation uplilt

24.4 .

Total property return

10.8%

Lettings f renewals versus ERV

8.1 years

Lease length to first break
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Overview

London 1s a major benehciary of a number of macro irends
globalisation both of labour and capial, and population growth,
particularly in urban centres Its businessiriendly environment
diverse pool of tatent and the choice it offers interms of retail
teisure and entertainment underpin its appeal

London has led the UK s economic recovery and continues 1o
outperiorm Thisis reflected in our markets with strong take up
around 28% ahead of last year and vacancy levels in both the City
and West End welt below therr long term averages Rents are ahead
by aver 10% in both the City and West End Technology 1s changing
the way people work, and this has implications both for the occupier
market and the product aur occupiers expect Technology and
creative sectors account for a growing proportion of take up and

the emphasts is increasingly on engaging flexible spaces which
prioritise wellbeing and praductivity

London continued to be the most popular real estate investment
market globally attracting some 25% more capital than Mew York in
2014 the next most popular destination This year saw a number of
high prolile ofhice transactions which reduced prime yietds by around
25 bps in the City and West End Sovereign wealth funds continue to
be active buyers and their appetite for Central London olfices and for
trophy assetsin partcular was undiminished Long-term UK and
international pension funds also remained keen buyers

Inresidential the mainstream market remained relatively robust but
the prime Central London market softened reflecting uncertanty
ahead of an election and the risk of a mansion tax on properties
above €2 million The super-prime market moderated stightly but
we are continuing to see good demand lor exceptional new build
properties such as Clarges Mayfair

We are positioning our Offices and Restdential bustness around these
broader econarruc trends Our investment in London over thelast five
years through acquisihons and developments has been sigruficani at
nearly £2 bilhiorr and has been highly accretive te aur periormance
We are focused on rmixed use environments delivering flexible and
engaging working spaces places to relax and be entertained green
spaces biving spaces shops and restaurants all around excellent
transport infrastructure Over the year we have attracted a more
diverse mex of occupiers to our assets than ever before so we believe
we are makwmng gooed progress




86,000 sq ft

let 1o food and beverags occupies

Portiolio Pertonmance

We centinued to benelit from our focus on London The value of our
Otfices and Residential portfolio was up 18 8% to £6 1 bilhion with
yield shuft accounting for nearly twe thirds of lhe increase and

our actions accounting for the remainder The West End and City
portiolios were up 19% and 21% respectively wath the City portfolio
showing a particularly strong performance inthe second half The
Residential portfolio was up over 7% This movernent translates mto
an overall total property return of 24 4% ahead of the IPD sector
benchmark by 330 bps

The Office standing portfolic was up 17 4% driven by 51 bps yield
compression As our development pipeline completed standing
investments have become an increasingly imporiant contributor

to performance, accounting {or around three-quarters of the yplift
in the year ERVs were 8 0% ahead across the Office portfolio,
reflecting strong occupational demand and boostedin the first half
by prospective refurbishments at 100 Liverpool Street and t 2 and
3 Finsbury Avenue Developrments continued to deliver good value
up 26 2% mainly due to strong market conditions butwith sales

on the residential side also supporting valuation We have delivered
3 Zmullion sq M of space since 2010, generating £1 1 billion of profits
an IRR of over 30%

175,000 sq ft

let to Technology/tlexible working occupies

Asset Management

It was an exceptional period for tettings, reflecting both strong
occupational demand and the quality and design of the office space we
brought to market Lettings and renewals covering 809 500 sq ft were
signed in the year, with a further 151 700 sq {t under offer n 1otal 23%
ahead of last year Investment lettings and renewals were on average
10 8% above ERV This aclivty contributed 10 our outperformance

At the Leadenhall Buillding our strategy of tetting the lower floors first
and focusing on the upper floors at completion has played out well
Welet 199 000 sq tt of space, beating previous rental records for City
rents We have also let space to a broader range of occupiers than
trught be expected for this area of the City in¢luding the building s
architects, Rogers Stirk Harbeur » Partners {18 000 sq fti and IPsoft
(11 500 sq 1) a leading provider ofcogritive and IT solutions who
signed i the second halt All o} this means we are now B4% let or
under offer, compared to 53% at the start of the year

Regent s Place

Facebook have signed for a 64 000 sq ft at 338 Euston Road bringing
their total space to 153,000 sq ft
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OFFICE AND RESIDENTIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

66

Facebook will occupy 153,000 sq ft
at Regent’s Place. This is a strong
endorsement of the campus.”

At Broadgate our vision s to create a vibrant mixed use environment
benefiting from its location around Liverpool Street siation and the
addition of Crossrail from 2018 as well as growth and regeneration to
the north and east of the City Together with our parlners GIC we are
making real progress The campus s appealing to a more diverse
range of occupiers with technology and creative sectors accounting
for 34% of the 173 200 sq ft let over the year 73 000 sq f1 has been

let to coltaborative workspace providers including WeWork at

199 Bishopsgate and Central Working at Crown Place which create
supportive working environments tor entrepreneurs start-ups and
small businesses Our €20 million redevelopment of Broadgate
Circle launched in Aprid with 11 new brands including Yavatcha
from the Michelsn starred Hakkasan Group, Jose Pizarro Tapas

Bar & Restaurant and Comptoir Libanais helping to create a new
deshnation diming area in this part of the City 5 Broadgate whichis
fully let to UBS will achueve practical completion shortly and fit ow

15s underway The bullding achieved a BREEAM sustainability score

in the top 10 of London ofitce developments Earlier in the year

we also agreed a 5 B year extensionto Deutsche Bank s lease of

1 Appold Stree! taking the expiry date to 2023 The office space
across the campus i1s now fullylet

Al Regent s Place we are refurbishing 72 000 sq ft of space at

338 Euston Road Facebook have signed for 44 000 sq f1 in agditton
to the 87 000 54 A they already occupy at 10 Brock Street bringing
their total space to over 150 000 sq ft This re-sets rental levels
across the assel, the remainder of the space wit{ re-launch into the
rarketn early 2006 This s a strong endorsement lor the campus
which we behieve rellects our efforts 1o make this a wbrant and
interesting place to work as well as its excellent tocation in London s
Wesi End As part of our refurbishment of 338 Euston Road we have
secured planming perrmussion for 2 400 sq ft of retail space We
recently completed a series of leisure letliings in the wider campus,
including to The Refinery, from London bar group Drake & Morgan,
Nuvola and Beany Green

At Paddington Central, which we acquired mn July 2013, we are
underway with the first round of pubtic realm improvements
and are working up designs for a second One Sheldon Square
acquired post period end s fully let 10 Visa Europe Services
on a total annual contracted rent of £9 5 milion and we are
now virtually full across the campus We are fully let at both
3% Victoria Street and 10 Portman Square and are now over
80% let or under ofler at Marble Arch House
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One Sheldon Square, Paddington Central

£210 mutlion acquisiiion aiter the year end

Investment Activity

We made over £500 miltion of sales in the year with residential
sales accounting for €370 million on average 4% above valuation
and of this Clarges Mayfair contributed £259 millon We also sold
an oifice property in Maidenhead for £90 mitlion a1 a2 5 9% NIY

12 5% above valuation

After the year end we anncunced the acquission of One Sheldon
Square for £210 millien This s in tine wath our strategy of expanding
our interests in and around our core campuses {1 alsoincreases
our exposure to anup and coming area of London and Paddington
station a major London transport interchange, whichwill benefit
from he opening of Crossrait tn 2018 The acquisition adds nearly
200 000 sq #1 to our office space bringing the assets we own in
Paddington Central to 800 000 sq ft Together with our development
a1 4 Kingdom Street, and the work we are doing (o improve the public
realm we are building real momentum across the campus o create
an envircnment which meets the needs of today s occuprers




Broadgate Circle

€20 mitlion redevelopment adding 11 new restaurant
concepts to Broadgate

Development

5 Broadgate will complete shortly, concluding our lughly successful
2010 development programme We are now 94% let or under offer
over 2 3 million sq ft of oflice space with 79 000 sq ft avaitable at the
Leadenhall Building and just 11,400 sq ft at Marble Arch House Qur
five year programme in Central London supported over 30 000 jobs
including apprenticeships as well as contributing an estimated £1 2
billion gress value added IGVA] to the UK economy 96% of our Dilice
developments are rated BREEAM Excellent reflecting our strong
performance on efficiency ecology wetlbeing and other BREEAM
criiernia Qur new Office developments are on average 25% more
efficient than regulations require

We have 654,000 sq it of development projects under construction in
London lexcluding 5 Broadgatel the most sigrificant being Clarges
Mayfair and 4 Kingdom Streel At Clarges we sold 22 out of 34
apartments followsng a pre-launch last summer targeting an
exclusive list of known potentuial buyers but will now wait until
nearer completion before marketing the remamder Sales have
been agreed at an average capnal value of £4,750 per sq f! with

654,000 sq ft

Development projects underconsiruction n London

L3m sq ft

Nearterm development pipeline focused an London

several apariments setting new records for sales values in Mayfair
Deposits totalling around 12% of the total sates value have been
recewed with a turther 17% falling due before completion and

the balance due on completion The total proceeds o £259 mithion
represent 56% of the total gross development value of the private
restdential element of the scheme and together with sales across
other residenbial schemes bring our residential exposure down

to £340 mitlion [measured by our originat commitment adjusted

for sales)

In February 2015, we started on site at 4 Kingdom Street, a

147000 sq f1 office development over mine storeys Each storey o
the redesigned building has a large corner terrace and a communal
rool terrace provides space for break-out sessions entertaiming
and sporting facilites at the same time encouragmng urban
biodiversity The buitding 1s scheduled 1o cornplete in 2017 and
based on current lorecasts we expect it to launch inte a market
where supply remains tight

Our near lerm pipeline now covers 1 3 milhion sq 1t Key mitestones
were reached at Blossom Street Shoreditch and 100 Liverpoot
Street where planming applicalions were submitted on both schemes
before Chrisimas At Blossorn Street we are planning a complex
conservation led scheme comprising a mix of floorplates from
1000 - 20 000 sq ft Building on the historic fabric of the area, we
willintegrate 262 000 sq it of character office space surtable for the
tech and creative industries with 13 retail units and 40 apartments
to create a mixed use development which 15 In keeping with the
surroundmng area With 40% of the fioorplates under 3 500 sq t
equating to around 85% of all small and medium-sized business
space planned for this area mthe next four years this devatoprment
will De well surted to the needs of small and growing businesses
Subject lo planmng, we expect to be on site sn 2016 and to complete
n 2018

The redeveloprnent ot 100 Liverpool Street marks the next phase in
our long term wision for our Broadgate campus Our proposal, which
was recenily granted adds three further floors to the building and
improves local connections and public spaces between 100 Liverpool
Street Liverpeol Street Statonand Broadgate Circle - in all covering
515000 sq {1 of olfsce and retail space We expect to be on site inearly
2017 and complete in 2019

At SKingdom Street we have consent for 210,000 sq ft of office space
and are working on a planrng proposal to improve and enlarge the
scheme Looking further ahead to the medium terrn pipeline our 46
acreregeneration development at Canada Water will include a
sigrificant element of office and residential space
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CARBON REPORTING

Our efficiency programme supports our
occupiers’ sustainability goals, cuts
occupancy costs and enhances asset value

We actively manage greenhouse gas emissions across our business
We have participated in the Carbon Disclosure Project [ICDP) for nine
years and are the leading UK REIT inthe CDP Disclosure Leadership
Index 2014 with a 99% score for disclosure We also achieved A-

tor performance

We have reported on all emission sources required under the
Cornpares Act 2004 [Strategic Report and Directors Reports)
Regulations 2013 These sources tall wathin cur conselidated
financial statement and relate to head olfice activiies and controlled
emissions frem our managed porlfolio Alt of our scope 1and 2
ermissions are included i this stalement We have used the GHG
Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reperting Standard {revised
edition} data gathered to tulfsl our requirements under the CRC
Energy Effictency Scheme and emission factors from the UK
Government s GHG Conversion Factors lor Company Reporting 2014

Absolute scope 1 and 2 ennssions (tonnes CO.e)

Year ended 1 March 2015 2014 2009
Combustion of fuel

Managed porifolic gas use and fuel

use n Briish Land owned vehicles 6 %65 5 62¢9 5156

Operation of facilities
Managed pertfolio relrigerant loss
from aw condiltoning 554 1707 -

Purchase of electricity, heat, steam
and cooling for our cwnuse
Managed porticlio electrnicity use 42503  3B6V9 41184
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Scope 1 and 2 ennssions mtensity (tonnes CO.¢)

Year ended 31 March 2015 2014 2009
Per m? - Ofhces 0050 0048 0076
Per m? - Shopping centres 0026 0023 0037
Per m? - Retail parks 0004 0004 0007
Per £m - Residential 0137 0030 -
Per £m - gross rental and

related income 76 94 6210 -

To read about Scope 3 emissions please go to page 189

The areas where we have significant carbon ermissions and influence
are landlord energy consumption {Scope 1 and 2) and embodied
carbon in construction iScope 3}

This year marked the conciusion of our six year target to cut our
tike-tor-like Scope 1 and 2 emissions by 40% We achueved 39%
reductions through our energy efficiency programme whuch also
saved our occupiers £10million We continued 10 carry out studies
tocking at embodied carbon this year establishing embedied carbon
benchmarks for different bullding types which we will report
annually against

For our sustatnabiity sirategy and ¢xa os well as tull
details of the methodology used 10 cdlculaie these
emissons and lor PwC s independent assurance
please visit www bntishiand com/sustainabidiny




FINANCIAL REVIEW

It has been another active and successful
year for British Land as we continue to
deliver strong total returns

Kes highlights of the vear

24.5%

Total accounting return

£313m Up5 4%

Underiying profit before tax

35 (%) Down 500 bps

LTV propor tranally consoldated

8295 ...

EPRA nci assel value per share

27.68p ...

Dwidend pershare

3.8% Down J0bps

Weighted average interast rate

Orverviewn
The Group had another successful year continuing to deliver hugh
returns underpinned by the positive market and our aciiens

Dver the last two years our business has achieved a total accounting
return of nearly S0% with returns of 24 5% i 2015 Thus strong
performance reflects strategic decisions taken over the last five
years, together with our day to day asset management actvities
This, combined with a continued tightening of market yrelds has
resulted in EPRA valuation surplus of £1 4 billion and a 20 5%:
increase in NAV per share to B29p

We completed E2 4 billion of investment actmty including the
acguisiion of One Sheldon Square in April 2015 with acquisibion and
development spend broadly balancing dispesals We took advantage

of 1he strength of the market to sell assets which we do not believe wll
be successful it the long term and with an increased focus lowards
London and the South East reinvested in assets which strengthen our
exisking estates and prowide development opportunities

We manage our rmix of equity and debt financing to achieve the right
balance between enhancing returns for shareholders and the nisk of
nigher leverage Our approach to LTV seeks to ensure that it does not
exceed a maxmum threshold if market yelds were to nse to previous
peak levels this means we do not gear up on market yeld shuft The
decrease in LTV to 35% !s a reflection of the impact market yield
improvements ERV growth and our actions had on valuations

The hinancing actions that we look 1n the year had the benefil of
reducing the Group s weighted average interest rate by 30 bps to

3 8% whilst preserving a capital structure which supports our
siralegy These included the re-couponung element of the Tesco
property exchange transaction the refinancing of a number of debt
facibhies at reduced margins and a reduction in the Group s facibiies
reflecting our lower leverage mind-set

Underltying profit increased 1o £313 mullion as a result of significant
lelting actmty and the financing actions taken The increase in EPS
of 4% 15 higher than the dividend Increase in Lhe year of 2 5% as we
improve dvidend cover
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Presentation of financial informaton

The Group financial statements are prepared under {FRS where the
Group s snterests in joint ventures and funds are shown as a single bine
1tem on the income statemen! and balance sheet and all subsidiaries
are consolidated at 100% Management reviews the performance of
the business principally on a proportionally consolidated basis which
includes the Group s share o joint ventures and funds on a Line-by-line
basis and excludes non-controlling mterests in the Group s
subsidiaries The Group s hinancial key performance indicators

are also presented on thss basis

A summary income statement and summary balance sheet which
show British Land s interesis on this basis are included in Table A
withan the supplementary disclosures

Income stiatement

Underlying profit before tax excludes capital and other one-off items
and 15 the measure that 1s used internally to assess the Groups
income performance This s presented below on a proportionaily
consolidated basis

2015 2004

£m £m
Gross rental income 618 597
Property outqoings 1331 135)
Net rentalincome 585 5462
Fees and olher in¢ome 14 15
Adrministration expenses (85} 178)
Net inancing costs 1201} 1202)
Underlying profit before tax 313 297
Underlying earmings per share 30 6p 2%4p
Dividend per share 2768p 2700p

The increase in nel rental iIncome was driven by the successful
letung of our development programme notably the Leadenhall
Bullding and like-tor-Uke growth of 2 3% reflecung & 2% growth
in the Oifices portfolio and 1 5% growth inthe Retal and Leisure
Portfolio Occupancy levels across the portfolio increased to

28 3% (2014 96 1%)

Since the start of the financial year, and including One Sheldon
Square which completed in Apri 2015 acquistions and disposals
have been broadly balanced The disposals were completed earlier
nthe year and taking into account the impact of acguisttions this
has had the effect of reducing net rental income by £% milion in 2015
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Looking forward net rental income 1s expected to benefit frorm
acquisitions completed tn the second hall of the year In addition
once UBS start beneliting from the rent free at 5 Broadgate we will
begin accruing income whilst continuing to recerve rent at 100
Liverpool Street and Fisbury Avenue This increases accounting
renis by £12 melhion in the coming finantal year

n addition the Group currently has around £200 milbon of Retan
assets under offer or on the market

The savings from liabilny management combined with those from
the disposals made in the year offset the increased costs associated
with the cessation of capitalisation of interest on completed
developments and other hinance cost increases

The tult year impact ot liabiily management undertakenin the
current year 1s expected to provide financing cost savings next year
and the re-couponing elernent of the Tesco property exchange
transaction s expected to provide addiional savings ot £8m

Adnmmmstration expenses

The increase tn administration expenses 1s 1n part due to Lthe impact
of mcentrves linked to the achuevernent of performance targets and
n part due to our iInvestment in people and technology te enhance
the capability of the business We expect to continue this investment
next year

The Group s operating ¢ost raho remains competitive at 16 4%
[2014 14 2%]

Underlying EPS

Undertying EPS for 2014/15 was 30 6p (2014 29 4p) based on undertying
profit after tax of £313 mithion (2014 £295 mulhon} and weighted average
dituted number of shares of 1 022 mitlion 12014 1 004 millton) The
contingent conditions on the Group s convertible bond will expre in
September 2015 and therefore reparted EPS will be dituted from Apnt
2015 onwards For the purposes of the dituted EPS calculation nterest
payable on the convertible of E4 million per anaum will be added back
and the number of shares wll be increased by 58 million

Ihvidends

The quarterty dwvidend was increased to § 92 pence per share in the
year bringing the total dividend declared for the current inancial
year 10 27 68 pence per share The dmdend paid in the financial year
was 27 34 pence [2014 26 70 pence)

The dividend pay-out ratio was improved over the prior year at 89%
12074 92%} Our ambition s to continue to improve this further over
the medium term it15s the Board s intention to increase the dividend
by 2 5% 2016 to 28 36 pence, wath a quarterly dividend of 7 09 pence




1IFRS profit after tay

IFRS profit after tax for the year was £1 7565 mullion [2014 £1,116
million] In addition to underlying profits the most signilicant item
impacting IFRS profit was the net valualion increase of £510 million
tor the Group and €595 mullion for the Group s share of joint ventures
and funds

Balance sheet

EPRA net assets include a number of adjustments to the IFRS
reporied net assets and are presented below on a proportionally
consolidated basis

2018 2014
fm £m
Properties at valuation 134677 12 540
Other non-current assets 256 194
13,933 12,234
Other net current Labilities 1307) 1304)
Adjusted net debt 14,918) (4 890)
Other non-current Liabilities (73) 13
EPRA net assets (undiluted) 8,635 7,027
Dilution impact of convertible bond 400 -
EPRA net assets (diluted) 9,035 7.027
EPRA NAV per share 82%p 488p
Non-controlling interest 333 an
EPRA adjustments’ 1803) 1281)
IFRS net assets 8,545 7117

! EPRA net asseis exclude the mark 10-market on effective cash fiow hedges and
related deby acdjusiments as well as deferred 1axatian on revalvatons [ includes
irading properties at fair value and s adjusted for the impact of share cphons and
the convertible bond which are dilutve

The 20 5% increase in EPRA NAV reflects a strong valuation
performance across the portfolio The valuation uplift in the year of
12 1% reflects yield compression of 48 bps and ERV growth of & 6%

Returns were driven by continuing strong performance
from our standing investrents up 11% and a 25% ncrease
In our developments

This performance was due to markel movements and reflects the
strategic dectsions taken over the last five years including our well
umed development programme the quality of the Group s assels and
how they are managed and the secter allccation decisions we have
made The Group s portiolio is now almost evenly split between
Offices and Retail

The impact of dituting for the convertible was eight pence per share,
due to the share price betng above the convertible bond conversion
price for the first ume this year

The re-coupaning completed as part of the Tesco property swap
resulted in a three pence per share decrease in EPRA NAV

IFRS balance shect

Al 31 March 2015, 33% of the property partfolio and 29% of net debt
was held withun joint ventures and funds The IFRS batance sheet
shows our investment in joint ventures and funds grouped together
and shown net On this basis our investment at 31 March 2015 was
£2 901 millon

Cash flow. net debt and financing

Significant acquisitions completed in the year included the Surrey
Quays Leisure Park the purchase of Tesco s interest in two joint
ventures as part of the Tesco property swap and the purchase of an
additional 10 5% of the units in the Hercules Unit Trust bringing the
Group s ownership to 4% 2% at the year end Inaddition Cne Sheldon
Square was acquired in Aprit 2015 for £210 mullren

Development and capital expenditure in the year reflected the spend
on the committed development programme and the replenishment
of the devetopment pipeline Forecast development spend of £378
mdlion 1s anticipaled over the next three years onthe Group s
comimitied development programme This compares to £306 million
of contracted residential sales at year end

Significant disposals in the year included the sale of the Group s join
venture mterest in the Tesco Aqua Lirmited Partnership to Tesco as
part of the Tesco property swap and the sale of three Samsbury s
supersteres These sales reduced the Group s exposure to
standalone loodstores from 11% of the total porifolio in 2014 tojust
under 7% 1n 2015

Net cash flow Irom operating activities on a proportionally

consolidated basis was £282 mullion higher than the £249 rmitlion
received last year primarily due to the increase in net rental income
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Financing

Group' Propartonally censalidated
2015 2014 2015 2014
Adjusted net debt £3425m €2877m  €4,918m £48%0m

Principal value of
gross debt £3517m £2990m  £5,202m £5198m

Loan to value 28% 29% 35% 40%

Weighted average
nterast rate of

drawn debt 33% 35% 38% 4 1%
Interest cover 30 32 26 25
Weighted average

debt maturity 7Byears B2years 87years 87years

! Group presented after elimunation of nan centrolling interests

Balance sheet metrnics in the current year remained strong Ona
proportionsity consolidaled basis LTV and the weighled average interest
rale on drawn debt were reduced while interest cover was improved

The decrease in LTV 10 35% s a reflection of the impact market yeld
improvermnents ERV growth and our actions had on valuations

The strength of the Group s balance sheet is reflected in Bntish Land s
semor unsecured credit rating which remains rated by Fitch at A-

We continue to achteve attractive tinancings which improve earnings
and iquidity We have rassed E1 ¢ billion of debt finance smce 31 March
2004 (ncluding the five year £785 million unsecured Revolving Credit
Facilty [RCF Jin Aprit 2D14 an exlension by one year was agreed

May 2015

in February 2015 we undertook a restructuring of British Land s other
syndicated RCFs A new E485 mition unsecured RCF was entered mto
at an initial margin of 90 bps with a maturily of five years which may be
extended to a maximum of sevenyears on Briish Land $ request and
on each bark s approval for their participation This facility replaced the
£560 mitlion RCF which would have matured i May 2016 and was an
extension and re-pricing of the £310 million RCF which was due 1o
expire in May 2018 This restructunng reduced lhe total faciies
available to the Group by about £400 million 0 bine wath our lower
leverage mund-set

Refinancing of our joint venture and fund faciiies in the year consisted
of an extension of the Hercules Unit Trust £350 miltion facility at a
barrowing cost 80 bps lower than the previous facility and refinancing
of the Tesco BL Properties joint venture £325 milbion facility at a
borroweng cost 280 bps lower than the previous facility We also repaid
the higher rate £80 million facility held by Tesco British Land Property
Partnership in March 2015 following our acquisition of Tesco s interest
i this joint venture

Overall Labiity managerment complated in the year, including the
re-couponing element of the Tesco property exchange transaction
has reduced the proportionatly consohidated weighted average
interest rate rom 4 1% to 38%

Briish Land has £1 ¢ billion of committed banking facilties and
£73 mullion of cash and short term deposits O these faciliies
£1 6 billion have matunties of more than two years

Furiher informanon on our approach to inancing s prowaded in the
fimancial polictes and principles section on pages 53 to 95

th
(3% ]
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Tax

As a consequence of the Group s REIT status ihcome and capital
gains from our qualifying property rental business are exempi irom
UK corporation tax The tax charge In the yaar s £24m of which
£23m relates lo deferred tax

We continue to comfortably pass all REIT tests to ensure cur REIT
stalus is maintained

Any UK income that does not qualify as property mcome wiihin the
REIT rules {such as fees and interest) 1s subject to tax in the normal
way We are also subject 1o tax on overseas properties depending on
the requirements of each jurisdiction

HMRC continue {0 award Brittsh Land a Low Risk tax rating which
1s in part a reflection of our REIT status together wath the reqular

dialogue we ma:ntain with them and our transparent approach to

complex areas

We administer the tax comphiance for 470 compames covening Group
and joint ventures and funds [392 UK companies and 78 overseas
companesl, details of which are shown in our annual return hled

at Companies House on 28 February 2015

Inthe year to 31 March 2015 British Land pard and collected more
than €200 million across all taxes 1o HMRC

W Beld .

Lueinda Bell
Chuet Financial Officer




FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

We focus on having an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding which
enables us to deliver our property strategy

Leverage

We manage our mex of equity and debt financing 1o achieve the right
balance between enhancing returns for shareholders and the risk

of higher leverage We use aloan to value ratio ldebt as a percentage
of the gross value of our assets LTV )io measure our leverage
primarily on a proportionally consolidated basis including our share
of joind ventures and funds

We seek to manage our leverage such that our LTV should not
exceed a maximurmn threshold if market yields were to rise to
previous peak levels This means we will not increase our LTV

it asset values increase as a result ol market yield improvement
Consequentty our maximum LTV wilt be higher in the low point

in the cycle and will trend downwards as market yields tighten

At this point in the cycle and at today s yields our current maximum
LTV s 38% on a praporticnally consolidated basis (a lower level
than the range m which we operated 1n previous years)

We leverage our equity and achieve benelits of scale while spreading
risk through joint ventures and funds which are typically parily
financed with debt without recourse to Briish Land The debt in joint
ventures and funds s mcluded in the proportionally consolidated LTV
of 35% which 1s higher than the Group measure for our unsecured
lenders which 15 around 28%

Debt finance

The scale of our business combined with Lhe quality of our assets
and rental income means that we are attractive to a broad range
of debt providers and able to arrange hinance on favourable terms
Good access to the capital and debt markets s a competitive
advantage allowing us 1o take opporiurities when they anse

The group s approach ta debi financing for British Land 1s to raise
funds predominantly on an unsecured basis with our standard
financ¢ial covenants Iset out on page 55) This provides the greatest
flexiality and low operational cost Qur joint ventures and funds are
each inanced in ring-tenced structures without recourse to British
Land for repayment and are secured on the relevant assets

Presented opposite are the five guiding prenciples ihai govern the
way we structure and manage our debi

Debt financing involves risk frorm adverse changes in the property
and financtng markets Inarranging and monitoring our linancing
we inclyde important risk disciplines ensuring thal retevant risks
are fully evaluated and managed

Managing nisk i delivering our siralegy see pages 56 to 61

Monitormg and controling our debt

We momtor our projected LTV and our debt reqguirement using
several key internally generated reports focused principally on
borrowang levels debtmaturity, avallable facitities covenant
headroom and interest rate expesure We also undertake sensitivity
analysis to assess the impact of proposed transactions movements
in interest rates and changes in property values on the key balance
sheet Liquidity and profrtabitity ratros

In assessing our ongoing debl requirements including those of
our development programme, we constder potential downside
scenarios such as a fall in valuations and the effect that might
have on our covenants

Based on our current commiiments and our current available
faciites we have no requiremend Lo refinance prior to March 2019
Britsh Land s current commilted undrawn bank facilities are

£1 2 bitlion

Managing witerest 1ate exposure

We manage our interest rale nsk independenily from our debt
The Board sets an appropriate maumum level of sensitivity of
underlying earrungs and cash flows to movements in market rates
of interest over a rotting five-year period The proportion of fixed
rate debt required to remain wathin the target sensitivity has
decreased as a result of our lower levels of leverage and
Increased interest cover

Our debt finance 1s raised at both lixed and variable rates Derivatives
Iprimarily interest rate swaps| are used to achieve the desired
nterest rate probie across proporhionally consolidated net detht
Currently §4% of projected net debt including our share of joint
ventures and funds)] 15 fixed over the next five years and we expect
this percentage lo decrease over the forthcoming year The use of
derwatives 1s managed by a Denvatives Committee The interest rate
management of joinl ventures and funds 15 addressed by each entity
toriis business

lounterpas ties
We momtor the credit standing of our counterparties to minimise
our risk exposure in respect of placing cash deposits and dervatives
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Foreign currency
Our policy 1s to have no mateniat unhedged net assets or labiblies
denommated i foreign currencies

When attractive terms are avallable the Group may choose to
borrow in freely available currencies oiher than sterling and
wall fully hedge the foreign currency exposure

7]
W

BritishLand | Annual Repoi t and Accounls 2015




Strategic Report

FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES CONTINUED

Our five gmding principles

Diversafy We monttor the hinance markets and seek toaccess different types of finance when the relevant market conditions are
our sources favourable to meet the needs ol our business and where appropriaie those of our joint ventures and funds The scale
of finance and quality of the Group s business enables us 1o access a broad range of unsecured and secured recourse and

non-recourse debt

We enjoy and encourage long term relationships with banks and debt investors We aim to avord reliance on particular
seurces of funds and borrow from a large number of lenders from different secters inthe market and a range of
geographical areas, with a total of 41 debt providers of bank facilittes and private placements alone We alse aim to
ensure that debt providers understand our business we adopt a transparent approach to provide sufficient disclosures
so that lenders can evaluate their exposure within the averall context of the Group These factors increase our
attractiveness to debt providers and in the last five years we have arranged £5 4 bitlion {Briish Land share €4 5 billion]
of new finance n unsecured and secured bank loan faciliies US Private Placements and converiible bonds

£0.4bn

Tetal debt portlols

Phase The maturity profile of our debt 1s managed with a spread of repayment dates We monitor the varicus debt markets so
matunty thal we have the ability to act quickly 1o arrange new finance as opporturuties arise Matunities of different types of debt
of debt are well spread taking into account term debt and revolving faciities reducing our relinancing risk in respect of ming
portfolia and market conditions As a resuli of our financing activity we are comfortably ahead of our preferred lwo year

relinancing date horizon The current range of debl maturities i1s one to 20 years

8. 7Yrs

Average dett matunty

Marntamn In addiion to our drawn term debt we aim always 1o have a good level of undrawn committed unsecured revelving bank
uguidity facilities These facibities provide financial Liguidity reduce the need to hold resources in cash and deposits and minimise
cosis arising irom the diflerence between borrowing and deposit rates whtle reducing credit exposure

We arrange these revolving credit facilities in excess of our committed and expected requirements to ensure we have
adequate financing availability to support business requirements and opportuniies

£1.2bn

{Undrawn commmitted facitities

Maintain Our facilites are struciured to provide valuable flexibuity for invesiment deal execution whether sales or purchases

flexiility devetopments or assel management Our bank revolving credit facilities provide full flexibility of drawing and repayment
land cancellation il we requirel at short notice without additional cost These are arranged with standard terms and
financial covenants and generally have matunities of five years Flexibiity s maintamned with our combination of this
unsecured revolving debl and secured term debt in debentures with good substitution rights, where we have the ability
10 move assets in and out of the securty

Sl .9bn

Revolving credu facilihes

Maintain We actively manage our mix of equity and debt financeng to achieve a balance between our ability to generate an attracuive
strong balance return for sharehotders with the risks of having more debt
sheel metncs

Our capial strategy has evelved and is responsive Lo the need to manage our exposure throughout the property cycle
such that we aim not te exceed a maximum proportionally consolidated LTV threshold in an econamic downturn

38% A- 2.6

LTV Ipropertionally consolidaied] credu rating In erest cover proportionally
consolidated
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Group borrowings

Unsecured financing for the Group 15 raised through bilateral and
syndicated unsecured revolving bank faciities with imtial terms of
five years (often extendablel, US Private Placements with maturitigs
up to 2027, and the convertible bond maturing in 2017

Secured debt s provided by debentures with longer maturities up
to 2035 at fixed rates of interest and a bank term lean acquired
inthe year

Unsecured borrowings

The same financial covenants apply across each of the Group s

unsecured faciliies These covenants which have been consistently

agreed with all unsecured tenders since 2003 are

- net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and
Reserves, and

- net Unsecured Berrowings not 1o exceed 70% of Unencumbered
Assets

Covenant ratio

2011 2012 2003 2014 2015
At 31 March % % % % %
Netl borrowings
to adjusted
capital and reserves' 36 44 3 40 38
Net unsecured
borrowsngs
to unencumbered assets? 25 34 23 31 28

Highest dunng the yearta 31 March 2015
' 40% and? 32%

No income/interest cover ratios apply to these facilities, and there
are ne other unsecured debt financial covenants in the Group

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group not subject to any security,
stood at £5 6 billion as at 31 March 2015

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumberad Assets
for the covenant calculations, unsecured lenders benehit from the
surplus value of these assets above the related debt and the iree
cash flow from them During the year ended 31 March 2015, these
assels generated £40 million of surplus cash after payment of
interest Inaddition white investments i joint ventures do not form
parl of Unencumbered Asseis our share of profits generated by
these ventures are reqularly passed up 1o the Group

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land 1s provided by debentures
at fixed interest rates withlong matunities and ne amertisation

These are secured agamnst a single combined pool of assets with
common covenants the value of those assets is required to cover

the amount of these debenlures by a menmum of 1 5times and net
rental income must cover the mterest at least once We use our
rights under the debentures to withdraw substitute or add
properties [or cash collaterall inthe security pool inorder to
manage these cover ralos effectively and deal with any asset sales

Secured debt without recourse 1o British Land comprises the

following, each of which 1s secured on a specific portiolio of

properties

- 2 fixed rate debenture of £30 million for BLD Property Holdings Ltd
to 2020 and

- a bank loan of £325 mitlon for TBL Properties Limited land its
subsidiaries) to 2019

Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

External debt for our oint ventures and funds has been arranged
through tong dated securitisations or bank debt according to the
requirements of the business of each venlure

Hercules Uit Trust has term loan facilities matuning i 2037
and 2020 arranged for iis business and secured on its property
portfolios, without recourse 1o British Land These loans include
value and income based covenants

The securitisations of the Broadgate Estale [£1 717 million],
Meadowhall [£723 million) and the Sainsbury s Superstores
portfolio [E479 mullion) have weighted average maturives of

12 7years 11 Oyears and 73 years respectively The only

financial covenant applicable 1s that Income must cover interest

and scheduled amortisation [1times) there are no loan 1o value
covenants These secuntisations provide for quarterly principal
repayments with the balance outstanding reducing to approximately
20% to 30% of the onginal amount raised by expected hnal matunity
thus mitigating refinancing risk

Other debt arrangements with banks and other lenders include loan
to value ratio covenants with maximum levels ranging from 40% to
65% and most have rental income to interest or debt service cover
requirements

There 1s no ebligation on Briish Land to remedy any breach of lhese
covenants and any remedy needed would be considered by the
parues on a case-by-case basis

o
W
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Strategio Report

MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Our assessment of risk is a cornerstone
of our strategy and our risk management
is fundamental to its delivery.

Luemda Bell
Charr of the Risk Commuttee

Our risk appetite remains broadly unchanged We maintain our tocus
on sectors where we see susta:nable outperformance that:s high
quality UK relail and London offices In developments we have
continued to delwer on our 2010 programme and have committed to
new developments to manage our development exposure i line with
our return aspirations Qur approach to monitoring leverage has
evolved rather than target a specific LTVrange we aim to ensure that
our LTV does not exceed a maximum threshold if yrelds were to nise to
prewious peak levels This means we do not gear up solely on market
yreld shift and consequenily LTV has reduced in the year Internally we
have undertaken some significant change projects to improve the
operational effectiveness and efficiency of our business While this
neviiably presents a degree of operational nisk we believe we have
the right people in place to manage change ejtectively Inthe current
year we have been conscious ol the increased risk of terrorist
activities at our assets and have tested our crisis response plan

16 ensure 1t1s robust

Our approach to nsk management

At British Land we take the view that our assessment of riskisa
cornerstene of our strategy and our embedded risk management
15 fundamental {0 115 delivery Our integrated approach combines
a top-down strategic view with a complementary bottom-up
operational process

The top-down approach involves a review of the external
environment Inwhich we operate This guides assessment of the
risks whichwe are comfortable taking in pursuit of our performance
objectives - this 1 our risk appetite This evaluation guides the
actions we take in executing our strategy Key nskindicators (KRIs)
have been identilied for each of our principal risks and are used to
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The most significant judgements
affecting our risk appetite include
our assessment of prospective
property returns, development
exposwre and our leverage.”

monitor our risk exposure The KRIs are reviewed quarterly by the
Risk Committee to ensure that the aclvities of the business raman
within our risk appetite

The bottom-up approach irwolves wdentifying managing and
monitoring risks in each area of our business This way risk
management 15 embedded in our everyday operations Control

of thys process is provided through mamntenance of risk ragisters
mneacharea Theserisk registers are aggregated and reviewed by
the Risk Commuittee with significant and emerging risks escalated
for Board consideration as appropriate This process complements
the top-down view by helping us identify our principal nsks and
ensuring that operational risks are fully constdered in deterrmining
the risk appetite and the corresponding strategy of the busmess

Our principal risks are detailed in the table that follows These
remain unchanged from the prior year with two exceptions

The Economic and Political outlook risk has been separated into
two distinct economic and pobtical risks reflecung the differing
drivers of these risks and their divergent paths |n addition we
have separated Developmenl risk into Development Exposure
and Development Cost Inflalion to reflect the differing nature

of these risks

Rish governance

The Board takes overall responsibility for risk managernert with a
particular focus on determining the nature and extent of significant
risksit s willing to take i achieving its strategic objectives The
Audit Commitiee assesses the principat nsks facing the Company
ncluding those that would threaten s selvency or tiquidity lts
evaluation of these solvency risks 1s described further in the Going
Concern seclian on page 76 and a description of how these risks
are managed and mitigated 15 ncluded in the Financial Strategy
Execution risk in the table of principal risks which follows

The Audit Commuttee takes responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of sound risk management and internal control
systems and more information on the system of internat controls
can be found on page 79




Risk management at a glance

The diagram below summarises the complemeniary lop-down and botlom-up aspects of our INtegrated approach 1o Nsk management
The Execulive Directors are respansible for delivering the Company s strategy and managing operational risk and a Risk Committee has
been established to provide a forum to {ulidl these responsibiliies

The Qirectors in turn place reliance on their teams to monilor and manage operational risks on an ongeing basts and toidentify emerging
risks The risk registers provide a framework for all staff to feed into this precess recogrusing their shared responsibility lor effective
management of risk in delivering our strategy

Muore can be found on the struciure and role of the Risk Commutige in the Governance section on page 70

Top-Down Bottom.Up
Strategic nsk management Operational risk management

Review external environment

Set risk appetite and paramelers BOARD/ Assess elfectiveness of risk management systems

— AUDIT COMMITTEE -
Determune strategic action pomnts Report principal risks and uncertainties

Direct delivery of strategic actions
- RISK COMMITTEE Conzider compleleness of identihed risks and
Monitor key misk indicators adequacy of mitigating actsons
|Executive Directors) -
Consider aggregation of risk exposures across
the business

Execute strategc actions
- Report priorily and emerging risks

Report on key risk indicators BUSINESS UNITS -
Idently, evaluate prioritise rmitigate and monitor
operalional risks recorded in risk register

Risk Management m Action ~ Crists Response

During the year the Executive Committee [see page 70 for a
definition] undertook a stmulatron exercise 10 test the Company s
¢risis response plan The scenano involved responding to 2 bomb
explosien aifecting one of our Central Londeon office esiates The
Executive Commitiee demonsirated the steps thal woutd be taken

i order 10 handle suchan incident ranging from dealing with the
emergency services llaising with key stakeholders and operating
telephone helplines This was a valuable exercise to satisfy ourselves
that our crisis response ptan 15 robust and ¢an be executed on a reat
lirne basis in response to a catasirophic external event As well as
giving us confidence that we are well prepared to handie such an
event the exercise also gave us the opportunity to cefine and further
enhance our response planfor the future

British Land | Annual Repot t and Accounts 2015 57




Strategic Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS

External Risks

Rusks and unpacts

How we momtor
and manage the nsk

Movemernt i the penod

Economic The ecanomic recovery and the = The Rsk Committee reviews the economic The UK economic recovet y conlinyed
outlook ptospect o tncreasng interest rates environment in which we operale quanerly 1o ihis year withimproving GOP growth
present rnisks and opportumties n assess whelher any changes 10 the econoaic low unernployrnent and low interest
property and tinancing markets and outlook present risks or apportunilies which rates Low ol prices. and tow milation
the bustiesses of our occuprs shoutd be redlected in the execution of expeclations coupled wath the return
our sirategy Indicaiors such as forecast GDP olwaga growth has resulied inan
growth unemployment business and consumer increase in consumer confidence
conhidence inlerest rates and milahon/dellalion
are considered an well as central bank guidance
and government policy updates
Political Sigruficant upcomning pohilical - We are noi able Lo influence the outcoma There are anumber of uncertainhes
outlook avenls biing nsks in two areas of significant palincal events but take the regarding the cornposition of the LU
- reluctance of investers uncertainty related to such events and the We have been mindlul to consider the
and busmesses 1o make range of possible cutcomes inlo account impact of the possibilay of the UK leaving
nvesiment decissans whilst the when making siratagic investrment and the EU and of any revised terms of EU
outcome tematns uncerain and financing decisions member ship as us would need to be
- on determnation of Lhe oulcome - We engage public aflairs consullanis 10 ensure managed rarelfully
the impact on the case for that we are property bi iefed on the polential
trvestrent i the UK and ol poly and regulatory implications of poldical
specific polices and regulation evenis Where appropriate we act with ather
mtroduced particutarly those mduslry participants to miluence the debate
which directly impact real eslale on these policies
Cammercial  Reduction ih invesior demand = The Risk Commutee reviews the property Thete was a high level ol investor demand
property Tor UK real esiate may resull market guarterly to assess whaother any m UK commercial property during the year
investor in falls in asset valuatiens and changes to the market outlook present nsks bothirom domestic and international
d d could arise liom vaniations n or opportunibes which should be reflected invesions The low cost of fmance to many
eman = hebalth ol the UK economy Ihe execution of our strategy The Commitiee nvesiors hewghtened Lhe altractveness of
- atiractveness of imestment considers indicators sich as the margin propertyinvestment in the UK
nihe LK between property yrelds and borrowing costs
= avadahbduy of hnance and proparty capital growth forscasts which
- relalive aliractveness are consiered alongside the Commitice
of other asset classes members knowledge and experience of market
actvty anxd remds
= We locus on 1hose sectors which we believe will
delsver outperformance over the medwrn lerm
benefiting from continuing o« cuprer dermand
and aweslor appeine
Development Coslinflation presents ansktothe - Foreach projert we make 2 judgemeni about Consiruction cost 1nflal ton signitccantly
cost inflation  profitabiily of our development apportionment ol censtruction nisk Where increased throughout the year as a result
projects and has the polential to we retain this nsk we aim 1o hix costs early in ol the supply and demand dynarntcs within
adversely atlecl our cash position the process subject to other market factars the consiruction endusiry As such we have
and overall return on investment with key contractors subject (o Enancal decuded it i appropriate lo recognise this
covenani reviaw as o separale pnncipad nisk
- We lactor in construction cost inflation
for our progects as part of the mvesimen)
apprasal process to assess the viability
al earh developinent
= Weare workang vath our supply chain on
inliatves to address emerging skills shortages
and polentiy] resource constraints that could
impact development costs in Lhe long term
KEY
Change from last year

@ Risk exposure has inrieased @ No signiheanl change in nisk exposure @ Pisk exposure has reduced

Qur prncipat Key Risk Indicators ane ighlighted withen Howwe monitor and manage the risk
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Rishs and impacts

{low we momton
and manage the nish

Mosvement 1 the penod

QOccupter = Undertying sncome rental growth - The Risk Commidiee regularly 1eviews indicalors The London office occupational
dermnand and capial performance could be ol acrupier demand inciuding consumer market continued to strengthen due
and tenant adversely atlecied by weakening carfidence surveys, employment forecasts to acornbungtion of constrained supply
defauli occupier demand resulling from for relevant occupter sectors and ERY growth and increased demand Irom an
vanalions in the heallh of the forecasts [hese are consdered alongside increasingly diver se gccupier base
UK economy and corresponding the Comrmice members knowledge and
weakening of consumer expenence of ocrupier plans trading Forrotaters thare was continued
confidence and business pertormance and leasing actmty in demand lor retasl space (hat maiches
actvity and investment gurdmg executron of our sirategy the natyre of their emmi-channel
- Occupier fallures may adversely ~ We have a Key Occupier Account ollerings demonsirating the need lor
impact underlying income and programme through which we work us Ip have continued customer locus
copital performance togelher with our sccupiers to tind ways
= Changing consummer and business te bestamee! therr evolving requirements -
practices tincluding the growth of ncluding understanding how our stores
nlernel retailbing flexible working fit wath thewr amni channet offer
praciices and demand for energy = We perforrn nigorous ocrupier covenant checks
efficient buldings] new ahd review these on an ongoing basis so that
technologles new legslation we can be proacive in managing exposure 1o
and allernative localions may weaker occupiers
result in earber than anticipated - We have binked leadership on environivenial
obsolescence of our buildimgs o issues with our business strateqy and sel
evolving accupier and regulalory Tuture prociing geals te responi to custamer
requirements are not met demand including complying wath new energy
an water legislation
— BrtishLand prides nsell on taking 2
leadership position in defining and
msponding 1o environmental legistateon
impaciing the bull emmronment We expect
our alhice develepments 1o be BREEAM
Lxcellent and out major retall developmenis
10 be BRFEAM Very Good al a rinimum
Availability - Reduced availabilny of propeny - Benchmark borrowing rates and measures We saw a conlinued increase w lhe
and cost of mancing may adversely impact of real estate credit availability are monitored avallabilily of knance 1o commercial
finance our ahility to retinence lacilies by the Risk Comunittee quarter ly and considered proporsty across af ange of sburces
and result in weaker investor alongsile Commuliee members awareness of Overall financing costs remained al
detnand for reql estate finanring sctaly i the industry to guide our histore lows throughoul the year
~ Increasmg linance cosis would hinancing actions In executing our sirategy
reduce our underlying incorne = We mamiain good refatonships with our key
hinancing partners and advisors 10 mantain
an awareness of inancing markel actty
~ We rmaintam a dwerse range of sources
of linance 1o provide flexibility 10 access
funding as required
= We are nundiul of relevant ernerging banking
regulations workmg wilh indusiry bodies and
olher relevant organisalons to participate in
the debate where our mnteresis are alfected
Catastrophic  Anexlernal event such as a cwil - We maintain a comprehensive rrisis response The Homw Oflice threal level Irom
Business emargency including alarge-scale plan across all business unils aswell as a nternational terronism increased Irom
Event terrorist attack extreme weathet head olfice business continuity plan substantinl 1o severe reltecling evenis in

oCcurrence or environmerdal
disaster coutd severely disrupt
globat mat kets [uw tudmg property
and linance] and cause sigrificant
damage and desruption to our
portfolio and apei ations

- The Risk Commutiee monitors the Home Office
terrortsm threal levels and we have access
to secunity threat infor mation services

- Assel emergency procedures are regularly
teviewed any scenano tested

~ Physacal secunty measutes ate in place at
pioperiies and development siles

- Assel sk assessments are catiied gut le g

secumy llood erwronmental bealth and salety)

We also have appropriate insurance i place
acioss the portiolio

the Middle Easl and some i1solaled incidents
closer to home in Evrope The nature

loi ation and targut of lerrorist altat ks

have become harder lo predict Securiy
provedur es act0ss our portfoto have been
reviewed and enhanced as approptiate
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Strategie Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal Risks

Risks and mmpacts

How we momtor and
manage the rnsk

Mosement in the penod

investment Inorder to meet our strategic

strategy objectives weo must investin and
extd from the right properties at
the mrghttime

Signiticant underperfor mance

could resull from nappropriate

delerrmmanion and execution

ol our property invesiment

strategy including

- sector seleclron and weighting

- timing of investment and
dvesiment decisions

- exposure o developmenis

- sector assel lenanl region
concentration

- co-mvestiment arrangements

RESPONSIBLE EXECUTIVE
Chris Gigg

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Right places

~ Ournvesimen! sirategy 1s determuned to
be consssient with our largel nsk appetite
and 1s based on the evaluation of the
external environment
~ Progress agams! lhe siralegy and conlinuing
alignment with cur sk appetite s discussed
al each Risk Committee wath reference 1o the
property markets and the external economic
enviranrnent
-~ Indmdual mvestmen decisions are subject
1o robust nsk evalvaton overseen by our
trvestment Comtrillee including consideralion
of returns relaine to nsk adjusted hurdle rates
- We loster cotlaboraive relationships with
our co-invesiors and enter into ownership
afjreements which balance the interests.
of the parties

Chris Grigg commented "lnthe year we
leok advantage of strong investment
markets 1o recycle capital We made

signif icant progress in our residental

sales particularly at Clarges and
cantinued 1ot e-shape our Retas! portfolio
by dispasing some of our more mature
assels We successtully exeruted a properly
exchange with fesco PLC resuling in
increased exposure to rnulli-led retad parks
and shopping centres while simirltaneously
decteasing our exposur e to superstores
We were also an active buyer inthe market
with notable acquisiiiens a1l Canada Waler
and Paddington We remain confrdenl that
our chosen seclor focus will delives
outperfoermance over the medwm term ”

Our investment strategy 1s culined
on pages 220 26

Devetopment Development provides an

exposure opportunily for outperformance
but this brings with it elevated risk
The cara with which we make our
decisions arcund which schemes
to develop whaen, as well as our
execution of these projects,
must reflect this

Development nisks could adversely
tmpact underlymyg mcome and
capsal perlormance including

- deveinpment lethng exposure

- conslruction imemg and costs

- adwrse planming prdgements

= We mamiain our levels of total and speculative
development expasure as a proportion of the
Investmant pertfolio value withun a 1amget range
taking into arcount associated 11sks and the
impact on key inancial metrics This 1s monstored
quarterly by the Risk Committea along with
progress of developments against plan

- For each project we make a judgement about

apportiionment ol consliuction risk Where we

retatn this risk we fix costs early inthe process

subject 1o other market factors wath key

contratlors subject to inancial covenant review

Pra-la targets are used lo reduce developrnent

letting nsk where considered appropriate

-~ We aclively engage wth the communities m
which we operate as detailed in our Cormmunidy

Tum Roberls commented "We reached

the tinal stages of our 2010 development
proge amme with the completion ol
Leadenhall during the year and 5 Broadgate
to lollow alle) year end We were successtul
nactueving record cdy rents at the
Leadenhatl Buillding and made signilicant
pre-sales al Clarges ther eby reducing our
nskexposure Asa result we were conlident
1n commithing to 4 Kingdom Street duiing
the year and exploring mm options, a!
Blossom Strect Canada Water and 100
Liverpoot Street without breaching our rsk
appehte tirnits ~

For more on our development programme

RESPONSIBLE EXECUTIVES Chanter to ensure that our dewlopment arimivs see pages 381039
Chailew Maudsley Tin Roberis consxder the interests of all stakeholdors
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES - We manage emionmental and social nsks
Reght places across our developmenl supply chaen by
engaying with our suppliers including through
our Susiaiability Bref lor Developments
and Healih and Satety Poliry
People A number of critical bustness Our HR stralegy ts designed to mumimise Chris Grigg commented "Our expert people
processes and decisions iein risk through are 3 key assel and thewr decisions and
the hands of a few psople - informed and skilled recrintment processes actions dnve our perlorinance Therersa

Fasture to recruit develop and retain
slall and direciors with the right
shills and experience may resull
n signehrant underper formance

RESPONSIBLE EXECUTIVES
Chnis Grigy

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Expert people

= highty competitve compensation and benelis
- people development and training

=~ employee engagement surveys and
other ndiatves

We inonior 1his through the number ol
unplanned exacutive departures in addition
lo conduching exit nterviews

We engage with our cutsourced suppliers

1o make clear our reguirements in managing
key risks including health and satety [raud and
bribery and olher social and environmental nsks

sigrulcant level of change acimly within the
business and white we are rindful of 1he
impact ihis has we also believe Lthal we
have the nght people in role to delver

these prop s We are commuitted to
miaking British Land 2 great place towork
and olfer a sutte of tratming and development
opportumilies ipour sialf Qur hugh level

ol stall engagernent was recognised by
mamtamung a One Star almg inthe Sunday
Times Besl Companies to Work For survey ™
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Risks amd impacts How we momtor and Movement in the penod

manage the nsk

Income
sustainability

We must be rmindful of maintaintng - We underiake comprehensva profit and cash Charles Maudstey commmented “We are
sustainable income streams in ftow lorecasting mcorporating scenario analysts wvesling in our Retail portfolic to ensure we
order tocontinue to generate to rodel the impact of proposed transactions are meeting \he demands ol ou occupters
returns for our shareholders - We monitor our market latting exposure and ther customers We achieved a number
and provide the platform from meluding vacancies upcoming expintes and of leasing successes in excess ol ERY
which ta grow the business breaks and tenants in admuntsiration as wetl occupancy rates increased and tootlall
throughdevelopment and as our weighted average lease length continued to be above benchmarks
capital appreciation ~ We perform ngomus orcuper covenant checks throughout the year We recognise that in
and revtew lhese on an ongomg basts so Lhat delivering our investmenl siralegy and
We consider sustainabihity of our we can be proacive nmanaging exposure 1o selling some of our mafur e assets we have
ncome streams in weaker occupiers had to be conscious of the impact on our
- execution of investment = We are proactve in addiessing key lease breaks incorne sustainabslity Additwnally we are
strategy and capial recycling and expirtes to mummise perods of vacancy also mundful of 1the challenges facing the
notably Liming of retnvestment - We have a dversitied occuper base and dustry and conimue to montior aur
of sale proceeds monitor concentration of exposure lo indviduat exposure lo occupiers al risk af defaull
- nalure and structure of OCCUPHRrs OF seclors and admmstraton ”
leasing acimty = We acively engage wath the communtties
— nalure and twwung ol asset i which we operale o5 detaled inour For more on how we manage our por tlolio
managerment and development Lommunity Charter to ensure that we see pages 161021
actmity provide buddings that meet the needs

of all relevant stakeholdars
RESPONSIBLE EXECUTIVES
Chartes Maudstey Trnn Roberts
STRATEGIC PRIOGRITIES
Cuslamer orientalion

Capntal We musti maintatn a capiial - We monitor our LTV an order to manage Lurinda Bell commented “"Hew we montor
structure structure which recognises the leverage levels owr the cycle capital slructr e and our approach fo LTV
- leverage balance between performance, = We mdnage our investrnient actmly the size evwlved during the year we consider our
nsicand fleability and timing of which can be uneven as well as LTV the context ol valuaticn movements
our developmenl comiuiments to ensure thal actoss the property cycle rather than targel
- Leverage magnlies returns both our LTV level remains appropnate anLTVwithena range Our clear strategyts
pasitve and negative Lhai we da nol gear up on markel yreld shilt
— Anincrease in lgverage increases and hence ourLTV reduced over the year”
the risk ol a bieach of covenanis
on borrowing lacilitres and may For more on our financial palicies
mcrease Inance ¢osls see pages 5310 55
RESPONSIBLE EXECUTIVES
Lucmda Bell
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Capital elliciency
Finance We must be judicious in the = We have ltve key principles guiding our Luctnda Bell commented "We cantiued 1o
strategy managemant of our financing as linancing winch logelher are employed to operate an eificient deb! bock inthe year
execution otir strategy here addresses risks manaqge the roks in this orea diversity our providing the Nexibadny required lor our
bothto our continuing solvency and sources ol hnance phase maturity of debl mwvestment aclivity and in conpunction with
the stability of our profits porttalio mamtam lquiddy mauntam flexibility ow hedging policy stability of inancing
maintain sirong balance sheet metres See cosis We were successhul m refinancing at
Faiture 1o manage the refinancing page 54 lor further details atiractive rates during the year including
requirement may resull nashortage - We ctosely monitor the pertod until one of our jont venlures with Tesco Given
ol funds 10 susiam the pperalns o refinanctng rs required which rs a key owr sales and purchases prolile we also
the business or repay [acililes as deterrminand of inanang actvity and use locused on managmg the repayment of
they lalt due scenano modetling tools 10 evatuate the exisiing lacilires and ensuring our level
likslshood of covenant breach of committed lacihities 1s approprrate ~
Thus and a breach of Linancing - We are comimitied to mamtaining and
rovenant hmits are ronsifered to enhancing refationships with aut ey For mare on ourfinancial policies
be sigmiicant risks 10 the conbinuing linanging partners see pages S3to 55
operabons of Brish Land asagoing - We are mundiul of relevant emergmg regulation
conceln See page 76 or further winch has the potential 10 wnpact the way that
consideration o gaing concern we finance the Group
RESPONSIBLE EXECUTIVE
Lucinda Bell

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Capnal elticiency
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Governance and remuneration

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Board develops strategy
and leads British Land to

achieve long term success

Lucinda Bell
Chief Financial Officer

Appointed in March 2011
became Chief Financial
Officer in May 2011

Sumon Borrows
Non-Executive Director

Appointed n March 2011

Tim Roberts
Head of Dffices and Residential

Appointed in July 2006

Laura Wade-Gery
Nan-Executive Director

Appointed on 13 May 2015

Tim Sco1e
Non-Executive Director

Appointed In March 2014
Aubrev Adams

Nan-Executive Director

Appointed in Septernber 2008

64 British Land | Annual Repoi L and Accounts 2015




Lord Turnbull
Senior Independent Director

Appointed Non-Executive
Director in April 2006 became
Senior Independent Director
in January 2013

Charles Maudsley
Head of Retail and Leisure

Appointed in February 2010

Lynn Gladden

Non-Executive Director
Appointed on 20 March 2019

William Jackson
Non-Executive Director

Appointed in Aprit 2011

Chns Grigg
Chief Executive

Appointed in Janvary 2009

John Gildersieeve
Non-Executive Chairman

Appointed Non-Executive
Director in September 2008
became Senior Independent
Director in Novemnber 2010
and Chairmanin January 2013
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Gorvernance ond remuneration

BOARD OF DIRECTORS - BIOGRAPHIES

Non-Executive Chairman

John Gildersleerve

Skills and experience John s a non-executive director of Dixons
Carphone plc, depuly chairman and seruor independent director
of Spire Healthcare Group ple, and deputy chawrman of TaikTalk
Telecom Group PLC MHe s also a non-executive dirgctor of

Pick n Pay SA John was lormerly chairman of New Look Retail
Group EMIGroup Gailaher Group and Carphone Warehouse
Group, a non-execulive director of Lloyds TSB Bank PLC and
Vodatone Group and an executive director of Tesco plc

Committee membership Nomination [Chairman)
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Executive Directors
Chns Gngg

Chief Executive

Skills and experience Chris was chief executive of Barclays
Commercial Bank until November 2008, having joined the bank
n 2005 Prior to Barctays he was partner of Goldman Sachs,
where his career spanned 20 years

Committee membership Executive [Chairman] Investment
IChairman) Risk

External appeintments non-executive director of BAE Systems
pic, member of the executive board ofthe European Public Real
Esiate Association [EPRA) and board member of the British
Property Federation

Lucinda Bell
Chief Financial Officer

Skills and experience A chartered accountant with over 20 years of
industry experience [n 2006 she was a member of the HM Treasury
appointed working party which designed the tmplementation of the
REIT regime

Committee membership Risk {Chairman] Sustainability
(Chairman] Health and Safety [Chairman), Executive Invesiment

External appointments non-axecutive director of Rotork ple and
chairman of the reporting and accounting cornmittee of EPRA

Chales Maudsley
Head of Retarl and Leisure

Skills and experience Charles joined Briish Land from LaSalle
Investment Management He had also been with AXA Real Estate
Investment Managers for seven years .

Commuttee membership Executive Invesiment Risk

Tim Roberts
Head of Offices and Residential

Skills and experience Beforejoinmg British Land in 1997 Tim
was a partnerat Drivers Jonas in the Investment Agency team

Commuttee membership Executive fnvestment Risk
Externat appointments trustee and board member of LandAid




Non-Executive Directors
Aubrey Adams

Skills and expenience Aubrey is char-designate of L&Q the housing
association and residential developer He s also chairman of the
board of trustees of Wigmore Halt Aubrey was formerty head of
property within RBS s Restructuring Division a non-executive
director of Pinnacle Regeneration Group Limited, senior independent
director of Associated British Ports PLC non-executive chairman of
Uritech Corporate Parks PLC non-executive chairman of Air Partner
PLC chief executive of Sawlls PLC and non-executive chairman

of Max Property Group PLC

Commuttee membership Audit

Smmon Borrows

Skills and experience Simon is the chuef executive of 31 Group plc and
a member of the supervisory board of Peer Holdings BV the Ouich
holding company for 3i & invesiment 1n Action [the non-food discount
retaller] He worked tor 28 years in the banking and finance industry
mosl recently as chairman of Greenhill & Co International LLP He
had also held the posstion of chuef executive officer of Baring Brothers
International Lirmitad, the corporate hinance division of ING Banngs
andwas a non-execulive director of Inchcape plc until May 2015

Comrmuttee membership Audit

Lyan Gladden

Skills and expertence Lynn is pro-vice-chancellor for research

and Shell Professar of Chemicat Engineering at the University of
Cambridge She 15 also non-execulive director of IP Group plc fellow

of the Royal Society and Royal Academny of Engineering fetlow

of the Institutton of Chemicat Engineers, Royal Society of Chemistry
and Insuitute of Physics She was apponted Professor Chermical
Engineering Science at the University of Cambridge in 1999 and from
199510 2008 was a consultant at Unitever pic She is a former Council
member of the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Councit

Committee membership Remuneration

Wilham Jackson

Skills and experience William 1s managing partner ol Bridgepoint
charrman of Pret A Manger and pressdent of Dorna Sports SL

He began hus career in NatWesl s investrent banking arm, before
working extensively on private equity transactions i Europe

Committee membership Remuneration NMormunation

Laura Wade-Gen

Skills and experience Lauraisexecutive direclor Multi Channel of
Marks and Spencer Group plc and a trustee of both the Royal Dpera
House and Aldeburgh Music Prior to July 2011 she had servedina
variety of sentor roles at Tesco PLC Laura was also a non-executive
director of Trimty Mirror ple unnl 2012

Committee membership Remuneration

Tim Score

Skills and experience Trm s chief hinancial officer of ARM Holdings
PLC and a non-execulive director of Pearson plc He held senior
financial positions at Rebus Group Limited Willam Baird plc
LucasVarity plc and BTR plc From 2005 to 2014, he was a non-
executive director of National Express Group PLC where he served
1N varigus roles

Commitltee membership Audif IChairman)

Lord Turnbull

Sentor Independent Director

Siulls and experience AndrewIsa non-executive director of
Frontier Economics Lid He entered the House of Lords in 2005 as
a Crossbench Life Peer Andrew retired as Secretary of the Cabinet
and Head of the Home Civil Service in Juty 2005 He had previously
held the positions of Permanent Secretary of HM Treasury and
Permanent Secretary at the Department of the Environment

He was a non-executive director of the Arup Group chairman

of BH Global Limited and a non-executive of Prudental PLC from
2006 untl May 2015

Committee membership Remuneration (Chairman! Nommation

Company Secretary
Clhurles Muddleton

Chartes was appointed Interirn Company Secretary on B May 2015
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Goverpunce and cemuneration

CHAIRMAN'S GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Welcome to the Corporate Governance
and Remuneration sections of our
Annual Report

The Board considers that British Land has complied fully with the
UK Corporate Gavernance Code [the Cedel throughout the year
and this compliance 1s detailed on pages 72 to 77 Qur governance
structure shapes the way thal information flows throughout the
Company We constantly strive to improve the procedures and
processes we have n place

British Land has performed strongly throughout the year with
underlying profst before lax increasing by 5 4% EPRA NAV
nereasing by 20 5% and an increase in the total portfolio vatuation
of 12 1% Our portfolio 15 close to being fully occupted and our
development pipeline has been replemished followang the near
completion of the 2010 pipeline which has delivered £1bn of profits
Our good governance practices and solid governance structure
continue to be an integral part of the detistons and actions we
have taken to achieve this

We undertook anindependent external evatuation of the Board s
eflectiveness during the year The overall conclusion was that the
Board operated very effectively wath a continuous hugh standard

Directors’ attendance during the year ended of perforrance throughout the past year
31 March 2015
Director ManBosrg  Utdo Harding resigned as a Non-Executive Director during the year

following her appointment as a non-executive director on the Court

John Guldersteeve 46 ofthe Bank of England | would like to thark Dido for her valuable
Chris Grigg 48 contribution o Briish Land, both as a Board member and a member
Lord Fui nbull 5/6  of the Narmunation and Remuneration Committees and wish her well
Aubiey Adams 8/6  fortheiuture 1am delighted thal Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery
Lucinda Beli &/6  have recently been appointed as Non-Executive Directors and
Simon Barrows &/6  members of the Remuneration Committee | look forward to the
Lynn Gladden' o/o ‘resh perspective that Lynn and Laura will bring to the boardroom
Do Harding? als  andihe nsight and ideas that they will contribute
Wilham Jackson 8/6  The Board atso recognises the imporiance of conlinuity and the
Charles Maudsley 8/5  yalue that Directors who serve tor many years are able to bring
Tim Robents 4/6  we were theretore happy to approve the recommendation of the
{un Score &8/6  Nomunation Committee that st was appropriate for Lord Turnbull
to remain in office notwithstanding the length of his service

* Lynn Gladden was appeinted a Non-Executve Direcioron 20 March 2015 No since 2006

Boars meetings tock place between her appamtment and the year end
* Dida Harding resigned a5 @ Nan-Executve Director on 10 Decermber 2014 The Operations Committee was established in the previous financial

year and | am particularly pleased with the success it has achieved
during the year The Comnmuittee consists of semior individuals across
British Land s business functtons and exists to facilitale the flow

of iInformation between the Executive Committee and employees
Throughout the year the Commuttee has developed and become a
forum for discussion effectively disserminating information about
stralegic and tactical decisions throughout the Company and in

turn allowing timely feedback to be passed back te the Executive
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Committee Small working groups have been established within
the Qperalions Commuttee each wath a locus on iImproving a speciic
aspect of British Land s business

The Executive Committee has addressed its remit durmg the
year and undergone a rigorous exercise to challenge and further
define its role, working with an external facilitator to increase the
effectiveness with which it operates and improve its approach

to leadership of the Company The Commuttee has consequently
developed its forward looking plan and terms of reference

Te build on lhus success a sinular evaluation will now be applied
to the Operations Committee

Good governance requires engagement with a wide range of
stakeholders As ever the Board welcomes feedback from
shareholders Invesiors comments and opinions mnform the
structure withinwhich we lead British Land and | ook forward

to receing these at and 1n advance of the forthcoming annuat
general meeting As well as engaging In two-way communication
with our shareholders, we conbinue to maintain an acuve dialogue
with our lenders 1o help us to understand their appetite and
investment criterra To truly achieve our strategy of creating
Places People Preler we must also engage with the stakeholders
that have an interest in our bulldings These nclude customers
tocal comsmumities staff suppliers investors and analysts, and
tocal and central government Extensive research has been carned
out throughout the year to ensure that thss range of stakehalder
views 15 heard and incorporated into sirategic discussion

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman

(14

QOur good governance practices
and solid governance structure
continue to be an integral pairt
of the decisions and actions we
have taken.”

Comphlianece with the Code

The Board has continued to apply good governance praciices during

the year operaungn campliance with the Code For ease of reterence (s
1s how we demonstrate our compliance thr oughout the Governance and
remnunet ation section of the Annual Repert and Accounis 2015

@ & @

A Leadership B Elfeciveness C Accountaiulity

@ &

D Remuneration E Relancns wilth
shareholders
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Governanee und remuncrution

OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Our governance structure ensures
that the right people have access
to the right information

Board

Develops strategy and leads British Land
to achieve long term success determines
nature and extent of significant rnisks and
rmaintains a satisfactory level of dralogue
with shareholders

Comnuttees of the Board
Report on their actmities to the Board

Management Conunmttecs
Report on thewr actmties to the Board
and iis Commuttees as appropnate

Non-Executive Chairman

- lLeads the Board and ensures
it operates effectively

- Mamntains a culture of openness
and debate

- Ensures effective dialogue between
the Board and shareholders

Audit Commuitee

Oversees financiat and narrative reporting
tnternal control risk management systems
and audil processes

Repou ( ol the Audit Comnttee
see pages 781081

Risk Committee

- Manages strategic and operational
risk m achieng the Companys
performance goals

- Recommends appropriate nsk appetite
levels to the Board

- Monitors the Company s risk exposure

- Reviews gperation of
risk management processes

- Meets four times a year

= Reports to the Audit Committee

= Chawred by Chiet Financial Officer

- Membership Executive Directors

Health and Safety Commuttee

- Rewiews performance agamst targets
and drives forward actions in pursuit
of the Company s health and salety goals

- Meets four tirmes a year

~ Reports to the Risk Commitiee

- Chaired by Chief Financial Officer

= Membership staff with relevant
responsibilities from across the business

- Three sub-committees Construction
Managed Pertfolio and Head Dffice
Istatf committee]
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Independent Nan-Executive Directors
- Work wath and chaltenge Executive Directors
- Prowde independent external perspective
- Contribute a broad range of expenence

and expertise

Nommation Committee

Leads process for Board appointments
and evaluates composition of the Board
and its Commitiees

Report of ihe Nominatian Comnitee
see pages 821085

.

Execulive Commuttee

- Ongoing management of the Group

- Considers day-1o-day operatwonal matters
for running the business

- Rewviews performance of Group s assets
and development programme

- Generally meets twace monthly

- Reporis to the Board

- Chaired by Chiel Executive

- Membership Executive Directors
and frve sensor executives (Sally Jones
Darren Richards Jofl Sharpe
Jean-Marc Vandevivere Nigel Webb)

Operations Committee

- Assists the Executive Commiitee
through ewning the operational delivery
of our corporate sirategy

- Meets quarterly

- Membership sentor individuals across
Bntish Land s business functions




Chief Executive and Executive Directors
- Day-to-day management of the business
and implementation of strategy

Remuneration Commitiee

Sets remuneration of the Chairman
Chief Executive Executive Directors
and Company Secretary

Remuneration repott sec pages B4 to 112

Investment Committee

- Rewviews approves or recommends
capital transactions

- Meets as required

- Recommends major transactions
for Board approval

- Chaired by Chief Executive

- Membership Executive Directors

Investment stirking to our straleqy
see page 75

Chanty and Commurnuty Committee

= Approves all spend under the charty
and community budget

- Reporisto the Executive Commuttee

- Chaired by Semor Retail Asset Manager

Matters reserved for Boaad approval (A1 1) @

- Transactions and financing arrangements over £100 mullon

- Issue of secunties
- Employee share and option schemes

- Documents for distnbution 1o shareholders and the Annual Report

and Acccunis
- Dwidends
- Establishing authonty levels below those of the Boarg

Sustamatnlity Committee

- Custodian for sustainability strategy

- Reports 1o the Board

- Charred by Chuef Financial Officer

- Membership executives with defined
areas of responsibility

Sustainabiity Panel

-~ Receves and provides expert
comment op emerging socrat
environmental and ethical Issues

-~ Challenges British Land s
sustainability strategy

- Meets twice annually

~ Chaired by Chief Financial Officer

- Membershipinctudes four
independent experts
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Governance and remuncration

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

The 2012 UK Corporate Governance Code is
the standard against which we were required
to measure ourselves during the year

This section of the Annual Report and Accounts 2015 outlines
how we have applied the Code s principles and provisions

The Board constders that the Company has fully complied with

the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2015 and confirms
that it will detail in the Annual Report and Accounts 2016 how it has
applied the principles and provisions of the Code, as revised by the
Financial Reporting Counalin 2014

A copy of the Code 15 availabte to view at www fre org uk

Ecadership

The Board s core responsibilities include setting Brittsh Land s
strategic aims and leading the Company as it works to achieve
these aims and altain long term lasting success The Board
focuses on strategy throughout the year and the annual Strategy
Days provide an opportunity to dothis Progressaganst andthe
appropnaleness of the agreed strategy are considered at Board
meetngs during the year in lighl of Company performance and
changes to the external environment (A 1 1)@

The Strategy Days see page 74
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To ensure that no one indmviduel bas unfettered powers of decision,
there 15 a written division of responsibibties between the Chairman
{responsible for running the Board) and the Chuef Executive
(responsible for runming the Company s businesst which has

been approved by the Board |A 211 &

The Executive Directors led by the Chief Executive are responsible
for ensuring thai the business is run in accordance with the Board s
strategy The relatively small number of employees at Bnitish Land
means that the Executive Oirectors are involved In or aware

of, all major activities of the Group - hence they are extremely

well placed 1o ensure thai achions are aligned with the Board s
stralegy Thisis exemplifted by the process by which investment
opportunilies are appraised

Investment sticking to ow strategy see page 75

The Board sets the parameters and controls within which the Company ¢
management may operate when undertaking the day-1o-day running of
ihe business These controls ensure that decrsions are taken by people
with the correct authonty to do so

The dwiston between major decisions reserved for Board approval

and other decisions delegated tothe Executive Directors is formally
documented [A 11] @ The Executive Directors make decisions within
these predefined parameters Dectsions that would normally falt wittn
these parameters may stili be taken to the full Board for spproval where
such dedisions ralate to activities outside the ordinary course of business
or where the Executive Directors consider it appropniate lo do so
Specialised Management Commuttees deal wath their specific areas of
responsibility before making deasions |where they have suthority to do
s0), of recommending actions for Board-level approval il thisis required
Akey consideration when making each decision hinges onwhether the
proposed action is aligned wath the strategy the Beard has developed

Management Commutiees see pages 700 71

The Chairman meets with indwidual Directors outside of formal
Board meetings, as part of each Director s continuing contribution to
the delivery of the Company s strategy to achieve superior returns for
shareholders This process also atlows for open, two-way discussion
about the eflectiveness of the Board its Committees and individual
Directors both Executive and Non-Executive By these means the
Chairman ts continually aware of the views of individual Directors
and can act as necessary to deal with any 1ssues relating to Board
effecliveness before they beceme a risk to the Company

Effectveness ses paye 74




Cullure and composition of the Board

The compaosition of the Board 1s a flundamental driver of is success
as it provides strong and effective leadershsp, our Non-Executive
Directors provide a breadth of knowledge skills and expenience

as detailed mn their biographies on pages 6% and 67 The Nomination
Cormmittee 1s respensible for reviewing the composition of the Board
and Board-level Committees and assessing whether the batance

of skills, experience knowledge and independence 1s approphiate

to enable them to operate etiectively (B 2 2) @

Followang the resignation of Dido Harding on 10 December 2014,
the Nomination Committee rewiewed the composition of the Board
and recommended the appointments of Lynn Gladdenand Lavra
Wade-Gery on 20 March and 13 May 2015 respeclively

The procedure for the appaintment of new Dhreciors 1s rigorous
andtransparent Itis explained in more detall in the Repori ol the
Nomination Committee (B 2 4] @

Repor1 of the Nommation Commiltee see pages 82 to 83

Non-Executive Dtrectors are appainted for speciied terms

and all Directors offer themselves for election or re-election by
shareholders at the Annuat General Meeting IAGM) eachyear, i
the Board, en the recommendation of the Nomination Commuttee
deems it appropriaie that they remain inoffice [B 71 and B 7 2| @

Lord Turnbull has been a Non-Executive Oirector since Apnil 2006

He has now completed nine years in office Whitst takung into

account the need to progressively refreshits members through new
appointments, the Board also recognises the imporiance of continuily
and the value that Directors who serve for many years are able to
bring When a Non-Executive Director stenure goes further than

ntne years their independence 1s carefully revewed and monitored
Following a rigorous review of Lord Turnbull s contributionand
independence aver the years the Nomination Commuttee was happy to
recommend to the Board that it was appropnate for um to rematn in
oftice and the Board 1s satished that he remains independent [B 2 3) @

We continue to have a strong mux of experienced individuals on the
Board with ihe majority being Non-Executive Directors who are
independent and can olfer an external perspective on the business
and constructively chaltenge the Executive Directors particularly
when developing the Company s strategy (B11 and B12)© The
Non-Executive Directors scrutinise the performance of management
in meeting their agreed goals and objectives and monitor the
reporting of performance They satisly Ihemselves of the integrity

of financial information and that financial controls and systems of
risk management are robust and detensible (A 41 @

Board of Direclors - Biographies see pages 46 1o 67

The Board culture s one of openness and constructive debate,

the Directors voice thetr opimons 1n a relaxed and respectiul
environment, allowing ¢oherent distussion The Chairmanis
responsible for maintaining this cullure He does so by ensuring
mnformation of an appropriate quatity (s provided in a timely manner
befere Board meetings, the opporturity to properly consider such
information i advance leads to tocused discussion in the boardroom
When running Board meetings the Chairman maimntains a collaborative
atmosphere and ensures that all Director s contribute to debates
The Chairman arranges informal meelings and events throughowt
the year to help burtd constructive relationships between the Board
members {A 3] @

The high calibre of debate and the parucipation of all Directors
Executive and Non-Executive allow the Board to utilise the
experience and skills of the indmdual Directors to ther maximum
potential and make well-considered decisions that are in the best
interest of the Company

The Board considers that Aubrey Adams, Simon Borrows Lynn
Gladden, William Jacksen Tim Score Lord Turnbull and Laura
Wade-Gery are independent In making this determination the
Board has considered whether each Director 1 independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships
or ctrcumstances which are likely to aflect or could atfect the
Director s judgement B 11

The Board believes thail the Non-Executive Oirectors biographies
demonstrate thal they are of the stature and experience required
to properly perform their roles as independent Non-Executive
Directors Following this year s Board evaluation the Board
believes each Non-Execulive Director standing for election or
re-glection at the nexi AGM continues to effectivety tulhil and
remamns committed to their role wittun British Land The terms
and conditions of appointment of Non-Execulive Directors are
available for inspectien at the Company s registered office and
althe AGM[B32|@

Key actvines of the Board 20135

Regular agenda itens meluded

- outcomes of the Board Sirategy Days and feedback

- reports of the actmvities of the Audit including nskl,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees,

- Chief Executive s Management Reports quarterly updates
on the business including investor relations

- updates onthe portfolio including developments acquisitions
and disposals

- updates on financing

- resulls of the Board performance apprarsal and feedback,

- reappointment of Directors at the 2014 AGM

- conflicts of interest

~ approvat of year end resulls, the Annual Report and Accounts
the AGM Circular and dvidends

- people development and succassion planrung

- heatth & safety

Kev agenda items also considered
in the vew included

= acguisitions

- disposals

- financing

sustainabiliiy
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Governance and remuneration

GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

The Strategy Davs
The annual Strategy Days are attended by the full Board and the
Executive Committee

The Executive Directors and senior executives deliver a number
of presentations to the Board providing an in-depth analysis

on all aspects of the business and the external environment
The Strategy Days are an opportunity {o discuss challenge and
develop the Company s strategy

As well as considening the Group as a whole and the overall
corporate strategy constderation 1s given te each part of the
Group s current and prospective porifolio and to Group financing

The days are carefully structured 1o achieve a balance between
presentaticns and time for debate and discussion

Areas focused on at the Febrary 2015
Stategy Davs mcluded
- corporate exploiting comnpetitive advantage and
long term trends
- finance supporting long term vision
- retail creating and operating places retailers and
consumers prefer
- ofiices teveraging our placemaking skills 1o enhance and grow
our olfices portiotio,
- residential creating the nght product for the London market,
- development managing exposure and replerushing the pipeline
- pecple development and succession planming,
- butding our capabilities 1o create Places People Prefer

Effectisencess

Regular Board and Board-level Commuttee meetings are scheduled
throughout the year and the Directors ensure that they atlocate
sulficient ime lo discharge their duties effectively Occastonally Board
meetings may be hetd at short notice when Board-level decisions of a
time-cniticat nature need to be made Non-Executive Directors letters
of appointment set out the ire commitments expected and each
Director s attendance record [shown on page 68l =1s considered

when assessing whether they should stand for reappoiniment by
shareholders Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are dependent
Inpart on their level of attendance at Board and Committee meetings

The Chairman considers that all the Directors continue to devote
sufhicient ime to discharging thewr duties to the required high
standard and remain committed to their roles British Land s
policy 15 to allow Executive Directors to take one non-executive
direclorship at another FTSE company subject to British Land
Board approval [B 33 and D 1 2] @@ External appointments

of the Directors are disclosed in thewr biographies

The Directors are required to notify the Company of any potentiat
conflicts of interest that may affect them in their roles as Directors
of British Land All potential confticts of interest are recorded and
reviewed by the full Board at least annually

The Non-Executive Directors are kept wetl informed of the key
developments in the business by both the Execuiwe Directors and
other sentor executives through regular reports and presenlations
Reports include Management Reports delivered by the Chief Executive
and updates on the activities of the Risk Commuttee and
Sustainability Commuttee
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Throughout the year presentations and reports on specific aspects
of the business and individual assets are also delivered along with
updates on the regulatory and external environment

Care s takenlo ensure that informationis circulated in good time
before both Board and Commitiee meetings whenever possible, and
that reports are presented clearly and contain the appropriate level

of detail to allow valid conclusions to be drawn 1tis the Company
Secretary s role to ensure good information flows within the Board and
its Commuttees and batween senror management and Non-Executive
Directors The Company Secretary is responsible {or advising the
Beard on governance matters through the Chairman [B 5 2)&@

The Non-Executive Direclors are therelore able to monitor the
management of the business and the implementation of the strategic
awns effectively and are able 1o assessthe sunability of the current
sirategy and the pertormance of the Chairman and Executive
Directors B 511@

Board evaluation

The effectiveness of the Board and its Commitiees 1s reviewed
annually with an independent externally facilitated rewew being
conducted at leasi once everythree years The lalest external review
was conducted 1n 2015 and covered the following areas [B 4 1 and
Bs2@

- role and organisation of the Board

- Non-Executive Qirectors

- Executive Directors

- agenda

— corporate governance

- qualty of information

- monitoring Company performance, and
- Board leadership and culture

The external facilitator who assisted the Board and its Committees
Flion Hague hasno connection with the Company beyond evaluating
the Board [B 6 2)@

The overall conclusion from the exlernally taciitated evaluabion
was thai the Board of British Land operated very effectively with a
continuous high standard of performance throughout the past year

Inaddition peer reviews took place at a number of private meetings
between the Directors The Chairman met each Non-Executive
Director individually to discuss therr centribution to the Board and
the Senior Independent Director met with the other Non-Execulive
Directors to discuss the performance of the Chairman [A 4 2] €
The Remuneralion Committee was provided with an apprarsal of the
Chief Executive s performance by the Chairman and was provided
with & written appraisal of the performance of the Executive
Directors by the Chief Executive

Board training and development

British Land prowides for all Directors a tailored and thorough
induchion including the opporturity to meet with seruor executives
to be given an overwiew of their specific areas of responsibitity within
the business and the opportunity lowisst the Company s key properties
and developments{B 4 1)@

The Company also offers Owrectors oppertunities to update and
refresh their knowledge on an ongoing basis o enable them to
continue futfitting thesr roles as Board members and Commuttee
members effectively Thisinctudes traming opportunihes and
further visits to the Company s assets asrequired In 2015 the
Board held one of its meelings al the Meadowhatl Shopping Centre
in Sheftield Regulatory and environmenial updates are delivered to
the Board and relevant committees by external speakers, including
corporate governance updates (B 4 2)&




Accountabibhty
The Board 15 responstble for preparing the Annual Repori and Accounts
and as conhrmed in the Directors responsibility statement the
Board believes that this Annual Report and Accounts taken as

a whole, 1s fair, balanced and understandable and prowides the
information necessary to assess British Land s position performance,
business madel and strateqy [C 11 and C 3 442 The basts on which
the Company creates and preserves value over the long lermis
described in the business model [C 1 2)@

Dwector » respensibility statement see page 115
Business model see pages 14 to 21

The Annual Repart and Accounts s compiled by the relevant responsible
individuals across the Company Specific sections are reviewed by
Department Heads and Executive Committee members as appropriate
ensuring that all key stakeholders across the business are involved
The Executive Directors are closely involved in drafting and reviewing
their relevant sections of the Report, before formally signing them
off Finance Investor Relations and Company Secretanat conduct a
robust due diigence process veritying key staterments made within
the Annual Reportand Accounts The full Annual Report and Accounts
15 then reviewed thoroughly by the Audit Committee before il 1s
presented to the Board for approval

The procedure undertaken to enable the Board to prowide the fair
balanced and understandable confirmation to shareholders has
been reviewed by the Audit Committee The process s enhanced
by a specific meeting between the Chief Financial Officer Head of
Strategy and Investor Relations and the Group Financiat Controller
and their relevant team members 1o review and document the key
censiderations undertaken to ensure that information presented
15 tair balanced and understandable A report detailing those
considerations was reviewed by the Audit Commuttee alongside

a summary of the detailed procedures underiaken and the full
Annual Report and Accounts

Risk management and internal control
The Board deterrines the nature and extent of the significant risks
" 1s willing to take in achieving the Company s strategrc objectives

The mainlenance of the Company s risk management and internal
control systems 15 the responsibility of the Board as1s ensuning that
they continue to operate effectively The Board combines a top-down
risk review with a complementary bottom-up approach to ensure
that risks are fully considered As well as complying with the Code
the best practice recommendations in Internat Control Guidance
to Directors have been adopled and the Company sinternal control
framework has been assessed against the internationally recogmised
COS0 Internal Control Integrated Framework The laiter
assessment showed that all key control elements are in place
Internal controi and nsk management processes apply equally to all
enliies which Briish Land administrates, including alt matenal jont
ventures and funds

Bribsh Land s approach to risk including the roles of the Board
and the Risk Commuttee i setung risk appetite and monitoring
risk expeosure IS described inthe Managing risk in delivering our
straiegy section of the report

Managing nisk in delvering our strategy see pages 56 1o 57

Formal and transparent arrangements exis! for considering how
corporate reporling risk management and internal control principtes
are applied and for maintatming an appropriate refationship with the
Company s auditor

Imestinent sticking to our strategh

Executive Directors are snvolved throughout the investment
process and alignment with the Board s strategy is considered
from the wmual discussion of a transaction right through to
final approval

l All new investment opportunities are discussed at weekly

deal sourcing meetings aittended by Executive Committee

members and invesiment executives Potentially attractive
deals that are in ine with strategy are selecled 1o be
investigated and analysed in detail by project teams

2 Project teams assess whether investment opporturities
should be pursued cenducting detailed property and
corporate due diligence, ongoing dialogue with relevant
Executive Committee members takes place throughout
the process

3 Investment opportunities with potential are presented for
Investment Commuttee approval Depending on the size
and nature of a transaction the Invesiment Committee
can approve the proposed transaction autright or
recommend it for approval by the lull Board

4 Investment opporiunities are presented o the full Board
for approval when required

The Group s internal control system 1s built on the following

fundamental principles and 15 subject to review by Internal Audit

- adefined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the full Board

- adetalled authorisabon process no matenal commitments are
entered into without thorough review and approval by more than
one authornsed person

- formal documentation of all significant transactions

- arobust system of business and inancial planning includes cash
flow and profitability forecasting and scenano analysis performed
on major corporate, property and financing proposals

- arobust process for property investment appraisals

- montonng of key outcomes particularly expenditure and
performance of significant investments, agamst budget
and forecast

- clearly defined policies and review of actual performance
aganst policies

- benchmarking of property performance against external sources
such as Investment Property Databank

- key controls testing

- acomprehensive property and corparate insurance programme and

~ aformal whistle-blowing policy

The Report of the Audit Commuittee provides more detail on the
internal control system that operated through the year including
the approach to Internal Audit

Repor! of the Audil Commutiee see pages 78 to 81

The Board reviews the ettectiveness of the Group s syslem of
internal control over financial reporting annuatly including the
systems ol control of material jomt ventures and funds During the
course of its review of the nsk management and internal control
systems over tinancial reporting the Board has not identified nor
been adwised of a failing or weakness which it has determined to be
sigruficant Therefore a confirmation in respect of necessary actions
15 not requued (C 2118
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Governunce and remuncration

GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

A number of policies are in place to ensure that the Company not
only meets its legal obligations but also behaves ethically acts
with integnty and protects its assets (rom the unlawful actvities
of others These include an Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy, a
Competition Policy and a Fraud Policy All employees are made
aware of the policies and procedures in place with understanding
enhanced by staff communications and traiming

Going concern

The Group s business activities together with the factors likely to
affect ts future performance and posstion are set out in the Strategic
Report The financial positien of the Group 1ts ¢cash flows Liquidity
position and borrowing facilites together with the Group s finanaing
policy are described «n the Performance Review

Performance Review

Finanaal review see pages 49 to 52
Fu\anmal polictes and principles see pages 53 to 55

The Group currenily has considerable undrawn debt faciities
and cash deposits which are expecled to be sufficient to meatits
tinancing requirements for severatyears The Group s success at
raising £19 biltion of financing over the last 12 months finctuding
Joint veniures and funds| gives the Directors conhdence in the
Group s ability to raise further finance as and when required

The Group has substantial headroom against covenants on
unsecured banking facilities and 1s not overly relrant on any single
lender it also benefits from a secure income stream from leases
with long average lease terms andis not over rebant on any singte
occupier or industry group

chcndnl ratio see page 55

The Birectors therefore believe thal the Group 1s wetl placed to
manage its inancing and oher business risks satisfactorily en the
current econormic environment The Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate
resources to continue In operatonal existence for the foreseeable
future and therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis

in prepanng the Annwal Regort and Accounts [C 1 3]

Taxation

Our principles of good governance extend to our responsible
approach totax It remainsimportant to our stakeholders that
the Company s approach to tax s aligned to the long term
values and strategy of the Group The Group s tax strategy

15 the responsibility of the Chuef Financial Otficer, with close
involvernent of Executive Directors and senwor managemant
n all actaty The Audit Committee is also presented with

an annual tax update for review

Employees

Having expert people at British Land 1s one of the four core elements
of our business model This applies both to the indwiduals on the
Board who have responsibility for leading ihe Company, and the
employees who work throughout British Land

Expert people see page 21

We encourage a high degree of employee involvement in the Company
and provide regular informatton on business aclivities and explanations
of strategy through Company meetings, traiming sessions internal
commurucations and an annual company conference Employee
teedback s also strongly encouraged
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The Operations Committee I0pCo), which 1s comprised of senior
individuals across Briish Land s business funclions assists the
Executive Committee with operational matters ansing in the
day-to-day management of the business The OpCoforms a link
between the Executive Committee and wider teams of employees
enhancing the flow ol information around the Company, both
upwards and downwards (o improve the strateqic and tactical
decisions that are made The aim of the OpCo 1s to strengthen
coltaborauion across the Company in driving initiatives that hetp
us achleve our objectives The OpCo also ptays an increasingly
importani role in the development of the operational leaderships
areas ol our business such as technology

British Land continues to implement a number of initiatives to
help devetop our employees and grow internal talent reinforcing
the Company cullure of excellence and embedding values and
behavtours As a relatively small Company in terms of number ol
employees we are proud to be able to mvest in our pecple on an
indrvidual basis talung ime to understand specific requirements
to progress careers More information s provided in the Report
of the Nomenation Commuttee

Developing people at Brinsh Land see page 85
Wellbeing see pages 32 1033

We have well-established all-employee share schemes to iIncentivise
employees at atl levels in the Company, and align their interests with
those of shareholders by building a holding of British Land shares
Separale pension fund reporis are made available 1o members

Staff Turnover

2018 2014 2013
Head office 31{12%) 32 15% 28113%l
Broadgate Estates 28111%] 42 [20%)_ 31116%)
Total {average] SP12%) 74 17%} 59 14%)

The benehit of diversity both on the Board and throughout the
Company continues to be a key consideration when searching
for candidates for Board and other appantments In addition,

the Company continues to support the Pathways to Property
programme which aims to increase diversity withun the property
ndustry as awhole by attracting siudents fromn a vartety of
backgrounds into the property seclor

Ourview on diversity see pages 83 1085

Funding to chanty and good causes

British Land has a Commuruty Charter and Chariable and
Community Funding Guidelines approved by the Executive
Commutiee which state that giving 15 focused onyoung people
education training employment and local regeneration Both
can be found on our website at www bnitishland com/policres

We allocate funding te natronal regional and local community
causes, with most funds going to support intratives around our
properttes and developments wath particular focus on those which
have a positiwe Impact on young people and education employment
and tratning and local regeneration of facilities

The Chanty and Community Comrnittee, which approves all spend
under the Charity and Community Budget s chaired by Edward
Cree Semior Retail Asset Manager, and reports to the Executive
Commuttee on an annual basis




Donations during the year totalled £1,287,500 comparedwith £1120,69%
inthe previous year

British Land does not make ary donations to political orgamsations

Heatth and Safety

We have recewed formal recognition of our focus on heslth and
safety through receiving OHSAS18001 accreditation As part of

this process we have reviewed our approach to Health and Safety
management {0 ensure thal we consistently achieve best practice
across all activties in the business [construction managed portfolio
and head olfice] to deliver Places People Prefer to our employees
and our customers

RIBDOR® Year ended 31 March 2015

Accudent Frequency Rate Total RIDDOR Accidents
Construction D 19 per 100 000 hours worked 8
Retad D 01 per 100 000 footfall 22
Ofhces 7 50 per 100 000 workers 3
Head office 0 per 100 000 full time equivalents 0

* Reporting of lijunes Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013

Remuneration

The Company s Remuneration Policy 1s designed to attract and retain
the best people to the Company allowing us to maintan a streng and
eftective Board and leadership team

The Policy I1s also siructured to complement gur strategy linking
a significant proporiton of Executive Directors remuneration to
corporate and indwidual performance The Policy was developed
by the Remuneration Commuttee [D 2 2) € and was approved by
shareholders in July 2014

Summay of Remuneration Policy see pages B8 to 97

Relattons with sharcholders

The Board remains committed to maintairung open channels

of communication with shareholders s important to us that
shareholders understand the Company s strategy and objectives
these must be explained clearly and shareholders teedback must
be heard and theissues and questions raised properly considered

British Land has a dedicated investor Relations team which reports
to the Chief Financial Officer Commumication wath investors and
analysls 1s an ongoing process throughout the year Thisincludes
regular scheduled Investor Retations events summarised in the box
to the nght one-to-one and group meelings with Executive Directors
and tours of our properties as well asregular contact with the
Investor Relations department During the year the Chuef Executive
Chief Financial Oflicer and our tnvestor Relalions team met with
represenlatives [rom over 180 institutions

The full Board plans to attend the AGM which provides an
opporiumty for all shareholders to question the Directors in person

Significant emphasisis placed on the importance of feeding
shareholder views both positive and negative back to the Board
Awritien investor relations report which includes direct market
feedback on actwity during the period is presented at each scheduled
Board meeting for discussion by the full Board Shareholder opirions
are also given due consideration throughout the annual Strategy
DaysE1land E121@

The Strategy Days see page 74

Key investor relations activities during the year included

May 2014 - Full-year results presentation
= Full-year roadshow Londen
- Private Client dinner

June 2014 -

Investor property conterences London and
Amsterdam
- Investor roadshows Pans and Far East

July 2014 = @1 interim managemant statement,
investor call
- AGM

- Analyst property lour Regent s Place

September 2014 - Investor roadshows Scotland and US
- Investor property conferences New York
and London

November 2014 - Half-year results presentation
- Half-year results roadshow, London
~ Private Client roadshow London

December 2014 - Investor property conlerence, London
- Investor property tour the Leadenhall Building

January 2015 - Investor property conference London
- Trading statement, investor video and call

February 2015 - Investor roadshow Netherlands

March 2015 - Investor conference London and US
- Investor property tour, Clarges Marketing Suite

British Land aims to be informative and accessible to all shareholders
For results ang other key announcements we provide information on
a timely basis to both retail and instiutional shareholders A number
of case studies covering topics that range from profiles of our key
assels to sustamability aclmties are also available to view online
Shareholders can ask questions at any time via our contacts page

on the website

Contact Briush Land
www briishland com/fcontacts

We are pleased with the level of engagement with shareholders
achieved during the year and the Board also recognises the important
contribution of providers of capital other than shareholders namety
our lenders and bond holders We maintain a regular and ¢pen
dialogue with our lenders 10 help ys understand thewr investment
appetite and criteria

Lord Turnbull1s the Senior Independent Director and he s available
to address any concerns shareholders may wish to raise olher than
wia the usual channels of the Chairman, Chief Executive or other
Executive Directors 1A 4112
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Goveraunce and remuncration

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We are committed to

monitoring the integrity
of the Group’s reporting

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Commitiee

Commuttee members attendance during the vear
ended 31 Mach 2015

Tirn Score 5/5
Aubrey Adams 5/5
Simon Hotrows 5/5

Audit Commuttee regular attendees (byv invitanion)

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Kimght Frank and CBRE

Independen external auditar 1o the Group
Group s external valuers

KPMG Group s Internal Audil function loyisourced]
John Gitdersleeve Chairman of the Company
Chais Giigg Cheef Executive
Lucinda Bell Chiel Financial Dilicer and Chawrman
ol the Risk Comenstiee
Sally Jones Head of Strategy and Investor Relations

Victar s Penrice? Cornpany Secrelary and Secretary

1o the Audit and Risk Committees
Group Financial Controller

Head of Financial Forerasting
and Financial Reporting

Head of Financal Reporting
Head of Property Valuation
Head ol Tax

J¥ and Funds Reporuing Manager
[Risk Comnuttee repor ling}

Rob Hudson
Mare Fur longer

Paul Macey

Nrcola Thernas
Chai les Middlelon?
Sian Kilkenny

! ¥ictona Pennce resigned on 8 May 2015
? Chartes Middlelen was appointed Interim Company Secretary on 8 May 2015
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Welcome to the report of the Audit Commitiee

Key snitiatives adopted by the Commuttee this year included

overseeing changes to the Company s finance reporting and
forecasting systems and the adoption of a revised non-audit
services and fees policy, and a policy on future audit tenders

Composition ot the Committee (C3 1) @
The Committee comprises Aubrey Adams Simon Borrows and
myself as Commuittee Chairman

All of the Committee members are considered to be appropriately
qualified and experienced to fulfil their role However for the
purposes of the Code | am the member of the Commmuttee nominated
as having significant, recent and relevant financial expenience

Board ! Direclors - Biographies see pages 64 1o 47

Activities of the Commuttee

The Comrmuttee operates within defined Terms of Reference which
can be tound on the Company s website at www britishland com/
commuttees {C32and C331€

During the year the Committee has undertaken each of its principal
responsibilines receiving relevant reports from the valuers
thewnternal and external auditors the Risk Commuittee and
management, and challenging assumptions and judgements made
The table on page B0 details the responsibiliies of the Commutlee
and its activities throughout the year

The Commuttee performs a detailed review ol the content and tone
of the annual and hall-year press releases and the Annual Report
and Accounls, as well as trading updales The Commiliee has
satished itsell that controts over the accuracy and consistency

of inlormation presented in the Annual Report and Accounts
arerobust and has confirmed to the Board that it believes this
Annual Report and Accountsisfar batanced and understandable
IC 3 4]1@ An assurance opinion 15 obtained for the Company from
PricewaterhouseCoupers over the sustainability slatement and

a venfication exercise s performed by management 16 ensure
consistency and accuracy of information presented

The allocation of ime spent on the Commuttee s principal
responsibilities 1s shown in the chart on page 7% Significant
additional time continues to be spent by members of the Audit
Comrmmittee meeting with executive management 1o understand
the keyssues The Committee regularly meets with the external
auditor and internal auditor without management baing present
to ensure honest and challenging conversations take place




Effcctivencss of the External Audit process

Following best practice and in accordance with is Terms of
Relerence the Commuittee annually reviews the audit requirements
of the Group bothior the business and in the contex! of the external
environment, and constders whether or not to undertake a formal
tender There are no contractual obligations which would restrict
the selection of a different auditar Furthermore and in view of the
statutory audit market reform the Cornmittee agreed to consider the
need for a competitive tender tor the role of auditor every five years,
with a competitive tender taking place at least every tenyears To
the extent that the auditor did not rotate earlier through this process
the Company will rotate its auditor in tne wrih the legislation

The Commuttee places great importance on ensuring a hugh quality
eflective External Audit process When conducting the annual
review the Commiltee considers the periermance of the external
auditor as well as their independence comphance with relevant
statlutory regulatory and ethical standards and objectivity

As disclosed inthe 2014 Annual Report following a successful tender
in early 2014 PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed as auditor
for the inancial year under review The Committee 1s pleased with
the insights brought by the new audit team {ollowing a satisfaclory
ransitton from Deloite Anassessment of PricewaterhouseCoopers s
effectiveness its processes audil quality and performance will be
undertaken after completion of this year s audit

The Committee reviewed PricewaterhouseCoopers s propasals
for the audit and 15 confident that appropnate plans were put in
place to carry out an effective and ngh quality sudit Particular
attention was pad to the audit plan and its appropriateness for
the Group PricewaterhouseCoopers confirmed to the Commuttee
that they maintained appropriate internal saleguards lo ensure
thetr independence and objectivity The Commitiee considered
and approved Pricewater houseCoopers s assessment of their
independence and it has recommended thew reappointment to
ihe Board approval of which will be sought from shareholders
PricewaterhouseCoopers raised no significant issues during
the course ot the audit

Sigmficant 1ssues

The Comrruttee pays particular attention to matlers it considersto
be important by virtue of their size, complexity levet of judgement
and potential impact on the financial statements and wader business
model Identfication of the 1Issues deemed to be sigruficant takes
place foliowing open frank and challenging discussion belween the
Commitiee members, with input from the Chief Financial Cfficer the
external and internal auditors, external experts and other relevant
Brish Land emptloyees

The significant issues constdered by the Commuttee during the year
ended 31 March 2015 are detailled inthe 1able on page 81 alongside
the actions taken by the Commutlee to address these issues |C 3 81 @

Policy on the auditor providing non-audit

services (C A 8) @

With respect to other services provided by the external auditor the

following iramework was in place during the year

- Audit related services audit related services include formal

reporting relating to borrowings sharehotder and other circulars

and various work in respect of acquisitions and dispasals Where the

external auditor must carry oul the work because of their office the

external auditor 15 selected Inother circumstances the selection

depends on which firm 1s best suited

Sustanability assurance the selection depends on which firm s

best suited and 15 reviewed on a frve yearly basis Currently the

external auditor provides an assurance opinon over the

sustainabibity statement

- Tax adwisory the selection depends on which irmiis best suited Iin
the circumstances

- General consulting the external auditor s not selected to provde
general consultancy services except In certain rmited
carcumstances and then only afier consideration that they are best
placed to prowvide the service and that their independence and
objectmty will not be compromised

The following commitment protocel operated throughout the year

and applied to any engagemnent of other work lexcluding audit and

half-yearly reporting) performed by the external auditor

- Audit Commuttee approval 15 required where there are any doubts
as to whether the external audilor has a conflict of interest

- Approval by the Audit Commntee Chairman on behalf of the
Committee s required for each additional project over £0 1 rmilhion
invalue where cumulative fees lar other work performed by the
external auditor are projected to exceed 75% of the combined fee
for audit and half-yearly reporting review work

However inline with the proposals under the statutory audit market

reform, the Commitiee agreed that from 1 Aprit 2015

- The total non-audi fees would be lmited to 70% of the audit fees
m any one year The audit and non-audit fees lor the three year
average would be calculated in line with the methodology set out
inthe 2014 EU Regulations but would additionalty include fees for
joint veniures and funds

- Audil Commiilee approval is required where there are any doubls
as to whether the exiernal audior has a contlict of interest, and

- Approval by the Audit Comrmtlee Chairman would be required for
each addiional project over £0 1m in vatue where the cumulatie
fees tor non-audit work were projected to exceed 50% of the audit
fee in any financial year

During the year no project approvals by the Audit Comrnittee
Chatrmanwere required

Internal Audit

The Company s internal Audit function 1s oulsourced to KPMG, who
reporis regularly to the Committee, as detailed in the table on page
80 The Commuttee monitors the perfor mance of the internal Audit
function throughout the year aswell as performing an annual review
ol its effectiveness The Comrutiee believes KPMG continues to
discharge its Internal Audit duties eflecuively [C 3 61 @
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:overnance and remuneration

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Principal responstbihines Kev areas formally discussed and reviewed
of the Commuttee by the Commutee during 2015
] Reporting - Monuoring the integnty of the Company s linanciat - Results commenlary and announcements

staterments and all formal announcements relating

1o the Company s linancial per formance reviewing
hinancial reporing judgements contained wathin them
Making recornmendations 1o the Board regarding the
appainiment o the external auditor and approving
the extes nal auditor s rermunerabon and terms of
engagemenl [C37] @

Monitormyg and reviewmnq the exiernal audior s
independence objecinaty and rilectveness
Developing and implernenting policy on the
engagermnent ol the external auddor to supply non audit
semices talung into account relevant gurdance

and External
Audit

Key accounting policy judgements including valuatsons

Impact ol tuture Tinancial reporting standands

Going concern

External auditor efteciveness

Hall-yearly external auditor reporis on planning conctusions and final amimon
Extetnal audilor imanagement lefier contanmg observatians aiising liom the
annual audit leading 1o recommendations far internal control or inancial
reporting iImprovemes

= Finance systems projects

External auditar s remuneration and poticy on non-aud fees and aud
lender frequency

Manitoring and reviewing the valiration process
Rewiew ol assumptions and rmethototogy
Valuer competence and effeciveness

B vatuations

Annual repont on the ellectiveness of ow valuers which considers the quality
ol the valuation process and judgemment with a half-yearly update
Valuer presentations to the Commutiee

B Risk and - Maintaining an efectve internal conlrol environment = The cutputs from the assessment of the rsk register inctuding identification
internal - Approving the Risk Managemen! Palicy including any of the Group s principal nisks and movenment i the exposure dunng the year
control changes or upxiates made — The stalus of key risk indkmtors inclutding any indicators which had been

= Rewiewing \he principal tisks and uncertamties as breached intesnalty
wentilied by the Risk Commuitee scluding thosethat - - Oversight of the acimires of the Rk Commiiee including review ol the
could allect solvency or iguidity nunules of all Risk Committee meetings dunng the year
~ Reviewing the risk management drsclosures on our - An annual report on the elfectiveness ol internal contto! systems
approach to risk in the Half Year and Annual Reponts = Monutoring the timely response to audit hindings and con!rol improvernents
= Anannudl fraud nisk assessment
- Insurance prograrnme lor property development and corporate nsks
= Credn brits of counterparties
H intemnal ~ Manitonng and reviewing Lhe effectiveness ol the -~ Moniloring KPMG s execution ol the Internal Audil and reviewing the resultant
Audit Company s Internal Audi functon inctuding s plans audd reports and hndings
level of resources and budget — Rewiewing the annual Internal Audi plan including consideratron of its
- HReviewing inter nal audit reports recommendalions alignment Lo the prircipal risks. consideration of emerging areas of risk
and progress in implemenialon ol those and coverage across the Group and its jotnt ventures
recommendations = Internal Audit programime of review of Lhe Group s processes and conlrols
to be undertaken and an assurance map showing the coverage of audil
work over Lhree years aganst the principal nsks
— Internal Audil eflectvencss
= Internal Audit charter delining its rwle and responsibitities
= The Group s lnternal Audit lunction reparts including those on trrasury
residential sales HR nan Brtish Land accounied joint ventures imvestment
transactions health check development completion Meadowhall joint
veriure expenses Sainsbury < ol ventere developrient plannirg
pracurernert [phase 1] and Annual Internat Controls overview
B Other - Reviewing the Cormmittee s Terms of Reference and = Rewview ol the Audit Computiee s Terms of Releience
manionng s execution — Review ol the effectiveness of the Audit Commitiee
= Consudenng cornpliance wath legal requirements = Maintenance of the Groups REIT status
accounting standards and the Listing Rules = Compliance with 1he latest rewision ol thw Code 1n view of changes 1o be
- Revewang Lhe wihistle-blowing policy end operation eflecitve Inorn 1 October 2014
s ~ Compliance with changes in accountng standards see note | 1o the Financial
Statements |page 129) lor details ol applicable standards
- Annual lax update and tax pohicy
- Mandatory carbon reporting
= Ruwew ol Pricewales houseCooperss Corporale Resporsilaty Assurance Repoid
- Treasury policy
Valuations valuahion process market condiions and significant judgements

The external valuation of British Land s portfolio 1s a key determinant
of the Group s balance sheet performance and semor management
remuneration Inaccordance wath its Terms of Reference the
Commuiitee undertakes a rigorous approach to monitoring and
reviewing the valuation process and the elfectiveness of the Group s
valuers Knight Frank and CBRE The Cemrmltee performsa
half-yearly review of the eflectiveness of the vatuers, focusing on

a qualinatwe analysis of capital values interms of market testing,
yield benchmarking availabiity of comparable market evidence

and major outhiers to subsector movements

The valuers present directly to the Audit Committee at the half-year
and year end review of results includmg confirmation of their

80
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made The Company s external auditor reviews the valuations and
valuation process, having full access tothe valuers to determine
that due process has been followed using appropriate information

It reports its findings to the Audit Commitiee The valuation process
1s also subjeci to regular internal audit review, the most recent being
undertaken by KPMG on behalf of the Company in 2013

For the valuation of the Group s wholly-owned assets the Company
has lixed lee arrangements with Knight Frank and CERE, inline
with the recommendations of the Carsbarg Commitiee Report
Copies of the valuation certificates of Knight Frank and CBRE

can be found on the website at www britishiand com/reports




Siguficant issues considered by the Comnuttee

durmg the year

How these 1ssues were addressed
by the Conumttee

Valuations

Although conducied by external valuers the
valuation ol 1he iInvesiment property portlolio s
inherently subgective as 11 1s made on the basis
of assumptions made by the valuer which may
not prove 10 be accurate The outcome of tus
judgement i1s sigrulicand to the Group in terms
of its swvesiment decisions resulls and
remuneration

The external valuers present 1o the Cornmitlee and ar e asked

to hughlight any significant judgemenls or disagrerments with
management The Commuttee reviews the valuation oulcomes and
challenges the external valuers assumplions procedures and
methodologies The Comimiitee assesses the ellectveness of both
externalvaluers Knight Frank and CBRE More information on this
can be lound on page B0 Fuithermoie the external audilor challenges
the valualions as part o their audit procedures and report Lheir
findings to the Committee

Accounting for
transactions

increased niskis encountered through property
and financing fransachions as large and
non-standard accounting enirtes can be required

The Commuiiee reviews management paper s on key judgements and
tot sigmificant transactions as well as the external auditor s reporl
presented tollowing therr deiailed review of accounting entries

Baoing concern

Risks to the Company 5 ongoing solvenry and
liquidity and the appropriateness of piepating
the Group hnancial statements for the hall year

The Commutee considers the inancng requirernen's ol the Group inthe
context ol available commutted [acilimes and the diver sty and longewity of
exisiing debl I addion a paper is proveded Io the Committee covering

and the tull year on a going concern basis

customer concentration hinancing ophions and covenan! headroom The
Commillee evaluales management s assessment ol going concern and
the assumplions made The external auditor shares then 1eview of these
papers and thewr assuraptions with the Commuttee

REIT status
comphance with cerlamn conditrons has a
signilicant impact on the Group s resulls

Maintenance of the Group s REIT status through

The Commuttee reviews compliance with the REIT 1ests annually
Management present the methodology and resulls of the REIT lesis
mghtighting any change in long term trends and the current level

of headroom

Non-audit services and Statutory audit markel reform

fees, and audit tender

Mimndful of the activity al European and UK level in this area 1he
Comimitiee reviewed the Company s policy on non audit tees and
formalised a policy on audit tender Irequency [see page 791

frequency
Finance systems Changes to the Company s fnance reporting [he Cammuites had regular updates on the project which reacheda
transformation and lorecasting systems were proposed and stccessiul conclusion in time for the Maich 2015 year end

imptemented during the year o improve elliciency

and transpas ency strengthen controts 1educe
the time 1aken to produce consolidations and
increase the capacily lir anabysis

Jomt ventures and funds  Accounting for and disclosure of the Group s

and the impact of new nterests in oinl venlures and funds in

accounting standards sccordance with IFRS< 10 11 and 12 which
became elieclive in the current year

The Commultee hasreviewed managemenl s papers on Lhe Lreatment
af the oint venlures and $unds under the new standards This was also
anared ol logus tor the exiernal auditor s with whom o was discussed

Fot ceriaintransactions judgement s apphied
by managemenl as lo whelher and (o what
extent Lthey should lorm pari ol revenue loi
the hinancial year

Judgements atfeching
revenue recegnition

The Commitiee and the external audior considered the approprialeness
of lhe accounting treatment applied by management for each
hansaclion to ensure i was consisien! wilh similar transaclions this
yearand last The Commiltee also considered the scope ol the
accounuing standard and the degree ol the udgement made

ldenufication and esaluation ot commercial nsks and
relited control objectives

The Audit Commuttee i1s responstble for overseemg the eflectiveness
of sound risk management and internal control systems IC2 U@ 1t
fulfils this role by momitoring the activities of the Risk Commutlee the
nsk managermnent processes in place and the activities of the Internal
Augit function, including ts reporting on the effectiveness of controls

Rlbk Committee see page 70

Managmg risk n delvering our sirategy see pages 56 to 57

Pnncmal t1sks see paqes 5810 &%

The Risk Commuttee minutes are circulated to the Audit Commitiee
for review, with any sigrificant matters hughlighted for Audniy
Committee discussion Twice yearly the principal risks which are
derived from an assessment of the risk register are presented 1o the
Audil Commiliee along with commentary on how the exposure to
these risks has moved in the period Annually a report on the

effectveness of internal controls 1s prepared by Internal Audit

for presentation to the Audit Commuttee as well as a fraud risk
assessment Internal Audit and the Risk Commuttee work closely
together to ensure that identihed risk areas inform the Internat Audit
programme and simitarly {indings of Internal Audit reviews are
taken inlo account in Wentifying and evaluating rnsks within the
business Briish Land maintains a framework of controls related
1o key financial processes and management of the associated risks
The effectiveness of such controls 1s reviewed by Internal Audit
annuatly either through dedicated procedures or wn the course

of other Internal Audit reviews

Tim Score
Chairman ol the Audit Commuittee
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CGovernance and remuncratfog

REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee

leads the process for
Board appointments

John Gildersleeve
Charman of the Normination Commattee

Dhrectors’ attendance during the s car ended
3t March 20135

John Gildersleeve 2/2
Dido Harding' 0/0
Witliam Jackson' 1/2
Lovd Turnbull 242

' Dido Harding resigned on 10 Decernper 2014 Willam Jackson was appointed
follewang Chdo Harding s resignation

82 Briush Land | Annual Repor t and Accounts 2015

Clhamges to the Board and ws Comnuttees

During the year the Nomination Commuttee has spent sigruficant
time discussing and recommending changes to the Board and its
Committees oulside of formal meetings including consutting other
Board members and working with The Zygos Partnership |Zygosl|
an external search agency

On 10 December 2014 Dido Harding stood down as a Non-Executive
Director of British Land following her appointment as a non-executive
director on ihe Court of the Bank of England Dido was a member

of the Nomination Commitiee before standing down and William
Jackson was appointed as a member of the Committee following

Dido s resignation in compliance with the Code (B 2 1) ®@

The Nominalion Commuttee identifted the need to appoint new
Non-Execulive Bireciors to broaden the Board s collective
expertence and add a fresh perspective to boardroom discussions
regarding the Company s strategy, posstion and prospects

Following a rigorous selection process detaled on page 83 Lynn
Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery were appointed as Non-Executive
Directors of Baitish Land on 20 March and 13 May 2015 respeclively
Lynn s biography details her strong business and academic
experience and Laura s biography demonstrates her huge

retail and consumer experience

Board of Dwectors biographies see pages 66 1o 67

Throughout the year the membership of each Committee has
comprised independent Non-Executive Directors to the extent
required by the Code &

Composition of the Bomd

The Comm:ttee considers that the Board consists of indmduals
with the right balance of skills experience and knowtedge to provide
strong and efiective leadership of the Company The majorny of the
Board excluding the Chawrman are independent Non-Executive
Directors, and the Board s collective experience covers a range

of relevant seclors, as illustrated on page 65 As well as a breadth

of property and financial experience, the Board members have
persenal expertence of working i the retad and corporate
enviranments that are typical of many of our occupiers

Board evalualton see page 74

Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery wiil stand for election and all of
British Land s other Directors witt retire and subrmit themselves for
re-election by shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting The
Commuttee believes that atl the Drectors continue to demonstrate
commitment to their roles as Board and Commitiee members,
continue to discharge therr duties effectivety and that each makes
avaluable centribution 10 the leadership of the Company @




Appomtment of Lviin Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery
as Non-Eaecutive Directors

During the year and following the resignation of Dido Harding the
Nomnation Committee identihed the need to review the composition
of the Board and underiocok a comprehensive search process against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity
in¢luding gender

~ The Nomunation Commutlee was chaired by John Gildersleeve
Chairman of the Company during the selection process
- 2ygos', an external search agency, was engaged by the Cormnmittee
to assist with the selection process The role of Zygos included
- preparing a detailed role specilication incorporating the expected
time commitment and duties to be pertormed as a Non-Executive
Drrector of the Company
- searching for and benchmarking candidates for the role and
- producing detaded prohiles of the candidates, to be considered
by the Commuitee
- Dunng the Commuillee s search candidates from a range of
business backgrounds were considered, including both male
and female candidales
« The Committee consulted wath British Land s advisors throughout
the process and took detalled relerences
- Follewing this rigorous selecuion process the Normination
Comimitiee recommended that Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery
be apponted to the Beard The Board accepted the recommendation
and Lynn and Laura were duly appointed on 20 March and 13 May
2015 respectively

Board of Crecions - Biographies see pages 64 to 67

* The Zygos Partnership has been engaged by the Company n a search cansultancy
capacity in the pasl 1 does not prowde any other services for the Campany [B 2@

(44
British Land pays full regard
to the benefits of diversity.”

Our view on diversity

Britsh Land pays full regard to the benelits of diversity mcluding
gender diverssty both when the Nomination Committee Is searching
tor candidales for Board appoiniments and when the Company s
searchung for candidates for other appointments

The Board agrees with the conclusions of the Women on boards
report by Lord Davies of Abersoch that greater efforts should be
made inmproving the gender balance of corporate boards and
that quotas for female board representation are not the preferred
approach The Company currently has three female directors
Lynn Gtadden and Laura Wade-Gery, who were appotnted as
Non-Executive Directors this year and Lucinda Bell, who was
appointed Chief Financial Otficer in May 2013 This currently
represents 25% female Board membership, up from 18%

atyear end

The promolion of women to the Board and other senior
positions within the Company 15 dependent on the recruiment,
development and retention of women in the workforce both
within the Company and more widely throughout the busimess
and professtonal communily

& Male
@ Female

* As a1 31 March 2015
? Since the year end we have apponted another female Non-Executve Direclor
brnging the bigure 1o 75%
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Governance and remuncration

REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Puncipal responsiinhbties of the Comnuttee

Key areas formully discussed and reviewned by
the Commuttee durmg 2013

Regular review of the structure size and composition of the Board

Rewview of the structure size compesition of the Board along
with the skills, knowledge and expertence of its members to
ensure that Directors remain able to discharge their dulies and
responsibilities effectively and to the required high standard

Recommendations to the Board with regard to Board changes and
Board-level Commiittee membership changes

Selection and appointrnent of Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-
Gery as Non-Executive Directors

Succession plannming for Oirectors and other senior execulives

Succession planning including wdentification of potential internal
candidates for senior vacancies which may arise on a crisis
short medium or tong term basis

Identifying suitable candidates for Board vacancies to be nominated
for Board approval

Selection and appomtment of Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-
Gery as Non-Executive Directors

Reviewing the leadership needs of the Company

1he Strategy Days see page 74

Reviewing time commitments required from Non-Executive
Directors .

Time commitments required from Non-Executive Directors
were reviewed as part of the year-end process

Non-Executive Directors letters of appointment and
recornmendations for re-election

Recommendalions to the Board regarding Directors retinng
for re-election by shareholders at the 2415 AGM

Recommendation o the Board for the renewal of the letter
of appointrnent of Lord Turnbull

The Commuttee s Terms of Reference can be found on the Company s website at www briishland com/commuttees B 2 11@
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Qur recruitment practices have tong included a commitment to
diversity and gender equality and will continue te do 50 throughout
the Company As of 31 March 2015 Bniish Land s employees
lincluding Broadgate Estates) comprised 235 females and 253
males of the employees considered to be executwes 120 are
femate and 207 are male Serwor execuiives comprising the
Executive Committee and Operations Committee, consisted of

8 females and 17 males The headcount at 3t March 2015 was 488
To encourage and help molhers relurnto work we olfer enhanced
maternity leave payments and suppor! flexible working patterns
currently 39 of our female employees take advantage of thus facility
We also offer enhanced paternily leave payments and support
flexible working patterns for alt parents and other employees whose
personal circumnstances may make this beneficial Currently 10 men
work flexibly and 15 men took advantage of enhanced paternity leave
during 2015 Trainmng and mentoring programmes are provided to
ensure that all our employees achieve therr potential taking account
of therr diverse development needs 1tis pleasing that our Chiet
Financial Officer, Lucinda Bell, was aninternal appomtment,
reflecting the development of our own people

The Nomunation Committee seeks Lo Increase the parcentage

of female Board members as quickly as we are able The speed
atwhich we can achieve this will be subject to the availability of
suitable candidates and complhance with the requirements of the
Equality Act the Board has a tundamental obligation to ensure that
appointments are of the best candidates to promole the success

of the Company and we do riot consider that it would be to the

long term benetit of the Company I appointments were made on
any other basis Subject to these requirements we have an ongaing
commmitment to further stirengthering female representation at
Board and top management level

The policy throughout British Land 15 to employ the best candidates
avaitable wn every position regardless of sex race [ethruc origin
nationahity, colour], age, religion or philosophicat belief, sexual
ortentation marriage or civil parinership pregnancy materruty,
gender reassignment or disability Applications for employment by
disabled persons are always fully considered bearing in mind the
aptitudes of the applicants concerned In the event of members of
stafl becoming disabled every effort 1s made to ensure that their
employment continues and that appropniate training is arranged
The policy provides that the training, career developrment and
promotion of disabled people should as far as possible, be
idenhical to that of other employees

British Land looks at diversity in its broadest sense Aswell as
focusing on gender we are also commitied to LGBT diversity,
as demonsirated by our recent partnership with Stonewalt

Dexeloping people at Briush Land

The Board recognises the importance of developing people at Briish
Land, particularly inrelation to succession planming for semor
positions within the Company People development was a core lopic
discussed at the Board s Strategy Days in February 2015 as wellas
being considered by the Nomination Commuttee Having expert
people 15 one of the four core focus areas of our business model

The Strategy Day see page 74

We empower our people lo make the most of their potential withus
by encouraging all our employees to create a Personal Development
Plan This s supported by regular discusstons with therr manager
and {ratmng needs are {ormally assessed as part of the appraisal
process All new siaff members are provided with a formal induction
programme which includes presentations from senicr business
leaders on the key business strategies and vaiues of Briush Land
and finishes with an informal lunchwith pur Chief Executive The
induction includes an introduction to cur approach to sustainability
We are partnered with an award winming prowider of training
sotutions, and provide access to a full range of point of need

online solutions to suill preferred learning styles

This year we introduced a successful series of leadership workshops
specifically aimed at helping our managers set the standard lor
their teams and promoting a development culture through effectve
delegation and feedback We atsointroduced a Leadership in Real
Estate pregramme from the University of Cambridge for high
potenbal staff and our Executive Committee 1s working with a
leadership coach from Henley Busmess School

John Gildersleesve
Chairman of the Noruination Commuttee
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Gorvernunce snd remuneration

REMUNERATION REPORT Letter from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Our Remuneration Policy is
designed to align management
incentives with our strategy

Remuneraton Comnuttee meimmbers' attendance
during the vear ended 31 March 20135

Lot g Tw nbull [Chau man) 3/3
Aubr ey Adams' mn
LynnGladden? 0/
Dido Harding' 1/2
William Jackson 33

Remuneration Commttee attendees (by invitaton)

Alap Judes? Sirategic Remuneration Commitiees

Independeni Adwvisor

Vicloria Penrice { ompany Secrelary from

Atiended as Secr etary I August 2014

ta the Commuttee

Anlhony Bramne Company Secretary until retiremenil
Attended as Secretary on 31 July 2014

to the Committee

John Giidersleeve Chatrman ol the Company

Chris Grigg Chief Executive

Joll Shai pe Head ol Operations

Aubrey Adams was appointed as a member of the Commitiee following

Oide Harding s resignation on 10 December 2014 and stepped down on

Lynn Gladden s appomiment

Lynn Gladden was appointed as a Director of the Company and member

of the Rernuneration Commutiee on 20 March 2015 No meetings took place
belween herappaintment and 31 March 2015

TheCammittee has appointed Alan Judes as its Independent Advisar Further
detal 1s prowded in the £onsideration by the Directors of matters relaling to
Directors remuneralion paragraphon page 112

Viciora Pennce resigned on 8 May 2015 and Charles Middleton was appointed
Interim Company Secretary

-
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Dear Shareholder,

Last year we presented our Remuneration Policy and our
Remuneration Imptermnentation Reporl 1o shareholders to be voted
on separatety for the first time We were pleased to receve over 97%
of vates in favour of each at the AGM on 18 July 2014 This year we
intend to apply the Remuneration Policy approved tast year and so
the Company does not intend to present the Policy to shareholders
1in 2015 Shareholders will however have an advisory vote on the
Remuneration Implementation Reporl at the AGM The Policy Is
summarised on pages B8 to 97 of this report and If you wish to view
the full version of the approved Policy you can do this by following
the instructions on page 88

| am pleased to have welcomed new members to the Remuneration
Committee during the year Aubrey Adams joined the Committee
following Dido Harding s resignation as a Chrector of Brish Land in
December 2014 Lynn Gladden joined the Committee in March 2015
at which point Aubrey Adams stepped down Willlam Jacksen has
been a member of the Commuttee throughout the year and following
her appointment on 13 May 2015 Laura Wade-Gery has now also
joined the Committee

Ow Remuneration Policy and philosophy

Our Remuneration Policy 1s designed to aign management
incentives with our strategy and to encourage and reward high levels
of performance The Policy 1s also designed to attract tughly talented
indmwiduals to Bntish Land and to retain them as employees of the
Company A sigruhicant proportion of each Executive Director s
remuneration package consists of variable remuneration, with
pay-out levels linked to perlormance These variable etements of
Femuneration can move total pay above median into the upper
quartile but onty when upper guariile performance 1s achieved

Targets for the Annual incentive award are taslored annually by the
Commuttee and relate to both Company perlormance and individual
performance in each Executive Director s specific areas of focus
The Maiching Share Plan IMSP) and Long-Term Incentive Plan [LTIP}
are designed to align the interests of Executive Directorswith those
of shareholders by ensuring their focusis on strong performance
over the tong term The performance cond:tions attached to MSP
and LTIP awards are reviewed each year to ensure they continue

to promote performance that s in Line with strategy and to ensure
that they remain sutficiently challenging The design of these
performance conditions was last changed in 2013 Our Palicy outlines
the link between each performance condition and our strategy to
achieve sustainable long term total returns for our sharehotlders
Variable elements of remuneration may be subject to malus and
clawback n certain crcumstances, as described in the Policy

Pages 98 and 99 of this report describe how the Committee intends
to implement the approved Remuneration Policy throughout the year
commencing 1 April 2015




The context m which decisions have been taken
durng the yvear

The Commiitee has taken account of British Land s strong
performance over the year when making decisions relating to

the Directors remuneration The business has achieved a total
accounting return of 24 5% and a total shareholder return of 32 0%
The full year dwidend of 27 68p per share 15 an increase of 2 5% on
the previous year We have outperfermed the Investment Property
Databank at alt property levels and rental values across the busmess
have grown by & 4% Profits from the 2010 development pipeline
now stand at £ 1bn and the pipeline ts being replerished

How we perforsned over the last year see pages 24 10 25

Directors’ 1emuncration for the vear ended

31 March 2015

No substantial changes relating to Directors remuneration
were made during the year and all payments have been made
in accordance with the Policy approved by sharehotders

The Executive Directors Annual Incentive awards for the year ended
31 March 2015 have beenincreased These amounts reflect the
strong performance Britsh Land has achieved over the year against
Company targets and reflect the Executive Directors contributions
in thewr own specific areas of responsibility

Vesting of the MSP and LTIP awards granted to Executive Directors
tn 2012 1s dependent on Company perfermance over the three year
period ended 31 March 2015 The LTIP award will vesi at 100% as
growth in British Land s net asset vatue {NAV) has significantly
oulperformed the capital growth component of the Investrent
Property Databank over the performance perniod The LTIP awards
vesting in 2015 are the last remarning awards to be linked to this
NAV-based perforenance condition

The gross income growth element of the MSP which comprises
hall of the total MSP award 1s expected 1o vest in full The total
shareholder return element of the MSP award wilt not vest as TSR
performance fell marginally below the median of the comparator
group Therefore 50% of the MSP award will vest overall

Full details of the remuneration package recewable by each Director
for the year ended 31 March 2015 are provided in the single total
figure of remuneratton table, on page 100

Major decisions on Directors’ remuncration taken
durng the vear

The Remuneration Commaittee has reviewed the salanes of the
Executive Directors and the Chairman s annual fee and decided that
these should be increased by 5% for the year commencing 1 April
2015, with a % ncrease lor the Chief Financial Oificer This increase
reflects the Directors contribution 1o the strong performance that
British Land has achieved over the year Whle the increase 1s
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We were pleased to receive over
97% of shareholder votes in favour
of our Remuneration Policy.”

Kev actimties of the Remuneration Comnuttee during
the year ended 31 Maich 2015

- Approval of the 2014 Remuneration Implementation Report and
Remuneration Policy presented at the AGM on 18 July 2014

- Rewiew of Company perfermance against targets dunng the year
ended 31 March 2014

- Approval of Company and Directors performance ebjectives
for the year ended 31 March 2015

- Rewview of

Chief Executive s remuneration
- Chairman s annual fee
- Executive Direciors salares and bonuses and
- Employees salanes and bonuses

= Approval of discretionary share scherne grants and vestings

Approval of ali-employee share scheme grants

marginally hagher than the increase in employees salaries that
has been budgetled for thraughout the Group the Committee has
taken into account the fact that no increases have been made to
Directors salaries for a number of years The new salaries aren
line with those offered to Directors of other FTSE 100 companies
of a similar size

The Executive Directors minimum shareholding gurdeline has been
ncreased lor the year commencing 1 Aprit 2015 by 25% of salaryto
bring our guidelines into line with the median of our comparator
group in the FTSE 100

The Executive Direclors are responsible for setting the levels of fees
pawd to ithe Non-Executive Directors These fees are structured so
that Non-Executive Directors must attend all Board and relevant
Commitiee meetings throughout a year to achreve a fee that isin ine
with the iees paid to Non-Executive Directors of other FTSE Y0
companies of a similar size The Executive Directors have decided
that the fees paid to the Chairman of the Audit Commitiee and the
Chairman of the Remuneration Cornrittee should be increased for
the year commencing 1 April 2015 to reflect the increasing workload
and responsibiiity associated withthese positions The fees are
outhned on page 98

I took forward to again receving a hugh level of support at the
2015 AGM

Lord Turnbull

Chatrman of the Remuneration Committee

87
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Governance and remuncration

REMUNERATION REPORT Summary of Remuneration Policy

Our Remuneration Policy is structured
to complement our strategy, linking a
significant portion to performance

At the Annuzl General Meeting 1n July 2014 we presented our
Remuneration Policy to shareholders for approval for the first time
and received a voie of over 97% in favour We do not propose to make
any changes {o the approved Remuneration Policy for the year
commencing 1 April 2015

The following ten pages provide a summary of our Remuneration
Policy, describing the main elements that make up the remuneration
package lor Execulive Directors and the fees that are paid to the
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The charts an page %4 provide Illustrations of how the Policy will be
apphied to the Executive Directors remuneration threugh the corming
year tn scenarios where varying levels of performance are achieved

Fellowing the Summary of Remuneration Policy section of this
report our Implerentation Report sets out how we ntend to apply
our Remuneration Policy through the coming year and how the
Policy was applied through the year ended 31 March 2015

View our full Remuneration Policy

Our full Remuneration Policy can be viewed on our website

www britishtand com/commuittees or can be found on pages B4 to 93
of our Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2014 If youwish to
order a hard cepy ol the 2014 Annual Repeort please register your
request via our website www britishtand com/request-printed-report
or write to Company Secretariat British Land York House

45 Seymour Street London WIH 7LX

The full Policy prowdes additional information not referred to
mihis summary covering, among other things our approach

to recruitment remuneration our policy on loss of office and our
approach to rarnuneration for employees other than Directors
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How we use this repart
Throughout the Remuneration Report different elements
of remuneration are highlighted using the following colours

M Basic Salary

W Annual Incentive

B Matching Share Plan {MSP)

Hll Long-Term Incentwve Plan ILTIP)

Hl Taxable Benefits

M Pension

M Other lterns in the Nature of Remuneration




Executive Directors
Fixed Remuneration

M Salary
Positioned around the median of our
comparator group

B Taxable Benefits
Includeng car allowance private medicat
insurance independent advice and other
benelits on substanually the same basis
as other ernployees

M Pension
famming to provide an apprepriate level of
pension on retirement

B Other Items in the Nature of Remuneration
Including membership of alt-employee
share plans and other non-1axable

benefits on substantially the same

basis as other employees

Chatrman

Annual Fee

Variable Remuneration [Level of award dependent on performance)

W Annual Incentive and B Long-Term Incentve Plan (LTIP)
B Matching Share Plan [MSP) LTIP award consists of performance
Annual Incentive award magniude 1s shares and / or markel value options
dependent on Company and individual subject to periormance measures

performance over the year

Two thirds of Annual  Qne thurd s deferredto

Incentive I1s paid as purchase MSP Bonus

cash on award Shares A conditional
award of MSP Matching
Shares Is granted

subject to performance
measures
Perfarmance measures assessed over Perfermance measures assessed over
threayears three years
MSP Bonus Shares are released Number of Number of eptions
Number of MSP Matching Shares pertormance vesting 1s dependent
vesting is dependent on performance sharesvesling on performance
1s dependent on Exercisable tora
performance lurther seven years

Positoned around the median of our comparator group

Benefits
Consisting of car and chauffeur

Non-Executive Directors

Fees

Positioned around the median of our comparator group and
reflecting atiendance at Board and Committee meetings
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Gorernunce and remuneration

REMUNERATION REPORT Summary of Remuneration Policy continued

Summary of Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Component and Purpose

Operation

M Basic Salary

- Level of salary s intended to altract and retain
high-calibre indmduals, with an appropriate
degree of expertise and experience

~ Rewiewed annually by the Remuneration Committee with
any increases taking effect on 1 Apnl for the following year

- Levels of basic salary are positioned areund the median of our
chasen comparaior group [consisting of FTSE 100 companies
with broadly sieralar market capitalisations)

- birectors responsibiities and employment conditions and salary
ncreases awarded throughout the Bnitish Land Group are taken
intoe account when the Commuttee set the level of basic satary

- Directors may be eligible to receve fees for sitting on the boards
of certain subsicdiary companies

M Taxable Benehts
- Purpose 1s to form part of a remuneration package (hat
wall attract and retain the best people for the Company

- Car allowance paid in lieu of providing a company car

- Direclors are provided wath private medical insurance [covering
themselves, spouses and children underthe age of 25), access to
independent actuanial financial and legal advice when necessary
the oplion to take up gym membership pad for m part by the
Company, and certain olher benehits on substantially the same
basis as for all other employees

B Annual incentive

- Purpose s to reward performance that supports British Land 5
key strategic priorities

- Level of award reflects Company performance and the Directors
indvidual contribution over the preceding year against annually
tallored targets

- Awards granted by the Commutiee followang the financial year end
when aclual Company and \ndivduat performance over the year
have been measured

- One third of Annual Incentive 1s delerred and used to purchase
shares [MSP Bonus Shares) under the Matching Share Plan, as
detaited below

= The Commutiee may require some of all of the MSP Bonus Shares
to be clawed back at any time before the three-year holding period
elapses Il 1t 1s discovered that the Annual Incentive with which they
were purchased was granted on the basis of materially rmisstated
accounts or other data

B Matching Share Plan (MSP)

- Designed to ensure participants are focused on long term
performance atigring their interests wath those of shareholders

- Two performance measures one measures lolal shareholder
return (TSR] and one measures gross mcome growth (GIG)

~ We aim to deliver supenor total returns to shareholders
over ime a TSR performance measure directly links the level
of remuneration to the total return delivered to shareholders

~ We create enduning occupter demnand by hawving the right assets
In our portiolio and managing them the nght way, creatng Places
People Prefer This delivers long term growth mn rental income
which e lurn drives value creation A GIG performance measure
links the level of remuneration to the degree of growth in income,
thereby rewarding the creation of value
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= One third of Annual Incentive 1s deferred and used to purchase MSP
Bonus Shares

- Bonwus Share are deferred for a period of three years before being
released during which time the Directors receive any dividends paid
on the Bonus Shares

- British Land makes a conditional award of MSP Matching Shares
which match the Bonus Shares on a 2 1 basis

= Matching Shares are held for a three-year performance penod
following grant and the proportion vesting if any 1s dependerdt on
performance against the MSP performance measures and on the
Bonus Shares beng held for the requisite three-year period

- Any vesting Matching Shares are immediately transferred to the
Directors along with payments equivalent to the dvidends accrued
on those shares

= During the three-year performance period, the Committee may
require some or all of the Matching Shares that have been granted
but have not yet vested to be subject to malus and forfeited if itis
discovered that they were awarded on the basis of malenally
misstated accounts ot other data




Maximum Opportunity

Performance Measures

Maximum levels of salary wall not be greater than

the upper quartile of our chosen comparator group
Increases if required wall typically be en ine with inflation
and general salary increases across the Company

Fees for sitting on the boards of subsidiary companies are
capped at a mawmum of £1 500 per annum in aggregate,
for all qualifying appotntments

- Not applicable

Maximum car allowance permitted (s £20,000 per annum
Maximum cost of the other taxable benefits is the amount required
to continue prowiding these benetils at a similar level year-on-year

Not applicable

Maximum tevel of Annual Incentive which may be awarded
is equivalent to 150% basic salary

Targets relate to Briish Land s strategic focus areas as well as
each Director s mdmidual areas of responsibility

Tailored Company and indvidual targets are sel by the Commuttee
at the beginning of the financial year aver which performance wall
be assessed

Targets are not sinctly weighted the Commuttee will take into
account performance over the year against all quantitative and
qualitative Company largets, as well as the indvdual s targets
and make an assessment in the round

i actual performance averaged over all targets is equal to the
median level of performance the Annual Incentive award granted
will be equivalent to 37 5% of basic salary Up to 75% of basic salary
15 payable for performance that is in tine wath expeclations

If average performance 1s belaw the median level of performance,
no Annual Incentive award will be granted

Maximurm number of MSP Malching Shares recevable is dictated
by ihe size of Annuat Incentive award

Maximum face value ol Matching Shares 1s etjurvalent to two thurds
of the value el Annual Incentve award which would equate to
100% of the value of basic salary if the maximumn permitted level of
Annuat Incentive were granted

The TSR and GIG performance measures are equally weighted

GIG performance 15 assessed against that of the Investment
Property Databank [IPD) UK Annual Property Index

TSR performance Is assessed against a comparator group
determined prior to each performance penod and consisting

of FTSE 350 property companies This may be amended during

a performance pertod if there Is a carporate event alfecting any
member ol the comparator group

Vesting hurdles are stepped requinng high levels of outperformance
for 100% of the Matching Shares to vest

25% of the Matching Shares will vestif the minimum performance
threshold is met

Perfarmance betow the minimuim threshold will resuli in the entire
award of Matching Shares lapsing

British Land | Annual Repor tand Accounts 2015 91




Gorernance and remunerotion

REMUNERATION REPORT Summary of Remuneration Policy continued

Summary of Executine Dircctors’ Rentuneraoon Policy

Compenent and Purpose

Qperation

W Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

- Designed to ensure participanis are focused on long term
performance, aligring therr interests wath those of shareholders

- Two performance measures one measures total property return
{TPR) and one measures total accounting return [TAR)

- The TPR performance measure rewards strong performance
at the property level by assessing Bnuish Land s performance
agamst the Invesiment Property Databank UK Annual Property
Index (the Index] The Index contains property valued at £183 7
billion, representing 288 entiies and funds as at 31 Decemnber
2014 and so provides a large enough sample 10 be a stabistcally
relevant benchmark against which to assess our properly
performance The level of remuneration recewved under this
performance measure 15 inked to the degree that Brinsh Land
outperforms the Index

- We aim to deliver supenor total returns to shargholders over
time and believe that concentrating on achieving sirong total
accounting returns will translate into delivering strong total
shareholder returns in the tong term The TAR performance
measure thus rewards performance that we believe will lead
to supenor shareholder returns over time

Awards granted annually by the Comrmitiee

Dhrectors indicate a preference as to the proportions they wish 1o
recene as performance shares [conditional nghts to receve shares)
and market value options

The value used to determine the number of performance shares
and / or options granted s the fair value The cost to the Company
of an award 1s the same regardless of whether 1t is compnsed

of oplions or performance shares Allowing a Director to indicate

a preference as to the proportions of options and performance
shares they receive increases the perceved value of the incentive
The exercise pnce of any aptions will be the average market value
of Briish Land shares over the three dealing days immediately
preceding grant

Awards are held for a three-year performance period following
grant and the proportion vesting, If any, depends on Company
performance agans! the LTIP perforrmance measures

Any vesting performance shares are tmmediately transferred to the
Directors along with payments equivalent to the dwidends accrued
and the interest on those deferred dmdends

Any vesting options can be exeraised at any point during the seven
years lollowing vesting, the exercise price being paid by the Director
It 15 discovered that awards were granted on the basis of matenatly
musstated accounts or other data the Committee may require some
or all of the performance shares or options thal have been granied
but have not yet vested to be subject tomalus and torfeited and /or
may require some or all of the options that have vested but have not
yet been exertised to be clawed back

I Other ltems in the Nature of Remuneration

~ Directors are eligible to participate inthe Company s ali-emptoyee
share schemes the Share Incentive Plan [SIP) and the Sharesave
Scheme [Sharesave]

- Non-taxabte benefits are designed o form part ot a
remuneralion package that wll attract and retain the
best pecple for the Company

Executive Directors participate in the SIP and the Sharesave on the
same basis 35 other eligible employees

Other non-taxable benefils include life assurance cover lunder
which a lump sum of four times basic salary will be paid out on
the event of death in service) permanent health insurance {under
which 75% of basic salary wall be pard 1o the Director in the event
of long term absence due to certatn medical reasonsl, annuat
medicat checks any relevant professional subscription fees and
certain other benefits on substantially the same basis as for all
other employees

M Pension

- Aums to provide an appropnaie level of pension on retirement
as pant of a remuneration package that will atiract and retain
the best people for the Company
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Chrectors who joined the Company befere 2006 accrue benefits
under the defined beneiit scheme whichis now closed to new
mernbers Accrual rates are determined by the rules of the scheme
and are dependent on the age at which the Director joined the
Company Benefits up to the imit permitted by the 1ax legisiation
are provded in a registered plan Benelits over that Lirmit are
prowided in an employer financed retirement benelit scheme
|[EFRBS]) EFRBS participants can choose annually whether they
wash 1o be EFRBS members or to recerve a cash payment tn lieu
Drreclors whao Joined or Join, the Company after 2006 are eligible

to be members of the defined contnbution scheme Directors may
choose whether contributions are made into the Company s defined
contribuhion scheme or into thewr own personal pension plan or
may elect to take &ll or part as cash in heu of pension contributions




Maximum Gpporiunity

Performance Measures

Maximnum value of LTIP award which may be granted 1s equivalent
10 200% of basic salary, the Committee determines the actual
value of award granted wathin this imit

The value of an LTIP award 1s the aggregate far value of the
relevant performance shares and / or options al the date of grami
The fair value of 2 performance share 1s the average market value
of the Company s shares over the three dealing days immediately
preceding the grant date

The fair value of an optign 1s such fraction of that average market
value as the Commuttee sets from time to time and s based on the
accounting cost and expected hife of an option This fraction s
currently ane quarter, but the Commuttee may change the {raction
as it sees it {o reftect the economic models used by the Company
for the valuation of options

- The TPR and TAR perlormance measures are equally werghted

- TPR performance 1s assessed aganst that of the Index

- TAR Iwhich measures change in NAV plus dvidends patd] is
assessed agamst a comparater group determined pnor to each
perforrnance period and consisting of a chesen peer group of
FYSE 350 property compantes This may be amended during a
performance period if there 1s a corporate event affecting any
member of the comparator group

- Vesung hurdles are stepped requwing high levels of autperiormance
for 100% of the LTIP award to vest

= 25% of the LTIP award will vest if the minimum performance
threshold 1s met

= Pertorrmance below the mimimurm threshold will result in the
entire LTIP award tapsing

- Both performance measures assess our ability 10 choose
the right sectors to invest in and are appropnate measures
in fluctuating property markets as the vesting hurdles use
quartites, not hixed percentage ovtperformance of the median

Maxrmum opportunities under the SIP and Sharesave are set

by the rules of these schemes and are determined by the statutory
timits Participants must contribute the maximurm permitted
monthly amounts (deducted from salary) 1o purchase shares

or fund options to receive the maximum opportunities available
under these schemes

Maximum cost of the non-taxable benefis is the amount required

to continue providing these benefits at a simitar level year-on-year
Such benelits are provded on similar terms to all eligible employees

~ Not appticable

Maximum accrual rate for a defined benefit member s that which
will give the target benelit at age 60 subject to the accrual rate
being no greater than ane thirtieth and no less Lthan one sixtielth
of salary The target benelit 1s the penston that can be provided

by the £1 8 million tdetime allowance at 31 March 2012 uplifted
by RPI from that date

Employer penston contributions to Directors eligible for Lhe defined

contnbution scheme are made at a fixed percentage of salary
between 15% and 35%

- Not applicable

BritishLand | Annyal Repor tand Accounts 2015 93




Governance and remuncration

REMUNERATION REPORT Summary of Remuneration Policy continued

Summarv of Chairinan and Non-Eaccutive Directors’ Remuneration Poliey

Camponent and Purpose

Operation

Chairman s Annual Fee
- Levelisintended to attract and retain a high calibre indnadval
with an appropriate degree of expertise and experience

- Annualfee of the Chairman 1s a matter for the Remuneration
Commuttee and 1s reviewed annually

= Level of the Chairman s annual fee 1s positioned around the median
of our ¢hosen comparater group [consisting of FTSE 100 companies

with broadly ssmilar market capitalisations)

Chairman s Benefits
- Prowded to facilitate the Chawrman s travel in the fulfilment
of hus or her duties

- The Chairman is provded wath a car and chauffeur

Nen-Executive Directors Fees

- Set to take into account the level of responsibility, expenence
and abilities required

- Reflect attendance at Board and Commuttee meetings
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= Remunreration of the Non-Executive Directors 1s a matter for
the Executive Directors, and fees are rewewed annually

- Non-Executive Direclors recerve a basic annual fee, along with
additronal fees if they hold the position of Sentor Independent
Director or Comrrittee Chair plus a fee for each Board or
Committee meeting attended

= Aum to deliver a tolal tee at a level in tine with simitar positions at
our chosen comparator group [consisung of FTSE 100 companies
with broadly similar market capitalisations)

= Fee structure s designed so that {ull attendance at Board and
Committee meetings 1s required to achieve a total fee in Une with
our comparalor group

- Expenses reasonably incurred by the Non-Executive Directors
in fulfilment of the Company s busimess together with any taxes
thereen may be rembursed




Maximum Opportunity

Performance Measures

- Maximum annual fee will not be greater than the upper - Not applicable
quartie of the chosen comparator group

- intreases o required wall typically be in line withinflation

- Maximum opportunity 15 the cost of providing thes grossed-up - Not applicable
taxable beneh! at a similar tevel each year

- Maximum aggregate amount of basic fees payable to all - Not applicable

Non-Executive Directors shall not exceed the £400 060 timit
set in the Company s Articles of Association
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Gover and r aton

REMUNERATION REPORT Summary of Remuneration Policy continued

Hlustrations of apphicanon of Remuneration Poliey
The following bar charts iltusirate the levels of remunerahon
recewvabie by the Execulive Directors under the Rermuneration
Policy These illustrations have been prepared in accordance with
The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups [Accounts
and Reports) [Amendment] Regulations 2013 and do nol allow for
share price appreciation between grant and vesting of awards

The scenarios given represent remuneration receivable for minimum
performance for performance that is in line with expectations and
for maxamum performance

For each scenano the percentage that each remuneration element
represents of the total remuneration package 1s shown along with
the total value of the remuneration package Further detall of the
underlytng catculations 1s shown in the tables on page 97
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Key

H Mivimum remuneration
consisting of

M Basic Salary

l Taxable Benefits

M Pension

D Other items in the Nature
of Remuneration

B Annual Incentive

M Total long term incentives
consisting of

8l Matching Share Plan [MSP)
8 Leng-Term Incentive Plan
ILTIP]




Mimamum performance
For minimum performance ne Annual Incentive or long term incentive awards will be made, each Director will receive only the mimimum
rermuneraton as detatled w the table below

[ [ [ ] [Ymeees M 2nnoat Hll o Long Torm
Remuneraton’ Incentere! Incenirves’
MS5P Matching
Drector Salary € Benefits £+ Sip £ Pension £ £ Shareawards £ LTIP awards €
Chris Grigg 840,000 46943 7,200 2%4 000 - - -
Lucinda Betl 493,000 30 505 7.200 82 254 - - -
Chartes Maudsley 444 250 J 486 7200 b4 938 - - -
Tim Roberts 446 250 30840 7200 8B 617 - - -

Perfermance in lne with expectation

For performance in line with expectations Annual Incentive awards will be granted at a level eguivalent to 75% basic salary MSP Matching
Share awards are expected to vest at a level equivalent to 25% basic salary and LTIP awards are expected to vest at a level equivalent to
100% basic salary as detailed in the table below

HEEE M arum M Annuat [ | R Long Term
Remuneration’ Incentva’ Incentrres?
MSP Maiching
Director Salary £ Benelus €* SIPE Penswon £ 3 Shareawards £ LTiP awards £
Chris Grigg 840 000 46963 7,200 294 Q00 630 000 210 000 840000
Lucinda Beil 493,000 30 505 7,200 82 254 362750 123 250 493000
Charles Maudsley 446,250 31486 7,200 56 938 334 688 111563 446 250
Tim Roberts 446 250 30,860 7200 88,617 334 688 1115463 444 250

Maximum performance

For maxmum performance the Annual Incentive will be granted and long term incentive awards will vest at the maximum levels permitted
by the relevant schemes Annual Incentive awards will be granted at a level equivalent 10 150% basic salary MSP Matching Share awards are
expected to vest at a level equivalent to 100% basic salary and LTIP awards are expected to vest at a tevet equivalent to 200% bassc salary

as detailed in the table below

HBREN vinimuem W Ansual H N vt Long Tarm
Remuneratwon® Incentve! - tncentives!
M5P Maiching
Director Salary £ Benefts £* SIPEY Persion [* € Shamawards £ LTIP awards £
Chris Grigg 840 000 46963 7200 294 000 1,260 0600 840000 1680000
Lucinda Bell 493 000 30505 7200 82 254 739500 493 000 %846 000
Charles Maudsley 446 250 31486 7200 66,938 669375 446 250 822500
Timn Roberts 446 250 30,840 7200 88,617 469375 446 250 892 500

' Executive Direciors are eligible to participate inthe Company s all employee Sharesave Scheme Sharesave options have not beenincluded i the above bar charts
Details ol the Directors current Sharesave interests are provided on page 107 Anydains an exercises under the Sharesave Scheme are included within the single
Lotel figure of remuneration table on page 100
! One thurd of the Arnual Incentive award value shown will be used to purchase shares deferred far three years under the Company s MSP as described on pages 90to 91
3 Figures inctude the fair values of LTIP awards granied as described an pages 9210 93 Figures do not atlow lor share price appreciation or Sividend equivalent payments
“ 1t has heen assumed that the values of taxable and non taxable benefits receivabte wil be equal to those receved in 2015 as there has been no change 1o the Folicy
In practice the values may vary immaterally due 1o external factars such as changes in the cost ¢f providing life assurance or permanent health insurance The
Direciors dilfering pension arrangements are represenied i the same manner as wn the single total figure of remuneration lahle
t Under the Company s all-emplayee Share Incentive Plan each Director will be entitled to recerve matching shares at nif cost awarded by the Campany condinonal on
them cantinuing to purchase shares under the SiP The Directors may be entitled to receive free shares at nil cost awarded anaually by the Company should this award
bemade to all eligible employees These ligures assume the maxmurn permitied levels of matching and free shares are awarded duning the year
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Gosvernance and remuneration

REMUNERATION REPORT Implementation Report

How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during the
year commencing 1 April 2015

This spread details how the Remuneration Committee intends
to apply the Remuneration Policy during the coming year

B Executive Directors basic salanies

Basic salaries have been set at the following levels for the year
commencing 1 April 2015 Basic salartes have been increased
on the previous year as described on page 87

Director Basic salary £
Chnis Grigg 840 000
Lucinda Bell 493 000
Charles Maudsley 446 250
Tim Roberts 446,250

Chairman and Nan-Executive Directors fees

The following levels will apply for the Chairman s and Non-Executive
Directors fees paid during the year commencing 1 Aprit 2015 The
Chatrman s annual {ee has been increased by 5% and the additional
fee payable to @2 Committee Chair has been increased to £20 000 as
described on page 87

Chairman c
Annual fee 369 340
Non-Executive Directors

Basic annual tee 34 250
Senior independent Direclor fee per annum 450
Commuttee Chair fee per annum 20,000
Attendance at Board meeting in person 4200
Attendance at Committee meeting in person 18%0
Attendance at Board or Commuittee meeting 840

by telephone
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B Annual Incentive award
The Company targets against which Anneral Incentive performance
will be assessed during the year are

Quantitative measures

- Total accounting return relatwe to property majers and IFD
ltotal returns basis}

- Unlevered property capital returns vs IPD [total)

- Rental growth above ERV and IPD [iotat]

- Undertying profit performance growth aganst budget
and praperty majors

Qualitative measures

- Progress on key projects including developments
Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals
= Execution of debt inancings

Progress on strengthening the diwidend

Quality of people and management renewal

- Supporting delvery of sustainability objeciwes

= Company reputation with all stakeholders

The Executwe Directors indiwdual pertormance witl also
be assessed against targets relating to thewr specific areas
of responsibility




H Matching Share Plan [MSP)

The MSP 15 assessed aganst two equally werghied performance
measures As each performance measure relates to half of the
1otal MSP award, no more than half of the total MSP award can ves!
if one of the performance measures does not meet i1s miNIMum
vesting threshold The performance thresholds are delailed in the
tables below .

The Tetal Sharehotder Return (TSR] Part 25% of the TSR Part

I e 12 5% of the total MSP award) will vestif British Land s TSR
performance 1s equal to the median TSR of the comparator group
Afurther 18 75% of the TSR Part will vest for each 1% by which
British Land s TSR exceeds the median TSR of the comparator
group up to a maximum of 100% of the TSR Part 1 e 50% of the
total MSP award) vesting

Bnlish Land 5 TSR relative to the comparator group Percentage
at the end of the performance perod vesung %
Below median 0
Median 25
Further vesting per each 1% TSR 1875

exceeds median Ito maximum of 100%
of matching shares)

The Gross Income Growth (G1G] Part 25% of the GIG Partfi e 12 5%
of the total MSP award] will vestif British Land s GIG parformance

15 equal to the Growth Requiremeni The Growth Requirement is that
GIG 15 equal to the growth of the Investment Property Databank UK
Annual Property Index lthe Index] over a three year perfarmance
period Afurther 25% of the GIG Part wall vest for each 0 5% [in
absolute terms) by which British Land s annualised GIG exceeds

the Growth Requirement up 10 a3 maxmum of 100% of the GIG Part

Ji e 50% of the total M5 award] vesting

British Land s GIG rental growth rolative to the Percentage
the Index at the end of the perfarmance period vesting %
Below Growth Requirement 0
Equal to Growth Requirement 25
Further vesting per each 0 5% per annum GIG 25
exceeds Growth Reguirement {to a maximurm of

100% of matching shares)

The comparator group against which performance will be assessed
for the TSR performance measure consists of Great Portland
Estates plc, Hammerson ple, Inte Properttes ple Land Securities
Group PLC SEGROQ plc Big Yellow Group PLC Caprtal & Counties
Properties PLC Derwent London plc Grainger ple, Hansteen
Holdings plc Helical Bar plc LondonMetric Property plc St
Medwen Properties PLC, Shaltesbury PLC The UNITE Group plc
and UK Commerciai Property Trust Ltd

The Commuitee has not changed the composition of this comparator
group smnce the 2013 MSP award when the group was expandedto
include a broader range of property comparues

M Long-Term Incentve Plan [LTIP)
The thresholds against whech the LTIP performance will be assessed
are detailed in the tables below

Percentage
Total Property Return [TPR] vesting %
Below median 0
Median 25
Top quartile 100

Parcentage
Total Accounting Return (TAR) vesting %
Below median 0
Median 25
Top quartile 100

The LTIP performance measures are equally weighted and each
measuyre relates to half of the total award For both LTIP performance
measures there will be straight-lne vesting between median and
top quartile performance

The comparator group aganst which performance will be assessed
for the TAR performance measure s the sarme group as that against
which MSP TSR performance will be assessed and has nol been
changed since the 2013 LTIP award Performance under ihe TPR
performance measures will beassessed against the Index
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REMUNERATION REPORT Implementation Report continued

How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2015

Single Total Figu ¢ of Remuncration Table (audited information)

The foltowing 1able discloses all elements of remuneration received by the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2015 alongside
comparative figures for remuneranon received during 2014 The Directors have confirmed to the Company i writing, that they have not

received any other itemns in the nature of remuneratton beside those detaited below

W satary / Foes W Taxabls M Annuat B LongTerm IR Otherliems M Ponsion
Benefit Incentrve Bl incentves 10 the Nature of
Remuneration Total
2018 2015 2015 215 2015 201% 2005
Exocuteve Directors £ [4 £ £ [ € £
Chris Grigg 8§00 D00 20983 1152 006G 4,468 3%4 3929 280 000 6,760,668
Lucinda Bell 465 000 20883 500,00C 19274647 16 618 67805 2,997,953
Charles Maudsley 425000 21 629 540 000 1709 749 16448 63 750 2,774,596
Tim Roberts £26 500 2100 570 400 1736942 21077 76 356 2,851,916
0% 204 2014 2014 2014 200 014
€ 4 [ 4 € £ £ £
Chris Grigg 800,000 20253 1 080 000 3,187575 29907 280,000 5397735
Lucinda Bell 445 000 20 153 445,000 1346 795 15 706 61746 2374 400
Charles Maudsley 425000 21041 505 000 1556 005 15 606 43 750 2586 402
Tim Roberts 426 500 2041 505 000 1354 708 15924 70 764 2393 307
Foes Taxable Baneiits Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2004
Chairman and Non-Executve Directors [ £ € £ 4 £
John Gidersleeve [Chairman| 351,750 351750 28,963 313%6 380,713 383,146
Aubrey Adams 58 430 71244 - - 68,690 71 244
Simon Borrows &6 800 70 702 - - 64,800 70702
Lynn Gladden' 1,142 - - - 1,42 -
Dido Harding? 34023 49 530 - - 34,023 469530
William Jackson 465940 72,470 - - 45,940 72410
Richard Pym? - 30313 - - - N3
Tim Scoret 72575 1210 - - 72,575 1210
Lord Turnbull 78 875 85 808 = - 78,875 85 808

' Lynn Gladden was appointed as a Qirector of the Company an 20 March 2005
1 Ohdo Harging resigned as & Direcior of the Company on 10 Qecember 2014

1 Richard Pym resigned as a Director of the Campany on 5 September 2013

¢ Tum Score was spponted as a Director of the Company on 20 March 2014
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Notes to the single total Agure of remuneraton tables

B Taxable Benefits (audited information)
The figures shown in the Taxable benefils column are comprised as follows All tigures are gross values including tax

Private medial

Chautteur costs € Car allowance £ nsurance £ Other taxable benehis £ Total taxable benefits £
Oirector 215 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 014 205 A4
John Gildersieeve 28943 31396 - - - - - - 28943 31394
Chris Grigg - - 16 BOD 16 800 4183 3,453 - - 20 983 20253
Lucinda Bel! - - 16 700 16 700 4183 3453 - - 20 883 20153
Charles Maudsley - - 16 700 16 700 4 281 3753 648 588 214629 2104
Tim Roberts - - 16170 16170 4183 3,653 648 588 21001 20411

' Othertaxable beneins includes Company centrdulions ta gym membership

M Annual incentive

The level of Annual Incentive 15 deterrmined by the Remuneration Committee, based on British Land s performance and the individual s
contribution duning the preceding year The assessment for the year ended 31 March 2015 was undertaken with reterence to performance
against the following quantitative and qualitative targets using data available at the year end

Targots Performance
O taryats
Accounting return total NAV-based return  Accouniing return of 24 5% was above 1he estimated average of the property majors and total

plus diidends relative to property majors  property return outperformed IPQ
and IPD [total returns basis)

Unlevered property capstal returnsrelative Total return of 13 4% outperferming IPD by an estimated 130bp, both sectors outperformed
to IPD
Rental growth above ERY and iPD Both sectors performed well with rental growth ahead of IPD and lettings achieved 10% ahead

Cperating costs as a percentage of rentsand  The Company maintamed its markel teading operating cosis ratio compared {0 other property
assets against budget and property majors  majors Dperating cosis were ahead of budget due to performance related pay frem achieving
performance targets

Quabitatrve targets

Successful progress on developments Development performance has been strong with vatuations up over 25% in the year The
development pipeline has been replenished inctuding the £133m acquisition of Surrey Quays
Letsure Park to complete Canada Water site assembly Excellent progress across a number of
retail schemes inctiding the returbishment of Meadowhall

Successiul execution of targeted Continued repositiorang of 1the portiolio with £2 4bn of gross investment activity Investment

acguisitions and disposals strategy tocused on increasing our ownership in and around existing assets, including the
acquisition of One Sheldon Square and Surrey Quays, with acquisitions and development spend
broadly balancing disposals

Successiul execution of debt financings €1 7bn (BL share] of relinancings completed since 31 March 2014, mamtaimng refinancing period
beyond 48 months Wetghted average interest rate down to 3 8% iproportionally consolidated)

from 4 1%
Progress on strengtherung the dividend Full year dradend increased by 2 5% 10 27 68p per share
Quality of people and management Retained One Star rating for employee salbisfaction Succession planning in senior team
renewal including appointments of iwo new Execulive Committee members

Company reputation with alt stakeholgders Launched Places People Prefer Old Market Hereford won the BCSC Gold Award for the
New Centre category and Meadowhall won the Gold Award for Sustainability

Corporate responsibility Sustamabibity successes include improving DS score 10 83% (2014 70%] and being ranked in
the 2015 Global 100 Most Sustatnable Companses by Corporate Knights 83% of our head office
employees velunteered on the annual Company Community Day

Aswell as the above largets relaling to Company performance the Executive Directors individual performance was measured aganst
objectives falling within categories that included Company Strategy Departmental Strategy Capital Efficiency, Property Finance
Investment, Organssation and Team Management, External Relatiens Future Proofing and Place Making

The Group does not disclose prospective and retrospective performance targets for each individual s performance beyond that disclosed

above as the Directors consider this to be commercially sensitive Prospective and retrospective vdmdual targets beyond that disclosed
above will not be disclosed atfuture dates for the same reason
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Governance and remuneration

REMUNERATION REPORT Implementation Report continued

The maximum Annuat Jncentive award achievable 1s 150% of base salary Taking into account the above performance the Remuneration
Commuttee set the aggregate Annual Incenivve received by the Executive Owrectors for the year ended 31 March 2015 at 87% of the maximum
[130% of base salary) as compared with 80% of the maximum far the year ended 31 March 2014

One third of each Executive Director s Annua! Incentive award was deferred and used 1o purchase MSP Bonus Shares subjectio a three-year
holding requirement under British Land s Matching Share Ptan [MSP] No further performance measures apply to these delerred shares the
MSP 15 described on pages $0to 91

Bl @ Long Term Incentives [audited intormatian}
The figures in the Long Term Incentives column are comprised of awards vesting under two share schemes the Long-Term Incentive Plan
ILTIP} and the Matching Share Plan IMSP)

The performance measure attached te these LTIP awards measures the growth in the Company s net assel vatue [NAV] per share agaimst
the capital growth component of the Investment Property Databank UK Annual Property Index [the Index] over a performance period of three
years commencing at the start of the financial year in which the awards were granted Growth in the Company s NAV per share has to exceed
that of the Index for a minimum proportion of ihe award to vest Stretching oulperiormance s required for the enlire award te vest as
detailed below

Percentaga by which the average annual grewth of Britesh Land 5 net asset value par share exceeds Perceniage
the average annualincroase in the capial growth component of the index vesting %
4 5% or more 100
3 5% or more but less than & 5% 80
2 5% or more but less than 3 5% 60
1 5% or more but less than 2 5% 40
0 5% or more but less than 1 5% 20
More than 0% but tess than 0 5% 10
0% ortess 0

The vesting values of the LTIP awards granted in 2012 due to vesi on 14 September 2015 and shown in the 2015 column of the single total
figure of remuneration table have been calculated using the average closing middle market guotation [MMQ) tor the pericd from 1 Janvary
2015to 31 March 2015 {824 69 pence] as the vesting share price Aen Hewitt has calculated that these LTIP awards will vest at a rate of 100%
reflecting Brihsh Land s growth in NAY of 11 7% per annum during the performance period, compared to the Index increasing by 4 7% per
annum This produces the following estimated values on vesung

£stimaled dwdend

Number ol equivalent payrment

Award price performance Pearcentage  Estimated value of due including

lexertise pricel shares Number ol optians ofaward  award on vesting nigrest

Dhrector LTIP awart date p awartded' swarded* vesiing % € £
Chris Grigg 14/09/2012 538 185 873 743 494 100% 3464 403 151 836
Lucinda Bell 14/09/2012 538 138 289 138 289 100% 1536918 112 965
Charles Maudsley 14/09/2012 538 157992 - 100% 1302945 1290460
Tim Roberts 14/09/2012 538 157992 - 100% 1,302 945 129.060

' Forthe 2002 LTIP award Chns Gngg and Lucinda Bell recaved their awards as rmixtures ol aptions and performance shares Charles Maudsley and Tim Roberts
recewed their entire awards as periormance shares

The vesting values of LTIP awards granted 1n 2011 which vested on 30 June 2014 and are shown in the 2014 column of the single total higure
of remuneration table have been calculated using the MMQ on the day of vesting

MSP performance Is assessed using two equally-werghted performance measures, each relating to half of the total MSP Matching Share
award For these MSP Maiching Share awards, one performance measure was based on Tetal Sharehelder Return fthe TSR Partl the other
on the Company s gross income growth {the GIG Part] The table below shows the performance required by the Company s TSR compared to
3 comparator group of companies across the three-year perlormance period for 2ny Matching Shares to vest under the TSR performance
condihion For these MSP Matching Share awards the comparator group consisted of Great Porttand Estates ple Hammerson plc Land
Securities Group PLC Intu Properties plc and SEGRO ple

Percentage

vesling

British Land s TSR relative to the comparator group at the end of the perlarmance penod %
Below median 0
Median 35
Further vesting per each 1% TSR exceeds median lto a maxwnum of 100% of matching shares) 16 25
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Under the secend MSP performance measure the Company s gross income growth during the three-year performance period needed to at
least equal that of the Invesiment Property Databank UK Annual Property Index (the index) [the Growth Requirement] for any MSP Matching
Shares to vest as shown below

Perteniage

Vesting

Britich Land s GIG relative to the Index at the end of the performance penod oy
Below Growlh Reguirement 0
Equalto Growth Requirement 35
Further vesting per each 0 5% per annum GIG exceeds Growth Requirement [to a maximum ¢f 100% of matching Shares) 2147

The vesting values of the MSP Matching Share award granted in 2012 due 1o vest on 7 September 2015 and shown in the 2015 column

of the single total igure of remuneration table have been calculated vsing the average MMQ for the period from 1 January 2015to 31 March
2015 IB24 6% pencel as the vesting share price Aon Hewitt has confirmed the TSR performance of the comparator group which will result

in the TSR part of the award lapsing as British Land s TSR over the performance period was 91 8% compared toa median of 95 8% {or the
comparator group It is eshmated that the GIG part will vest at a rate of 50% the actual vesting rate will be calculated once the relevant
figures are published by the Index This produces the tollowing estimated values on vesting

Number of Percentage of Estimated dwdend

Matching Shares. award precicted  Estimated value of eguwvalent payment

Dirwctor MGSP awand date awarded o vest % award onvesting € due £
Chris Grigg 05/0%/2012 144 000 50 593777 58378
Lucinda Bell 05/0%/2012 61,332 50 252 %00 24 Bb4
Charles Maudsley 05/09/2012 61332 S0 252900 24 864
Trm Roberts 05/0%/2012 67332 50 277640 27296

The vesting values of the MSP Matching Share awards granted i 2011, which vested on 27 May 2014 and are shown in the 2014 column
of the single total figure of remuneration table have been calculated using the MMQ on the day of vesting

Dividend equivalents accrued on all vesting LTIP and MSP awards are also included within the Long Term {ncentives column along with the
interest accrued on dividend equivalents patd on vesting LTIP shares

Il Other Items in the Nature of Remuneration (audited information)

The vatues shownin the Other tems column comprise the Executive Directors interests under the Company s all-employee share schemes
[the Share In¢centve Plan {SIP) and the Sharesave Scheme] and nen-taxable benefits received by the Directors during the year as shownin
the table below These share schemes are ofiered on the same terms to all eligible employees ol the Company The higures shown are the
values of free and matching shares awarded under the SIP during the year and the notional gain on the exercise of any Sharesave options
during the year Further details of the Execulive Directors Sharesave Scheme interests can be found onpage 107

Matching and free Exercise of

Permanent healih  Bther non-taxable shares awarded Sharesave Totat

Lite assurance £ insurance £ beneiits £ under tha SIP £ oplions £ other nems £

Orrector 2015 2014 2015 2014 1S 014 2015 il 2015 2014 2015 2014
Chris Grigg 10884 10047 1457 13335 525 525 64604 6000 4707 - 39291 29907
Lucinda Bell 1976 2,238 7121 6 %41 525 525 6996 6,002 - - 16 618 15706
Charles Maudsley 2131 2360 & 594 6113 1132 1131 6591 6002 - - 16448 15406
Tim Roberts 2131 2360 4509 & 344 1219 1218 4995 6002 4223 - 21,077 15924

' Other non-taxable benefits nclude annual medical checkups and relevant professional subscriplion lees

8 Pension laudited information?

The higures shown in the Pension column represent the differing pension arrangements of the Executive Directors Chris Grigg recewved
35% of basic salary as cash in lieu of pension Charles Maudsley received a pension allowance of 15% of basic salary in the defined
contribution scheme

Lucinda Bell and Tim Roberts earned pension benefits in defined benefit schemes sponsored by the Company during the year, the increase
in value over the year of their respective pensions 1s shown in the single total figure of remuneration table and further delail 1s pronded
on page 105

There are no addittona! benefits that wilt become recevable by a director in the event that a director retires earty
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Governance and remuneration

REMUNERATION REPORT Implementation Report continued

Scheme interests aw arded during the financial vear Gandited mformation)

M Awards granted under the Long-Term Incentive Plan

The total fair value of each Director s LTIP award for the year ended 3t March 2015 was equivalent to 200% basic salary at grant At grant
each Drrector canindicate a preference as to the proportion of the award that they wish to receive as performance shares and the proportion
that they wish to receive as market-valye options For the LTIP award granted in 2014 the Directors recewed awards consisting entirely of
performance shares The share price used to determine the face value of performance shares and fair value of options - and therefore the
number of performance shares and / or aptions awarded - s the average market vatue of the Company s shares over the three dealing days
immediately prior to the day of award This average share price was 484 3 pence The proportion of the award that vests 1t any 15 dependent
on Company performance agamst the LTIF perlormance measures over the three years following grant These are detaited on page 99

Performance shares

Perceniage vesting
on achievernent of

Number of End o enaniarm performance

performance Face value perlarmance threshold

Director Grant date shares granted £ period Vesting date %
Chris Grigg 23/06/2014 233804 1599921 31/03/2017 23/06/2017 25
Lucinda Bell 23/06/2014 135 898 929,950 31/03/2017 23/06/2017 25
Charles Maudsley 23/06/2014 124,208 849,955 31/03/2017 23/06/2017 25
Tim Roberts 23/06/2014 124 208 849955 31/03/2017 23/06/2017 25

B Awards granted under the Matching Share Plan

The total tace value ot each Direclor s MSP Matching Share award for the year ended 31 March 2015 was equal to two thirds of their Annual
Incentive award for the year ended 31 March 2014 equivalent to 90% basic salary at grant for Chris Grigg 47% for Lucinda Belt and 79% for
both Charles Maudsley and Tim Roberts The share price used to determine the number of Matching Shares awarded is the market value of
the Company s shares on the day the proportion of Annualt incentive is deferred This share price was 707 5 pence The proportion of the
award that vests, If any 1s dependent on Company performance against the MSP performance measures gver the three years following
granl These are detailed on page 99

Matching shares

Percentage vesting
an achievernent cf

Number of Endof minimum performance

Matching Shares Face value performance threshold

Director Grant date granted £ penad Vesting date %
Chris Grigg 30/06/2014 101 766 719994 31/03/2017 30/06/2017 25
Lucinda Bell 30/06/2014 43 816 309998 31/03/2007 30/06/2017 25
Charles Maudsiey 30/06/2014 47 584 334 657 31/03/2017 30/06/2017 25
Tim Roberts 30/06/2014 47584 336 657 /o3/207 30/06/2017 25
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Awards granted under the Sharesave Scheme

The following options were granted to Directors during the year under the all-employee Sharesave Scheme The exercise price is sel al
a 20% discount 10 the average market price of the Company s shares over the three dealing days immedsately preceding invitation to the
scheme The cost of exercise is met entirely by the Director and 1s accumulated by deductions from salary over the period between granl

and vesting
Options
Total 1o be
ceducted trom
salary to cowver Number of
EXEMTISE COS% options Face value Exercise prce Earliest

Director Grani date £ granted £ P exertise date Expusy date
Lucinda Bell 23/06/2014 9 000 1567 8995 574 01/09/2007 28/02/2018
Tim Roberts 23/04/2014 18 000 3135 17995 574 01/0%/2019 29/02/2020

Duectors' pension entittements (audited mformation)

Total pension entitlements for each Director under the defined benelit scheme

The below 1able details the defined benefit pension accrued by participating Directors at 31 March 2015

Defined banefit

pension accrued Normal returement
Diractor at 31 March 2015’ date
Lucinda Bell 96191 01/10/2024
Tim Roberls 76 097 01/08/2024

! The accrued penswon 15 based an service (o the year end and hinal pensionable salary at that date
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REMUNERATION REPORT Iimplementation Report continued

Directors’ sharcholdings and share mterests (audited mformation)

Execulive Directors interests in the Company s shares and tolal outstanding share scherne interests at 31 March 2015

The table directly below summarises the Executive Directors British Land shareholdings and outstanding share and option awards under
the Company s share schemes as at 31 March 2015 The tables that follow detail the movements in Lthese shareholdings and share scheme

nterests during the year ended 31 March 2015

Unvested share awards subject to performance measures

MSP Matching Shares LTIP Performance Shares
End of End ol
performance Vesting periormance Vestng
Director Shares held ty Director! Number penind date MNumber pe-od date
Chris Grigg 955 204 144 000 31/03/2015 05/09/2015 185873 31/03/2015 14/0%/2015
127096 31/03/2016 02/08/201% 266,222 3/03/2006 05/08/2016
1017266 31/03/2017 30/06/2017 233804 31/03/2017  23106/2017
Lucinda Bell 164 201 61332 1/03/2015 05/09/2015 138289 31/03/2015 14/09/2015
54,720 31/03/2016 02/08/201% 116,056 31/03/2016 05/08/2016
43816 31/03/2017 30/06/2017 135898 31/03/2017 23/06/2017
Charles Maudsley 159,801 61332 31/03/2015 05/09/2015 157992 31/03/2015 14/0%/2015
59428 31/03/2016 02/08/2016 141430 31/03/2016 05/08/2016
47584 31/03/2017 30/06/2017 124,208 31/03/2017 _ 23/06/2017
Tim Roberts 274,189 67332 31/03/2015 05/09/2015 157992 31/03/2015 14/09/2015
59428 31/03/2016 02/08/201% 141630 21/02/2016 05/08/2016
47,584 31/03/2017 30/06/2017 124,208 31/03/2017 23/06/2017
¥ Inctudes shares held by connected persans MSP Benus Shares and shares held underthe Company s Share Incentive Plan Allinterests are beneficial
Movements in Execulive Directors interests in the Company s shares durning the year ended 31 March 2015
Oirectors interestsn fully pawd ordinary shares including shares held by connected persons Matching Share Plan Bonus Shares and
shares held under the Company s Share Incentive Plan Allinterests are benefioal
Tatal at Total at
Director 31 March 2015 1 Apnl 2014
Chris Grigg $55,204 734 855
Lucinda Bell 164 201 113 898
Charles Maudsley 152 801 214 153
Tt Roberts 27418% 193 314
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Urnvesied options subject to performnance measures Unvested options not subject to performance measures Vested but unexercised cplions
LTIP pplicns Sharesave opliens LTIP nptons
Option End of Option Gpuon
pnce  performance Vesting Exeruisable pnee Vasting Exercoable pree

Number p penod date uril Numnber p date url Number p _Exsrcisable uniid
743 494 538 31/03/2015 14/09/2015 14/09/2022 7751 387 29/05/2019
1,073 825 447  11/06/2020

695 652 575 28/06/2021

138 289 538 33/03/2015 14/D9/2015 14/09/2022 2295 392 01/0%/2015 29/02/2006 57952 447 11/04/2020
154,742 601 31/03/2016 05/08/2016 05/08/2023 1,567 574 01/09/2017 28/02/2018 1 264 510 14/12/2020

2 348 511 01/09/2018 28/02/2019 17483 82346 05/12/z015

3135 574 DV/09/2019 2%/02/2020
Benefictal interests of the Directors under the Sharesave Scheme
Number of Number Number Number
Numnber optons of options ¢! options st gpions  Numberof
ol cplions granied vesiing exarised lapsed Dptions at Exeruise Earliest

atdApnl dunng dunng duning dunng 31 March prce exercise Expiy
Director Cate af grani 014 the year the year the year the year 2005 o dare _date
Chris Grigg 0/07/201 1908 1908 1508 - 473 01/09/2014 28/02/2015
Lucinda Bell 26f08f2012 2295 2295 392 01/09/2015 29/02/20é
23/06/2014 1,567 1567 574 01/09/2017 28/02/2018

Tim Roberts 01/07/2009 1033 1,033 10337 - 301 01/0%/2014 28/02/2015
19/06/2013 2,348 2,348 511 0Y/09/2018 28/02/2009

23/06/2014 IS 3135 574 01/09/2019 29/02{2020

t Exercised on 19 February 2015 The market price onihe day of exercise was B22 Sp realising a notronal gawn of 351 5p pershare

* Exercised on 10 September 2014 The mar<et price on the day of exercise was 722p realsing a nothonal gan of 421p pershare
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Gorvernance and remuneration

REMUNERATION REPORT Implementation Report continued

M Beneficial interests of the Directors under the Long-Term Incentive Plan - Options

Number Number Nurmber Number
Number of ol optns of options ol gpliors of pptions  Number ot
ophons at granted vesting exercised lapsed  optonsat  Exercise Earliest

1 Apnl dunng duning dunng dunng 31} March price exercise Expury

Crrector Date of grant 2014 the year the year? the year the year 2015 [ date date
Chris Grigg 29/06/2009 1,033,591 1025840 7751 387 29/06/2012  29/06/2019
11/06/2010 1073825 1073 825 447  11/08/2013  11/06/2020

28/06/2011 495,652 695452 695 652 575  2B/04/2014  2B/06f20

14/00/2012 743 494 763 494 538 14/0%/2015 14/09/2022

Lucinda Bell 29/11/2004 25326 25326 - 45955 29/11/2007 29/M1/2014
31/05/2005 14 035 14 036" - 726 66  31/05/2008 N/05/2015

05/12/2005 11557 1557 - 8234 0512/2008  05/12/2005

29/06/2009 50 387 50 387 - 387  29/06/2012 29/06/2019

2171212009 36 434 354340 - 444 21272012 211127208

11/06/2010 67952 67952 447 11/06/2013 11/06/2020

14/12/2010 11 764 11764 510 14/12/2013 16122020

14/09/2012 138 289 138 289 538 14/09/2015 14/09/2022

05/08/2013 154742 154,742 &0 05/08/2014 05/08/2023

Timn Reberts 31/05/2005 13210 1321 - 726 66  31/05/2008 305/2015
05/12/2005 17483 17483 8236 05/12/2008  05M12/2005

28/06/2011 295452 295652  295452¢ - 575  28f0&/2014  28/06/2021

' The numbers ol options at 1 Apnd 2014 are the maximum awards achievable under the LTIP on maximum outperlormance of the Flan s periormance conditians
except options granted before 2012 which have already vested
? These oplians vesied at 100% on 30 June 2014 on full sausfactian of the performance condilion The relevant perfarmance congition s detasled on page 102
Vesting options are included 1 the 2014 Leng Term Incentives ¢olumnof the single (otal figure of remuneration table on page 100
* 550 Q00 of these aplions we: e exercised on 08 Seplember 2014 The market price on the day of exercise was 728p realising a notional gain of 341p pershare 475 840
ol these options were exercised on 24 March 2015 The market price on the day of exercise was 825 Sp realising @ notioral garn of 488 5p per share
¢ Exercised on 18 August 2014 The maret price an lhe day of exercise was 724 5p realising a nolional gain of 44 95p per share
! Exercised an 14 January 2015 The market price onthe cay of exercisawas 781 5p realising a notional gam of 54 Bép per share

¢ Exercised on 24 March 2015 The market price on the day of exercise was 875 Sp realising a nolional gain of 51 9p pershare

7 Exercised on 24 March 2015 The market price on the day of exercise was 875 Sp realising a notional gan al 488 5p per share
¥ Exercised on 24 March 2015 The market price on the day of exe~c1se was 875 Sg realising a notional gain of 429 5p per share
' Exercised o0 14 January 2015 The market price enthe cay ol exercise was 781 5p realisng a notianal gain of 54 B4p per share
W Exarcised on 14 January 2015 The rmarkat price on the day of exercise was 781 5p realising a notional gamn of 206 5p pershare
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M Beneficial interests of the Directors under the Long-Term Incentve Plan - Performance Shares

Number ot Number of Number of
Number o} perfarmance perfarmance performance Number of
performance shares shares shares performance

shares at granted dunng vesting dunng lapsed dunng shares at Earliest

Deroctor Date of grant 1 Apnl 2014! the year? the year? the year 31 March 2015 vesting date
Chnis Grigg 28/06/201 173913 173913 - 28/06/2014
14/09/2012 185,873 185 873 14/09/2015

05/08/2013 266 222 266 222 05/08/2016

23/08/2014 233 804 233,804 23/06/2017

Lucinda Beil 28/06/20M 147,826 147826 - 28/06/2014
14/09/2012 138 289 138 289 14 /09/2015

05/08/2013 116 054 116 056 05/08/2014

23/04/2014 135898 135898 23/06/2017

Charles Maudsley 28/06/2011 147826 147,826 - 28/08/2014
14/09/2012 157,992 1579%2 14 /09/2015

05/08/2013 141 430 141430 05/08/2016

23/06/2014 124 208 124 208 23/06f2007

Tim Roberts 28/08/20M 7393 73913 - 28/06/2014
14/09/2012 157992 157992 14 /09/2015

05/08/2013 141 430 141 430 05/08/2016

23/06/2014 124 208 124 208 23/0612017

! The numbers of shares 81 3 April 2014 are the maximum achievable undar the LTIP en maximurm outperiormance of the Plan s periormance conditions
* On 23 dune 2014 the date ol grant the mar ket price was 476 Op

¥ These shares vasted a1 100% on 30 June 2016 anfull sansfaction of the pertormance conaimion The relevant performance condition 1sdetailed on page 102 Vesting

shares and accrued dwidends are included i the 2014 Long Term Incentives column of the single total figure of remuneration table on page 100

B Beneficial interests of the Directors under the Matching Share Plan - MSP Matching Shares

Number Number Number

Number of Matching of Matching of Malchung Number

aof Matehing Shares Shares Shares of Matching

Shares granted vesting lapsed Shares
a1 Apnl dunng dunng duning al 31 March Earliest
Director Date of grant 214! the year? the year? the pear 2015 vesting dale
Chris Grigg 24/05/2011 133,222 117834 15 388 - 24/05/2004
05/09/2012 144 000 144 000 05/09/2015
02/08/2013 127096 127096 02/08/2016
30/04/2014 101766 101 766 30/08/2007
Lucinda Bell 24/05/201 26 968 23,853 RAREY - 24/052004
05/09/2012 61332 61332 05/0%/2015
02/08/2013 54 720 54 720 02/08/2016
30/06/2014 43,816 43 B16 30/08f2017
Chartes Maudsley 24/05/20M 56 618 50078 & 540 - 24/05/2004
05/09/20%2 61332 41332 05/0%/2015
02/08/2013 59428 59,428 02/068/2016
30/04/2014 47584 47 584 30/06t2077
Tim Roberis 24/05/201 56 618 50 078 4 540 - 24/05/2014
05/0%/2012 67,332 67,332 05/0%/2015
02/08/2013 59428 59428 02/08/2014
30/046/2014 47,584 47584 30/06/2017

! The numbers of shares at 1 Apnl 2014 are the manimum achuevable under the MSP on maximum sutperiormance of the Plan s performance conditions
! On30June 2014 the dale of grant the markes price was 702 Sp

3 These shares vested at B8 5% on 27 May 2014 an full satisfaciran ol the gross income growih performance condition and partiat sausfaction ef the total shareholder
return performance condition The relevant performance condilions are detailed on pages 102 and 103 Vesting shares and accrued dividends are mcluded w the 2014

Long Term Incentives colurnn ol Lhe single total {xgure of remuneraiion table cn page 100
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Governance ond remuncration

REMUNERATION REPORT implementation Report continued

Executive Directors Minimum Shareholding Guideline {audited
information)

The Executive Directors Mimimurn Shareholding Gudeline requires
225% of basic salary to be held i vested and exarcised shares by the
Chuet Executive and 150% to be held by other Execunive Directors
These levels have been increased from the previous year s levels of
200% and 125% respectively The number / value of shares required
as the target 1s fixed once a year

There 1s no set imescale required 1o reach the target bui it should
be achieved through the regular additions anticspated by Maiching
Share Plan and Long-Term Incentive Plan vesitngs No purchases
are required erther to reach the level or to respond to share price
falls but Executive Dhrectors are expected to mcrease ther holding
of shares each year until the target 1s attained Shares included are
those unfettered and benefictally owned by the Direclor and by his or
her connected persons

Shown below are the guideline shareholdings fixed for the year to
31 March 2014

Percentage of

baswc salary

Perceniage Uniettered  held in vesied

of basic salany holding at shares gi

10 be held n Guideline 31 March 31 March

Director vested shares holding W15 2015
Chris Grigg 225% 227028 840822 853%
Lucinda Bell 150% 88 829 120,843 204%
Charles Maudstey 150% 80406 115 324 215%
Tim Roberts 150% 80406 227386 424%

' Tne Directors unlettered hotdings do not include MSP Bonus Shares and
locked inSIP Shares

Although there is no guideline holding {or Non-Executive Directors
they are encouraged to hold shares in British Land The Company
{acilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the abtity 1o
purchase shares useing thewr post-tax quarterly fees Dido Harding
Willlam Jackson, Tim Score and Lord Turnbull received a proportion
of their tees i the farm of shares during the year

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors interests in the Company s
shares (audited information)

interests in fully paid ordinary shares including shares held by
connected persons

Total at Toiat a1
Omrector 31 March 2015 1 Apnl 2004
John Gildersieeve 50N 5071
Aubrey Adams 20 000 20000
Simon Borrows 300 000 300 000
Lynn Gladden 0 0
Dido Harding 12 7852 11 045
Witham Jackson 42983 38 968
Richard Pym n/a 11 5007
Tim Score 6,946 282%
Lord Turnbull 18,790 14,884

* On20March 2015 date of appaintment
1 On 10 Decemnber 2014 date of resignatian
! On5 September 2013 dale of resignation
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Purchases after the year end up to one month before the AGM notice
On 14 April 2015 Chris Grigg Lucinda Bell Charles Maudsley and
Tin Roberts purchased 49, 17 14 and 26 shares respectively all ata
price of 864 5 pence per share under the partnership element of the
Share Incentive Plan {SIP] Accordingly Chris Grigg Lucinda Bell
Charles Maudsley and Tim Roberts were then awarded 98 34 28
and 52 shares respectively under the matching element of the SIP
all at a price of Bé4 5 pence per share

0On 15 April 20715 Willam Jackson Tim Score and Lord Turnbull were
altotted 400 1018 and 291 shares respectivety all at aprice ol 8576
pence per share as part of their standing mstructions to recerve
shares as satistaction of their Non-Executive Directors fees

Fur ther chsclosures 1egarding implementation
of Remuneration Poliey durnng the year endel
31 March 2015

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount the Company spent on

the remuneration of all employees lincluding Executive Directors)
relative to the amount spent on distributions to shareholders
ncluding ordinary and scrip dwvidends, during the financial year

The split between Property Income Distributions [PID)] and
non-Property Income Bistributions Inon-PID) s shown
Equivalent amounts are provided for the previous financial
year fer comparison

Rernuneraton of employees including Direclors
M Wages & salaries

B Annual Incentives

B Sociat securty costs

M Pension costs

[ | Equity-setiled share-based paymenis

Distribulions to shareholders

B PiD cash dividends pard to sharehalders

B PID tax wathholding

M Net cash equivalent of new shares 1ssued under
Non-PiD Scrip dnadends

B Net cash equivalent of new shares issued under
PID Scrip dividends




Six-year tolal shareholder return and Chief Executive s remuneration
The graph to the right shows the Company s total shareholder return
for the six years from 1 April 2009 16 31 March 2015 against that of
the FTSE Real Estate Investment Trusts {REIT) Total Returnindex for
the same period The graph shows how the total return ona £100
investment (n the Company made on 1 April 2009 would have
changed over the six-year period measured compared with the total
return on 3 £100 tnvestment in the FTSE REIT Total Return index

The FTSE REIT Total Return index has been selecled as a suitable
comparator because it 1s the mdex inwhich the Company s shares
are classified

The 2009 base point required by the regulations was close to the
bottorn of the property cycle Dyr share price had not fallenas much
at that ime as the average share price of the FTSE REITs Sector
thereby setting a higher base point for subsequent growth The table
below details the total remuneration of the person undertaking the
role of Chiet Executive over the same penod, calculated onthe same
basis as the single 1otal figure of remuneration table and the annuat
incentive pay-outs and long term incentive vesting rates as a
percentage of the maximum opportumty

Chnis Grigg was appointed as Chief Executive of the Company in January 200% The rules of the LTIP and MSP stipulate that awards are

subject to three-year performance periods before vesting Hence, none of Chris Grigg s LTIP and MSP Matching Share awards were eligible

tovest in 2010 or 2011

2010 201 2012 013 214 2015
Chuef Executive ChnsGrigg  ChrisGrigg  ChrisGrigg  Chris Grigg ChrisGrigg  Chris Grigg
Cheef Executive s single total figure
of remuneration {£] 2082180 2329047 5352,840 4810031 53%7735 6,760 648
Annual Incentive payout against maximum
opportunily [%} 67 83 75 75 90 96
Long Term Incentives vesting rate aganst
maxtmurn opportumty [%) nfa nfa 99 63 8 93

Chief Executive s remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The below table shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chief Executive s remuneration relative to Lthe previous financial
year and the average percentage changes in these elements of remuneration for British Land employees

Average % change

Value of Chiel Vaiue of Chuel % Change in N rermuneraticn

Executrve Executve Chief Execuive element of

remineratian remunerstion remuneration Bntish Land

elernent 2015 elemen 2014 element emplayees

Remuneration atement £ £ % %
Salary 800 000 800 000 0 37
Taxable benelis 20983 20,253 34 {0
Annual Incentwve 1152 000 1 080 000 &7 46
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Governunce oand remuneration

REMUNERATION REPQRT Implementation Report continued

Executrve Directors external appointments

Executive Directors may lake up one non-executive directorship at another FTSE company subject to British Land Board approval

Chris Grigg was appointed a non-execulive director of BAE Systems pic on 1 July 2013 During the year to 31 March 2015, Chnis Grigg

received a fee of £84 000 from BAE Systems plc, which he retaned in tull Lucinda Bell was appointed a non-executive director of Rotork plc ‘
on 10 July 2014 Lucinda received a fee of £30 949 from Rotork plc for the perod from her appointment to 31 March 2015, which she retained

in full

Statement of voting at Annual General Meeting
The table below details the results of the shareholder votes on resolutions relating to remuneration at the 2014 AGM The Commuttee was
pleased to note the high levels of shareholder support for both the 2014 Remuneration Report and the Company s Remuneration Policy

Votes % Voies % Total Votes
Resolutions at 2014 AGM for for 2ganst against wotes cast withheld ‘
Approval of Directors Remuneration Report 673 635 429 9717 19593 933 283 693,229,562 10 980 292
Approval of Company s Remuneration Policy 484,058 054 9730 18953 425 270 703011480 1198 374
Renewal of the Sharesave Scheme §93.630 230 28 55 10 213 611 145 703 243,743 9646114

Consideration by the Directors of matters relating to Directers remuneration

Throughout the year the Remuneration Cormnmittee was chaired by Lord Turnbull Willam Jackson was a member of the Cornrmittee
throughout the year Dido Harding was a member of the Commuttee until she resigned as a Director of the Company on 10 December 2014
Aubrey Adams was appointed as a member of the Commutiee following Dido Harding s resignation Lynn Gladden was appotnted as a
member of the Committee on her appointment as a Durector of the Company on 20 March 2015, at which point Aubrey Adams stepped down
The following persons assisted the Commuttee during the year Chris Grigg [Chief Executive] Joff Sharpe [Head of Operations| Tony Braine
Iwho retired as Company Secretary on 31 July 2014} Victoria Penrice lappointed Company Secretary following Tony Braine s retirement untit
her resignation on 8 May 2015) and Alan Judes

The Committee appotnted Alan Judes of Strategic Remuneration as its Independent adwisor for the year He also gave advice to the Company
on personnel and share plan matters The Commutiee is satished there 1s no conflict in him providing such services to the Company

Strategic Remuneration 1s a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to the Remuneration Consultants Group s Code

of Conduct Strategic Rernuneration was selecied by the Chairman of the Remunerathon Committee following a competitive tender process

The Commitiee assesses the advice given by Strategic Remuneration to satisfy itself that the advice recerved i1s objective and independent
Alan Judes has a private meeting with the Chairrnan of the Remuneration Committee once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of
Lhe Remuneration Consultanis Group Fees charged by Strategic Remuneration for the year amounted to £73,400 excluding VAT [£118 200
excluding VAT for the year ended 31 March 2014} and are charged on a ime basis

Thts Report was approved by the Board on 13 May 2015

Lord Turmbull
Chairman of the Remuneration Cornmitiee
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DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

The Directors present thetr report on the atfairs of the Group
together with the audited financial statements and the report of the
auditor for the year ended 31 March 2015 Information required to
be disclosed inthe Directors Report may be feund below and in
the foltowmng sections of the Annual Repert and Accounts 2015

Sectien in
Intormation Annual Report Page
Dividend recommended during Sirategic Report 50
the year
Sustainability governance Strategic Report 34
Political donations and expenditure Governance and 77

remuneration

Greenhouse gas emisstons Strategic Report 48
Financial instruments - risk Strategic Report 53
management objectives and policies

Future devetopments of the business Strategic Report 2%
of the Company

Employment policies and employee Governance and 76

invotlvement remuneration

Risk factors and principal risks Strategic Report 56

Artcles of Assoviation
The Company s Articles of Association may only be amended by
special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders

Subject to apphicabte law and the Company s Articles of Association
the Directors may exercise alt powers of the Company

Matters reserved lor Board approval see page /1

Bourd of Dhrectors

The Directors listed on the Board of Dhrectors pages constiluted
the Board during the year, save that Dido Harding resigned lrem the
Board on 10 December 2014 and Laura Wade-Gery was appomted
on 13 May 2015 In accordance with best practice the Directors will
retire at the AGM and will offer themselves for election and annual
re-election asrequiredB71] @

Board of Directors see pages 64 1o 67

Directors’ linlnhity ansurance and mdemmity

The Company has indemnified ts current Directors and Ordo
Harding while she was in office The indemnity arrangements are
qualifying indemnity provisions under the Compames Act 2004 and
are currently in force at the date of this Report

Purchase of own shares

The Company was granted authority at the AGM in 2014 to purchase
s own shares up o 3 total aggregate value of 10% of the issued
norial capital subject to market-standard maximurm and
minimum price constraints That suthonty expires at thisyear s
ABM and a resolution will be proposed for 1ts renewal During the
year the Company made no purchases ol its own shares

Share capatal

The Company has one class of ordinary share and all shares are fully
paid [25 pence each} On a poll at a general meeting every holder or
proxy has one vote for every share that they hold On a show of hands
at a general meeting each holder and proxy has one vote

Each ordinary share carres the right to participate equally in
distributions and dividends There are neither restrictions gn

the transter of shares nor on the size of a holding There are no
significant agrearnents to whichthe Company 1s parity that take
effect alter or terrmnate upona change of control of the Company

At the AGM in 2014 the Directors were given the power to altot
shares up 1o a nominal amount of £84,329 822 as wetl as additional
authority to allot a further £84 329,822 an a nghtsssue This
authority expires at this year s AGM and a resolution will be
proposed for its renewal

The 1ssued share capital has been increased during the year by fully
pad 1ssues as follows

Number of orcinary

shares of 25p

14 April 2004 to 29 Sharesinlieu of Directors n,508
January 2015 fees
4 Apnil 201410 27 On exercise of oplions 2734 207
March 2015 underthe Long-Term

Incentive Plan [LTIP)
1 July 2014 to 18 On vesting of shares under 852139
January 2015 the LTIP
23 June 2014 to 15 Onvesting of shares under 482 609
September 2014 the Fund Managers

Performance Plan
8.uly 2014 109 March  On exertise of options 147977
2015 under the Sharesave

Scheme
2 May 2014107 Scrip altotment 7315308
November 2014
22 August 2014 Shareincentive Plan Free 193482

Share Award altotment
27 May 2014 On vesting of Matching 283575

Shares under the
Matching Share Plan
iMSP)

Substantial interests
As at 31 March 2015 the Company had been notified of the following
major interests in its issued ordinary share capital

Number % of ssued
ol shares capiial
Norges Bank 62598 618 606
Blackrock Inc 52 841598 512
APG Algemene Pensioen Groep NV 44 622274 432
GIC Private Limited 40 803984 395

No changes have been disclosed to the Company since year end until
the date of this Report

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relationships 10 the
overall success of our business We manage dealings with suppliers
in afarr consistent and transparent manner and have signed up to
the UK Government s Prompt Payment Code Al the year end there
were 36 (2014 32) suppliers daysoutstanding
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Gosvcrouance and remuneration

DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Esents after balance sheet date
There were no reportable events after the balance sheet date

Auditor

The Audit Committee have recommended resolutions at the 2015
AGM to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company s
auditor and to authorise the Directors to agree their remuneration

Disclosure of infermation to auditor

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this

Report confirms that

- sotaras the Director 1s aware there 1s no relevant audit infermation
of which the Company s auditor 1s unaware and

- the Director has taken all the steps that he/she cught to have taken
as a Director in order to ake himseli/herself aware of any relevant
audnt information and to establish that the Company s auditoris
aware of Ihat infermation

This confirmation 1s given and should be inlerpreted in accordance
with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2004

Disclosures under Listing Rule 9 8 4R
Informatien required to be disclosed in compliancewith LR 98 4R
may be found in the following sections

Section in
information Annual Report Page
Amount of interest capitalised Financial statements 134
by the Group
Additional unaudited financial Other information 173

infermation

Governance arrangements
Information regarding the Company s governance arrangements 1$
inctuded on pages 70 to 77

Directors’ mter ests tn contiacts and confliets of interest
No contract existed during the year inrelation to the Company s
business in which any Director was matenally interested

The Company s policy 1s that Directors notsty the Chairman and the
Company Secretary of all new outside interests and conflicts of
interest as and when they arise The notification 1s then annually
referred to the Board for approval Furthermore, the Board reviews
the policy on an annual basis and following the most recent review
in Novernber 2014 it concluded that it operated eflectively

Amnual General Meeting (AGM)

The AGM of The British Land Company PLC will be held at

The Montcalm London Marbte Acch 34-40 Great Cumberland
Place London, WIH 7TW on Tuesday 21 July 2015 at 11 00am
Further information witl be available on the notice of AGM which
shareholders will receive in due course [E 2 41& The AGM s the
principal occasion when shareholders are able to ask questons of
their Boarg and the chairmen of the main commuittees {E 2 3]@ We
look torward to seeing you there
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Strategic Report approsval

The Strategic Report cutlined on pages 1 to 41 provides a
comprehensive review of the performance of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2015 and potential future developments
The Strateqic Report also includes detaits of the Company s
principal nsks and uncertanues

in accordance with Schedule 7 paragraph 1A of The Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups lAccounts and Reports)
Regutations 2008, the Direclors have chosen to set out the
mformation outlined above regquired to be ncluded 1n the Directors
Report in the Strategic Report

The Strategic Report and the Directors Report tegether include
the management report for the purposes of the FCAs Dhsclosure
& Transparency Rules IDTR 4 1 8R)

Both the Directors Repert and the Strateqic Report were approved
by the Board and signed on 1t behalf

i bald |

Lucinda Bell
Chief Financial Officer
13 May 2015




DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The birectors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
the Directers Remuneration Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statemenis
for each financial year Under that law the Direciors have prepared
the Group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards [IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Umien and the parent Company financiat stalements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law)
Under Company law the Directors must nat approve the financial
stalements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and {ar
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Group for that pertoad In preparing these financial
statements the Directors are required to
- select sutabte accounting policies and then apply them consistently
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent
- state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Group
and parent Company inancial staterents respectively
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it 1s Inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue In business

The Oirectors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explamn the Company s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time

the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable

them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors
Remuneration Report comply with the Compames Act 2006 and

as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation They are also respensible tor safeguarding the assets

of the Company and the Group and hence for taling reasonable steps
{or the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanibies

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company s website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdicions

The Directors consider that the annual report and accounts taken
as awhole 1s fair balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess a Company s
performance, business model and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed inthe

governance and remuneration section confirm that to the best of

their knowledge

- the Group financial stalements which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU give a true and farr
view of the assets babihities, financial position and profit of the
Group, and

- the Strategic Report and the Directors Report include a fair review
of the development and performance of the business and the
posstion of the Group together with a description of the principal
nsks and uncertainies that it faces

By order ol the Board

Lucinda Bell

Chief Financal Officer [}J‘\/\M ,

13 May 2015
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Financial statcments

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR

Report on the financial statements

Our opinicn

In our optnion

- The Bnuish Land Company PLC s group financial statements
and company financial statements [the financial statements |
give a true and fair view of the state of the group s and of 1the
company s affairs as at 31 March 2015 and of the group s profit
ang cash flows for the year then ended

- the group inanciat statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
{ IFRSs ] as adopled by the European Union

- the company hinancial statements have been properly prepared
1n accordance wath United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accounting
Practrce and

- the financial statements have been prepared tn accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and as regards the
group financial statements Article 4 of the [AS Regulalion

What we have audited

The Bntish Land Company PLC s financial siatements comprise

~ the Consolidated Batance Sheet as at 31 March 2015

- the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2015

- the Consolidated Income Statement and the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended

- the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended

= the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equnly for the year then
ended and

- the notes to the financial statements which include a summary
of signiicant accounting policies and cther explanatory information

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the
Annual Report rather than in the notes to the financial statements
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are
identifted as audited

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and
IFRSs as adopted by the European Urion The hinancial reporting
framework that has been applied in 1he preparation of the company
financial statements 1s applicable law and LUmted Kingdom
Accounting Standards [United Kingdom Generatly Accepted
Accounting Practicel
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Our audit approach

Matenat:ty

~ Overall Group materiality £130 million which represents 1%
of Total assets

- Speafhc Group matenalily applied to underlying pre-tax profit
£15 milion which represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profit

Audit scope

- First year audit procedures on opening balances

- Ajull scope audit was performed by the Group audit team for
all subsidianes of the Group and the following jomnt ventures
Broadgate Meadowhall Leadenhall and Bt. Sainsbury s Superstores

Areas of focus

- Valuation of investment properties

~ Revenue recogmtion specifically non-standard transactions

- Acquisttions and disposals and review of accounting treatment

on these transactions

Investments m joint ventures and funds, and assessment of impact
of new accounting standards

Taxation = REIT status and tax provisions

The scope of cur audit and our areas of focus
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing [UK and Ireland] | 1SAs [UK & Ireland] |

We designed our audit by deterrming materiality and assessing

the risks of malerial misstatement in the financial statements

In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective
Judgements for example in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumgtions and <onsidering future events that
arenherently uncertain Asinallof ouraudits we also addressed the
risk of management override of internal controls including evaluating
whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented

a nsk of material musstatement due to fraud

The risks of material misstatemnent that had the greatest effect on
our audit ncluding the allocation of our resources and effort, are
identified as areas of focus n the table below We have also set

out how we tallored our audit to address these specific areas in order
to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole and any
comments we make on the results of our procedures should be read
in this context Thisis not a complete list of all risks identilied by

our audit




Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

Valuation of investment and development properties
Refer to page 80 [Audit Cormuttee Report} page 129 tAccounting
Polices) and pages 138 to 141 [Notes)

The Group s investment property portfolio 1s split between office and
residential properties in London and retail and teisure properties
across the UK The valuation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

15 £9120m

The vailuation of the Group s Investment property portiolio is
inherently subjective due to among other factors the individual
nature of each property 1ts location and the expected {uture rentals
for that particular property For developments factors include
projected cosls to complete and timing until practical completien

The vatuations were carried out by third party valuers CB Richard
Etlis and Knight Frank [the Valuers ) The Valuers were engaged
by the Directors and performed thewr work i accordance with

the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors [ RICS ) Vatuation -
Professional Standards The Valuers used by the Group have
considerable expenence of the markets in which the Group operates

In determining a property s valuation the Valuers take into
account property-specific nformation such as the current tenancy
agreernents and rental income They apply assumptions for yields
and estimated market rent which are influenced by prevailing
market yields and comparable market transactions toarrive at the
final valuation For developments the residuat appraisal method
15 used by estimating the fair value of the completed project using
a capitabisation method less estimated costs to completion and

a risk prermum

The existence of sigruficant estimation uncertainty coupled

with the fact that only a small percentage difference in individual
property valuations, when aggregsted could resutt ina mater:al
misstatement warrants specific audit focus in this area

There were also a number of specific factors affecting the

valuahions in the year which we considered when making

our judgements

- Significant transactions took place in the market involving shopping
centres which had the effect of mereasing the vatue of shopping
centres specifically Meadowhall

~ in the UK supermarket sector the performance of superslores in
particutar Tesco and Samnsbury s has had an impact on the vatuation
of the superstore portfolio held by the Group

Additionally, elements of Broadgate the Group s largest asset, are
currently under development Particular focus was therefore placed
on {hs project due to the size of the asset and the inherently
subjective nature of developments valuations

We read the valuation reports for all properties and confirmed that
the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS and
suitable for usein determining the carrying value for the purpose
of the financial statements

We assessed the Valuers qualifications and expertise and read ther
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any maliers that might have affected their objectmty or may
have imposed scope limnations upon their work We atso considered
fee arrangements between the Vatuers and other engagements
which rmight exist between the Group and the Valuers We found

no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the Valuers in their
performance of the valuations was compromised

We performed testing on the sianding data in the Group s
information systems concerning the valuation process We carried
out procedures on a sample basis to salisfy ourselves of the
accuracy of the property information supphed to the Valuers by
management For developments we conbirmed that the supporting
information or construchion coniracts and budgets which was
supptied to the Valuers was alse consistent with the Group s records

We attended meetings with each of the Valuers at which the valuations
and the key assumptions theremnwere discussed Our work focusedon
the targest properties in the portfolic and those where the assumptions
used and / or year onyear capitat value movement suggested a possible
outlier versus rnarket data for the relevant sector We also focused on
superstores for the reasons referred to opposite We compared the
investment yelds used by the Valuers 10 an eshmated range of expected
yields, determined via reference to published benchmarks We also
considered the reasonableness of other assumptions that are not so
readily comparable with published benchmarks such as Estimated
Rental Value vord rates and rent free periods Finally we evaluated
year on year movements in capiat value with reference to published
benchmarks Where assumptions were outside the expected range or
otherwise unusual and/or valuations showed unexpected movements
we undertook turther investigations and when necessary hetd further
discussions with the Valuers Inthis way professional scepticisin was
exercaised in our evaluation of whether assumptions were appropriate
n light of the evidence provided by signwficant transactions which had
taken place inthe market during the year

it was evident from our interaction with management and the Valuers
and from our review of the valuation reporis that close atiention had
been paid to each property s individual characteristics at a granular,
tenant by tenant level as well as considering the overall quality
geographic location and desirability of the asset as a whole The
revaluation of what were the appropriate assumptions to apply to any
given properly included determining the Level of iImpact that recent
and significant market transactions should have on each indvdual
property s valuation, given its unigue characteristics We saw
evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered and
evaluated by management and the Valuers before determining the
final valuation We concluded that the assumptions used in the
valuations were supportable in light of available and comparable
market evidence
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Finanaal siatements

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR CONTINUED

Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

Revenue recogmiticn
Refer to page 81 |Audit Commuttee Report] page 130 [Accounting
Polices) and page 133 {Notes)

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental income Rental
incorme is based on tenancy agreements where there s a standard
processin place for recording revenue which is system generated
There are however certain transactions within revenue which
warrant additional audd focus and have an increased inherent

risk ol error due to the non-standard nature of these transactions
These include

- spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases,

- surrender premia

We carried out tests of the conlrols over the cash and accounts
recevable processes and the relaled IT systems 1o obtain evidence
that postings to these accounts were reliable For rental income
balances we then used dala-enabled audittechnmiques to identify
all standard revenue journals posted using these systems and
processes The remaimng journals related to non-standard
transactions These were indivdually tested through obtaiming
supporting information for all items and no1ssues were noted

For balances not included within rental income we performed
subslanlive testing on a sample basis No 1ssues were noled

Accounting for transactions
Referto page 81 |Audit Committee Report) page 131 [Accounting
Polices] and pages 158 to 159 [Notes)

There have been a nurber of property transactions during the year

These warranted additicnal audit focus due to the magrutude of

transactions and the potential {or complex contractual terms

that introduce judgement inte how they are accounted for Key

transactions subject to additional audit facus were as follows

= Purchase of 50% stake in Tesco BL Holdings Limited and the
Tesco Briish Land Property Partnerstup and sale ol the Group s
50% holding in the Tesco Agqua Limited Partnership for 2 net
payment ol £102m This was accounted for as a business
combination of the subsidaries acquired and a disposal
of Tesco Aqua Limited Partnership

= Purchase of additignal yrats in the Hercules Unit Trust | HUT )
for £93m The purchase price of the units was based on the net
asset value per unit at the date ol purchase

- Acquisition of Surrey Quays Leisure Park for E135m

- Acquisition of additional units in the Speke Unit Trust for £93m
HUT increased its investment in this urit trust which has
subsequently been consolidaled into the results of HUT
Trus acquisttion has been treated as a business combination

- Various disposals with a net result of £25m These included the
disposal of a portfolto of retarl assets {or proceeds of £218 ém
Green Lanes Barnstaple {or proceeds of £32 1m and Cwmbran
Retail Park for proceeds of £31 2m

Foreach transaction we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the proposed accounting treatment in relation to the
Group s accouniing policies and relevant IFRSs

For the Tesco and Speke acquisitions that were treated as business
combinations, we assessed these in relation to IFRS 3 Business
Combinations We agreed that these acquisitions should be
accounted for under IFRS3 because these entiltes meet the
defimtion of a business under the accounting standard

For the Speke acquisition which resulted m the Uit Trust being
consotidated in ine with IFRS10 Consolidated Financial Statements
we assessed management s trealment in ine with the accounting
standard and agreed that the Unit Trust had been properly accounted
for because control had been gamned of the business

For the purchase of units in HUT and Speke we agreed the net
asset value used i the unit share price calculation to supporting
information including externat property valuatrons

For all acquisitions and disposals we oblained and reviewed the key
supporting documentation such as Sates and Purchase Agreements
and completion statements Considerahon received or pard was
agreed to bank statements and deferred consideration postings

No materral issues were noted as a result of these procedures
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Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

tnvestments in joint ventures and funds and impact

of new accounting standards

Refer to page 81 [Audit Commitiee Report] page 129 [Accounting
Polices) and pages 141 to 146 {Notes)

The Group s party to a number of joint ventures, mcluding Broadgate,

Meadowhall certan Tesco and Sainsbury s joint ventures, and the

Leadenhall Bulding The Group also has investments in the Hercules

Unit Trust and the Pillar Retail Eurapark Fund | PREF |

The nature and complexity of the agreemenis relating to the Group s
investments inoint ventures and funds required specific audit locus

Inaddiion IFRSs 10 11 and 12 came into eftect in the year [refer

to Note 1 to the tinancial statements] requiring all such agreements

to be reassessed to ascertain treatment under the new standards

IFRS10 - Consolidated Financial Statements provides more clear
guidance on determining control HUT continues to be treated as a
subsidiary of the Group and PREF continues fo be equity accounted
for on introduction of the new standard

IFRSH - Jont Arrangements focuses on the rights and obligatons
of specific arrangements Proportional consolidation for joint
veniurgs s no longer allowed This has not had an tmpact on the
treatment of the Group s joint ventures

IFRS12 - Drsclosure of Interests in Other Entihies includes the
disclosure arrangements for all interests in other entities of which
joint arrangements and associates are of relevance to the Group
Refer to note 28 of the inancial statements

We performed an assessment as to wheiher the requirements

of IFRS10, 11 and 12 had been appropriately reftected in the
conselidated financial statements This included evaluating
management s techmical papers on the treatment of HUT and
PREF under IFRS10 and the Group s joint ventures under IFRS11,
and assessing each arrangement against the relevant accounting
standards For significant arrangements, we agreed the key
contractual elements fo the legal agreements tn place Based

on our audit work we concurred with the Group s treatmeant

of its \(nvestments njoint ventures and funds

Taxation
Refer ta page 81 [Audit Committee Report} page 130 |Accounting
Polices} and page 135 INotes)

The Group s status as a REIT underpinsits business model and
shareholder returns Forthis reason o warrants specific audit
focus The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements
to comply with balance of business dradend and income cover tests
Ouring the year the Broadgate joint venture converted to a REIT
and as a result REIT compliance 1s also of relevance for this joint
venture in addition te the oaverall Group

Tax prowistons are in place to account for the risk of chaltenge of
certan of the Group s tax posiitons Gwven the subjective nature of

these provisions additional audit focus was placed on tax provisions

We re-performed the Group s annual REIT compliance tests,
and we also evaluated how the Broadgate REIT conversian had
beentmptemnented Based on our work performed we agreed
with management s assessment that ail REIT comptiance tests
had been met to ensure that the Group maintains iIts REIT status

We used our tax expertise to evaluate 1ax prowisions and potential
exposures as at 31 March 2015 challenging the Group s assumplicns
and jJudgements through our knowledge of the tax circumstances
and by reading relevant correspondence between the Group and Her
Majesty s Revenue & Customs and the Group s external tax advisors
Based on our work we concluded that the tax prowsions were within
an appropriate range based on the supporiing information prowided
by the Group s tax department
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Financial statcments

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR CONTINUED

How we tailored the audit scope

We taitored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough
waork to be able to give an opimion on the hinancial statements as a
whole, taking nto account the structure of the Group the accounting
processes and controls and the industry in which the Group operates

As part of our first year audit procedures we pefformed work

over opening balances This nvolved a review of the predecessor
auditor s working papers performing an assessment of the Group
and Company accounting policies and prior year financial statements
and discussion with management The Group and Company financial
statements are produced using a single consolidation system that
has a direct interface with the general ledger We performed our
audit procedures over the general ledger system and tested the
interface with the consotidation system

Afull scope audit was pertormed by the Group audil team for
all subsidharies ol the Group and the following joint ventures
Broadgate, Meadowhall Leadenhall and BL Sainsbury s Superstores

tn establishing the overatl approach 1o our audit we assessed the risk
of matertal misstatement taking into account the nature likelihood and
potential magnitude of any misstatement Following this assessment
we applted professional judgernent to delermine the extent of testing
required over each balance n the financial statements

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of matenatity
We set certamn quantitative thresholds for materialily These together
with qualitative considerations, hetped us to determine the scope

of our audit and the nature himing and extent of our audi procedures
and to evaluate the effect of misstaternents both indvidually and

on the financial statements as a whole

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality
for the finanwial statements as a whole as follows

Overall group matenality £130 millon
How we determined it 1% of Total assets

Going concern

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the Directors
staterment, set out on page 76, iInrelationto going concern We have
nothing to report having performed our review

As noted inthe Directors statement the Directors have concluded
thal it 1s appropriate te prepare the financial statements using the
going concern basis of accounting The goung concern basis
presumes that the Group and Company have adequate resources
to remain in operation and that ihe Directors intend them to do <o,
for at least one year from the date \he financial statements were
signed As part of our audit we have concluded that the Directors
use of the going concern basis 1s appropriate

However because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted these statements are not a guarantee as to the Groups
and Company s ability {o continue 35 3 going concern

Other 1equired 1cporting
Consistency of otherinformation

Companies Act 2004 optnion

tn our opimon the information given inthe Strategic Report and

the Directors Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1S consistent with the financial statements

I15As (UK & Iretand) reporting
Under ISAs [UK & freland] we are required to report to you if
1N our opinion

= Information in the Annual Report 1s We have no exceptions

- materially nconsistent with the to report arising from
information in the audited financial thrs responstbility
statements or

- apparently matenally incorrect based
an or matenally inconsisten! wath our
knowledge of the group and company
acquired in \he course of performing
our audit or

- otherwise misteading

Ratienale for benchmark appled The key driver of the business and
determinant of the Group svatue 1s
direct property investments Due
tothis the key area of focus in the
audd 1s the valuation of Investment
properties On this basis we setan
overall Group materniality level
based on total assels

In addition, we set a speaitic materiality level of £15 mullion for items
wittun undertying pre-1ax profit This equates to 5% of thus measure
which represents profit before tax adjusted for capual and other items
In arrweing at this jJudgement we had regard to the fact that underlying
pre-tax profit 15 a secondary tinancial indicator of the Group [Refer to
page 124 Consalidated Income Statement! We agreed with the Audnt
Commuttee that we would report to them rmmisstatements identified
during our audit above £1 million as well as misstatements below that
amount that n our view warranted reperting lor qualitative reasons
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- The statement given by the Directors We have no exceptions
on page 75 1n accordance wath prowsion  to report arising from
C 11 of the UK Corporate Governance thrs responsibility
Code [ the Code ), that they consider the
Annual Report taken as a whole to be
fair balanced and vnderstandable and
provides the information necessary for
members to assess the Group s and
compaty s performance business model
and strategy 15 matenatly inconsrstent
with our knowledge of the Group and
company acquired in the course of
performing our audit

- The section of the Annual Report onpage  We have no exteplions
79 as required by provisionC 3 8 of the ta report arising from
Code describing the work of the Audit this responsibrlity
Comnmitee does nol appropnately address
matters communicated by us to the
Audit Committee




Adequacy of accounting records and information

and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to report 10 you if

N our epINIon

- we have not receved all the informatton and explanations we require
for our audit or

- adequale accounting records have not been kept by the company,
of returns adequate for our audit have not been receved from
branches nol visited by us, or

- the Company financial statements and the part of the Directors
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibilty

Dwrectors remuneration

Directors remuneration report - Companies Act 2004 opinion

In our opimion the part of the Directors Remuneration Report
to be audited has been properly prepared i accordance with the
Companies Acl 2006

Other Compantes Act 2004 reporting

Under the Compantes Act 2004 we are required to report toyouif in
our opinion certaindisclosures ol Directors remuneration specihed
by law are not made We have no exceptions to report arising from
thus responsibilidly

Corporate governance statement

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part of
the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the company s
compliance with ten provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code We have nothing to repor! having performed our review

Responsibilities for the financial statements
and the audit

Qur responsibilihes and thaose of the directors

As exptained more fully in the Directors Responsibilites Statement
seil out on page 115 the Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the ftnancial statements and tor betng sausited that they give

a true and fair wew

Our responsibility 15 1o audit and express an opmion on the financial
statements in accordance wilh applicable law and |SAs (UK &
Ireland] Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report including the opinions has been prepared for and only
for the company s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 14 of the Companies Act 2004 and for no other purpose

We do not in giving these opinions accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or 16 any olher person to whom this report

1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

What an audit of financial statements involves
An audit involves abtaining evidence aboul the amounts and
disclosures in the financial staternents sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the iinancial statements are free from matenal
risstatement whether caused by fraud or error This includes
anassessment of
- whether the accounting policies are apprepniate to the Groups and
the Company s circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed
- the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by the directors, and
- the overall presentation of the financial statements

We primanily focus our work inthese areas by assessing the
Directors judgements against available ewidence forming
our own judgements and evalvating the disclosures in the
financal statements

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing
techniques to the extent we consider necessary lo provide a
reasonabte basis tor us to draw conclusions We obtain audit evidence
through testing the effectiveness of controts substantve procedures
or a combination of bath

In addition, we read allthe financial and non-hinancial information in
the Annual Report to identity matenal inconsisiencies with the audited
hnantiat statements and to identdy any information that 1s apparentty
malenally incorrect based on or materially inconsistent with the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performung the audn

If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
mconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Jolm Waters (Semor Statutory Auditor)
for and on behal! of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Lendon

13 May 2015
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Financal statements

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

2015 2014
Undertying Capital Undertang Captal
pre-tax’ and other Total pre-tax* and othar Tatat
Mate tm &m £m Em £m fm
Gross rental and related income 3 464 - Lb4 384 - 384
Net rental and related sncome 3 375 - a7rs 33 - 313
Fees and other income 4 12 - 12 15 - 15
Joint ventures and tunds .
[see also betow] 129 597 726 124 253 an
Admirustralive expenses {82 - 182} 172) - 172}
Net valuation movement
includes result on disposals) & - $10 910 - 615 415
Financing costs
- hinancing income 7 7 - 7 9 3 12
- hnancing charges 7 1112) 147) 1159 (0] 160 1150}
1105} 147) {152} 181) 1571 138}
Profit anordinary actvities betore
taxaticn 329 1,680 1,789 299 81 110
Taxation
- current tax [expense] income 8 4} m 3 3
- deferred tax [expense] income 8 (23 {23) 3 3
(24) [24) 6 [
Profit for the year atter taxation 1,765 1116
Attributable to non-controlling
Interests 14 39 55 2 8 10
Attributable to shareholders
of the Company ki k] 1,397 1,710 297 809 1106
Earnings per share
- basic 2 168 3p 13 7p
- diluted 2 167 3p 10 2p
! As delined in note 2
Allresults derwve from continuing operations
2015 2014
Undertpng Capstal Undertying Camral
pre-tax® and other Tetat pre-tox' and other Total
Note £m &m £m fm Erm £m
Results of joint ventures and
funds accounted tor using the
equity method
Underlying profit before taxation 129 - 12% 124 - 124
Net valuation movement lincludes
result on disposals) - 595 31 - 258 58
Current tax expense - 12) 2 - 15) {5
Deferred tax income - 4 & - - -
12 129 8§97 726 124 253 377

' As defined in note 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE iNCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCK 2015

2015 04
Em tm
Profn for the year siter taxation 1,765 116
Other comprehensive income
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Net actuarial loss on pension scheme i51 121
Valuation movernents on owner-occupied property 10 -
5 12
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to prolt or loss
ILosses} gans on cash flow hedges
- Group (71 14
- Joint ventures and funds 3 48
- Reclassification of tems from the staterment of comprehensive income 30 -
{as) 62
Transterred to the income statement Icash flow hedges)
- Foreign currency derivatives n 8
- Interest rate derivatives 8 15
13 23
Exchange differences on transtation of foreign operations
- Hedging and transiation & 2
- Other s 1
- 3
Deferred tax taken to equity 10 5
10 5
Qther comprehensive {loss] prohtfor the year 128 91
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,739 1207
Attributable to non-controlling interests 53 10
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 1,686 1197
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F inancial statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AT 31 MARCH 2015

2015 2014
Note Em fm
ASSETS
Nan-current assets
Investment and development properties it 9,120 7272
Owner-occuped property 11 40 &7
%180 7319
Otlher non-current assets
Investments in jort ventures and funds 12 290 2712
Other investments 13 are 262
Interest rate derivative assets 18 139 32
12,599 10 325
Current assets
Trading properiies n 274 n
Debtors 14 20 41
Cash and short-1erm deposits 18 108 142
402 454
Total assets 13,001 10779
LIABILITIES
Current trabilities
Shoert-term borrowings and overdrafts 18 (102) 495)
Crediters 15 [281] [243)
Corporation lax {?) (8]
{372) {766)
Non-current Labilities
Debenturesand loans 18 (3,847) 2 803)
Other non-current babilities 14 (79) [32)
Deferred tax labilities 17 n2) 14)
Interes! rate derivatwe habilities 18 n2é) 154
{4,084) 12 896}
Total Liabilities 4,438) [3662)
Net assats 8,545 yalyi
Equity
Share capital 22 258 255
Share premium 1,280 1257
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 82) [70)
Retaned earnings 4,543 5091
Equity attributable to shareholders af the Cempany 8,232 6746
Non-controlling interests 333 n
Total equity 8,545 7117
EPR V per share' 2 829p 688p

Jolhin Galdersleeve
Chairrman

The financial statements on pages 124 to 164 were approved by the Board ol Directors on 13 May 2015

Company number 621920

umlall,

Lucinda Bell
Chiet Financial Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

2015 2014
Note &m fm

Rental income received {rom tenanis 97 nz
Fees and other income received 14 19
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees (93) (38)
Cash generated from operations 318 243
Interest paid (124) ma)
Interest recewved 18 29
Distributions and other receivables from jomnt ventures and funds 73 63
Netcash inflow (rom operating activities 285 219
Cash flows from investing acivities
Development and other capital expenditure 11671 {175)
Purchase of investment properties 1721 1549]
Sale of investment and tradmg properties 416 352
Payments received in respect of trading properties 32 -
Purchase of investments 7 (841
Sale of tnvestments - 8
Oeferred consideration recewed - 5
Acquisition of Speke Uit Trust 2 {20) -
Tesco property swap 2 #3) -
Cash acquired on acquisition of Hercules Unit Trust - 8
Acquisition of units in Hercules Unit Trust (93} 4s)
Purchase of joint ventures and funds - {113)
Sale of joint ventures and funds - 179
twestment in and loans to joint ventures and funds 73l ne2l
Capital distributions and loan repayments from joint ventures and funds 134 28
Indirect taxes patd in respect of investing actiities = (2)
Net cash outflow frominvesting activities [204) (650)
Cash flows from linancing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 12 "
Dimdends paid 20 (228} [159]
Dwidends paid by subsidiaries 19) -
Closeou! of interest rate dervatives 1n2) 114
Movement in other financial abiittes 10 i8]
Decrease n bank and other borrowings (581] [49)
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowings 703 569
Net cash loutflow) inflow [rom financing activities [115) 448
Net [decrease] increase in cash and cash equwalents 134) 7
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Apnil 142 135
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 108 142
Cash and cash equivalents consists of
Cash and short-term deposits 18 108 142
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Finaneinl statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015

Hedging
and Non-
Share Share transltatan Revaluaton Merger  Retained controling Totat
capial'  premum  reserve’?  reserve’  reserve'  eamings Total nterest equity
m Em Em Em £m £m £m tm £m
Balance at 1 Aprd 2014 255 1,257 {32} (38) 213 5,091 6,746 n 7117
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 1,710 1,710 $5 1,765
Losses on cash flow hedges - - (69) - - - 169] (2) 7
Revaluation of owner-occupied preperty - - - 10 - - 10 - 10
Joint ventures and funds revaluations - - - 3 - - 3 - 3
Reclassification of items from the statement
of comprehensive income - - - 30 - - 30 - 30
Reclassification of llosses) gains on cash
flow hedges
- Foretgn currency derivatives - - 111 - - - 11 - A}
- Interesi rate derivatives - - 8 - - - 8 - 8
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations - - 3 1s) - - - - -
Net actuarial loss on pensian schemes - - - - - (5} is} - (51
Deterred tax takento equity - - 22 [S) - (7 10 - 10
Other comprehensive [loss) income - - {44) 32 - 112) {24} 2 126)
Total camprehensive income for the year - - {44) 32 - 1,698 1,686 63 1,739
Share issues 3 23 - - - no 16 - 16
Non-controlling interest on acquisition
of subsidiary - - - - - -~ - N 3
Purchase of uits fromn non-controlling interest - - - - - 2 2 (103) (o1
Adyustment for share and share oplion awards - - - - - 10 1 - 10
Dividends payabte inyear [27 3p per share) - - - - - 277 [277) - (277)
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - (191 (19)
Adjustonent for scnp dividend element - - - - - 49 49 - 49
Balance at 31 March 2015 258 1,280 {75) 6] 213 6,563 8,232 333 8,565
Balance at 1 Aprit 2013 249 1,242 71 (92} 213 4146 5487 - 54687
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 1106 1106 10 1Mé
Gamns on cash flow hedges - - 14 - - - 14 - 14
Revaluation through statement of changes
In equity - - - - - 1 1 - 1
Joint ventures and funds revaluations - - - 48 - - 48 - 48
Rectassification of gains [losses) on cash
flow hedges
- Farewgn currency derivatives - - 8 - - - 8 - 8
- Interest rate deratives - - 15 - - - 15 - 15
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations - - 2 1 - 1t 2 - 2
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - - 121 2] - 12}
Deterred tax 1aken to equity - - - 5 - 5 _ 5
Other comprehensive income [loss) - - 39 54 - I2) 91 - 91
Tatal comprehensive income for the year - - a9 54 - 1104 1197 10 1207
Share 1ssues ) 15 - - - 18) 13 - 13
Non-controlling mnterest on acquisition
of subsidiary - - - - - - - 37 3%
Purchase of units from non-controlling interest - - - - - - - 13 n3)
Adjustment for share and share option awards - - - - - 10 10 - 0
Dividends payable in year |26 7p per share} - - - - - 1246) 1266] - 2661
Adjustrent for scrnip dvidend elerment - - - - - 105 105 - 105
Balance at 31 March 2014 255 1257 132) 1381 213 5091 & 746 3N 717

' Relerto rote 22

* Thetatance at Lthe beginning of the penod includes £4m relaung (o translaton and £34m) relating 1o hedgwng
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Bass of preparation sigmficant accounting policies
and accounting judgeutents

The Iinancal statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 have
been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation
of properties investments held for trading and derivatives The
financiat statements have also been prepared in accordance with
International Financiat Reporting Standards [IFRSs) as adopted

by the European Union and therefore comply with article 4 of the

EU IAS regutation

In the current financial year the Group has adopted IFRS 10
Consolidated financial statements IFRS 11 Joint arrangements
IFRS 12 Dssclosures of interests in other entities and amendments
10 1AS 32 Financral Instruments Presentation, 1AS 36 Impairment
of assets and |AS 3% Fmanoal Instruments Recogrition

and measurement

The Group undertook an assessment of the treatrment of its subsidiaries
joint ventures and interests in other enhities prior tothe adoption of IFRS

10 11 and 12 and concluded that no changes In relation tothe presentation
of these interests was required

The adopuion of these standards has not had a malernal impact on
the Group and otherwise the accounting policies used are consistent
with those contarned i the Group s last Annual Report and accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2014

Standards and interpretations issued but nol effective for the current
accounting period were

- 1AS 19 [amended) - Employee benefits

- Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 cycle

- Annualimprovemenis 1o IFRSs 2011-2013 cycle

- |AS 16 lamended) - Praperty ptant and equpment
- I1AS 38 [amended] - Intangible assets

- |AS 27 [amended} - Separate inancial statements
- IFRS 10 |amended} - Consolidated linancial statements
- IFRS 11 lamended) - Joint arrangements

- IFRS 14 - Regulatory deferral accounts

- Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 cycle

- IFRS 15 - Revenue from coniracts with customners
= IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed
above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the
Group in future periods except as follows

- IFRS ¢ wall impact both the measurement and disclosures of
hnancial instruments and Is effective for the Group s year ending
31 March 2019 The Group has not yet completed its evaluation
of the effect of the adoption

- IFRS 15 does not apply to gross rental income but does apply to
service charge income other fees and trading property disposals
ang 1s effective for the Group s year ending 31 March 2019 The
Group does not expect adoption of IFRS 15 to have a matenal
impact on the measurement of revenue recognition but additionat
disclosures will be required with regards to the above sources
of income

Gomng concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
as explatned in the corporale governance section on page 76

Subsicharies, joint ventures and associates lincluding funds}

The consolidated ac¢ounts include the accounts of the British Land
Company PLC and all subsidiaries lentities controlled by British
L.and} Control 1s assumed where British Land has the power and

the ability to aflect the financial and eperating policies of an investee
enhity so as to gain benehis from s activities

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates acquired
or disposed of during the year are included from the elfective date
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal Accounting
practices of subsidiaries joinl ventures or associates which ditfer
from Group accounting policies are adjusted on consehdation

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisitron
method Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the far value of the assets habilities and contingent babilities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon is recognised as
goodwill Any discount received Is credited to the income statemert
in the period of acquisition

Allntra-Group transactions balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation

Joint ventures and associates, mcluding funds are accounted for
under Lhe equity method whereby the consolidated balance sheet
mcorporates the Group s share (investor s share) of the ret assets of
s joint ventures and associates The conselidated in¢ome statement
incorporales the Group s share of joint venture and associate profils
alter tax, upon eliminatien of upstream and deownstream transactions
Their profits include revatuation movermnents oninvestment properties
Interest n¢come management fees and performance fees are
proportionately eliminated

Properties

Properties are externally valued on the basis of fair vatue at the
balance sheet dale Investment and owner-occupied properties are
recorded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value

Any surplus or deficit arising on revatuing investment properties
15 recogrused in the mcome statement

Any surplus arising en revaluing owner-occupted properties above
costis recogrused in equity and any dehicit arising in revatuation
below cosi ler owner-occupied and trading proper ties is recogrised
in the iIncome statement

The cost of properties in the course of development includes
attributable mterest and other associated cutgoings Interest is
calculated on the development expenditure by reference to specific
borrowings where relevant and otherwise on the average rate
applicable 1o short-term loans Interest s not capitalised where no
development activity 15 taking place A property ceasesto be treated
as a development property on practical completion

Disposals are recogrised on completion Prolits and losses arsing
are recognsed through the inceme statement The profit on dispoesal
is determined as the ditference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus capital expenditure in the period

Where properties held for investment are appropriated to trading
stock theyare transferred at market value If properues held for
trading are appropriated to investment they are transferred at book
value Indetermining whether teases and related properties represent
operating or hinance leases, consideration s given to whether the
tenant or landlord bears the nsks and rewards of ownerstip

Financial assets and babilities

Trade debtors and creditors are inthially recognised at fatr vatue
and subsequently measured at amortised cost and discounted
as appropniate
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Finanaal statemonts

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

Financial assets and liabilities continued

Other investments include loans and recevables held at amorlised
cost and investments held for trading classified as fair value through
profit or {oss Amortised cost of loans and recevables i measurad
using the elfective interest method less any impasrment Interest is
recogrised by applying the effective interest rate [nvestments held
for trading are inially recorded at 1air value and are subseguently
externalty valued on the same basis at the balance sheet date Any
surplus or dehicit arising on revaluing invesiments held for trading

15 recognised in the incorne statement

Where an investment propertyis held under a head lease the head
tease s imilally recognised as an asset as the sum of the premium
paid on acquisition and the present vatue of minimum ground rem
payments The corresponding rent hability to the head leaseholder
1s included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation

Debt instruments are stated at thewr net proceeds on issue Finance
charges including premiums payable on settlement or redemption
and direct issue costs are spread over the period to redempiion,
using the effective interest method

Convertible bonds are designated as far value through profit or loss
and 50 are presented on the balance sheet at fair value with all gains
and losses, including the write-of{ of issuance costs recogrused in
the income statement within the capital and other component of net
financing costs The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate on
the bonds has been recegnised within the underlying component of
net financing costs on an aceruals basis

As defined by IAS3? cash llow and fair value hedges are carried
at tawr value on the balance sheel Changes inthe fair value of
derivatives that are designated and quatily as effective cash flow
hedges are recogrused directly in the hedging reserve Changes
in the lair value of derivalives thal are designated and qualify as
effective fair value hedges are recorded n the income statement
along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item thatis
atiributable to the hedged risk Anyineffective portion of att
derivatives (s recegnised in the Income statement

Cash equivalents are imited to mstruments with a maturity of less
than three months

Net rental income

Rentat income 1s recogrused on an accruals basis A rent adjustment
based on open market estimated rental value 1s recogmsed trom

the rent review date in relation to unsettied rent reviews Where
arent-free period 1sincluded in a lease the rental income loregone
15 allocated evenly over the period fram the daie of lease
commencement to the earliest termination date

Rental income from fixed and mintmum guaranteed rent reviews

1s recegnised on a siraight-line basis to the earliest termination date
Where such rental income 1s recognised ahead ol the related cash
flow an adjustment s made to ensure that the carrying value of the
related property including the accrued rent does not exceed the
external valvation

Imtial direct cosis incurred In negotiating and arranging a new lease
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period from the date
of lease commencement to the earliest termination date

Where a lease incentve payment, including surrender premia paid
does no! enhance the value of a property 1t 1s amorttsed on a straight-
line basss over the period from the date of lease commencemeni

1o the earliest termination date Upon receipt of a surrender premium
for the early deterrmination of a tease the profit net of dapidations
and non-recoverable oulgoings relating to the lease concerned,

ts immediately reflected in (ncome
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Management and performance fees

Management and performance lees recevable are recognised in
the period to which they relate Performance fees are recognised
at the end ol the pertormance period when the fee amount can be
estimated rehiably and 1115 virtually certain that the fee will be
received Management and performanceiees recewvable from joint
ventures and funds are proportionatelyeliminated Performance
tees are discounted or any element subjecito subsequent clawback
on a case-by-case basis

Taxation

Current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantvely enacled

At the balance sheet date taxable profit difters from net protit

as reportedin the income statement because 1t excludes tems

of mcome or expense that are not taxabte [or tax deductible)

Deferred tax s provided on items that may become taxable at a later
date on the difference between the balance sheet value and tax base
value onanundiscounted basis On bysiness combinations the
delerred tax elfect of fair value adjustments 1s Incorporated in the
consolidated batance sheet

Employee costs

The fair value of equily-settied share-based payments to employees
15 determuned at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period based onthe Group s estimaie of
shares or optrons that will eventually vest Inthe case of optiens
granted fawr value 1s measured by a Black-5choles pricing model
Compensation Linked to performance lees accrued by the Group

15 amortised over the vesting period

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured using fair
values pension scheme hiabilities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return of 3 hugh-
quality corporate bond of equivalent term to the scheme habilities
The net surplus [where recoverable by the Groupl or deficit 1s
recogmsed in full In the consolidated balance sheet Any asset
resulting from the ¢alculation 1s limited to past service costs plus
the present value of available refunds and reductions in future
contributions to the plan

The curreni service cost and gains and losses on settlement and
curtallments are charged to operating prohit Past service costs
are recogmsed in the incorne statement if the benefits have vested or
if they have not vested are armortised ona straight-line basis over
the period until vesting occurs Actuanal gans and losses are
recogrused in futl in the period in which they accur and are presented
n the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Contributions to the Group s detined contribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracled annual contribution

Accoynting judgements and estimates
In applying the Group s accounting policies the Directors are required
to make judgements and estimates that affect the financial statements

Sigruficant areas of estimation are

Valuation ol properties and investmenis heid for trading The Group
uses external professional valuers to deterrmine the relevant amounts
The primary source of evidence for property valuations should be
recent, comparable market transactions on an arms-length basis
However, the valuation of the Group s preperty portfolio and iInvestments
held far trading are inherently subjeciive as they are made on the basis
of assumptions made by the vatuers whuichmay not prove to be accurate

Other less significant areas of estimation inctude the valuation
of fixed rate debt and interest rate derivatives the deterrmination




of share-based payment expense and the actuarial assumptions
used tn calculating the Group sretirement benefit obligations

The key areas of accounting judgement are

REIT status British Land 15 a Real Estate Investment Trust [REIT}
and does nol pay tax on iis property income or gains on property
sales prowided that at least 0% of the Group s property income

15 distributed as a dividend to shareholders winch becornes taxable
n their hands Inaddition the Group has 1o meet certain condiions
such as ensuring the property rental business represents more than
75% of total profits and assets Any potential or proposed changes

to the REIT {egislation are monnored and discussed with HMRC

It 1s Management s intention that the Group will continue as a REIT
for the foreseeable [uture

Accounting for joint ventures and funds In accordance with IFRS 10
Consolidated financial statements, IFRS 11 Joint arrangements,
and IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in other entities an assessment
1s required to deterrmine the degree of conirol or influence the Group
exeraises and the form of any control to ensure that the financal
statlement treatrnent s appropriate

Interest in the Greup s joint ventures (s commonly driven by the terms
of the parinership agreements which ensure that control ts shared
between the pariners These are accounted for under the equity
method, whereby the consotidated balance sheet incorporates the
Group s share of the net assets of its jownt ventures and associates
The consolidated iIncome staternent incor porates the Group s share
of jont venture and associate prohts after tax upon ebmination of
upstream transactions

Accounting for transactions Property transaclions are compiex in
nature and ¢an be material to the financial statements Assessment
1s required lo delermune the most appropriate accounting treatment
ol assets acquired and of potential contractual arrangements in the
legal documents lor both acquisitions and disposals Management
consider each transaction separately and, when considered
appropriate seek independent accounting adwce Examples of such
transactions completed in the year include the acquisition of Speke
Unit Trust Tesco BL Holdings Limited and TBL Properiy Partnership
which were accounted for as business combinations [see note 2
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2 Performance measures

2015 204

Earrungs Pence Eamings Pence
Earnings per share £m per share fm per share
Underlying pre-tax profit attribuiable to shareholders 3 297
Fax charge relating to underlying profit - (2]
Underlying earnings N3 J0é 295 294
Dilution due to convertible bond = {11} - -
EPRA earnings per share {diluted) 295 294
Remove dilution due to share ophions and convertible bond 13 R
EPRA earnings (basic) e 295
Profit for the year after taxation (IFRS) 1,710 147 3 1104 110 2

The European Public Real Eslate Association [EPRA] has 1ssued Best Practices Recommendations the tatesl update of which was
1ssued In January 2014 which give guidelines for performance measures EPRA earnings is the profit atter tax excluding investment

and developrnent properiy revaluations and gains or losses on disposals changes in the fair value of inancial insiruments and associated
close-out costs and their related taxation A summary of the EPRA Performance Measures 1s provided in Table B within the Supplementary
Disclosures see page 175

The EPRA earnings per share Idituted} also takes into account dilution due to the convertible bond issued on 10 September 2012
The Company s share price reached the conversion price of the convertible bond for the first me in the year to 31 March 2015
and therelore was ditutive for the first tmen the year

Underlying earnings consists of the EPRA earnings [diluted) measure excluding the dilutive impact of the convertible bond
The weighted average number of shares in issue for the year was basic 1016m [2013/14 999m] diluted for the effect of share options

1022m |2013/34 1004m) and the convertible bond 1,080m [2013/14 1004m| Basic undiluted earmings per share for the year calculated
using proht for the year after taxation altribuiable to shareholders of the Company of £1 710m [2013/14 £1 106m) was 168 3p [2013/14 110 7p}

31 March 31 March

2015 e

Net asset value (NAV] (diluted] £m fm
Balance sheel net assets [IFRS) 8,565 n?
Less non-controlling interests 1333) 1371
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements 13 ]
Mark-to-market on effective cash flow hedges and related debt adjusiments 257 173
Surplus enirading properties 76 63
Dilutton eftect of share options 37 39
Convertible bond adjustment 400 -
EPRA NAV 9,035 7027
EPRA NAY per share 829p 688p

The EPRA NAV per share excludes the mark-to-rarket on eflecthive cash flow hedges and related debt adjustments and the convertible
bond deferred taxation onrevaluations and includes the surplus ontrading properties and 1s calculated on a fully diluted basis The EPRA
NAY per share calculation also takes nto account dilution for the corwertible bond 1ssued on 10 September 2012 During the year ended

31 March 2015 the Company s share price reached the conversion price of the convertible bond for the first ime and therefore it was dilutive
at theyearend

At 31 March 2015 the number of shares in1ssues was basic 1020m (2013/14 1 008ml diluted for the effect of share options and the
corwertible bond 1 090m [2013/14 1021m]

Tetal accounting return per share for the year ended 31 March 2015 of 24 5% includes dwdends paid of 27 3p [see note 20] in additton
to the increase in EPRA NAV of 141p Total accounting return per share for the year ended 31 March 2014 was 20 0%
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3 Gross and net rental and related income

2018 014
€m £Em
Renl recevable 369 310
Spreading of tenant Incentives and guaranteed rent Increases 26 20
Surrender premia 4 4
BGross rental income 399 334
Service charge income &5 50
Gross rental and related income 464, 384
Service charge expenses (65) {501
Property operating expenses (24) 1)
Net rental and related income 375 33

The cash element of net rental income recogrused during the year ended 31 March 2015 from properties which were not subject 10 a security
interestwas £182m [2013/14 £189m) Property operating expenses relating to investment properties that did not generate any rental income

were £2m [2013/14 €1m] Contingent rents of £3m (2013/14 £Im) were recogrused in the year

4 Fecs and other income

2015 2014
£m m
Management and performance tees lirom joint ventures and fundsl 7 10
Other fees and commissions 5 5
12 15
5 Other income statement disclosures
2018 W14
(1) Totat revenue Note £m £m
Gross rental and related income 3 L84 384
Fees and other income 4 12 15
Financing income 7 7 12
Proceeds on property trading [ 51 109
Total revenue in the year 534 520
2015 2014
(i) Auditor remuneration - PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (2013/14 Deloitte LLP) m £m
Auditfees
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company s annual accounts 02 03
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 04 02
Total audit fees 0s 03
Audit-related assurance services D1 01
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 07 06
Other fees
Tax adwvisory services - 01
Other services 01 01
Tatal other lees 01 02
08 08
lml Exchange losses recogmsedin the consohidated income statement total E1m (2014 €3m gasns)
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Frnancial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

6 Net resaluation gains on property and inyvestments

015 24
£m £m
Consol:dated income statement
Revatuation of properties 884 580
Result on property and mvestment disposals lexcluding trading property disposals) 20 17
Result on trading property disposals [see below) [ 14
Revaluation of investments - 4
910 815
Valuation maovements ol joint ventures and funds accounted for using the equity method 595 258
1,505 873
Consolidated statement ol comprehensive income
Revaluation of owner cccupied properties 10 -
Total comprehensive income 1,515 873
Result on trading property disposals
Sale proceeds 51 109
Cost of sales 145) 1251
Result on trading property disposals ) 14
7 Net Ainaneing costs
2015 014
£m {m
Interest payable on
Bank loans and overdrafts 36 29
Other loans 88 77
Obligations under finance leases 2 1
126 107
Development interest capitalised 114) 17l
12 %0
Interest receivable on
Deposits securities and liqind investments 12) (3
Loans to joint ventures 5) t6)
17) 9)
Net linan¢ing costs - underiying 105 8]
Caputal and other
Valuation movemnenls on translation of foreign currency debt " 9]
Hedging reserve recycling M3 ?
Valuation movements on lair value debt 104 (521
Valuation movements on farr value derivatives (108} 62
Net capital movemend op convertible bond 35 50
Recycling of fair value movement on close-out of derivatives 12 10
Capital financing costs 2 -
Valuation movement on transtation of foreign currency net asseis 1 I3}
Fair value movement on non-hedge accounted derivalives 1 -
Netlinancing costs - capital 47 57
Net financing casts 152 138
Total financing income i7] nz2t
Total financing charges 159 150
Net financing costs 162 138

interest payable on unsecured bank loans and retated interest rate derivatives was £24m [2013/14 £27m) Interesi on developrment expenditure

15 capitalised at the Group s weighted average interest rate ol 3 3% (2013/14 3 8%} The weighted average imerest rate on a proportionally

consolidated basis at 31 March 2015was 3 8% (2013/14 4 1%)
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8 Tarauon

2015 2014
£m £m
Taxation expense [income)
Current taxation
UK corporationiaxation 21% (2013/14 23%) 1 2
1 2

Adjustments in respect of prior years - 15]
Totat current taxation expense (income) 1 i3]
Delerred taxation on revaluations and dervatives 23 (3]
Group total taxation net F{3 16)
Attributable to joint ventures and funds {2) 5
Total taxation expense income) 22 1)
Taxation reconciliation
Profit on ordinary aciivities belore taxation 1,789 1105
Less profit attributable to joint ventures and funds' 1726) 1382)
Group profit on ardinary activities before taxation 1.063 723
Tax on profit on ordinary actviies at UK corporation taxation rate of 21% (2013/14 23%) 223 166
Effects of

REIT exempt iIncome and gans i232) (140}

Taxation losses 10 [4]

Delerred taxatwon on revaluations and derivatives 23 -

Adjustments in respect of prior years - {8)
Group total taxation expense incomel 24 18]

' Acurrent 1axation expense of £2m [2013/14 €5m) and a deferred kaxation n¢come of £4m [2013/14 Enill arase on profits atinbutable ta jaint ventures and funds

Taxation expense attributable to underlying profils for the year ended 31 March 2015 was £nl [2013/14 £2m] The underlying taxation rate

for the year ended 31 March 2015 was nit% [2013/14 07%)]

Corporation taxation payable at year ended 31 March 2015 was €9m [2013/14 £8m] as shown on the balance sheet

9 Staff costs

Staff costs {including Directors)

2015 2014
£m £m
Wages and salaries 50 46
Social security costs & 5
Pension costs -] [}
Equity-setiled share-based payments 14 12
78 67
The average monthly number of employees of the Company during the year was 249 [2013/14 231] Theaverage monthly number of Group
employees, including those employed directly at the Group s properiies whose costs are recharged to tenants was 598 1201314 554)
The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are the key management personnel Theirr emoluments are summarised below
and furiher detail 15 disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 84 to 112
Directors emoluments
2015 2074
£m £m
Short-term employee benefits 58 54
Termination payments - 02
Service cost inrelation to defined benefit pension schemes 02 02
Share based payments &4 52
124 112
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Financial statementa

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

9 Staff costs continued

Staff costs
The Group s equity-settled share-based payments comprise the Long-Term Incemtive Plan {LTIP) the Matching Share Plan [MSP]
the Fund Managers Performance Plan [FMP#P], the Share Incentive Plan 151P] and various savings related share option schemes

The Company expenses an estimate of how many shares are likely lo vest based on the market price atthe date of grant, taking account
of expecied performance aganst the retevant performance 1argets and service peneds

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

Under the LTIP the Company may award employees a combtnation of perlormance shares and options Both compeonents have the same
performance targets based on total property return total accounting return and a three-year serwice period For both LTIP components the
Company estimates the number of shares or options likely to vest and expenses that estimate over the relevant period Performance shares
are valued at the market value at the date ol the award The options are vatued using 3 Black-Scholes model adjusied for dividends [see table
betow] Volatility has been estimated by taking the hustoncat volatility in the Company s share price over a four-year period and adjusting
where there are known factors that may aflect future volatility No other features of the option grant were incorporated into the
measurement of {air value

Long-Term Incentive Plan Awards in the year ended 31 March 2015
12 December 23 Jure

2014 2014
Share price and exercise price al grani date 757p 648p
Expected aption Life in years 7 7
Risk free rate 15% 2 &%
Expected volalility A% %
Expected dividend yeld &% &%
Value per aption 173p 159p

Matchung Share Plan (MSP)

The MSP allows eligible employees 1o recewve one third of ther annual bonus in shares hetd in Irust, which following performance targets
based on total shareholder return and ike-for-like rental growth being achieved over a three-year period, will be matched two-for-one by the
Company The Company expenses the estimated number of shares tikely to vest over the three-year period based on the market pnce at the
date of grant

Fund Managers Performance Plan (FMPP]

Under the FMPP the Company may award employees a combtnation of cash [20% of the award} and shares based on a maxsmum of 30% of
the annual performance fee awarded by the Urut Trusts and as agreed by shareholders in 2008 inrespect of a comparative notional pool {or
Brinsh Land ewned portfolios The cash 1s awarded lollowing the perfermance year under review with the shares released over the following
three years subject to clawback due to subsequent property underperfermance The Company expenses an estimate of the fair vatue of the
award over the pertod to fult vesting No further grants under the FMPP were made in the year

Other share plans

Under the SIP the Company gives eligible employees free shares of up to £3,600 a year They can also purchase partnership shares for up to
£1800 a year that are matched two-for-one by the Company The free and matching shares are either purchased at fair value in the market
or allotted and expensed at the ime of allocation

Under the savings related share option s¢cheme eligible employees can save up to €500 a month over a three or five-year period and use the
savings 1o exercise an opiton granted at the outset at a 20% discount to the then prevailing share price The lair value of the various options 1s
expensed over the service period, based on a Black-Scholes modet

Movemenis in shares and options are given in note 22
t0 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme {the scheme} 1s the principal pension scheme inthe Group It 1s a defined benefit
scheme which s externally funded and not contracted out of SERPS [State Earnings-Related Pension Scheme] The assels of the scheme are
held in 3 trustee-administered fund and kept separate from those of the Company s not planned to admit new employees to the scheme
Existing entittements will be retained by the members with freedom to transfer to a new Defined Contribution Scheme Contributions to this
scheme are at a flat rate of 15% of salary and paid by the Company In certain circumstances it may be necessary to pay higher contributions.
when recrutting seror executives

The Group has three other small pension schemes The total net pension cost charged for the year was £6m {2013/14 £6m) of which £3m
12013/14 £3m] relates to defined contribution plans and £3m [2013/14 £3ml relates to the current service cost of the detined benefit schemes
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10 Pensions continued

Atull actuarial valuation of the scheme was carnied out at 31 March 2012 by consuliing actuaries, AON Hewitt Associates Ltd The employer s
contributions will be paid In the future at the rate recornmended by the actuary of 54 4% per annum of basic salaries The best estimate

ol employer contributions expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 2016 1s £3m The major assumptions used {or the actuanial
valuation were

2015 014 013 2012 2013

%pa %pa % pa % pa % pa

Discount rate 31% 44 41 46 55
Satary nflation 4 8% 52 L7 L7 572
Pensions increase 3% 35 N 31 37
Price inflation 33% 37 32 3z 37

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables whech allow for future mortality improvements The assumptions are
that a member currently aged &0 will live on average for a further 29 8 years it they are male and for a further 31 0 years f they are fernale
For a member who retires in 2035 at age 60 the assumptions are that they will live on average for a lurther 31 4 years aller relirement if they
are male and for a further 32 7 years after retirement if they are female

Composition of scheme assets

2015 2014

£m £m

Equities 65 5%
Diwversified Growth Funds [DGF) 81 77
QOther assets 3 3
Total scheme assets 139 N

The vast majority of the scheme assets are quoted in an aclive markel

The amount! included in the balance sheet arising from the Group s obligations in respect ot its defined beneht scherne 15 as follows

2015 014 2013 012 201
€m £m £m £m £m
Present value of defined scheme obligations (145) 23] 1119) 1707) 1991
Farr value of scheme assets 129 il | 120 109 10
Irrecoverable surplus - 161 if 12) 1)
Liability recogmsed in the batance sheet (6 - - - -
History of experience gamns and losses
205 ws a3 mz 2011
€m £m £m £m £
Total actuarial loss recognised in the consolidated staternent
of comprehensive income!
Amount? (5t ] 14) 13t (2)
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 3 &% 16% 31% 27% 20%

' Movements staled alter adustng lor irreceverability of any surplus
1 Cumulative loss recogrised in the consalidated statement of camprehensive income s £34m (2013/14 €31m)

Movernents in the present value of defined benetit cbligations were as {ollows

ms 2004
£m £m
At 1 April (125} 119
Current service cost (2 13)
Interesi cost {5 [3)
Acluarial gains |losses)
Gain frem change in demographic assumptions 14 -
Loss from change in financral assumphons 132 13]
Gain on scheme liabililies arising from experience 4 3
Benefils paid 2 2
At 31 March 1145) 1125}
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10 Pensions conttnued

Movemenisin the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows

2015 Wik

£€m {m
At 1 April m 120
Interest income on schemne assets é 5
Contrbutions by employer 2 4
Actuarial gamns 2 4
Beneiits pad 12) 2]
At 31 March 139 131

The aciual relurn on scheme assets was £8m (2013/14 £9m)

Through its defined benefit plans, the Group 1s exposed ta a number of risks the most significant of which are detailed below

Asset volatility

Changes «n bond yeelds

Infiation risk

Life expectancy

L1 Prapert

The labilities are calculated using a discount rate set with a reference to corporate bond yields i assets
underperform thisyield this will create a deficn The Scheme holds a signtficant portion of growth assets
lequities and diversified growth funds] whech though are expected to outperform corporate bonds i the long
term create volatilily and risk in the short term The allocation 1o growth assets 1S monitored 1o ensure

1t remans appropriate given the Scheme s long term objectives

Adecrease in corporate bend yields will increase the value placed on the Scheme s liabilities for accounting
purposes although thuswill be partially offset by an increase in the value of the Schemes bond holdings

The majonty of the Scheme s benefit obligations are linked ta inflation and higher inflation will {ead to ugher
liabilities Jalthough i most cases caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect agatnst
extreme nflation) The majority of the assets are either unaftected by or only loosely corretated with inflation
meaning that anincrease ininflation witl also increase the defrcit

The majoriy of the Scheme s cbligations are to provide benelits for the lsfe of the member, so increases in life
expectancy will result in anincrease in the liabilities

Property reconctiation 12 months to 31 March 2015

Tvestment
Investrment
Offces and and Qwner-
UK Retail residential Deveiopments  development Treding oceuped
Level 3 Level 3 Lewe| 3 preperties properiies Leveld Total
£m £m {m £m Em £m £m
Carrying value at 1 April 2014 4,463 2,550 281 7,272 7 47 7.590
Additions - property purchases 147 - - 147 - - 147
- acquisiion of subsidiartes (note X) 1,000 - - 1,000 - - 1,000
- developmeni expenditure 5 13 52 &8 46 - N4
~ capitalised interest - - - - 8 - 8
- caputal expenditure on asset
management initiatives 41 1 - 42 = - 42
1,193 12 52 1,257 54 - 1,311
Depreciation - - - - - 31 41}
Disposals [219) (102) "2 1333) 145] - 1378}
Reclassifications - 14) 3 2 18) 4 -
Revaluations included inincome statement 3%0 423 n 884 - - BB
Revaluation included in SOCIE - - - - - 10 10
Movemeni (n tenant incentives and contracted
rent uphit balances L] 23 7 a8 - - 38
Carrying value at 3t March 2015 5,833 2,902 385 9,120 274 40 9,454
Head lease babilities (note 14) 141)
Surplus on trading properties 76
Total Graup property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2015 9,509
Nen-controlling interests 1441)
Jotal Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2015 attributable to shareholders 9,068
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11 Property continued

Property reconciiation 12 menths to 31 March 2014

Investment
Investment
QOffices and and Owner-
UK Retad residential  Developments  development Trading occup ed
Level3 Level 3 Level 3 preperties properties Level 3 Total
£m Em {m £m £m fm £m

Carrytng value at 1 April 2013 3340 1267 861 5,488 40 42 5,570
Additions - property purchases 53 428 83 6564 - - 544

- acgursition of Hercules Unit Trust 1006 - - 1,008 - - 1,006

- development expenditure 10 30 60 100 38 - 138

- capitalised nterest - [ 4 10 7 - 17

- capital expendiiure on asset

management iniliatives 25 4 - 29 - - 29
1094 468 147 1,70% 45 - 1,754

Depreciation - - - - - 1] m
Disposals 1234) n - 1245) 197 - 1342}
Reclassificatons 15) 538 818 (283) 283 - -
Revaluations included in incomne statement 240 270 65 5§75 - 5 580
Revatuation ncluded n SOCIE - - - - - 1 1
Movement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplift balances & 18 4 28 - - 28
Carrying value at 31 March 2014 4,481 2550 261 7,272 271 47 7,590
Head lease Lhiabiities [note 16) {32)
Surplus on trading properties 58
Total Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2014 7,618
Non-controlling interests [422)
Total Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2014 attributabte to shareholders 7,194

The ditferent valuation method levels are defined below

Level 1 Quoted prices lunadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or labilities

Level 2 inputs other than quoled prices included wathin Level 1 that are observable for the asset or lability either directlylh e as prices)
orindirectly i e derived from prices)

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liabiliy that are not based on observable market data [unobservable inputs)

These levels are specihied Inaccordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement  On the following page of this notle within the seclion
Vaiuation our property valuation approach and process s set out As noted in the Report of the Audit Commuttee on page 80, property
valuahions are inherently subjective as they are made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer which may not prove to be accurate
For these reasons and consisient with EPRA s guidance we have classilied the valuations of our property portfolio as Level 3 as defined
by IFRS 13 The inputs to the valuations are defined as unobservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed in a table on the following page

The Group s policy s to recogrese transfers between fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transter There have heen no transfers during the period

Al 31 March 2015 the Group property portfolio valuation of £9 509m [2013/14 £7 616ml comprises freeholds of £64 098m [2013/14 €4 B55m)
virtual freeholds of £811m [2013/14 £495m) and long leaseholds of £2 600m [2013/14 €2 D4ém) The historical cost of properties was
£4 582m |2013/14 £5 574m)

The property valuation does not include any investment properties hetd under operating leases [2013/14 Enil)

Properties valued at £2 479m [2013/14 £1 741m] were subject to a securiy interest and other properties of non-recourse companies
amounted to £1365m (2013/14 £1064m)

Included within the property valuation 1s £102m {2013/14 €100m}n respect of accrued contracted rental uplift income against which the
Group holds a provision of £5m (2013/14 £5m) The balance arises through the IFRS treatment of leases containing such arrangements
which requires the recognition of rental (ncome on a straight-line basis over the lease term, with the difference between this and the cash
receipt changing the carrying value of the property againsi which revaluations are measured

Cumulative interest capitalised against investment development and trading properties amounts to £81m [2013/14 £73m]
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11 Property continued

Valuation

The Group s total property portfolio was valued by independent external valuers on the basis of fair value in accordance with the RICS

Vatuation - Professional Standards 2014, ninth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

The information provided to the valuers and the assumptions and valuations models used by the valuers are reviewed by the property
porifolio team the Head of Dffices the Head of Retail and the Chief Financial Officer The valuers meetwith the external auditors and also
present directly to the Audit Commuttee at the intersim and year end review of results Further details ofthe Audit Committee s responsibilities

in retation tovaluations can be found in the Report of the Audit Commuttee lon page 80)

Investment properties, excluding properhies held for development, are valued by adopting the investment methad of valuation This
approach involves applying capitalisation yields to current and future rental streams net of income voids arising from vacancies or rent-free
perieds and associated running costs These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property and leasing
transactions in the market using the valuers professional judgement and market observation Other factors taken inta account in the

valuations tnclude the tenure of the property tenancy details and ground and structural conditicns

In the case of ongoing developments the approach applied 1s the residual method of valuation whichis the investrent method of valyation
as described above with a deductian for all costs necessary to complete the development including a notional finance cost, together with
alurther allowance for remaining risk Properties held for development are generally valued by adopting the higher of the residual method
of valuation atlowing for all associated risks or the invesiment method of valuation for the existing assel

Coptes of the valuation certificates of Knught Frank LLP and CBRE can be found on the website at

www britishland com/reports

A breakdewn of valuations split between the Group and its share of joint ventures and funds 15 shown below

2015 2014
Jont Jowng
vantures ventures
Group  and funds Total Group  andiunds Total
£m £m £m Em £m fm
Kmght Frank LLP 6,795 3,313 10,108 5036 2903 8939
CBRE 2,714 1,600 4115 15680 2131 371
Total property portfotio valuation %,509 4,714 14,223 7616 5034 12 450
Non-conirolling interesis share of property 441) 1105) 1546) [622) (188] 1610}
Total property portfotio valuation attributable to shareholders 5,048 4,609 11,677 7194 4 B46 12040
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11 Propetty continued

Information about fair vatue measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3)

ERY persq it Equivalent Yield
Fair vatue st Waighted Werghted
M March 2015 Min Max sverage Min Max avorage
£€m_ Valuation techrque [ 4 € % % %
Investment
Investment
UK Retail 5956 methodology 2 75 19 14 * 1346 38
Investment
Ofhces & Residential'? 2958 methodology 4 81 49 13 89 42
Restdual
Developments ? 225 methedology 54 101 65 38 50 45
Total 9,139
Trading properties and surpius
on trading properties 370
Total Group property porifolic valuation 9,509

' Incledes Owner-eccupied
? Includes Residential with an average capital value persq ftol £981 inclucing developmenis at end value and mixed use

All other lactors being equal a higher equivalent yield or discount rate would lead 1o a decrease in the valuation of an asset, and an increase
inthe current or estimated future rental stream would have the effect of increasing the capital value and wice versa However there are
interrelationships between the uncbservable mputs whith are partially deterrined by market condiions which would impact onthese changes
12 Joint ventures and funds

Summary movement for the year of the invéstments in joint ventures and funds

Joint

veniures Fungds Total Equity Loans Totaol

tm £m €m fm fm m

At April 2014 2,274 438 2,712 2,278 434 2,712
Additions 79 7 86 54 32 84
Disposals [318) 151 1469) (308) 1163 46%]
Share of prolit after taxalion 641 65 726 728 - 726
Distributions and dvidends  Capital - 116) (18] (18] - [18)
Revenue nosl 121) [125] (123} - 1125]
Hedging and exchange movements (6] (7] 113] 013) - 13)
At 31 March 2015 2586 315 2,901 2598 303 2,901

PREF a fund owning a portiolio of retail property in Europe in which British Land has a net investment of £32m| has its properties exiernally
valued by CBRE CBRE have included a market uncertainty clause in the valuation report of the Portuguese properties due to a lack of
transactional evidence and uncertainty over the economec situation in those markets In 2015 PREF repaid early all outstanding bank loans
following the sale of its Spanish asséts In Decemnber 2014 a one-year extension of the fund to 26 March 2016 was approved As a result the
fund s In the process of an orderly disposal of its assets and the underlying financial statements of PREF for the year ended 31 December
2014 were prepared on a break up basis

AL 31 March 2015 the investment in joint ventures mctuded within the total mvestmentin joint ventures and funds was £2,869m (2013/14 £2 658ml
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

12 Jomtventures and funds conunued

The summarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the adjacent page show 100% of the results assets and habilities
of joint ventures and funds Where necessary these have been restated 1o 1he Group s accounting pelicies and exclude all batances which

are eliminated on consohdation

In the prior year the detailed breakdown contained the Group s share of the results in joint ventures and funds The change in presentation
15 due to the adoption of IFRS 12 Bisclosures of interests in other entities 1n the year

Jomt ventures and funds summary financial statements 12 months to 31 March 2015

Broadgate MSC Property BL Sansbury
REIT Intermediate Superstores Tesco Joint
Lid Holdings Lo Lid Ventures'
Norges Bank
Euro Bluebetl LLP Investment
Partners IGIC) Management J Sainsbury pic TescoPLC
City Cffices  Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores Supersiores
Group share 50% 50% 50% 50%
Summanrised iIncome statements £Em £m £m £m
Gross rental and related income 214 94 60 97
Net rental and relaled income 164 75 60 92
Other underlying expenditure 1) - - )
Net nterest payable (88) 1381 (28] [50)
Undertying proht before taxation 75 37 32 41
Surplus onrevaluation 644 161 14 17
Other non-underlying [expenditurel income - - {31 {4]
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 739 198 43 54
Taxalion - - - g
Praht on ordinary activities after taxation 739 176 43 &3
Other comprehensive {expendiiure} Income i21) 171 4 [
Total comprehensive income 718 191 47 69
British Land share of total comprehensive income 35¢ 96 24 35
British Land share of distributions payable 15 2 42 37
Summarised balance sheets £m €m £m Em
Investment and trading properties 4,209 1719 1039 363
Current assets 5 5 3 -
Upstream foans to joint venture shareholders - - - -
Cash and deposits 272 32 25 [
Gross assets 4,486 1,758 1,067 369
Current Liabilities 182 134 125) [5)
Bank and securitised debt 12,142) 1721) [478) 1184)
Other non-current biabibuies [64) [24) - {20)
Gross liabdities. 12,288) {776) {504) 1209)
Net external assets 2,198 980 563 160
British Land share of net assets 1,099 490 282 80

' Tesco joint ventures include BLT Holdings [2010) Limited as a1 31 March 2015 In the prior year this 3lso included Tesco British Land Properly Partnerstup {TBL)
Tesco BL Holdings Lirited (TBLH} Shopping Centres Limited and the Tesca Aqua Limited Partnership During the year the Shopping Cenires venture was acquired

by TBLH wisth no net impact on the Group accounts

0n 19 March 2015 TBLH and TBL becarme subsidiaries of the Group [nate 21| The income staterment results for these ventures far the penod up 1o and including
19 March 2015 are included wathin the table abowe Thereafter the results of TBLH and TBL are conschidated within the Group s income staternent Alsocn 19 March 2015
the Group disposed of its injerestin Tesco Aqua Limited Partnership lo Tesco PLC The income statement results far this venture for the penod up 10 and including

19 March 2015 are shawn within this table

? USS joint ventures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Limuted Parinershsp and the Fareham Property Partnership

4 Hercules Und Trust jont ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the resulis of Deapdate Co Ownership Trust Cibraltar Limied Partnership and Valentine Co-Ownership
Trust and 43 25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these joint ventures and sub-funds At3! March 2014 Spehke Unit Trust
(Spekel was 2 joint venture of the Group On 23 February 2015 Speke became a subsidiary af the Group Incte 21 The income statement resulls tar Speke for the penod

up to and including 23 February 2015 are included witlun these numbers Thersafter Speke s resulis are included within the Graup § income statement

142 British Land | Annual Repar t and Accounts 2015




Uss Leadenhalt Hercules Umt Trust Dther TOTAL TOTAL
The SouthGate Limued Jomnt Holding Ca jennt ventures Jount ventures Group share
Partnership Venlures® [Jersey} Ld and sub-funds? and funds® 2018 2015
Universities
Superannuation
Aviva Scheme Group Oxford
Invastors PLC Properties
Shopping Shopping City Offices Retail
Cenires Centres Leadenhali Parks
50% 50% 50% Various
£Em Em Em £m £Em Em £m
14 1 15 53 15 573 289
13 B 3 47 12 477 240
in - - - i3) 11] 4)
1 - - [5) i2) 212 (107)
1 B b 42 7 25¢9 129
26 25 20 63 - 1,171 589
- - - 1 16 8 [
37 33 207 104 23 1,438 724
- - = = {2) 7 2
37 33 207 104 21 1,445 7256
- - - 18} 110) [29) 13)
a7 33 207 103 11 1.416 713
19 17 104 52 7 713
4 4 - 37 - 141
£m £m Em £m £m Em £m
262 235 770 706 140 9,443 4,719
2 - 2 2 23 42 25
2 ki 4 n 21 382 192
266 244 776 719 184 9,867 4,936
(4] 14) 141 17) 1651 [228) i119)
- - - Nnz7 - (3,652) 1,827)
128) - - ()] l44] (181 [89]
{32) [4) [4) [135] 1109) [4,081) 12,635)
234 240 772 584 75 5,806 2,501
"7 120 384 283 44 2,501

¢ Included inthe column headed Other joint ventures and funds are coatributions from the fallawing BL Goodman Linnited Partnership BL Gazeley Limited

The Aldgate Place Limnited Partnership Bluebutton Property Management UK Limited BL Residenual Limited Partnershp City of London Gffice Umt Trust and Pillar
Retat Eurapark Fund (PREF) The Graup s ownership share of PREF 15 £5% heweveras the Group s unable 16 exercise control over significant decisions of the fund

the Group equity accounts for its interest in PREF

These financial statements include the results and linancial pesion of the Group s mterest in the Tesco British Land Property Partnership and the Tesco Aqua Limited
Partnership [refer to fostnate 1) the Fareham Property Partnership the Aldgate Place Lirited Parinerstup the BL Goodman Limiteg Partnership Auchiniea
Partnership the Gibraltar Limied Parinershup and the BL Residential Lirmuted Partnership Accordingly advantage has been taken of the exemptions provided

by Regulation 7 of the Partnerships and Unlirmited Companies [Accounts] Regulations 1993 not Le altach the parinarship accounts 1o these financial statements

The borrowings of joint ventures and funds and their subsidiaries are non-recourse to the Group Alljoint ventures are incorporated in tha United Kingdom with
the excepticn of Broadgate REIT Limited the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and Leadenhalt Holding Co [Jersey] Limited whichare incorporated in jersey

Of the funds the Hercules Unit Trust IHUT] joint ventures and sub-lunds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg

The cormmitments and cantingent Liabulities 1n respect of joint ventures are detailed innote 26
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12 Joint sentures and funds conunued

The summansed income statements and balance sheets below and on the adjacent page show 100% of the resulis assels and habitities
of joint ventures and funds Where necessary these have been restated to the Group s accounting policies and excluge all balances which

are eliminated on consolidation

In the prior year the detailed breakdown contained the Group s share of the results in joint ventures and funds The change in presentation
15 due to the adoption of IFRS 12 Disclosures of interesis in other entities in the year

Joint ventures and funds summary financial statements 12 months to 31 March 2014

Broadgate MSC Property 6L Samnsbury
REIT iniermemiaie Sypersiores Tesco Jont
Ltd Heldings Lid Lid Venlures
Norges Bank
Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners IsIC} Management ) Sainsbury plc Tesco PLC
Cuiy Offices Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores Superstores
Group share 50% 30% 50% 50%
Summarised ihcome statements £m Em £m £m
Gross rental and related income 216 25 45 101
Net rental and related income 161 75 65 94
Other underlying expend:ure 1 - - h)
Net interest payable {90 (38 130) i55)
Underlying prohit (loss] before taxation 70 38 35 38
Surplus {defici) on revaluation 287 8 6 a7
Gther non-underlying income |expenditure) - - - 2
Profit [loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 357 46 41 127
Taxation - - - i3)
Prof:t [loss) on ordinary actwvities after taxation 357 [13 41 124
Other comprehensive incorme 21 5 4 52
Total comprehensive income 378 51 45 176
Britrsh Land share of total comprehensive income 189 26 22 88
British Land share of distributions payable [ 2 4 17
Summarised batance sheets £m £m £m £m
Investmnent and trading properties 3425 1541 1,209 1795
Currenl assets 7 3 - 2
Upstream loans tojoint venture shareholders - - - -
Cashand deposits 270 31 21 32
Gross assets 3,702 1,575 1,230 1,829
Current habilities 1721 (301 129) 1291
Bank and securiised debt 12092} (745 1587 It 609
Other non-current Lrabilities l44) 171 [4) [o8)
Gross liabilihies 12,208) 1792} 1620) {1,148)
Net external assets 1,694 783 410 683
British Land share of net assets 747 392 305 342
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uss Leedenhall Hercutes Unit Tryst Other TOTAL TOTAL
The SouthGate Lirnited Jaint Haloing Co JoiNT ventures jontventures Group share
Partnerstup Venlures Jersey] Lid and sub lunds and funds 2014 2014
Uruversities
Superannuation
Aviva Scheme Group Oxford
Inveslors PLC Properties
Shepping Shopping Oty Ofices Retail
Cenlres Centres Leadenhall Parks
50% 50% 50% Varigus
£m Con £m £m £m £m €m
7 10 - 80 40 415 307
5 7 ) 72 27 506 253
- - - [4) [5) (L (8]
- - - {26) 7] (246} (123)
5 7 n 42 15 249 124
5 19 133 10 |28} 527 262
13 1 - 12) - 12) {4
7 27 132 50 13} 774 382
- - - - 7 (10} [5)
7 27 132 50 {20) 784 377
- - - 3 - 85 43
7 27 132 53 [20) B84y 420
3 14 [ 26 (1&) 420
2 2 - 23 19 75
£m £€m £€m £m £m £m £m
207 198 530 933 123 10,033 5,031
4 - - 2 40 58 N
- - - - 8 8 4
3 B 1 13 18 397 199
214 206 51 948 261 10,496 5,265
[63 14) 14 (10] 165) (249 1138)
- - - (149 (291 (4,611) {2,330)
- - - - 138) {211) (85)
(&} {4} (4} (159) {132} (5,071 (2,653}
208 202 527 789 129 5,425 2,712
104 101 264 384 73 2,712
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12 Jowt yventures and funds contnued

Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds [Group share)

2015 014
£m £m
Rental income received from tenamts 234 274
Fee and other income received 1 -
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees 126) 1331
Cash generated from operatiens 209 241
Interest paid (144) h3s)
Interest recewved 2 1
UK corporation tax paid 17) 1]
Foreign tax paid 12) (3)
Cashinflowtrom operating activiies B8 98
Cashinflow from operating activil:es deployed as
Surplus cash retained within joint ventures and funds 15 35
Revenue distributions per consolidated statement of cash flows 73 63
Revenue distributions split between controlling and non-contrelling interests
Altributable to non-controtling nterests 7 -
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 1] 63
13 Other investments
2015 2014
Investment Loans, Investment Loans
held for recevables held for recevables
trading  and other Total trading  and other Toial
£m £m £m £m Em £m
At 1Apri 2014 22 170 282 - 76 76
Additions - 13 13 83 104 187
Disposals - 12] (21 - (10} 110}
Revaiuation 7 - 7 ¢ - ?
Depreciation - (1] 1] - - -
AL 31 March 2015 59 280 7y 92 170 262

The investment held for trading comprises interests as a trust beneficiary The trusts assets comprise Ireehold reversions in a poot

of commercial properties comprising Sainsbury s superstores The invesiment has been categorised as Level 3 in the farr value hierarchy
Isee note 11] Fair value of the mterest has been determined by the Direclors supporied by an external valuation from CBRE The supersiore

assets are subject to the same asssumption ranges and sensitvities disclosed in note 11

Included wathin the balance as at 31 March 20151 £243m [2013/14 £145m} in relation to a loan to the Broadgate joint venture wiuch 1s carried

at amortised cost
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14 Debtors

2005 014

£m fm

Trade and other debtors 16 35
Prepayments and accrued income & [
20 41

Included withun trade ang other debtors 1s deferred consideration of £1m {2013/14 £1m) arising on the sale of investment properties for which
the timing of the receipt 1s contingent and therefore may fall due alter one year

Trade and other deblors are shown after deducting a provision for bad and doubtiul debts of £16m [2013/14 £15m) The charge to the income
statement was E1m 1201314 £ni)

The Dtrectors consider that the carrying amount of irade and other debtors 1s approximate o their fair value There Is no concentration
of credit risk with respect to trade debtors as the Group has a large number of customers who are paying their rent tn advance

Asat 31 March trade and other debtors outside their payment terms yet not provided for are as follows

Dutside credu terms but not impaired

Within credit More than

Tatat terms  0-1month 1.2 months 2 months

£m Em €m tm €m

2015 16 ¥ 7 - -

2014 35 22 9 - 4
15 Creditors

2016 meé

£m fm

Trade creditors 81 85

Amounts owed to joint ventures - 4

Other taxation and social security N 21

Accruals and deterred income 169 153

281 263

Trade creditors are nterest-free and have settlement dates within one year The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and
olher creditors 1s approximate to their fair value

16 Other non-cunent habhhities

20158 2014

im £m

Dther creditors 32 -
Head leases [A] 32
Net pension Liabilittes & -
79 32
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17 Decferred tax lrabihities

Ceferred tax s calculated on temporary ditferences under the liability method using a tax rate of 20% 1201214 20%)

The movement on deferred taxis as shown below

Expensed Transferred
1April  (creditedito  Credited to to joint 31 March
2014 income equily ventures 2015
£m £m £m £€m Em
Property and investment revaluations - $ - - 5
Dther trming differences 4 18 (15) - 7
4 22 [15) - 12

Expensed

1April  [credited) to Credited to Transferred to 31 March
2013 income equily joint ventures 2014
Em £m Em £m £m
Property and investment revaluations 12 (K] - 19 -
Other iming dillerences 4 - - - 4
16 31 - i9) 4

Under the REIT regime development properties which are sold wathin three years of comptetion do nat benefit from tax exemption

At 31 March 2015 the value of such properties s £1 008m 12013/14 £455m) and if these properties were to be sold and tax exempiion

was not avaslable the tax anising would be £46m (2013/14 £34m)

Deterred tax assets of £38m [2013/14 £3?m] arising on losses from previous years have not been recognised in the inancral year
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18 Net deln

2015 Aia
Faotnote £m £m
Secured on the assets of the Group
9125% First Morigage Debenture Stock 2020 11 35 34
6 123% First Mortgage Oebenture Stock 2014 " - 44
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 358 344
5 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 9 100
5 357% Furst Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 344 327
6 75% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2020 176 176
Bank loans 12,13 953 523
Loan notes 2 2
1,974 1,552
unsecured
5 50% Sentor Notes 2027 98 ?8
& 30% Sentar US Dollar Notes 2015 2 104 92
3 895% Sentor US Doltar Notes 2018 3 28 25
4 435% Senior US Dollar Notes 2021 3 158 136
4 766% Semor US Dollar Notes 2023 3 ¥y 83
5 003% Senior US Dollar Notes 2026 3 54 52
3 81% Senior Notes 2026 m 99
3 97% Semor Notes 2026 114 101
1 5% Convertible Bond 2017 493 458
8Bank loans and overdraits 06 502
1,975 17446
OGross debt 4 3,949 3,298
Interest rate derivatives habilities 126 57
interest rate derivatives assets (139} 132)
3,936 3323
Cash and short-term deposits 56 1os) 1142)
Total net debt 3,828 38
Net debt attributable to non-centrolling interests (190} f204)
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 3,638 2977
' These are non-recaurse borrowings with no recourse lor repayment (0 other cocmpanies or assets in the Group
. 015 04
£m Em
11B8LOD Property Holdings Ltd 35 80
1 2 Hercules Unit Trust 645 523
13 TBL Properties Limited and subsidiaries 318 -
998 603

! Princtpal andinterest an this borrownng was fully hedged into Sierbing at the trme of issue
Principal and interest on this borrowing was fully hedged into Sterling at a floaling rale al the ume of issue
The principal amaunt af gross debt a1 31 March 2015 was £3 717m [2013/14 £3 209m| Included 1 this 15 the pringipal amount of secured berrawings and other

. o

horrawings of non-recqurse companies of £3 7056t of which the borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary Hercules Umit Trust not benelically owned by the Group

1s £200m

“

by the Group

-

¢

Cash anc deposits nel subject la a security Interest amount to E84m {2013/14 £93mi

included withun cash and short term deposils s the cash and short term deposits of Hercules Unit Trust of which £10m s the proportion not beneficially owned
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18 Net debt continued

Maturity analysts of net debt

2015 214

Em Em

Repayable within one year and on demand 102 495
Between one and two years ral 20
two and five years 1,707 1084

five and ten years 943 465

ten and hifteenyears 747 783

hifteen and twenty years & 6

twenty and {wenty-five years 373 375

3,857 2,803

Gross debt 3,949 3298
Interest rate and currency derivatives 113) 25

Cash and short-term deposits {108]) [142)
Neldebt 3,828 3181

Bntish Land Unsecured Frnancial Covenants
The two hnancial covenants applicabte to the Group unsecured debl including convertible bonds are

Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves
At 31 March 2015 the ratio was 38%

Net borrowings were £3,419m, betng the principal amount of gross debt of £3,717m less the relevant proportion of borrowings of the
parlly-owned subsidiary of £200m, plus amounts owed to joint ventures of Enil [see note 15] less the beneficially owned cash and deposits
of £98m |being £108m less the relevant proportion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary of £10m] and

Adjusted Capital and Reserves were £8 898m, betng share copital and reserves of £8 545m [see batance sheet} adjusted for £13m of
deferred tax Isee note 2) £94m trading property surpluses [see notes 2 and 11] £€300m exceptional refinancing charges [see below] and
£257m fair value adjustments on financiak assets and habilities |being £164m fair value debt adjustments and mark-to-market on interest
derivatives and £93m adjustment on the convertible bond) tess £333m reserves attributable 1o non-controling mteresis

Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets
At 31 March 2015 the ratio 1s 28%

Net Unsecured Borrowings were £1,734rm being the principal amount of gross debt of £3 717m plus amounts owed to joint ventures of £nil
[see note 15 less cash and deposits not subject to a security interest of E77m [being £84m less the relevant proportton of cash and deposits
of the partly-owned subsidhary of £7m] less the principal amount of secured and non-recourse borrowings of £1904m and

Unencumbered assels were £6 076m, being properties of £9 509m [see note 11] plus investments in joint ventures and funds of £2901m
[see balance sheet] and other investments of £379m [see note 13] less mvestments in joint ventures of £2 849m [see note 12} and encumbered
assets of €3 844m

In calculating Adjusted Caprtal and Reserves tor the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants there s an adjustment of £300m
to reflect the cumulative net amarbsed exceptional tems relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005 2004 and 2007

Convertible Bond

On 10 September 2012 British Land Jersey) Liuted lthe Issuer) a wholly-owned subsidrary of the Group 1ssued £400 mitlion 1 5%
guaranteed convertibte bonds due 2017 fthe bonds) at par The Company has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due and
punctual performance by the Issuer of all of its obligations lincluding payments) in respect of the bonds and the obligations of the Company
as guarantor constitute direct unsubordinated unconditional 2nd unsecured obligations of the Company

Subject to their terms  the bonds are convertible into preference shares of the issuer which are automaticatly transferred to the Cormpany
in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or at the Company s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash The bonds
can be converied from 22 October 2012 up to and including 24 September 2015 1f the share price has traded at a level exceeding 130% of
the exchange price for a specified period and from 25 September 2015 to [but excluding] the 20th dealing day before 10 September 2017
lthe maturity date) at any time

The initial exchange price was 693 07 pence per ordinary share Under the terms of the bonds the exchange price 1s adjusted on the
happening of certain events including the payment of dividends by the Company above 25 4 pence in any year

On or after 25 September 2015 the bonds may be redeemed at par at the Company s option subject 1o the Company s ordinary shares having
traded at a price exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified penod, or at any time once B5% by nominat value of the bonds origimally
issued have been converted, redeemed, of purchased and cancelled If not previously converied, redeemed or purchased and cancelled

the bonds witl be redeemed at par on the maturity date
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18 Net debt continued

Reconcitiation of movement in Group Net Debt to Cash Flow Statement

2014 Cashilow Non cash 2015
£m Em £m £m

Per cash flow statement
Cash and short-lerm deposits 11562) 34 - (108)
Cash and cash equivatents 142 34 - {108)
Term debt {excluding overdrafts) 3298 122 929 3,949
Far value of interest rate derivatives 25 12 126) 113)
Netdebt 3181 144 503 3,828

The Group loan to value ILTV] ratic at 31 March 201515 28% being the principal value of gross deb! of £3,717m, less the relevant portion of
borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary of £200m less cash and short-term deposits of £98rm [being £108m less the relevant proportion
of cash and deposits of the partty owned subsidiary of £10m), dwided by total Group property of £4,509m [see note 11) plus investments in
jomnt ventures and funds of £2 $01m {see note 12] and cther investments of £379m [see note 13} less the relevant porton of property and

investments of the partly-owned subsidiary of £528m

2013 Cash llow Nan cash 2014
£m fm £m £m
Per cash flow statement
Cash and short-term deposits 1135 7 - 1142}
Cash and cash equivalents (135 7 - f142)
Term debt lexcluding overdratis) 2178 620 500 . 3298
Fair value of interest rate derivatives 16) sl 47 25
Net debt 2037 597 347 3181
Comparison of market values and book values
2015 2004
Market Book Market Beok
value viiuse Dafference value vglue Difference
Level {m £m £m £m £m £m
Debentures and unsecured bonds 2 1,925 1,785 140 1722 17113 9
Convertible bond 1 493 493 - 458 458 -
Bank debt and other {loating rate debt 2 1,691 1,61 20 1,138 1127 n
Cash and short-term deposits 1 (108} (108} - 142 1142 -
4,001 3,841 160 3176 3156 20
Other financial {assets] lablities
- Interest rate derivative assets 2 {139} Nnag - 132) 132) -
- interesi rate derivative liabilihes 2 126 124 - 57 57 -
(13) (13) - 25 25 -
Total 3,988 3,828 140 3200 3181 20

Short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the disclosures

The fair values of debt debentures and the convertible bond have been established by obtaintng quoted market prices from brokers The
bank debt and loan notes have been valued assumning they could be renegotiated at contracted margins The derivalives have been valuyed
by calculating the present vaiue of expected future cash flows using appropriate market discount rates by an independent treasury advisor

British Land | Annual Repor | and Accounts 2015

151



Financml statcments

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

18 Net debt conunued

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses hinancral instruments carried at fair value bythe valuation method The different levels are defined as follows
Level 1 Qucted prices funadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilies
Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Levet 1 1hat are observable for the asset or Liability either directly he as prices)

or indirectly v e derved from prices)

Level 3 Inputs tor the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data [unobservable nputsl

2015 201
Level 1 Leval 2 Lavel 3 Total Levet 1 Level 2 Level 3 Totat
m £m £m tm £m £m m £m
interest rate and currency derivative assets - (139 - 13si - 132 - 1321
Other investiments hetd for trading - - 199) 199} - - 1921 192)
Assets - 11391 [99] (238) - 132) 1921 |124)
Interest rate and currency denvative hiabilities - 126 - 124 - 57 - 57
Convertible bond 493 - - 493 458 - - 458
Liabilities 493 126 - 819 458 57 - 515
Total 453 (13} 99} 381 458 25 192} N
Categaries of financralinstruments
2015 214
£m fm
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Other investments - held for trading 79 92
Derwatives in designated hedge accounting relationships 13% 32
Amortrsed cost
Trade and other debtors 18 a5
Cashand short lerm deposits 108 142
Other investments - loans and recewvables 280 170
.14 4
Financiat labiliies
Fair value through income staterment
Convertible bond (493) (458]
Derwalives in designated hedge accounting relationships n2é) {57
Amorused cost
Gross debt 13,456} 12 840)
Finance lease payable 41) 132
Trade and other creditors {¥5) 1851
Amaounts owed tojoint ventures - 14)
(4,211) (3 478)
Total (3,567) [3 005)

Gains and losses on financial Instruments as classed above are disclosed in note 7 [net financing costs] note 14 [debtors] note &
Inet revaluation gains on property and invesiments) the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income The Directors consider that the carrying arnounts of other rvestments and finance lease payables are approximate to therr fair

value and that the carrying amounts are recoverable

152 Britssh Land | Annual Repor i and Accounts 2015




18 Net debt continued

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holder s of The British Land Company PLC
comprising sssued capiial, reserves and retamed earnings Risks relating to capital structure are addressed within managing risk on pages
56to 61 The Groups objectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out in the hnanaial policies on pages 5310 55

Interest rate risk management
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge exposure to the variabitity in cash ftows on floating rate debt such as revolving bank faciliies
and {loatmg rate bonds caused by maovements o market rates of interest

AL 31 March 2015 the market value of these derivalives which have been designated as cash flow hedges under IAS 37 1s a net lizbility
of £126m {2013/14 net Lability of £45m)

The cross currency swap of the 2015 US Private Placement, which fully hedges the foreign exchange exposure of the 1ssuance, has been
designated as a cash flow hedge The market value of lhis 1s an asset of £6m [2013/4 Labilaty of £5m]

The ineffectiveness recognised tn the tncome statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2015 was £rut (2013/14 £nul)

The cash flows oceur and enter into the determination of profit and loss until the maturity of the hedged debt The table below summanses
vanable rate debt and foreign currency denorminated debt hedged at 31 March 2015

Cash Flow hedged debt
2015 2014
£m £m
Outstanding at one year 1,138 1293
al two years 538 1225
at five years 450 350
at ten years 250 250

The Group usesnterest rate swaps to hedge exposure on fixed rate financial ltabilities caused by movements in market rates of interest

At March 2015 the market value of these derivatives which have been designated as fair value hedges under 1AS 3% 15 a net asset of £133m
(2013/14 net asset of £25m)

The cross currency swaps of the 2018/2021/2023/2024 US Privale Placements fully hedge the for eign exchange exposure at an average
floating rate of 144 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as fair vatue hedges of the US Private Placements

tnlerest rate profile - including effect of dervatives .

2015 014

€ £m

Fixed rate 2,58% 2208
Variable rate Inet of cash) 1,239 973
3,828 3181

All the debt 15 effectively Sterling denorminated except for £39m [2013/14 €68m) of Euro debt of which £36m ts at a fixed rate (2013/14 £4Bm)

At 31 March 2015 the weighted average interest rate of the Steriing lixed rate debt 1s 4 81% [2013/14 517%) The weighted average period for
which the rate 1s hxed s 71 years [2013/14 8 5years) The weighted average interest rate for the Furo fixed rate debt 15 5 13% [2013/14

5 20%) and the weighled average per:od for which the rate is fixed 1s 1 0 years [2013/14 19 years] The floating rate debi 1s set for pertods of
the Company s choosing at the relevant L IBOR [or similar] rate

The proportion of net debt at fixed er capped rates of interesi was 68% at 3t March 2015 on a spot basis The proportion of net debt at fixed or
capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period on a proportionally consolidated basis was 64% at 3ist March
2015 Based on the Group s interest rate profile at the balance sheel date a 576 bps increase in interesi rates would decrease annyal profits
by £53m [2013/14 £56m decreasel Similarly, a 57 bps reduction would increase profits by £5m (2013/14 £5m increase) The change in
rnterest rates used for this sensitivity analysis is based on the largest annual change in three month Sterting LIBOR over the ast ten years
The impact assumes LIBOR does not fall below 0%
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18. Net debt conunued

Upward movements in medium and long term interest rates, associated with fugher interest rate expectations increase the value of the
Group s interest raie swaps that provide protection against such moves The converse 1s true for downward movements in the yield curve
The majority of the Group s interest rate swaps which provide such protection qualify as etfective cash flow hedges under IAS 39 therefore
movements in the fair value are recognised directly in equity rather than the income statement A 204 bps shifi represents the largest annual
change in the seven-year Sterling swap rate gver the last tenyears At 21 March 2015 a 204 bps parallel upward shift 1n swap rates would
increase the value of these interest rate swaps by £151m (2013/4 £134m) A 204 bps downward shift in swap rates would reduce the value

of the interest rate swap portfolio by E155m (2013/14 164m) Because the interest rale swaps are matched by floating rate debt the overall
effect on Group cash flows of such movements is mentmal

The 1 5% Convertible Bond 1s designated as lair value through profit or loss Principal components of the market vatue include British Land s
share price and its volatility and market interest rates The lair value at 31 March 2015 was £493m At 31 March 2015 a 204 bps parallel
upward shift ininterest rates would reduce the fair value by £24 4m and a 204 bps downward shift in interest rates would increase the value
by £26 2m

Foreign currency risk management

The Group s policy 1s to have no material unhedged net assets or habilities denominated in foreign currencies The currency risk on overseas
invesiments s hedged via foreign currency denominated borrowings and derivalives The Group has adopted net investment hedging in
accordance with IAS 3% and iherefore the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to be an effective hedge

Is recognised directly 1n equity The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised immediately in the

income statement

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group s foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities Prowided contingent tax

on overseas Investments Is not expected to occur it will be ignored tor hedging purposes, as will the requirement to fair value interest rate
swaps Based onthe 31 March 2015 position a 33% appreciation (largest annual change over the last ten years) inthe Euro retalive to Sterling
would result in a £nil change [2013/14 €mil)in reported profits

Assels Liabilities
015 M4 2015 2014
£m £m [ £m
Eurg dengminated 3% 69 3% 68

Credit nsk management

The Group s approach to credit risk management of counterparties ts reterred to :n the financial policies on pages 53 to 55 and the risks
addressed within managing risk on pages 36 to é1 The carrying arnount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements represents
the Group s maximum exposure te credit risk without takung account of the value of any coltateral oblained

Cash and short ter deposits at 31 March 2015 amounted to £108m {2013/14 £142m) Deposits and interest rate deposits were placed with
financial nstitutions with A- or better credit ratings

At 31 March 2015 the fair value of alt interest rate derivative assets was £139m 12013/14 €32m]

At 31 March 2015 prior to taking in1o account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exposure to a single counterparty
arising from money market deposits Lguid investments and dervatives was £59m [2013/14 £71m) This represents 0 5% [2013/14 0 7%)
of gross assets

The deposit exposures are with UK and internalional hagh street banks and branches
The Group s exposure to credit risk in respect of its trade receivables 15 analysed in note 14
Prowisions are made taking account hustoric credit losses and the creditwortiness of debtors

Liguidity risk management
The Growp s approachto iquidily risk management 1s discussed in the financial policies on pages 53 10 55 and the risks addressed within
managing risk on pages 56 to 61

The table an page 155 presents a matunity profile of the centracted undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay The table includes bothinterest and principal flows Where the interest payable 1s not fixed,

the amouni disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates imptied by yield curves at the reporting date

For derivative financial instruments that setile on a net basis le g nterest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash ftows are shown and

for derivatives that require gross setttement le g cross currency swaps) the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented Where payment
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spol exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date1s used Trade creditors and amounts owed
tojoint ventures which are repayable within one year have been excluded from the anatysis

The Group expecls to meel its financial labiities through the various available iquidity sources, including a secure rental income profile,
asset sales undrawn committed borrowing facilities and in the longer ierm, debt refinancings
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18 Net debt conunucd

Liquidity risk management lcontinued)

The Group leases out all i1s investment properties unger operating leases with a weighted average lease length of ten years This secure
income profie 1s generated from upward only rent reviews long leases and tugh occupancy rates The future aggregate ummmum rentals
recewvable under non-cancellable operating leases are also shown in the 1able below Income from joint ventures and fundsis not included
below Addiional iquidity will anise irom letting space in properties under construction as well as from distributions recewed from joint

ventures and funds

2015
Within  Following Threa to Over
one year year fiveyears (lvoyears Total
£m £m £m £m tm
Debt' 105 76 1,815 1,950 3,746
Interest on debt 126 125 328 619 1,198
Derivative payments i1 16 T4 407 618
Finance lease payments 2 2 & 223 233
Total payments 354 219 2,023 3199 5,795
Derwative recelpls 132} [24) {90) {385} {631)
Netpayment 222 195 1,933 2,814 5,164
Operating leases with tenants 441 431 1,380 2,792 4,836
Liguidity surplus {deficit) 221 236 (753) (32) 1328l
Cumulative bquidity surptus ldeficit) 221 457 12961 i328)
2014
Within  Fellewing Three to Dver
one year year Iveyears fneyears Total
£m £m fm fm £m
Debt! 495 23 1024 1,579 3Im
Ineresl on debt 4 13 79 676 1182
Derivauve payments 25 1y &7 380 591
Finance iease payments 2 2 5 195 204
Total payments 636 327 1375 2830 5168
Derivative receipts [29) 117 (841 i337) 1567]
Net payment 607 210 1291 2493 4 401
Operating leases wath tenants 351 342 947 2549 4189
Liquichty surglus [deficit) 1256} 132 1344) 54 (412
Cumulative Liquidity surplus [deficit) 12561 1n24) 1468) 1412)

' Gross debt of £3 94%m (2013716 £2 298m) represents the tolal shewn less unamorhised ssue cosis of £23m {20i3/14 £2im] plus farr value adjusimenis io debt

ol £226m (2013/14 £128m)

Any short term biquidity gap belween the net payments required and the rentals receivable can be met through oiher iquidity sources
availlable to the Group The Group currently holds cash and short-term deposits of £108m of which £84m 1s not subject to a security interest
Isee lootnote & to net debt table on page 149) Further iquidity can be achueved through sales of property assets or investments and deb!

rebinancings

The Group s property portiolio Is valued externally £9 509m and the share of joint ventures and funds property isvalued at £4 714m (see note
11 The undrawn commuited borrowing faciblies avadable to the Group are a further source of liquidity The maturity profile of committed

undrawn borrowing facilities 1s shown overleat
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18 Net debt continued

Matunity of comrmitted undrawn borrowing faciihes

015 20t

€m £m

Maturity date over live years - 160
between four and five years 930 310

between three and four years - 140

Total facilities availlable for more than three years 930 £10
Between two and three years 81 942
Between one and two years 235 -
Within one year 10 410
Total 1,236 15962

The above facilities are comprised of British Land undrawn facilities of £1 ¥85m plus undrawn facilities of Hercules Umit Trust totalling £51m

19 Leasmng

Operating leases wilh tenants

The Group leases out all of its tnvestment properties under operating leases with a weighled average lease tength of ten years
12013/14 ten years) and the average eifective borrowing rate was 3 3% [2013/14 3 5%l

The future aggregatle minimum rentals recevable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

FiH 014

Em £m

Less than one year 443 351
Beiween one and two years 431 342
Between three and five years 1,180 947
Between six and tenyears 1,353 1130
Between eleven and fifteenyears 783 650
Between siteen and twenly years 443 433
Alier twenty years 203 336
Total 4,836 4189

The Group s leasehold mvestment properties are typically under non-renewable leases without sigmificant resinctions Finance lease
labilitres are payable as follows no contingent rents were payable in enher period

2015 2014

Miremum Minirnum

lease lease
payrnents tmerest  Principal payments Interest  Principal
£m £m Crn £m £m tm

British Land Group

Less than one year 2 2 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 2 2 - 2 2 -
Between two and live years & ] - 5 5 -
More than five years 223 182 41 195 163 32
Total 233 192 41 204 172 32

Less future hinance charges [192) 172]

Present value of lease obligations &1 32

More than five years 1 32

Present value of lease ochligations & 32
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20 Dividend

The fourth quarter dividend of 6 92 pence per share, totalling £71m 12013/14 6 75 pence per share totalling £68m} was approved
by the Board on 13 May 2015 and 1s payable on 7 August 2015 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 3 July 2015

The Board witl announce the avaitabitity of the Scrip Dividend Alternaltive via the Regulatory News Service and on its website
lwww britishland com} no later than four business days before the ex-divdend date of 2 July 2015 The Board expects to announce the
split between Property Income Distributtans [PID) and non-PID income at that time Any Scrip Bividand Alternative will not be enhanced

PID dwdends are paid, as required by REIT legislation after deduction of withholdmg tax at the basic rate {currently 20%) where appropriate

Certan classes of shareholders may be able to elect to recewve dividends gross Please refer to our website www britishland com
for details

Pence per 2015 04
Payment date Dvidend share £m tm
Current year dividends
070815 2015 4thintertm 692
0560515 2015 3rd interim 692
130215 2015 2nd intenim 692 n
071114 2015 1st mterim 692 70
27468
Prior year dividends
08 08 2014 2014 4thinterim 675 68
02 05 2014 2014 3rd mterim 675 &8
1402 2014 2014 2nd intenim 675 68
08112013 2014 1stinterim 675 67
2700
0908 2013 2013 4thonterim 6 60" 65
1005 2013 2013 3rd interim 6 60 66
Dwidends in consolidated statement
of changes in equity 277 266
Dividends setiled in shares 49) {105)
Dmidends setiled in cash 228 181
Tirning ditference retaung to payment
of withholding tax - {2)
Drvidends in cash flow staterment 228 159
! Scnipallernatve trealed as non IO for this diwdend
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21 Acquisition of subsidianes (business combinattons)
Acquisition of Tesco BL Holdings Limited and TBL Property Partnership

On 19 March 2015 the Group acquired the 50% interest in Tesco BL Holdings Limited {TBLH) and TEL Property Partnership [TBL) which were
previously owned by Tesco PLC This resulted in ownership of 100% of the entiies Management determined that the acquisiions should be
accounted for as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations

The fair value of the Group s 50% equity interest in TBLH and TBL held betore the business combination amounted to £149m and £29m
respectively A gain of £5m was recognised as a result of re-measuring the equity interest in TBLH to {air value and a gain of £1m was
recogmsed as a result of re-measuring the equity interest in TBL to fair value as part of the business combinations

The acquired subsidiaries have contributed net revenues of E1m and undertying profit of £1m to the Group for the period from the date of
acquisition to 31 March 2015 I the acquisihon had occurred on 1 April 2004 Group net revenue for 2015 would have increased by £37m
and underlying profit for 2015 would have increased by £12m

The purchase of TBLH and TBL was completed at the same tme as the sale of the Group s interest in the Tesco Aqua Limited Parinership
tAqua | The consideration pard for TBLH and TBL was net of the sale consideration receivable for Agua and the setilement of the Group s
sharehaolder loan to Aqua A reconciliation of the consideration 1s shown below

Artnbuted
fair value Tetal
TBLH TBL
£m £m €m
Invesimens Property 639 ns 757
Other net current [habiliies] assets i 5 (8)
Cashand cash equivalents 7 2 9
Loans 1337 1&1) 1398)
Fair value of acquired interest in net assets of subsidiary 298 64 352
Goodwaill - - -
Total purchase consideration 298 b4 362
Less Fair value of previously held interest 114%] 129) (178)
Consideration 149 35 184
Less cash acquired 7 12) 9]
Net consideration 142 33 175
Represented by
Cash 102
Cash acquired %)
Settlement of Aqua shareholder lpan 35
Disposal of interest in Aqua 47
Net consideration 176

The acquired bank loans and overdrafts in TBLH and TBL have no recourse te other companies or assets in the Group On 20 March 2015 the
£60m secured facility acquired with TBL was repaid

Acquisition of Speke Unit Trust

On 23 February 2015 the Group acquired an additional 37 5% of the units in the Speke Unit Trust a unit trust registered in Jersey, whichis
engaged In property investment, resulting in cumulative ownership of 87 5% of the outstanding units and control of the underlying entity
Management determined that the acquisition of control should be accounted for as a business combination in accordance with (FRS 3
Business Combinations

The fair value of the Group s 50% equity interest inthe Speke Unit Trust held before the business combination amounted to £122m No gamor
loss was recognised as a result of re-measuring the equity interest at tair value

The acquired subsidiary has contributed net rents of £1m and underlying profit of £1m 1o the Group for the period from the date of acquisition
to 31 March 2015 1f the acquisition had occurred on t Aprit 2014 Group net rents for 2015 would have increased by £15m and undertying
profitior 2015 would have increased by £7m .

The purchase consideration disclosed below comprises cash and cash equivalents paid to the acquiree s previous owner of £93m lor 37 5% of
the umts n the Speke Unil Trust )
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21 Acequsinon of subsichanes (busitness combimations) contmued

The non-controlling nterest (12 5% ownershup interest in Speke Unit Trust) recognised at the acquisition date was measured by reference to
the identihable net assets and amounted to £31m al the acquisition date

Attribated far value

Speke Unt Trurst

£m

Investment Property 243
Cash and cash equivalent 3
Fair value of acquired interest n net assets of subsidiary 244
Goodwill -
Total purchase consideration 243

Less Fair value of previously held interest (122

Non-controlling interest 1311
Consideration 93

Less cash acquired (3]
Netconsideration 90

22 Shaie capita! and reserves

2015 2014

Number of ordinary shares inissue at 1 Apnil 1,019,765,481 997 691 488
Share 1ssues 12,021,805 22,074,993
At 3% March 1,031,788,286 1019,766,481

Of the 1ssyed 25p ordinary shares 98 453 shares were held in the ESOP trust {2013/14 169990, 11 266 245 shares were held as treasury
shares [2013/14 11 266 245) and 1020 423 588 shares were in free 1ssue [2013/14 1008 330 2461 No treasury shares were acquired by the
ESOP trust during the year Allissued shares are fully paid The rights preferences and restricions of share capttal are detailed on page 113

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the elfective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foreign
currency hedging instruments aswetl as all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations The foreign exchange differences also inctude the translation of the labilittes that hedge the Company s net investment ina
toreign subsidiary

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates 1o owner-occupied properties and invesiments in joint ventures and funds

Merger reserve
This comprises the premiurn on the share placing in March 2013 No share premium s recorded in the Company s financial statements
through the operation of the merger relief provisions of the Companies Act 2004
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Finaneial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

22 Share capital and resem es continued

Al 31 March 2015, options over 7703 110 ordinary shares were outstanding under employee share oplion plans The options had a weighted
average lfe of & 1 years Details of outstanding share aptions and shares awarded to employees including E xecutive Directors are set out

below and on the following pages

Exercise dates
At Apnt Vestedbut  Exertised/ At 31 March Exercrse
Date of grant 2044 Granied not exercised Vested Lapsed 2015 pnce pence From Ta
Share ocptiens Sharesave Scheme
30 06 0% 126 445 - - 24 485) - - 30100 01091 280215
280610 1,459 - - 1,459 - - 37000 010913 280214
280610 38 994 - - - (835 38,159 37000 010915 290214
01071 14,491 - - 114 491} - - 47200 010914 280215
01071 1737 - - - (3 261) 8,476 47300 G109 280217
26 0412 103 865 - - (4170 [7.305) 92,370 39200 010915 200216
260612 56 088 - - - 13 826) 62,262 39200 010917 280218
260613 53 878 - - 11920 [ 489 41,201 51100 010916 280217
260613 16 376 - - - - 16,376 51100 010918 280219
230614 - 168 505 - - i7090) 159,415 57400 01097 280218
230614 - 139472 - - 17839 131,623 574 00 0109192 2802 20
423553  307%77 - 1147977) 43 641 539912

Long-Term incentive Plan - Dptions Vested, Not Exercised
280504 14 423 - - 18111} 16,312} - 54935 280507 270514
291104 270830 - - {245538] 125292l - 45%55 231107 281114
310505 344087 - - 482561 130991 164,840 726 66 310508 300515
051205 192,672 - - (34 4590 (219591 141,254 823 40 051208 041215
2906 09 1230931 - - 120908) - 21,913 38700 290612 290619
251109 19031 - - 112 948) ~ 6,063 47500 251112 25119
211209 162879 - - (B5 434) - 77,443 44600 211212 211219
110410 1681273 - - {240,341} - 1,420,932 44700 110613 N0s20
141210 182,524 - - 91 954) - 90,568 51000 141213 141220
2806 M - 1544961 - la36 0N - 1,108,890 57500 28061 2B
19121 2707 397736 - 1223.175] (2,444) 174,824 45100 19124 w2
140912 - 9295 - 16 6521 (2 643) - 538 60 140915 140922
201212 - 14 790 - 18 624] 14 146) - 563 00 201215 2012 22

4086357 19466782 - [2,750 405] {95 807} 3,206,727
Long-Term Incentive Plan - Unvested Opticns
2806 N 1,582 499 - 1544981 - [37738] - 575 00 280614 280620
1?1211 454 623 - (39773481 - 154 687) - 45100 191214 IVArara]
14 6912 Y318 782 - 19 295) - 12,708) 1,292,73% 538 00 140915 140922
201212 225538 - (14 790] - 125371 198,21 563 00 201215 201222
050813 829580 - - [4721  129.818) 799,292 401 00 0508t 050823
051213 537788 - - - [28914) 508,874 40000 051216 051223
2305614 - 1134880 - - {3452} 1,131,228 584 00 230617 230624
121214 - 26127 - - - 26127 75783 121217 121224

4944770  11561,007 [1,566,782) 14721 1182 0521 3,956,471
Total 9454 680 3435766 11,966 782) 12 899054) (321 500) 7,703,110
Weighted average exercise
price of options [pence] 527 528 550 475 583 563
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22 Shaze capital and reseryes conunued

Share pnce
ALt Apnl Vested but  Exercised/ At 31 March al grant date

Date of grant 2044 Granted nct exercised Vested Lapsed 2015 pence Vestng date
Pertformance Shares Long-Term ncentive Plan
2806 702,284 - - 1696 450) (5834) - 87500 280614
192N 96 580 - - {91144} 15,416} - 45100 191214
140912 940,387 - - [43577)  (36398) 860,412 53800 140915
201212 Nngo79 - - 13254) 112,595) 103,130 56300 201215
050813 1203 410 - - 117932) (60844} 1,124,612 40100 050816
051213 2%0 577 - - 1762} 194811 270,334 40000 051216
230614 - 1547920 - - (8 584) 1,539,336 68400 230617
121214 - 4,354 - - - 4,354 75783 121217

3,352,217 1552 274 - (853,1391  14%174) 3,902,178
Fund Managers Performance Plan
206 M 95657 - - 195 6571 - - 58190 210814
120912 188 074 - - {182,808) 15,268] - 53700 120914
120912 188,022 - - - 1175541 170,466 53700 120915
020813 214 899 - - 1207332 7567 - 59900 020814
020813 21490 - - - [15358] 199,843 59900 020815
020813 214 834 - - - 15358}  199.476 59900 020816

116,387 - - 485,797 [61,105] 549,485
Matching Share Plan
24051t 320 608 - - 12B3575) {37033 - 60050 240514
050912 386,994 - - - - 386,994 50000 050915
020813 375338 - - - - 375,338 50968 020816
300614 - 317166 - - - 368 70240 300617

1 082 940 317166 - 1283575  137033) 1,079,498
Tatal 5551544 1849440 - (14622511 i247312) 5,551,161
Weighted average price of shares (pence) 572 587 - 571 582 611
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

23 Scgment Information

The Group allocates resources to investment and asset management according to the sectors it expects to perform over the medium term
Its two principal sectors are currently Offices and Retail The Othce sector includes residential as this is oftenincorporated into Difice
schermes and Retail includes leisure for a ssmilar rationale

The relevant revenue, net rental income operating result, assets and capital expenditure being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segment assets used by the management of the business, are set out below Management reviews the perfermance of the
business principalty on a proportionally consolidated basis which includes the Group s share of joint ventures and {unds on a line-by-line
basis and excludes non-controtling interests in the Group s subsidiaries

Revenue 1s derived principally from the rental of buildings and the sale of trading properties Dperating result s the net of nel rental incormne
fee meome and admimistration expenses No customer exceeded 10% of the Group s revenues in either year

Segment Result
Citices and cestdentral Retail and leisure Otherfunallocated Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 018 W4 2015 2014

£m £m £m {m £m im £m £m
Revenue
British Langd Group 121 99 254 23 - - 375 330
Share of joint ventures and funds 8y 84 144 1468 8 15 243 267
Total 210 183 400 399 8 15 518 597
Net rental income
Britsh Land Group nz 4l 239 218 - - 351 309
Share of joint ventures and funds 85 81 141 160 ] 12 234 253
Total 197 172 380 378 8 12 585 562
Operating result
British Land Group 101 80 224 214 141 142) 284 252
Share of joint ventures and funds 82 80 138 157 10 10 230 247
Total 183 160 362 3N (31 32) 514 499
Recanciiation to underlying profit 2015 014
before taxation {m £m
Operating resull 514 499
Net inancing costs (201) 1202
Undertying proht before taxation 313 297
Reconciiation to profit before taxation
Underlying profit before taxation ’ 33 297
Capital and olher 1,450 811
Underlying profit altributable to non-
controlling interesis 16 2
Total profit on ardenary activities before tax 1,789 1110

Of the tolai revenues above £8m [2013/14 £15m} was derived from outside the UK
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23 Segment Information continued

Segment Assets
, Dffwces and residential Retail and lesure Otherfunallocated Total
2015 201 2015 2014 s 204 2015 2014
€m fm £m £m £m fm £m £m
Property assets
British Land Group 3,550 3082 5,518 413 - - 9,068 7195
Share of joint ventures and funds 2,530 2017 2,039 2739 40 89 4,609 4 B4S
Total 4,080 5099 7557 6 852 40 89 13,677 12 040
Reconciliation to net assets
2015 2074
tm fm
British Land Group
Property assets 13,677 12 040
Other non-current assets 256 194
Non-current assets 13933 12 234
Other net current liabilities (307 (304)
Adjusted net debt 14,918} [4 8%0]
Other non-current habilibes [73) 113)
EPRA net assets (undiluted) 8,635 2,027
Convertible dilution 400 -
EPRA net assets (diluted) 9,035 7027
Non-controlling interest kK 3n
EPRA adjustments (803) (281]
Net assels 8,565 717
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Fmanciol statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

24 Caputal commtments

The aggregate capital commitments to purchase construct or develop investment property for repairs, maintenance or enhancements
or for the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided are set out below

2015 2014

£m Em

Briish Land [inciudes share of development loan facility} 198 19
Share of joint ventures 42 "3
Share of funds 2 5
242 237

23 Related party transactons

The Company 1s providing a development toan facility of up to £328m to the Broadgate joint vemure secured against the development

5 Broadgate The loan whichis assignable and on commercial terms, includes an interest cost of 3% per annum above LIBOR and market
based fees As at31 March 2015 €243m [2013/14 €145m) has been drawn by the joint veniure Interest and commitment fees earned on the
commercial loan to the Broadgate joint venture was £8m [2013/14 £5m)

Details of transactions with joint ventures ang funds are given innotes 4 7 and 24 During the year the Group recognised management and
performance fees receivable from funds of Enit {2013/14 £3m] and joint venlure management fees of £7m (2013/14 £7m]

Details of Directors remuneration are givenin the Remuneration Report on pages 86 to 112 Details of transactions with key management
personnel are provided in note ¢

Details of transaclions with The British Land Group of Compantes Pension Scheme and other smaller pension schernes are givenin note 10
Ouring the year the Company entered into transactiens, in the normal course of business with other related parties as follows

John Gildersleeve is Deputy Chawrman of Carphone Warehouse Group ple Rental income of £11m (2013/14 £2m) was earned from Carphone
Warehouse Group plc and there 1s an associated debtor balance at 31 March 2015 of £1m {2013/14 £nal}

Lord Turnbutl1s a non-execulive director of Prudential plc Rental tncome of £2m [2013/14 €2m| was earned from Prudenual plc

Aubrey Adams s head of property in Royal Bank of Scotland s Global Restruciuring Group Royal Bank of Scotland are BrilishLand s
principal bankers Rentat income of £7m 12013/14 £7m] was earned from Royal Bank of Scotland

William Jackson 1s the Managing Partner of Bridgepoint and serves on a number of Bridgepoint portiolio boards Anumber of Bridgepoint s
nvesiments are tenants Rentalincome of £3m (2013/14 £3m)] was earned from these companies

During the year two related parties of Simon Borrows agreed to purchase two one-bed residential fiats in London from a wholly-awned
subsidiary of the Group at a combaned value of approximately E4m Negotiations were conducted at arm s length involved independent
real estate agents marketing the relevanl developments, and the terms are similar to those negotiated with other purchases at the
same development

26 Contingent habihties
Group, jaint ventures and funds

The Group joint ventures and funds have contingent babibties in respect of legal clarms guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary
course of business |t1s not anticipated that any matenial liabilies will arise Irom contmgent habiliies
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27 Audit excmptions tahen for subsidiartes

The following subsidiaries are exempt {rom the requirements of the Companies Act 2005 relating to the audit of individual accounts by wirtue

of Section 479A of that Act

Campanies Companies

House Reg House Reg
Current Company Name No  Current Company Name No
BF Propco | No 19 ) Lirted 5270113  Pillar Developments Limited 2850421
The Liverpoot Exchange Company Limited 490255 35 Basinghall Street First Limited 3502915
Meadowbank Retail Park Edinburgh Lirmited 5489809  Bnush Land Hercules No 1 Limited 3527380
Piliar [Beckion] Limited 2783376  British Land Hercules No 3 Limited 2967308
Broadgate (PHC 8l Limited 3707220 British Land HIF Limited 27714183
Blaxmnll [Twenty-nine) Limited 5279010  Renash [Unlimuted} 5489776
Blaxmill [Thirty) Limited 5282747  Ritesol (Unlimited} 5489811
FRP Group Limited 2844685  Number B0 Cheapside Limited 634498
Piliar Hercules No 2 Limited 2839069  Broadgate Square Limited 1797326
BL European Holdings Limited 3044033  Six Broadgate Limited 1881641
Briish Land Hercules No 4 Limited 3108851 WK Hotdings Limited 2487591
Ivorydell Limited 3264791 Pillar Estales Limited 3044028
Finsbury Avenue Estatles Limied 1526447  PillarStore Lirmited 2850422
Broadgate Court Investments Limited 2048475  Vintners Place Limited 2149495
BLSSP (Funding) PLC 4104074 Wates City Paint Limited 2973114
Wates City Property Management Limuted 1085036  BL West [Watling House) Lirnited 4067234
Pillar Retant Parks Limited 2725163 Parwick Holdings Limited 6049168
Pillar Speke Limited 3074360  Hilden Properties Limited NI042887
PitlarStore No 3 Limited 3589118 Paddington Centrat! [GP] Limited 389137
Wates City of London Properties Limited 1788526  Paddington Central Il |GP) Limied 5092409
Caymall Lirmited 5189348  Lancaster General Partner Livuted 5452195
Dinwell Limted 5035303  BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limuted 7687459
Cavendish Geared Limited 2779045  Meadowhall Holdings Limited 2125982
Psllar Auchintea Limited 2661047  Meadowhalt Centre Limited 3918066
Hyileet Limited 2835919 BVP Developments Limited 3534586
Regis Property Holdings Limited 891470  Brinsh Land Investment Management Limited 4088440
Tweed Premier 1 Limited 2847978  BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Lirnited 5643248
Tweed Premuer 2 Limited 2847985  BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited 5643261
London and Hentey [UK) Limned 3576158 BLDiSJ) Limited 292431
Cavendish Geared Il Limited 2847571 BLD (SJ)Investments Linited £484750
Londen and Hentey Linited 3074917  B-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited 3669490
Ivorydell Subsidiary Limited 5520010  Rohawk Properties Limited 381930
Urited Kmgdom Property Company Limited 2664856  Ludgate West Limited 4882129
Pillar Nugent Limiied 2567031
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

28 Subsidianes with materal non-controlhing mterests — summansed financial information

Set out below 1s summanised financial information for each subsidiary that has nen-controlling interests that are material to the Group

The information below 1s presented before intercompany eliminations The non-controlling interests shown below relate to that from the

Group perspective

Summansed income statement for the year ended 31 March

Hertules Una Trust

201% 014

£m £m

Gross rental and related ncome 58 58
Net rental and related incormne 55 55
Other income and expenditure [13) 110)
Underlying profit betore taxation 42 45
Surplus on revaluation 49 28
Share of profit [loss] of joint ventures and funds an (1Al
Profit on ordinary activities befare taxation 142 62
Current tax - -
Deferred tax - -
Profit on ordinary activittes after taxation 142 62
Attribuiable to non-controlling interests 55 10
Attributable to the shareholders of the Company 87 52

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March

Herrules Unit Trust

215 W4
£m £m

Non-current
Assets 1,647 1404
Liabilities 16531 {525)
Total non-current net assets %4 87%
Current
Assets 4D 39
Liabilities 21} 121)
Total current net assels 19 18
Net assets 1,013 897
Non-contralling interests 333 371
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 480 526

Summansed cash flows

Hercules Unit Trust

2015 014
£m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 69 74
Interest paid {24) 125)
MNet cash generated irom operaling activities 45 4%
Net cash used ininvesting activilies [111) 3t
Net cash used in financing activites (1] (80)
Netincreasen cash and cash equivalents 2 -
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 33 33
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 35 33

The Hercules Uit Trustis a publicly listed Unit Trust The unut price at 31 March 20151 £71112013/14 €£651]
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH UK GAAP AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

015 2014
Nate &m £m
Fixed assets
Invesiments and loans to subsidiaries a] 27,370 25,477
Investments tn joint ventures D 3v2 802
Other investments D 264 159
Interest rate derwative assets E 139 32
28,165 24 470
Current assets
Debtors G A 48
Cash and short-term deposits E 18 &1
22 109
Current Liabilittes
Shori-term borrawings and averdralts E (102) (420
Creditors H 101 189
Amounts due to subsidiaries [18,881) 18 784)
[19,084) [19295)
Net current Uabilities (19,062} 19186}
Total assets less current labilsties 9,103 7284
Non-current Liabilities
Debentures and loans £ 12,462) [1895)
Interest rate derivative liabilities E (11 154)
Deferred tax and other non-current Liabilities (13) -
[2,586) 119491
Netassets 6,517 5335
Equity
Called up share capital t 258 255
Share prermium J 1,283 1260
Other reserves J (94) {24)
Merger reserve J 213 213
Retained earnings 4 4,857 363
E HJ sharehotders funds 6,617 5335
/ Wag o
Lucinda Betll
Chairman Chief Financial Otficer
Approved by the Board on 13 May 2015
Company number 621920
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Financial statcments

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET CONTINUED

(A) Accounting pohctes

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and atcounting standards UK GAAP]

The major accounting policies of the Company are set out below
and have been applied consistently throughout the current and

the previous year, with the exceplion of the accounting pelicy in
relation to capitalisation of interest In the year the Company opted
to align the accounting policy 1n relation to caprtalised interest wath
the Group [see note J)

The policies that differ from those applied by the Group las stated in
Note 1 of the consolidaied financtal statements) are for invesiments
and deferred taxation

- Going concern
The financial staternents are prepared on the going concern basis
as explained in the corporate gevernance section on page 7%

- investments
Investments in joint ventures are stated at cost less provision
for mpairment Investments in subsidianes are stated at cost
or Directors valuation less provision for impairment

- Deferred taxation
Deferred taxalion 1s not recognised when fixed assets are revalued
unless by the batance sheet date there 1s a binding agreement
to sell the revalued assets and the gain or oss expected to arise
on the sale has been recognised in the tinancial statements
Adeferred tax asset Is reqarded as recoverable and therefore
recogrised only when on the basis of all avaitable evidence
it can be regarded as more likety than not that there will be
sutable taxable profits from wiich the future reversal of the
underlying timing differences can be deducted

Adopuon of inaneial repoi ung standard (FRS) 101 - reduced
diselosure framework

Following the publication of FRS 100 Application of Financial Reporting
Requirernents by the Financial Reporting Council The British Land
Company plc s required to change Its accounting framework for its
Company only financeal statements which is currently in UK GAAP,
forits inancial year commencing 1 April 2015
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The Board considers that it 15 1n the bestinterests of the Group for
The Briush Land Company plc 1e adopt FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework Ne disclosuresin the current UK GAAP financial
statemnents would be omutted on adoption of FRS 101 A shareholder
or shareholders holding in aggregate 5% or more of the total allotted
sharesin The British Land Company plc may serve objections to the
use of the disclosure exemptions on The British Land Company plc
inwriting to1ts registered office {York House 45 Seymour Street
London W1H 7LX] not later than 31 July 2015

(B) Dividends

Details of dividends paid and proposed are included in note 20 of the
consolidated financial statements

(C) Companv profit tor the financial vear after tax

The Company has not presented s own profit and loss account as
permilted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 The profit after
tax for the year was £1 422m 12013/14 profit £749m)

The average monthly number of emiployees of the Company during
the year was 249 [2013/14 231}

Employee costs include wages and salaries of £33m [2013/14
£20m) social secunty costs of £5m [2013/14 €4m!and pension
costs of £5m (2013/14 £5m) Details of the Executive Directers
remuneration are disclosed inthe Remuneration Report

Audit fees in relation to the parent Company only were £0 2m
2013114 €0 3m)



(D)) Imvestments and loans to subsidianes

Sharesin Leans to  Investments Other

subsdianes ubsihanes  jointventures inestments Total

Em £m £m £m Cm

On1Apri 2014 18 299 7178 802 157 26,438
Additions 9953 &N 25 107 1,599
Disposals - [676) 438} 2] t914)
Write back of impairment 903 - - - 902
As at 31 March 2015 20197 7173 392 264 28,024

Shares in subsidiaries are mncluded at cost or directors valuation in 1977, 1995, 1997 and 1999 to 2010 inclusive their historical costis

£20 558m 12013/14 €19 563m} The amouni of £392m [2013/14 (802m) ncludes £205m {2013/74 £250m) of loans to Joint ventures by the
Company The Company has a 50% mterest in Broadgate REIT Limuted registered and operating in Jersey and MSC Property Intermediate
Holdings Limited, registered and operating in England and Wales Resulis of the joint ventures are set out in note 12 of the consolidated
frnancial statements The historical cost of other investments is £252m |2013/14  £155m)

The Group comprises a large number of companies sa has taken advantage of the exemnptionunder Section 410(2] of the Comparies Act 2006
in providing information onty in refation to subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial postion in the opinion of Directors principally
affect the financial statements The principal substdiaries wholly-owned and except where stated registered and operating in England and

Wales, are

Executive
The British Land Corporation Limited

Finance, Investment and Management

Brihsh Land Property Management Limited

BLD Property Holdings Limited

BL European Fund Management LLP

British Land lJoint Ventures) Limited

Linestar Limited

British Land Investment Netherlands Holdings BV [Netherlands)

Property

British Land Retait Warehouses Limited
10 Brock Street Limited

BF Propco | No 10} Limited

Stockton Retail Park Limited

20 Triton Street Limated

Euston Tower Limited

Drake Circus Limited Partnership [United Statesl
Paddington Central IV Unit Trust |Jersey)
BL Piccadilly Ressdental Limited

10 Portman Square Unit Trust [Jersey)
British Land Ealing BV (Netherlands]

1& 4 & 7 Triton Limited

Surrey Quays Limited

TBL (Milton Keynes) Limited
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Financial statemcnts

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET CONTINUED

(E) Net debt

2015 014
Em fm
Secured onthe agsets of the Campany
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 355 344
50055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 98 100
5 357% First Mortgage Debenture Bends 2028 344 327
4 75% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2020 184 185
981 256
Unsecured
9 50% Senior Nates 2027 98 98
4 30% Senor US Dollar Notes 2015 104 92
Series A3 895% Senior US Noles 20182 28 25
Sertes B 4 635% Semor US Notes 20217 158 136
Sertes C 4 766% Sentor US Notes 20232 b 44 83
Series O 5 003% Senior US Notes 20242 4 52
Fair value of options to issue under 1 5% convertible bond 2017 100 72
Bank toans & overdrafts 707 401
3 81% semior notes 2024 m 99
3 97% semor notes 2024 114 101
1,583 ¥ 359
Gross debt 2,564 2315
Interest rate derivatives labiies 111 54
Interest derivatives assets (139} {32)
2,634 2337
Cash short-term depasits [18) 161)
Net debt 2,518 2276

' Printipal and interest on this borrowing was fully hedged inte Sterling at the time ol 1ssue

7 Principel and interest on thes« borrowings were fully hedged into Sterling at a fioating rate at the ime of 1Issue

On 10 September 2012 British Land [Jersey] Limuted {the Issuer] - a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company - 1ssued £400 miliion

1 5% Guaranteed Convertible Bonds due 2017 [the Bondsl at par The proceeds have been loaned to the Company and the Company has
unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual performance by the Issuer of all of iis obligations [including payments)
in respect of the Bonds and the obligations of the Company, as Guarantor conshiute direct unsubordinated, unconditional and unsecured
obligations of the Company

Subject to their terms the Bonds are convertible tnto preference shares of the Issuer which are automatically transierred 1o the Company
in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or 21 the Company s election any combination of ordinary shares and cash

The intercompany toan between the Issuer and the Company arising from the transter of the loan proceeds was initially recognised at fair
value net of capiialised issue costs and 1s accounted for using the amortised cost method

In addition to the intercompany loan, the Company has entered mnto a derivative contract relating 1o its guarantee of the obligations of the
tssuer in respect of the Bonds and the commitment to prowide shares or a combrnation of shares and cash on conversion of the Bonds
This derwalive contractis included within the balance sheet as a lrability carried at fair value through profit and loss

See Note 18 in the consolidated financial statements for further details about the convertible bond
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(E) Net debt continued

Maturity analysts of net debt
2015 i
£m £m
Repayable within one year and on demand 102 420
between one and iwoyears 75 92
two and five years 97 174
five and ten years 661 465
ten and lilteen years 747 783
{ifteen and twenty years & &
twenty and twenty five years 76 375
2,662 1895
Gross debt 2,564 235
Interest rate derivatives 28] 22
Cash and short term deposits sl &1
2,518 2276
(F) Pension
The Company s pension scheme is the princtpal pension scheme of the Group and details are set out in note 10 of the consolidated
financial statements
{G) Dehtors
s 2014
Len £m
Trade and other debtors 2 £5
Prepaymenis and accrued iIncome 2 3
3 48
(1) Creditors
008 01e
m £m
Trade creditors 23 14
Corporation lax 19 19
Other taxation and social security 22 N
Accruals and deferred income 37 35
101 89
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Financial statements

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET CONTINUED

() Share capital

Ordinary shares
{m af 25p each
Issued, called and fully paid
At ) April 20014 255 1,019,766,481
tssued 3 12021 805
At 31 March 2015 258 1,031,788,284
Ordinary shares
£m of 25p each
Issued, called and fuily paid
At 1 April 2013 249 997691 488
lssued & 22074993
At 31 March 2014 265 1,019,766,481
(1) Share capital and resenes
Praofit and
Share Cther Merger loss
Share capital premmm reserves reserve accaunt Total
£m £m Em £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 255 1260 |24} 213 3631 5,335
Adjustrent for change in capitalised interest accounting policy’ - - - - 37 37
Share 1ssues 3 23 - - - 26
Adjustment for scrip dividend element - - - - 49 49
Dividend paid - - - - 12771 (277)
Pension scherne movemnents - - - - 15) (5)
Retained profit [toss) - - - - 1422 1,422
Derivative valuation movernent - - 1701 - - [70)
At 31 March 2015 258 1283 [94) 213 4 857 8,817

! During the year the Company changed its accounting policy in retation Lo capitahisation of interest on borrawing costs The policy changed !rom not opting to capilalise
applicable inlerest to opting to capitalise in the current year Reserves have been restated by €37mas a result of this change

The value of distributable reserves within the profit and loss account 1s £3,514m [2013/14 £2,299m}

(K) Conungent habilities capital comnutments and related party oransacuons

The Company has contmgent Labilities in respect of legal claims quarantees and warranties ansing in the ordinary